

JCS/JSCVS 2018 Guideline on Revascularization of Stable Coronary Artery Disease

Masato Nakamura; Hitoshi Yaku; Junya Ako; Hirokuni Arai; Tohru Asai; Taishiro Chikamori; Hiroyuki Daida; Kiyoshi Doi; Toshihiro Fukui; Toshiaki Ito; Kazushige Kadota; Junjiro Kobayashi; Tatsuhiko Komiya; Ken Kozuma; Yoshihisa Nakagawa; Koichi Nakao; Hiroshi Niinami; Takayuki Ohno; Yukio Ozaki; Masataka Sata; Shuichiro Takanashi; Hirofumi Takemura; Takafumi Ueno; Satoshi Yasuda; Hitoshi Yokoyama; Tomoyuki Fujita; Tokuo Kasai; Shun Kohsaka; Takashi Kubo; Susumu Manabe; Naoya Matsumoto; Shigeru Miyagawa; Tomohiro Mizuno; Noboru Motomura; Satoshi Numata; Hiroyuki Nakajima; Hirotaka Oda; Hiromasa Otake; Fumiyuki Otsuka; Ken-ichiro Sasaki; Kazunori Shimada; Tomoki Shimokawa; Toshiro Shinke; Tomoaki Suzuki; Masao Takahashi; Nobuhiro Tanaka; Hiroshi Tsuneyoshi; Taiki Tojo; Dai Une; Satoru Wakasa; Koji Yamaguchi; Takashi Akasaka; Atsushi Hirayama; Kazuo Kimura; Takeshi Kimura; Yoshiro Matsui; Shunichi Miyazaki; Yoshitaka Okamura; Minoru Ono; Hiroki Shiomi; Kazuo Tanemoto on behalf of the Japanese Circulation Society Joint Working Group

Table of Contents

Preface to the Revision 480
I. Diagnosis 481
1. Symptoms and Signs 481
2. Noninvasive Assessment of Ischemia ······ 482
3. Invasive Assessment of Ischemia 482
4. Myocardial Viability 484
II. Treatment Decision-Making by the Heart
Team 485
1. Importance of a Team Approach 485
2. Role of the Heart Team 485
3. Requirements for a Heart Team 485
4. Scope of Discussions Within the Heart Team 485
5. The Heart Team in the Community 486
III. OMT 486
1. Lifestyle Intervention 486
2. Medical Therapy 487
IV. Preparation for Revascularization
1. Outline of Revascularization 488
2. Risk Prediction Models 489
3. Location of Lesions, Number of Involved Vessels,
and Treatment Decision-Making 492

	4. Timing of Revascularization and Ad hoc PCI	496
V.	Revascularization in Special Populations	497
	1. HF, Impaired Left Ventricular Function	497
	2. DM	499
	3. CKD	501
	4. Valve Disease	503
	5. PAD	504
	6. Repeat Revascularization	505
	7. Patients With AF	507
VI	. CABG Techniques	509
	1. Comparison Against Medical Therapy and PCI	509
	2. Preoperative Management	510
	3. Blood Management	511
	4. Vessel Harvesting	512
	5. Diffuse Stenosis	515
	6. Proximal Graft-to-Aorta Anastomosis	517
	7. Graft Selection, Design, and Configuration	518
	8. ONCAB and OPCAB	523
	9. Intraoperative Graft Evaluation	524
1	0. CABG Outcome Registry	526

J-STAGE Advance Publication released online January 31, 2022

Refer to Appendix 2 for the details of members.

JCS Joint Working Group: The Japanese Circulation Society, The Japanese Coronary Association, The Japanese Society for Cardiovascular Surgery, Japanese Association for Coronary Artery Surgery, The Japanese Association for Thoracic Surgery, Japanese Association of Cardiovascular Intervention and Therapeutics, and Japanese College of Cardiology.

Mailing address: Guideline Committee of the Japanese Circulation Society, 6th Floor, Uchikanda Central Building, 1-18-13 Uchikanda, Chiyoda-ku, Tokyo 101-0047, Japan. E-mail: jcsGL@j-circ.or.jp

All rights are reserved to the Japanese Circulation Society. For permissions, please e-mail: cj@j-circ.or.jp ISSN-1346-9843



This English document is a revised version of JCS 2018 Guideline on Revascularization of Stable Coronary Artery Disease reported at the Japanese Circulation Society Joint Working Group performed in 2019 (https://www.j-circ.or.jp/cms/wp-content/uploads/2018/09/JCS2018_nakamura_yaku.pdf). In this version, some content and references have been modified in accordance with advances in the latest information of each area.

VII. PCI Techniques 527
1. Strategies to Improve Prognosis 527
2. Access Site 528
3. POBA 528
4. BMS 528
5. DES 528
6. Special Balloons 530
7. Atherectomy Catheter 530
8. Bioresorbable Scaffold 531
9. Diagnostic Techniques 532
10. Bifurcation Lesions 533
11. Ostial Lesions 535
12. CTO 535
VIII. CIN
1. Diagnosis 537
2. Risk Evaluation 537
3. Prophylaxis ······ 537
4. Treatment 537
IX. Perioperative Medical Therapy
1. PCI 538
2. CABG
X. Volume-Outcome Relationship of PCI and
CABG in Japan
1. PCI 543

2. CABG 543
XI. Health Economics
1. Cost-Effectiveness Measures 544
2. PCI vs. Medical Therapy 544
3. BMS vs. DES 544
4. PCI vs. CABG (vs. Medical Therapy) 544
XII. AUC and Standardized PCI
1. AUC 545
2. Standardized PCI 545
XIII. Future Outlook 546
1. Robot-Assisted PCI 546
2. Hybrid Coronary Revascularization 546
3. Minimally Invasive CABG 548
4. Cardiac Regeneration 548
End Note
References 550
Appendix 1
Appendix 2 582
Appendix 3

Abbreviations

AC	aorto-coronary
ACC	American Collage of Cardiology
ACCF	American College of Cardiology Foundation
ACE-I	angiotensin converting enzyme inhibitor
ACS	acute coronary syndrome
ACT	activated clotting time
AHA	American Heart Association
AS	aortic stenosis
AUC	appropriate use criteria
AVR	aortic valve replacement
BARC	Bleeding Academic Research Consortium
BITA	bilateral internal thoracic artery
BMS	bare metal stent
BRS	bioresorbable scaffold
CABG	coronary artery bypass grafting
CFVR	coronary flow velocity reserve
CIN	contrast induced nephropathy
CKD	chronic kidney disease
CTA	computed tomography angiography
СТО	chronic total occlusion
DAPT	dual antiplatelet treatment
DCA	directional coronary atherectomy
DCB	drug coated balloon
DES	drug eluting stent
DFI	diastolic filling index
DM	diabetes mellitus
DOAC	direct oral anticoagulants
EACTS	European Association for Cardio-Thoracic Surgery

EES	everolimus-eluting stent
ELCA	excimer laser coronary angioplasty
EPA	eicosapentaenoic acid
ESC	European Society of Cardiology
ESVI	end-systolic volume index
EuroSCORE	European System for Cardiac Operative Risk Evaluation
FFR	fractional flow reserve
GEA	gastroepiploic artery
GFR	glomerular filtration rate
HCR	hybrid coronary revascularization
HIT	heparin-induced thrombocytopenia
HR	hazard ratio
IABP	intra-aortic balloon pump
ICER	incremental cost-effectiveness ratio
ICG	indocyanine green
IFI	intraoperative fluorescence imaging
iFR	instaneous wave-free ratio
ITA	internal thoracic artery
IVUS	intravascular ultrasound
LAD	left anterior descending coronary artery
LCA	left coronary artery
LCX	left circumflex coronary artery
LGE	late gadolinium enhancement
LITA	left internal thoracic artery
LMCA	left main coronary artery
LVEF	left ventricular ejection fraction
MACCE	major adverse cardiac or cerebrovascular event

MACE	major adverse cardiovascular event
MIDCAB	minimally invasive direct coronary artery bypass
MR	mitral regurgitation
OCT	optical coherence tomography
OFDI	optical frequency domain imaging
OMT	optimal medical therapy
ONCAB	on-pump coronary artery bypass
OPCAB	off-pump coronary artery bypass
PAD	peripheral artery disease
PCI	percutaneous coronary intervention
PEEP	positive end expiratory pressure
PES	paclitaxel-eluting stent
PI	pulsatility index
POBA	plain old balloon angioplasty
PT-INR	prothrombin time-international normalized ratio
QALY	quality-adjusted life year

RA	radial artery
RCA	right coronary artery
RCT	randomized controlled trial
RITA	right internal thoracic artery
SCAI	Society for Cardiovascular Angiography and Interventions
SES	sirolimus-eluting stent
SITA	single internal thoracic artery
STS	Society of Thoracic Surgeons
SV	saphenous vein
SVG	saphenous vein graft
SVR	surgical ventricular reconstruction
TAVI	transcatheter aortic valve implantation
TLR	target legion revascularization
TTFM	transit-time flowmetry
VLST	very late stent thrombosis

Acronyms of Clinical Trials

ABACAS	Adjunctive Balloon Angioplasty After Coronary Atherectomy Study
ABSORB	A Bioresorbable Everolimus-Eluting Scaffold Versus a Metallic Everolimus-Eluting Stent
ACCOMPLISH	Avoiding Cardiovascular Events through Combination Therapy in Patients Living with Systolic Hypertension
ACCORD	Action to Control Cardiovascular Risk in Diabetes
AFIRE	Atrial Fibrillation and Ischemic Events with Rivaroxaban in Patients with Stable Coronary Artery Disease
ART	Arterial Revascularisation Trial
ARTS	Arterial Revascularization Therapies Study
ASCERT	American College of Cardiology Foundation and the Society of Thoracic Surgeons Collaboration on the Comparative Effectiveness of Revascularization Strategies
ASCOT	Anglo-Scandinavian Cardiac Outcomes Trial
BARI (2D)	Bypass Angioplasty Revascularization Investigation (2 Diabetes)
BASKET- SMALL	Basel Kosten Effektivitäts Trial – Drug-Coated Balloons versus Drug-eluting Stents in Small Vessel Interventions
BCIS-I	Balloon Pump Assisted Coronary Intervention Study
BENESTENT	Belgium Netherlands Stent
BEST	Trial of Everolimus-Eluting Stents or Bypass Surgery for Coronary Disease
BIP	Bezafibrate Infarction Prevention
CANVAS	Canagliflozin Cardiovascular Assessment Study
CASCADE	Clopidogrel after Surgery for Coronary Artery Disease
COAST	Heparin-Coated Stents in Small Coronary Arteries
CORONARY	CABG Off or On Pump Revascularization Study
COURAGE	Clinical Outcomes Utilizing Revascularization and Aggressive Drug Evaluation
CREDO	Clopidogrel for the Reduction of Events during Observation
CREDO- Kyoto	Coronary Revascularization Demonstrating Outcome Study-Kyoto
CTSN	Cardiothoracic Surgical Trials Network

CTT	Cholesterol Treatment Trialists
CURE	Clopidogrel in Unstable Angina to Prevent Recurrent Events
CVIT-DEFER	Cardiovascular Intervention Therapeutics- DEFER
DEFER	Deferral of Percutaneous Coronary Intervention
EMPA-REG	Empagliflozin Cardiovascular Outcome Event Trial in Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus Patients- Removing Excess Glucose
ESTABLISH	Demonstration of the Beneficial Effect on Atherosclerotic Lesions by Volumetric Intravascular Ultrasound Analysis during Half a Year after Coronary Event Early Statin Treatment
EVERBIO	Comparison of Everolimus- and Biolimus- Eluting Stents with Everolimus-Eluting Bioresorbable Vascular Scaffold Stents II
EXCEL	Evaluation of XIENCE Versus Coronary Artery Bypass Surgery for Effectiveness of Left Main Revascularization
FAME	Fractional Flow Reserve versus Angiography for Multivessel Evaluation
FOURIER	Further Cardiovascular Outcomes Research with PCSK9 Inhibition in Subjects With Elevated Risk
FREEDOM	Future Revascularization Evaluation in Patients with Diabetes Mellitus
GISSI- Prevenzione	Gruppo Italiano per lo Studio della Streptochinasi nell'Infarto Miocardico
GOPCABE	German Off-Pump Coronary Artery Bypass Grafting in Elderly Patients
IMPROVE-IT	Improved Reduction of Outcomes: Vytorin Efficacy International Trial
INTERMACS	Interagency Registry for Mechanically Assisted Circulatory Support
IONA	Impact of Nicorandil in Angina
ISAR-SAFE	Intracoronary Stenting and Antithrombotic Regimen-Safety And EFficacy of 6 Months Dual Antiplatelet Therapy After Drug-Eluting Stenting
ITALIC	Is There a Life for DES after Discontinuation of Clopidogrel?
JAPAN-ACS	Japan Assessment of Pitavastatin and Atorvastatin in Acute Coronary Syndrome
JCVSD	Japan Cardiovascular Surgery Database

The Japanese Circulation Society (JCS) published the	
"Guidelines for elective percutaneous coronary intervention	Ę
[PCI] in patients with stable coronary disease" in 2000. In	(
2006, another guideline titled "Guidelines for the clinical	i
application of bypass grafts and the surgical techniques"	e
was published by the JCS. Because of rapid advances in	(
this field, revision of the guidelines on coronary revascular-	i
ization techniques (PCI and coronary artery bypass grafting	Ę
[CABG]) was initiated in 2009. In the review process of the	f
next guideline, rewriting the entire guideline to give	1
comprehensive guidance on coronary artery revasculariza-	Ę
tion was considered. However, the Working Group ulti-	1
mately decided to develop separate guidelines for	2
revascularization techniques in 2011.	
*	

In 2017, the Working Group started drafting a new guideline that incorporates discussion of both PCI and CABG. The decision to create a new guideline was made in recognition that no single treatment technique is appropriate or effective for all patients with coronary artery disease (CAD). Also, a new guideline was needed to incorporate the Heart Team approach that has quickly gained popularity and is becoming recognized as essential for selecting and administering the best care for individual patients. Therefore, this guideline is the first harmonized guideline and the latest revision on standard procedures and recommendations for coronary artery revascularization in 2018.

Five important changes have been made from the previous

J-CTO	Multicenter CTO Registry in Japan
JDCS	Japan Diabetes Complication Study
JELIS	Japan Eicosapentaenoic Acid Lipid Intervention Study
JOCRI	Japanese Off-Pump Coronary Revascularization Investigation
J-SAP	Japanese Stable Angina Pectoris Study
LEADER	Liraglutide Effect and Action in Diabetes: Evaluation of Cardiovascular Outcome Results
MASS	Medicine, Angioplasty, or Surgery Study
MATRIX	Minimizing Adverse Haemorrhagic Events by Transradial Access Site and Systemic Implementation of Angio
NIPPON	Nobori Dual Antiplatelet Therapy as Appropriate Duration
NOBLE	Nordic-Baltic-British Left Main Revascularization Study
OACIS	Osaka Acute Coronary Insufficiency Study
OARS	Optimal Atherectomy Restenosis Study
ORBIT	Oral Glycoprotein Ilb/IIIa Receptor Blockade to Inhibit Thrombosis
PERFECT	PRE Rapamycin-Eluting Stent FIExi-CuT
PIONEER AF-PCI	Prevention of Bleeding in Patients with AF Undergoing PCI
Post CABG	Post Coronary Artery Bypass Graft Trial
PRECISE- IVUS	Plaque Regression with Cholesterol Absorption Inhibitor or Synthesis Inhibitor Evaluated by Intravascular Ultrasound
PREVAIL	Prospective Randomized Evaluation of the Watchman LAA Closure Device in Patients with Atrial Fibrillation versus Long Term Warfarin Therapy
PREVENT	Prospective Randomized Evaluation of the Vascular Effects of Norvasc Trial
PREVENT IV	Project of Ex-vivo Vein Graft Engineering via Transfection IV
PROactive	Prospective Pioglitazone Clinical Trial in Macrovascular Events
PROTECT AF	Watchman Left Atrial Appendage System for Embolic Protection in Patients with Atrial Fibrillation
RAPCO	Radial Artery Patency and Clinical Outcomes
RAVEL	Randomised Study with the Sirolimus Eluting Bx Velocity Balloon Expandable Stent in the Treatment of Patients with de novo Native Coronary Artery Lesions

ReACT	Randomized Evaluation of Routine Followup Coronary Angiography after Percutaneous Coronary Intervention Trial
REAL-CAD	Randomized Evaluation of Aggressive or Moderate Lipid Lowering Therapy with Pitavastatin in Coronary Artery Disease
RE-DUAL PCI	Randomized Evaluation of Dual Antithrombotic Therapy with Dabigatran versus Triple Therapy with Warfarin in Patients with Nonvalvular Atrial Fibrillation Undergoing Percutaneous Coronary Intervention
REDUCE	Restenosis Reduction by Cutting Balloon Angioplasty Evaluation
REDUCE-IT	Reduction of Cardiovascular Events with EPA - Intervention Trial
RIVAL	Radial versus Femoral Access for Coronary Angiography and Intervention in Patients with Acute Coronary Syndromes
ROOBY	Randomized On/Off Bypass
SAVE-RITA	Saphenous Vein versus Right Internal Thoracic Artery as a Y-composite trial
SECURITY	Second-Generation Drug-Eluting Stent Implantation Followed by Six- versus Twelve- Month Dual Antiplatelet Therapy
SIRIUS	Sirolimus-Eluting Stent in De-Novo Native Coronary Lesions
SMART	Surgical Management of Arterial Revascularization Therapies
SORT OUT IV	Scandinavian Organization for Randomized Trials with Clinical Outcome IV
SPIRIT	Clinical Evaluation of the Xience V Everolimus Eluting Coronary Stent System in the Treatment of Patients with De Novo Native Coronary Artery Lesions
STARS	Stent Antithrombotic Regimen Study
Steno-2	Intensified Multifactorial Intervention in Patients
With Type 2	Diabetes and Microalbuminuria
STICH	Surgical Treatment for Ischemic Heart Failure
SURVIVE	Surgical Ventricular Reconstruction for Severe Ventricular Dysfunction
SWISSI	Swiss Interventional Study on Silent Ischemia Type
SYNTAX	Synergy between Percutaneous Coronary Intervention with TAXUS and Cardiac Surgery
TVT	Transcatheter Valve Therapy
WOEST	What is the Optimal Antiplatelet and Anticoagulant Therapy in Patients with Oral Anticoagulation and Coronary Stenting

Preface to the Revision

guideline and are described below. All of the changes are closely related to how patients with CAD should be treated in the daily clinical setting. The updated guidance is founded on the latest evidence and strongly suggested to be incorporated into CAD care. Note that the scope of this guideline is limited to stable CAD (not acute-phase disease).

- 1. Optimal medical therapy (OMT) in the general sense (medical therapy combined with lifestyle intervention) can be as effective as coronary artery revascularization in selected patients.
- 2. Assessment of the functional severity of stenosis (ischemia) is demonstrated to be useful and has made anatomical assessment a dated approach for moderate stenosis. Ischemia-guided care is more desirable than angiography-guided care.
- 3. Number of involved vessels and SYNTAX score should be used in the complexity assessment of coronary artery lesions.
- 4. Treatment decision-making based on risk profile is demonstrated to be effective for achieving best results. For the groups of patients described in Class IIb and III recommendations in **Table 13** of **Chapter IV** (see page 493), discussion according to the Heart Team approach is recommended in the treatment decision-making process.
- 5. Appropriate use of PCI and CABG pursuant to the goal of revascularization is desired.

Although a randomized controlled trial (RCT) may be able to evaluate the true benefit of PCI or CABG, RCT data or meta-analysis alone is insufficient to determine whether PCI or CABG is suitable or to make an accurate prediction of treatment outcomes in individual patients in the clinical setting. Therefore, large-scale multicenter registry data are also important. Although the general conditions, care given, and outcomes of care in Japanese patients with stable CAD are known to show certain differences compared with Europeans or Americans, much of the reliable data come from Europe and the USA. We reference Japanese data as frequently as possible in drafting the guideline to evaluate the extrapolability of European

Table 1. Classes of Recommendation			
Class I	Procedure/treatment is supported by strong evidence or widely recognized to be effective/useful		
Class II	Efficacy/utility of procedure/treatment is not supported by consistent evidence or widely accepted		
Class IIa	Procedure/treatment is likely to be useful/effective based on evidence/opinion		
Class IIb	Utility/efficacy of procedure/treatment is not well established by evidence/opinion		
Class III	Procedure/treatment is generally viewed, or suggested by evidence, to be not beneficial or even harmful		

Table 2. Levels of Evidence			
Level A	Multiple randomized clinical trials or meta-analysis		
Level B	Single randomized clinical trial or large-scale multicenter registry		
Level C	Agreement among experts, small-scale clinical trials or subgroup analyses		

and American data to the Japanese patient population. We must say there are still significant differences in the level of data available. Japanese clinicians and researchers in the field should join forces to generate more quality data that can fill the gap.

We are all aware that standardization of care will soon become the prerequisite for medical care. Performing analyses or preparing guidelines for standardization of care will increasingly require new resources based on different perspectives such as the so-called big data and operation of feedback systems.

The classes of recommendation and levels of evidence used throughout the guideline are summarized in **Tables 1** and **2**, respectively. These are very important to the guideline. Recommendations in the guideline are mostly based on Level A or B evidence.

I. Diagnosis

1. Symptoms and Signs

Symptoms characteristic of chronic stable angina, a common manifestation of CAD, were first described by William Heberden 250 years ago (feeling of tightness [occasionally with feeling anxious and sweating] induced by exertion, typically under the sternum and precordium with radiating pain in the upper limb, and relieved with rest).¹ Symptoms of exertional angina (or stable angina) are now differentiated by scoring systems (an example is shown in **Table 3**)² into typical angina, atypical angina, and noncardiac chest pain. Advances in imaging techniques have revealed some patients have asymptomatic (i.e., no chest symptoms) myocardial ischemia or old myocardial infarction with no clinical manifestations. Some researchers have suggested replacing the term stable angina with a broader term such as stable CAD or stable ischemic heart disease, considering the improved prognosis, achieved largely by medical therapy, for angina pectoris in general.^{3,4} For the remainder of this guideline, stable CAD will be used to refer to stable angina (but "stable angina" will be used when citing literature that uses the term).

Estimation of the prevalence of CAD based on coronary risk factors such as age, sex, smoking habit, hypertension, diabetes mellitus (DM), and dyslipidemia is also important for diagnosis. The Framingham Risk Score is a classic algorithm used for that purpose.⁵ NIPPON DATA 80⁶ and the Suita study⁷ are some of the Japanese epidemiological studies similar to the Framingham Heart study that led to the development of the Framingham Risk Score. The "Japan Atherosclerosis Society (JAS) Guidelines for prevention of atherosclerotic cardiovascular diseases 2017" has switched the coronary artery risk calculation chart

Table 3. Chest Pain Score	
Location	
Substernal	+3
Precordial	+2
Neck, jaw, or epigastrium	+1
Apical	-1
Radiation	
Either arm	+2
Shoulder, back, neck, jaw	+1
Character	
Crushing, pressing, squeezing	+3
Heaviness, tightness	+2
Sticking, stabbing, pinprick, catching	-1
Severity	
Severe	+2
Moderate	+1
Influenced by	
Nitroglycerin	+1
Stature	-1
Breathing	-1
Associated symptoms	
Dyspnea	+2
Nausea or vomiting	+2
Diaphoresis	+2
Previous history of exertional angina	+3

Coronary artery disease suspected when the sum of the scores is ≥ 6 . (From Geleijnse ML, et al. 2000.² by permission of Oxford University Press (OUP) on behalf of the European Society of Cardiology (ESC). OUP and ESC are not responsible or in any way liable for the accuracy of the translation. The Japanese Circulation Society is solely responsible for the translation in this publication/reprint.)

from that of NIPPON DATA 2017 to that of the Suita study.⁸ The risk prediction model based on the Suita study focuses on the strong associations between hypertension and low high-density lipoprotein (HDL) cholesterolemia in males, and between DM and smoking in females with CAD (Figure 1).^{8,9}

Physical examination often finds no abnormality in patients with stable CAD. Nevertheless, palpation of arteries (primarily the carotid and femoral arteries) to check for bruits is still an essential examination. Measuring Achilles tendon thickness, for example, is important for the detection of familial hypercholesterolemia.¹⁰ Careful auscultation of the heart is also needed to detect extra heart sound such as S4 or a cardiac murmur.

2. Noninvasive Assessment of Ischemia (Table 4)

Exercise ECG is used for detection of ischemia when the patient is able to exercise. However, its sensitivity and specificity are relatively low at approximately 60% and 70%, respectively.^{11,12} Instead, a full risk assessment should be conducted using the Duke Score or a similar model. If the patient's risk is moderate or unevaluable, coronary computed tomography angiography (CTA) or exercise single-photon emission computed tomography (SPECT) test¹³ is recommended.

When the patient is unable to exercise or ECG is uninterpretable for ischemia assessment for any other reason, coronary CTA, pharmacological stress SPECT or pharmacological stress echocardiography¹³ should be chosen. Sensitivity, specificity, and negative predictive value are approximately 85%, 90%, and 83%, respectively.14 The negative predictive value of coronary CTA increases to 99% in patients with a low pretest probability,¹⁵ making the test suitable for ruling-out CAD. The specificity and accuracy of coronary CTA increase when CT perfusion¹⁶ and CT-derived fractional flow reserve (FFRcT)17 are combined. However, low diagnostic accuracy (46.1%) was reported for the combination of tests in vessels with an FFRct of 0.7-0.8.18 The JCS's appropriate use guide on FFRct specifies that FFRct is not indicated for (1) patients with stents placed in the left main coronary artery (LMCA) or ≥ 2 vessels, (2) patients with a history of CABG, and (3) patients with acute myocardial infarction (≤30 days after onset).19 In patients with chest pain, FFRct can reduce unnecessary coronary angiography without increasing clinical events^{20,21} and is considered a potentially cost-saving approach.22,23

SPECT sensitivity and specificity are approximately 73–92% and 63–87%.²⁴⁻²⁷ SPECT is preferred in patients with severe coronary artery calcification (calcification score >400), patients with frequent atrial fibrillation (AF) or extrasystoles, and patients in whom the use of contrast media should be avoided (e.g., renal impairment). Perfusion MRI may be an alternative to CT or SPECT.²⁸

3. Invasive Assessment of Ischemia (Table 5)

There is some discrepancy between the degree of stenosis on angiogram and the functional severity of the stenosis. For example, reports have noted that angiography can exaggerate the degree of stenosis in the right coronary artery (RCA), left circumflex coronary artery (LCX), or distal artery and may underestimate stenosis severity in the LMCA and lesions around the left anterior descending coronary artery (LAD).^{29,30} An FFR measurement becomes useful when an assessment by coronary angiography is not consistent with the results of noninvasive stress test or the clinical presentation (e.g., symptoms). Ischemia assessment using FFR is aimed at evaluating whether coronary artery revascularization should be performed. In other words, FFR-guided revascularization is suitable only for vessels that are anatomically amenable to coronary angioplasty or bypass grafting. For smaller vessels and branches that are not amenable to revascularization, FFR measurement is not indicated.

FFRs of 0.75 and 0.75–0.80 have been frequently reported as, respectively, the threshold value and the area of margin for ischemia in noninvasive stress testing of coronary artery stenosis (exercise ECG, stress echocar-diography, stress myocardial scintigraphy).^{31,32} At present, an FFR of 0.80 is set as the minimum for the use of new-generation drug-eluting stents (DES), which have improved in their outcomes over the years. Patients, or the lesions assessed to have no ischemia based on FFR, generally have a good prognosis. The DEFER study,^{33–35} FAME study,^{36–38} and CVIT-DEFER study³⁹ have shown that stenting in a lesion in which ischemia is not suggested by FFR does not improve survival more than medical therapy alone. For lesions in which the FFR strongly



Figure 1. Predictive model of coronary artery disease based on Suita score. CAD, coronary artery disease; HDL-C, high density lipoprotein cholesterol; LDL-C, low density lipoprotein cholesterol. *No reduction or addition necessary even if the patient is receiving antihypertensive therapy. If the patient's blood pressure remains unchanged with antihypertensive therapy, the patient is at risk of CAD and should be given guidance accordingly. If the patient is working on smoking cessation, consider him/her as not smoking. The risk of coronary artery disease almost halves after 1 year of nonsmoking and equals that of a nonsmoker after 15 years of smoking cessation. (From Kinoshita M, et al. 2018⁸ and Japan Atherosclerosis Society 2017.⁹ Copyright © 2018 Japan Atherosclerosis Society. This article is distributed under the terms of the latest version of CC BY-NC-SA defined by the Creative Commons Attribution License. https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-sa/4.0/)

suggests the presence of ischemia, the FAME 2 study has shown that PCI can reduce the risk of emergency revascularization more than OMT alone.^{40,41}

In patients with multivessel disease, although anatomical severity assessment (e.g., number of affected vessels observed on coronary angiography or a SYNTAX score) is useful for prognostic evaluation, angiography tends to exaggerate the degree of stenosis. Only approximately 20% of 3-vessel disease confirmed by coronary angiography is also confirmed by functional assessment of stenosis severity (ischemia).⁴² For approximately 40% of patients with multi-vessel disease confirmed by coronary angiography, an FFR measurement can lead to change in treatment strategy.^{43,44} When the functional SYNTAX score (SYNTAX score calculated using functional severity of stenosis) is used, approximately 30% of patients who are angiographically

Table 4. Recommendation and Evidence for Noninvasive Techniques for Assessment of Ischemia Prior to Revascularization			
	COR	LOE	
Detection of ischemia and identification of ischemic lesions using noninvasive techniques (SPECT, stress echocardiography, PET, perfusion MRI) in patients at intermediate risk of coronary artery disease	I	A	
Assessment of ischemia in moderate/severe stenosis using coronary FFRct	Ilb	В	

COR, class of recommendation; FFRcT, CT-derived fractional flow reserve; LOE, level of evidence; MRI, magnetic resonance imaging; PET, positron emission tomography; SPECT, single-photon emission computed tomography.

high-risk are reclassified as moderate risk or lower.⁴⁵ Because noninvasive imaging tests have limited utility in the evaluation of ischemia in individual lesions in patients with multivessel disease, functional assessment of stenosis with FFR is the more favored approach.

Accurate FFR measurement requires prior caffeine abstinence to ensure maximum blood flow is attained. Intravenous adenosine, intracoronary papaverine hydrochloride, and intracoronary nicorandil are used in FFR measurement. Instaneous wave-free ratio (iFR) is the ratio of the distal and a ortic pressure during the wave-free period in which vascular resistance is minimum. Measuring iFR is easy to approach compared with FFR because it does not require maximum blood flow. For PCI, an iFR of 0.89 is used as the treatment threshold and considered to correspond to an FFR of 0.80.46,47 A recent RCT comparing FFR and iFR has demonstrated that the diagnostic utility of iFR is not inferior to that of FFR.47,48 Other recently proposed indices that do not require maximum blood flow include diastolic pressure ratio (dPR), diastolic hyperemiafree ratio (DFR), and resting full-cycle ratio (RFR). A strong association has been shown between each of these and FFR, and these indices are suggested to be as clinically useful as iFR. These indices and iFR are now known collectively as resting indices.49-51 Coronary flow velocity reserve (CFVR) is measured by a Doppler flow wire and is calculated as the ratio of maximum coronary flow velocity at hyperemia to that at rest. CFVR is a diagnostic test for ischemia, reflecting the extent of epicardial coronary artery stenosis and microcirculation, and plays a complementary role to FFR.52,53

4. Myocardial Viability

Myocardial viability is commonly assessed by the presence/ absence of ischemia and the degree of blood flow reduction using myocardial perfusion SPECT. Thallium 201 (²⁰¹Tl) evaluates cell membrane and Na/K pump activities, and technetium 99 m (^{99m}Tc) assesses mitochondrial activity.⁵⁴ Myocardial perfusion SPECT is considered to have at least equivalent diagnostic sensitivity, but to have lower specificity compared with dobutamine stress echocardiography. The sensitivity and specificity of ²⁰¹Tl myocardial perfusion SPECT reported in a study were 86% and 59%, respec-

Table 5. Recommendation and Evidence for Ischemia Assessment Using FFR and iFR			
	COR	LOE	
PCI in a moderate stenosis that is not the primary lesion and does not reveal ischemia by noninvasive testing in patient with multivessel disease	I	A	
Selection of a vessel amenable to PCI in asymptomatic patient	lla	В	
PCI in a moderate to severe stenosis in the LMCA	lla	В	
PCI in multivessel disease	lla	В	
Lesion in a small vessel or branch not amenable to PCI	Ш	С	

COR, class of recommendation; FFR, fractional flow reserve; iFR, instaneous wave-free ratio; LMCA, left main coronary artery; LOE, level of evidence; PCI, percutaneous coronary intervention.

tively.⁵⁵ Administering nitroglycerin sublingually is considered effective for avoiding underestimation of myocardial viability in ^{99m}Tc myocardial perfusion SPECT.^{56,57} The reported sensitivity and specificity of ^{99m}Tc myocardial perfusion SPECT using nitroglycerin are 81% and 66%, respectively.⁵⁸ An uptake ratio (uptake in the affected vs. healthy segment) of \geq 50% at rest is an indication of myocardial viability.

When stress myocardial perfusion SPECT fails in complete assessment of myocardial viability, fluorine 18-labeled fluorodeoxyglucose (¹⁸F FDG) PET is advised.⁵⁹ A "blood flow and glucose metabolism dissociation" suggests myocardial viability (hibernating myocardium). In an observational study of 648 patients with impaired cardiac function (left ventricular ejection fraction [LVEF] 31±12%), survival rate was increased by early revascularization only in patients for whom blood flow and glucose metabolism dissociation had been noted by rest–stress ⁸²Rb/¹⁸F FDG PET, with a particularly greater benefit of revascularization observed among patients with >10% viable myocardium.⁶⁰

Gadolinium cannot be used in patients with stage G3b advanced stage chronic kidney disease (CKD); glomerular filtration rate (GFR) <30 mL/min/1.73 m². Cardiac MRI with late gadolinium enhancement (LGE) is an alternative technique for myocardial viability assessment in such patients. The myocardium at the site of infarction is considered viable when the proportion of transmural LGE is \leq 50%.⁶¹ Even when the wall thickness is <5.5 mm, wall motion can be improved by revascularization if transmural LGE is \leq 50%.⁶²

A meta-analysis of 3,088 CAD patients who had impaired cardiac function (LVEF 32±12%) and myocardial viability assessed by SPECT, ¹⁸F FDG PET, or dobutamine stress echocardiography reported a survival benefit with revascularization (PCI or CABG) only in patients with myocardial viability.⁶³ Myocardial viability in patients with impaired cardiac function is therefore of vital importance for determining whether revascularization is indicated, but other information such as patient demographics and disease characteristics also needs to be considered.

II. Treatment Decision-Making by the Heart Team

1. Importance of a Team Approach

In Chapter I of the "Guidelines for elective percutaneous coronary intervention in patients with stable coronary artery disease" (JCS 2011), the importance of collaboration between the cardiologist and cardiac surgeon in the treatment decision-making process is discussed. The guideline also notes that, for a patient with LMCA disease or multivessel disease (particularly those with DM, impaired left ventricular function or valvular disease), the treatment plan should be discussed between the cardiologist and cardiac surgeon before being presented to the patient.

However, discussion between a cardiologist and cardiac surgeon is hardly sufficient for development of a suitable treatment plan for CAD. The new Heart Team approach introduced with transcatheter aortic valve implantation (TAVI) requires rethinking the traditional team approach to CAD therapy.

2. Role of the Heart Team

The foremost responsibility of a Heart Team in the treatment of CAD is to evaluate whether the patient needs coronary artery revascularization, assess whether PCI or CABG is more appropriate for the patient, and present the treatment plan to the patient. In a country with a rapidly aging population, Japanese patients now have more complications with social problems such as isolation of poor, older adults or difficulty of earning. A multidisciplinary Heart Team approach is becoming more relevant to treatment decision-making in today's context.

A holistic approach is expected from the Heart Team when dealing with patients who may have a variety of comorbidities such as valvular disease, impaired cardiac function, renal impairment, DM or systemic vascular disease, rather focusing only on the anatomical complexity of coronary lesions. Expectations for the Heart Team also include assessment of the patient's toleration of antiplatelet therapy, evaluation of the need for continued anticoagulation therapy (considering the risk of AF and venous thrombosis), evaluation of bleeding risk, and assessment of the risk for invasive treatment in the future. The patient's physical, social, and psychological frailty and lifestyle, as well as the patient's/family's preferences, should also be considered in treatment decision-making.

3. Requirements for a Heart Team

The Heart Team must have (1) designated members, (2) a documented treatment decision-making process, and (3) measured treatment outcomes that can be shared among team members. Preferably, the Heart Team should include, rather than be organized as a joint conference of, a cardio-vascular interventionist and cardiac surgeon, a general cardiologist, anesthesiologist, expert(s) on comorbidities, and a nurse(s) who is familiar with the patient's performance status as well as the social/family background (**Table 6**).

A fair-minded physician should lead the team and strive to create an atmosphere that encourages input from both physician and non-physician members. Members are expected to build trust and avoid coercive or unfair statements against one another. Active discussion is essential for providing the best care to patients. Team members should be aware of the general team workflow (e.g., what kind of cases the team will cover, how members of different background should engage in treatment decision-making, how the decision-making process is documented, and how the treatment plan chosen by the team is presented to the patient in the informed consent process) (**Table 6**).

The outcome of revascularization, whether PCI or CABG, depends much on the skills of those who perform the procedure and who support it. The skills of team members should therefore be considered during the treatment decision-making process. Measuring (monitoring) the outcomes of care given at the team's institution and sharing statistical analysis of the outcome data among team members allows more informed discussion among members. Registration of treatment outcomes to a nationwide database is essential.

4. Scope of Discussions Within the Heart Team

Ensuring adequate discussion among members with different backgrounds for each and every patient with CAD is difficult and impractical. In fact, the European Society of Cardiology (ESC)/European Association for Cardio-Thoracic Surgery (EACTS) guidelines published in 2018 note that, while involvement of a multidisciplinary Heart Team in treatment decision-making is necessary for patients with stable multivessel disease, it is not for stable CAD for which the Heart Team has a pre-established treatment protocol.⁶⁴ This guideline lists treatment decision-making by a Heart Team as a Class I recommendation for Class IIb and Class III patients in **Table 13** of **Chapter IV** (see page 493).

Table 6. Typical Members and Activities of a Heart Team
Members
Interventionist
Cardiac surgeon
 Cardiologist (team leader) not involved in invasive care
Anesthesiologist
 Expert(s) on comorbidities
Ward nurse(s)
Others as needed
Team activities
- Case conference on a regular basis
 Establishment and agreement on criteria for cases to be discussed at the team conference
 Predetermined agenda and documentation of discussion in the medical record
- Sharing of the outcomes of care given to each patient
 Registration of the outcomes of PCI and CABG to a nationwide database
 Work on improvement of care through team review of mortality and serious morbidity (M&M conference)
CABG, coronary artery bypass grafting; PCI, percutaneous coronary intervention.

Preferably, an agreed standard treatment plan should be established for cases that are not discussed at the team conference. The Heart Team should also review deaths and serious morbidities that occur after elective intervention. The so-called mortality and morbidity (M&M) conference should be organized with the assistance of the institution to improve care quality.

5. The Heart Team in the Community

PCI may be performed in the cardiology office, and many

hospitals with a cardiology department do not have a separate cardiac surgery department even though PCI can be performed. Because of this, close coordination between the cardiologist's office and a hospital with a complete cardiovascular surgery facility is needed. Preferably, the cardiologist who a patient first visits and the hospital that accepts the patient for cardiovascular surgery should assess each other's diagnostic competence and treatment outcome in advance, form a heart team(s) for the community, and organize regular case conference meetings rather than limit their communication to a simple patient referral procedure.

III. OMT

OMT refers to medical therapy alone in a narrow sense. In the broader sense of the term, however, it means medical therapy combined with permanent lifestyle modification through exercise, diet, weight control, and smoking cessation, etc. For treatment of CAD, OMT is more relevant than medical therapy alone. OMT is cost-effective and can also decrease mortality and help alleviate symptoms (**Table 7**).

1. Lifestyle Intervention

1.1 Smoking Cessation

Smoking is associated with increased fibrinogen production,⁶⁵ increased platelet aggregability,⁶⁶ endothelial dysfunction,⁶⁷ low HDL cholesterolemia,⁶⁸ and coronary spasm,⁶⁹ among others. Smoking is also dose-dependently associated with cardiovascular event risk.⁷⁰ Passive smoking also clearly increases the risk of cardiovascular events.⁷¹ Although no RCT data are available about the effects of smoking, a large number of observational studies and meta-analyses have shown that smoking cessation is

Table 7. Recommendation and Evidence for OMT			
	COR	LOE	
OMT for risk control whether or not revascularization is performed		А	
Prioritize OMT over revascularization in patients with only a small ischemic area or mild ischemia		В	

COR, class of recommendation; LOE, level of evidence; OMT, optimal medical therapy.

Table 8.	Smoking	Cessation: The 5A Approach
Step 1	Ask	Ask about tobacco use each visit
Step 2	Advise	Advise the smoker to quit
Step 3	Assess	Assess willingness to make a quit attempt
Step 4	Assist	Assist in quit attempt. Administer smoking cessation aids and give counseling
Step 5	Arrange	Arrange follow-up

(From U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Public Health Service. 2008.75)

effective for reducing cardiovascular events.^{70,72} Complete cessation of smoking decreases the risk of death and myocardial infarction by 30%⁷³ compared with continuation of smoking. Even avoiding smoking for 2–3 years can reduce such risks.⁷⁴

There are drug and non-drug treatment strategies to assist smoking cessation. The "5A approach" is a widely accepted program of smoking cessation treatment (**Table 8**).⁷⁵ Smoking cessation aids (nicotine patch, nicotine gum, varenicline) can help decrease nicotine dependence. Although smoking cessation aids are clearly effective, there is little evidence about the relationship between them and cardiovascular events.

The physician's encouragement and motivation play an important role in smoking cessation.⁷⁶ Physicians should build trust with patients to help them stay away from smoking, not only in workplace but also at home.

1.2 Weight Management

Epidemiological studies have reported an association between body mass index (BMI) and coronary artery events. A meta-analysis has shown that a high BMI is a significant risk factor for coronary artery events even after correction for age, sex, physical activity, and smoking habit, among others.77 In particular, visceral obesity is known to be a strong risk factor of coronary artery events.78 Obesity is not only associated with multiple classic coronary risk factors, but also related to increased sympathetic tone, hypercoagulable state, and inflammation, among other things.79 In Japan, a BMI (calculated as weight in kilograms divided by square of height [in meters]) of 22 is regarded as normal. A person with a BMI ≥ 25 is regarded as obese, but is considered to be obese only when there are obesityrelated health conditions or excess visceral fat.⁸⁰ Waist circumference (abdominal circumference) is an important measure of visceral obesity. In Japan, waist circumference is a required criterion for diagnosis of metabolic syndrome⁸⁰ Data show that decreasing weight or abdominal circumference can reduce a multitude of risk factors such as blood glucose, blood pressure (BP), and lipid levels.⁸⁰ A weight loss of 20-32% achieved by weight reduction surgery reportedly decreased the mortality rate by 24%.81 For obese patients, a minimum target should be 3% reduction of weight/abdominal circumference in a period of 3-6 months.80,82

1.3 Physical Activity and Exercise Therapy

Exercise therapy and cardiac rehabilitation have been shown to be effective in RCTs and meta-analyses,83 and are the foundation of coronary artery risk management. Exercise therapy can improve the prognosis and also increases exercise tolerance and the ischemic threshold.84,85 In addition, it is expected to help the patient quit smoking. These benefits of exercise therapy are observed in both acute myocardial infarction and stable CAD.⁸⁶ Moderate to intense aerobic exercise for about 30-60 min/day on at least 5 days/week is recommended for most patients.87 Preferably, the prescription for exercise should be personally created, based on an exercise stress test. A monitored exercise program is recommended for patients with impaired cardiac function, symptoms of heart failure (HF), low exercise tolerance or severe residual ischemia. Together with exercise therapy, the patient should also be encouraged and motivated to increase physical activities in daily life to alter lifestyle habits.

2. Medical Therapy

2.1 Goals

The goals of medical therapy for stable CAD are the improvement of quality of life (QOL) and prognosis through mitigation of ischemia and prevention of cardio-vascular events. OMT is shown to improve survival as much as coronary artery revascularization in carefully selected patients with coronary artery stenosis.^{35,88-90} Therefore, OMT is integral to the treatment of stable CAD, whether or not the patient undergoes revascularization (see **Chapter IX**, page 538 for antiplatelet drugs and anticoagulants).

However, limited applicability of OMT in the clinical setting has been noted,⁹¹ and continuing efforts to maintain/ improve patient adherence to medical therapy is required.

2.2 Antianginal Drugs

2.2.1 Nitrates

Nitrates decrease the preload by dilating peripheral veins, and also lower the afterload by dilating coronary and peripheral arteries. No large-scale RCTs have produced reliable evidence of the efficacy of nitrates in stable CAD. Although one report indicated that nitrates worsen prognosis,⁹² the patients were not randomized in an appropriate manner in that study. Further research is needed on the effects of nitrates because of advances in both coronary artery revascularization and medical therapy over the years since the time of that study.

2.2.2 Beta-Blockers (BB)

BB lower myocardial oxygen consumption by lowering both the heart rate (negative chronotropic effect) and myocardial contractile force (negative inotropic effect) to exert an antianginal effect. Reduction of the post-discharge mortality rate was revealed by a meta-analysis of patients given long-term BB therapy after acute myocardial infarction.^{93,94} Carvedilol administration lowered arrhythmias and the risk of sudden death after myocardial infarction.⁹⁵ However, there is only inconclusive evidence, and research is still ongoing into the effects of BB on survival in stable CAD patients without a history of myocardial infarction or impaired left ventricular systolic function.

2.2.3 Calcium Antagonists

Both dihydropyridines and nondihydropyridines alleviate myocardial ischemia by vasodilatation. A clinical trial indicated that amlodipine decreases cardiovascular events,⁹⁶ and long-acting nifedipine reduces the risk of PCI; however, that trial was conducted before the establishment of current revascularization techniques and OMT.⁹⁷ Because of the higher prevalence of coronary spasm in Japan compared with Europe and the USA, BB are used less and calcium antagonists are used more frequently.⁹⁸

2.2.4 Nicorandil

Nicorandil is an ATP-sensitive potassium-channel opener developed in Japan. It can alleviate myocardial ischemia and has a myocardial protective effect through its nitratelike action and coronary vasodilating effect. The IONA study, an RCT conducted early in the first decade of the 21st century (contemporary with calcium antagonists), reported that nicorandil decreased cardiovascular events by 17%.⁹⁹

2.2.5 Other Drugs

Ivabradine (selective sinus node inhibitor) and ranolazine (selective blocker of late Na⁺ current) are also clinically used outside Japan. Neither drug had been approved in Japan in 2018.

2.3 Medical Therapy for Coronary Risk Factors

2.3.1 Hypertension

The American Collage of Cardiology (ACC)/American Heart Association (AHA) guidelines on hypertension, published in 2017, state that the target BP for hypertensive patients with chronic CAD should be <130/80 mmHg.¹⁰⁰ The "Guidelines for the management of hypertension 2014" published by the Japanese Society of Hypertension recommend that the target BP should be <140/90 mmHg for patients with CAD, and <130/80 mmHg for patients with multiple risk factors and who have no severe coronary artery stenosis, myocardial ischemia or ECG changes.¹⁰¹

For hypertensive patients with chronic CAD, calcium antagonists and BB are the first-line treatments because they have antianginal activity. Calcium antagonists are the first choice in patients suspected to have coronary spasm. Angiotensin converting enzyme inhibitors (ACE-I) improve survival by decreasing cardiovascular complications following myocardial infarction, and have also been shown to improve survival in CAD patients without cardiac dysfunction.¹⁰² The ASCOT¹⁰³ and ACCOMPLISH¹⁰⁴ studies reported a reduction in cardiovascular events in patients treated with amlodipine and ACE-I. No reports have demonstrated the utility of angiotensin II receptor antagonists in hypertensive patients with chronic CAD. Aldosterone antagonists, spironolactone and eplerenone, are recommended for myocardial infarction patients who have HF but neither renal impairment nor hyperkalemia.105,106

2.3.2 DM

Both the incidence of recurrent cardiovascular events and mortality rate are high in cardiovascular disease patients with DM.¹⁰⁷ In the ACCORD study, however, an increased mortality rate was observed in the intensive glucose-lowering therapy group,¹⁰⁸ throwing doubt on the utility of rigorous glucose control for suppression of major cardiovascular events. However, starting glucose control early reportedly reduces comorbidities in the long term and also lowers the risk of death (legacy effect). The Japan Diabetes Society's "Diabetes therapy guidelines 2016" sets the HbA1c target for control of complications at <7.0%.¹⁰⁹

There have been reports of metformin and alphaglucosidase inhibitors reducing major vascular events in diabetic patients, but the utility of these drugs has not been reported in chronic CAD patients. In the PROactive study, pioglitazone reduced cardiovascular events in a subgroup of patients with a history of myocardial infarction.¹¹⁰ Pioglitazone, however, has a precaution for edema and also extra care in patients with HF. In the EMPA-REG OUTCOME study that administered the sodium glucose cotransporter 2 inhibitor empagliflozin to diabetic patients, including many with a cardiovascular history, the incidence of the study's composite endpoint was significantly decreased, with a 38% reduction in cardiovascular death.111 The CANVAS Program study of canagliflozin¹¹² and the LEADER study of the glucagon-like peptide-1 receptor agonist liraglutide¹¹³ also reported a significant decrease in the respective primary endpoints.

2.3.3 Dyslipidemia

The CTT meta-analysis revealed that a 38.7 mg/dL reduction of low-density lipoprotein (LDL) cholesterol led to a 21% reduction in cardiovascular events.114 The ESTABLISH study¹¹⁵ and JAPAN-ACS study¹¹⁶ in patients with acute coronary syndrome (ACS), as well as the PRECISE-IVUS study in patients with ACS and stable angina,117 reported that statin trestment alone or with ezetimibe reduced coronary artery plaque. A significant decrease in cardiovascular events was reported with statin+ezetimibe,118 with statin+proprotein convertase subtilisin/kexin type 9 (PCSK9) inhibitor evolocumab in the FOURIER study,¹¹⁹ and with the PCSK9 inhibitor alirocumab in the ODYSSEY OUTCOMES study.¹²⁰ The ESC's guidelines for 2017 on ST-segment elevation acute myocardial infarction states "ezetimibe or PCSK9 inhibitor treatment should be considered when LDL cholesterol remains $\geq 70 \text{ mg/dL}$ after maximum tolerated dose of statin".121

The latest "Japan Atherosclerosis Society (JAS) Guidelines for prevention of atherosclerotic cardiovascular diseases 2017" sets the target LDL cholesterol level at <100 mg/dL for prevention of secondary arteriosclerosis or a reduction of \geq 50% in patients in whom <100 mg/dL is difficult to achieve. In patients at risk of cardiovascular events (e.g., those with familial hypercholesterolemia, ACS or DM), the Guidelines note "the target LDL cholesterol may instead be <70 mg/dL".⁹ The REAL-CAD study in stable CAD reported that the incidence of cardiovascular events in the pitavastatin 4 mg group was 19% lower than in the 1 mg group, and concluded that the maximum dose of statin covered by the National Health Insurance is recommended in Japanese patients with stable angina.¹²²

Eicosapentaenoic acid (EPA) administered with statin decreased coronary artery events by 19% in the JELIS study.¹²³ In the study's analysis of secondary prophylaxis, coronary artery events were reduced by 23% overall, and by 41% in patients with a history of myocardial infarction and PCI.124 The GISSI-Prevenzione study reported a significant reduction in cardiovascular events with n-3 polyunsaturated fatty acids.125 A meta-analysis of lipidlowering therapies indicated only n-3 polyunsaturated fatty acids and statins decrease both cardiac and all-cause mortality rates.¹²⁶ However, subsequent clinical trials reported mixed results on the utility of n-3 polyunsaturated fatty acids. The REDUCE-IT study administered high-dose EPA to patients with a cardiovascular history or who were at high risk of cardiovascular disease and had hypertriglyceridemia with well-controlled LDL cholesterol, and they achieved a 25% decrease in the study's primary composite endpoint.127 Further analysis is necessary for identification of both the patient population that will benefit from highdose EPA and the adequate dosage.

In the BIP study of patients with either myocardial infarction or stable angina and who had low HDL cholesterolemia, recurrence of myocardial infarction and sudden death were decreased in subjects with triglycerides $\geq 200 \text{ mg/dL}$ and treated with bezafibrate.¹²⁸ In the same study, recurrence of myocardial infarction was also decreased in the group of patients with metabolic syndrome.¹²⁹ A meta-analysis of the relationship between fibrates and cardiovascular events revealed that fibrates reduce cardiovascular events.¹³⁰

IV. Preparation for Revascularization

1. Outline of Revascularization

1.1 General Guidance for Revascularization

Precautions to be taken when considering revascularization in a patient are summarized below.

- 1. The lesion(s) must have demonstrated ischemia and be clinically significant.
- The goal of revascularization (relief of symptoms, improvement of prognosis by reducing cardiovascular event risk, or both) must be defined and shared between the patient and doctor.
- 3. The patient's risks must be evaluated before revascularization. The risk of the lesion(s) and perioperative risk

must be evaluated separately. The SYNTAX score is a reasonable surrogate index for lesion risk (suggests the severity of CAD). SYNTAX score II is a mortality prediction model for the 4-year period after PCI/ CABG. Both SYNTAX and SYNTAX II can provide useful information in treatment decision-making. The STS score and JapanSCORE are useful in the assessment of perioperative risk. This Guideline recommends risk evaluation in individual patients using some or all of these indices.

4. The Heart Team should make the treatment decision for severe coronary artery lesions such as LMCA lesion and 3-vessel disease. Ad hoc PCI during coronary angiography of severe coronary artery lesions should be avoided to allow discussion among the Heart Team members first.

Table 9. Severity of Coronary Artery Lesions for Which Revascularization Is Clinically Indicated
For improvement of prognosis
LMCA, >50% stenosis*
Proximal LAD, >50% stenosis*
2-/3-vessel, >50% stenosis*, and LVEF <40%
≥10% ischemic area in left ventricle
Last patent vessel surrounded by multiple occluded vessels, >50% stenosis*
For relief of symptoms
Presence of a significant stenosis* and angina symptoms that interfere with daily activities even on medical therapy

*Ischemia must be documented. LAD, left anterior descending coronary artery; LMCA, left main coronary artery; LVEF, left ventricular ejection fraction. (From Neumann FJ, et al. 2018.⁶⁴)

1.2 Basis of Revascularization

Revascularization (PCI/CABG), when successful, can alleviate ischemia, reduce clinical manifestations, and improve prognosis (e.g., reduction of risks such as myocardial infarction and death). Such benefits have been established by a number of clinical trials (**Table 9**).⁶⁴ In addition to permanent lifestyle modification, medical therapy for CAD is important both for reduction of short-term risks associated with revascularization and for improvement of long-term outcome of revascularization. This Guideline emphasizes that institution of adequate medical therapy prior to revascularization and continuation of medical therapy after revascularization are both very important. In other words, revascularization and medical therapy complement each other for the treatment of CAD.

RCTs have reported that many patients benefit more from revascularization than medical therapy alone,131-133 but there are many limitations to realizing similar results in the clinical setting. For example, in the RCTs revascularization is usually performed only on relatively young patients who have normal left ventricular function and no history of revascularization. Also, even when assigned to medical therapy alone, patients in an RCT may undergo revascularization when needed. In other words, no pure comparison between revascularization and medical therapy is feasible in a clinical trial. Also, many old RCTs performed revascularization under angiographic guidance and were not required to demonstrate ischemia using fractional flow reserve (FFR) or iFR. More recent RCTs have shown ischemia-guided revascularization has more benefits than angiography-guided revascularization.^{37,39,134} It is now widely accepted that a 75% stenosis on angiography does not necessarily indicate ischemia.29,30 The severity of a coronary artery lesion can generally be assessed on coronary computed tomography or angiography images. However, a moderate stenosis requires use of another modality to determine if the lesion is actually causing ischemia. The area of ischemia, if determined, provides important information for deciding whether revascularization should be performed. Finally, the follow-up period in many RCTs is generally too short to accurately assess the benefits of CABG with arterial graft.135-138

Revascularization is justified only when the expected benefits outweigh the risks involved. Prior risk evaluation and Heart Team discussion are important for justification of revascularization in the clinical setting.

Table 10. Recommendation and Evidence for Risk Evaluation Before Revascularization				
	COR	LOE		
Surgical risk JapanSCORE and STS score for prediction of in-hospital mortality rate of coronary artery bypass grafting		lla	С	
Complexity of coronary artery lesions	SYNTAX score for evaluation of complexity of LMCA disease or multivessel lesions	I	В	
	SYNTAX score II for treatment decision-making in multivessel disease	lla	В	

COR, class of recommendation; LMCA, left main coronary artery; LOE, level of evidence; STS, Society of Thoracic Surgeons.

2. Risk Prediction Models (Table 10)

The expected benefits of revascularization therapy must outweigh the risks involved. Medical therapy, PCI or CABG should therefore be chosen based on their benefitto-risk ratios. Choice of a risk prediction model to be applied for evaluation of both benefits and risks is therefore very important for treatment decision-making.

2.1 Risk Prediction Models for PCI

Risk prediction models are divided into those suitable for prediction of short-term prognosis and those for prediction of medium-to-long-term prognosis. Common models are listed in **Table 11**.¹³⁹ Short-term (30 days) models include STS score and European System for Cardiac Operative Risk Evaluation (EuroSCORE) II, among others, but their utility for prediction of short-term prognosis after PCI has not been established. This is because of the marked improvement in short-term PCI outcomes in recent years. Medium-to-long-term prediction models are more suited for assessment of prognosis after PCI. This contrasts with CABG for which reduction of perioperative risk is more important than improvement of long-term outcome.

2.1.1 Risk Prediction Using Coronary Angiography

Because the number of involved vessels affects the natural history of CAD, it has been used in risk stratification. This is the simplest model and does not reflect the size of territories affected. The jeopardy score was developed to roughly calculate the area of ischemia caused by each lesion. The jeopardy score categorizes the degree of stenosis in each lesion into 6 levels ($\leq 25\%$, 25%, 50%, 75%, 95%, and 100%), groups coronary arteries into 6 segments (**Figure 2**),¹⁴⁰ and assigns 2 points per $\geq 75\%$ stenosis in each segment for calculation of the total score. Although the jeopardy score is a simple tool, it enables more accurate severity evaluation of coronary artery lesions compared with simply counting the number of involved vessels and is shown to have prognostic value.¹⁴⁰

More recent models that utilize coronary angiography include the British Cardiovascular Intervention Society myocardial jeopardy score (BCIS-JS), which combines the jeopardy score with scores for LMCA lesions and bypass graft lesions,¹⁴¹ and the SYNTAX score that incorporates the morphology of vascular lesions.

Table 11. Risk Prediction Models for Revascularization						
Model		Procedure	Outcome	Utility for CABG	Utility for PCI	
	STS	100% CABG	Hospitalization or 30-day mortality, and in-hospital morbidity	O		
	EuroSCORE II	47% CABG	In-hospital mortality	0	\bigtriangleup	
Short-term models	NCDR CathPCI	100% PCI	In-hospital mortality		\bigtriangleup	
	EuroSCORE	64% CABG	Operative mortality	×	×	
	JapanSCORE	100% CABG	Operative mortality	0		
Medium–long-term models	SYNTAX		MACCE	0	0	
	SYNTAX II	50% CABG	4-year mortality	0	0	
	ASCERT CABG	100% CABG	Mortality after >2 years	0		
	ASCERT PCI	100% PCI	Mortality after >1 year		0	
	Logistic Clinical SYNTAX	100% PCI	1-year MACE and mortality		0	

©=very useful, ○=useful, △=limited utility, x=not useful at all. CABG, coronary artery bypass grafting; EuroSCORE, European System for Cardiac Operative Risk Evaluation; MACE, major adverse cardiovascular event; MACCE, major adverse cardiac or cerebrovascular event; NCDR, The National Cardiovascular Data Registry (NCDR®); PCI, percutaneous coronary intervention; STS, Society of Thoracic Surgeons. (From Windecker S, et al. 2014.¹³⁹)



Figure 2. Diagram of coronary artery tree demonstrating 6 segments counted in jeopardy score. LAD, left anterior descending coronary artery; LCA, left coronary artery; PDA, posterior descending artery; RCA, right coronary artery. (From Califf RM, et al. 1985.¹⁴⁰ Copyright (1985) by the American College of Cardiology Foundation, with permission from Elsevier. https://www.sciencedirect.com/journal/journal-of-the-american-college-of-cardiology.)

2.1.2 SYNTAX Score

The SYNTAX score is currently the most popular risk prediction model. It involves evaluation of coronary artery dominance, the site of lesions, and lesion morphology. All lesions in vessels ≥2 mm in diameter with ≥50% stenosis are subject to evaluation under the SYNTAX score. The score adapted an older evaluation technique based on angiography and its scoring system is based on expert consensus rather than rigorous statistical analysis. The SYNTAX score became widely known after the SYNTAX study reported its utility for stratification of prognosis after PCI.^{142,143} A number of studies after the SYNTAX score for prediction of risks after PCI in 3-vessel disease or LMCA. SYNTAX



scores of ≤ 22 , 23–32, and ≥ 33 are respectively grouped as low, moderate, and high risk. The SYNTAX score does not have strong relevance for perioperative or long-term outcome of CABG.¹⁴⁴

2.1.3 Models Combining Anatomic and Demographic Variables

The SYNTAX score represents the anatomic features (complexity and extent) of lesions. Although it is useful for risk prediction, the patient's long-term prognosis is not solely determined by the severity of CAD. For instance, patient demographics are important determinants. There are a few models combining the SYNTAX score with patient demographic variables (Table 12).

The SYNTAX score II is one such model (Figure 3). It combines the SYNTAX score with demographic and other patient characteristics (age, creatinine [Cr] clearance, LVEF, unprotected LMCA lesion, occlusive peripheral



arterial disease [PAD], sex, and chronic obstructive pulmonary disease).¹⁴⁵ Its utility has been demonstrated in both PCI and CABG patients.^{146–149} The EXCEL study was a comparative study assigning patients with LMCA lesions to CABG or PCI based on their SYNATX score II. The 4-year survival predictions by SYNATX score II were accurate for both CABG and PCI.¹⁴⁶ The study also reported that survival outcomes were better than the predictions in patients who were elderly males with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease and underwent PCI, and also in young females who had renal impairment and impaired left ventricular function and underwent CABG.¹⁴⁶

The CREDO-Kyoto PCI/CABG Registry Cohort-2 was a Japanese study conducted using the SYNTAX score II. The study reported, based on analysis of 2,190 PCI patients and 1,796 CABG patients, that the SYNTAX score II was useful for predicting long-term outcomes of both PCI and CABG, and was more useful than the SYNTAX score for risk stratification.¹⁴⁷ Although further analysis is required, the SYNTAX score II is considered to be more clinically relevant and useful for treatment decision-making than the SYNTAX score because it enables prediction of 4-year survival for both CABG and PCI.

2.1.4 Summary

There are a number of risk prediction models, but few studies have compared one model against another. Also, no model has so far incorporated frailty, which is expected to gain importance in the aging population, or is ready for risk prediction in patients with a porcelain aorta. Also, no single model is capable of assessing both the short-term benefits of PCI and the long-term benefits of CABG. None of the risk prediction models is intended for QOL prediction, either.

2.2 Risk Prediction Models for CABG

Risk prediction models for surgical coronary artery revascularization have been used for many years, primarily in Europe and the USA. The Parsonnet score is one of the oldest models.¹⁵⁰ The simpler and more accurate EuroSCORE was developed and quickly gained popularity globally,¹⁵¹ partly because it was published on the Internet.¹⁵² Comparison between the Parsonnet score and EuroSCORE started soon after, and the Parsonnet score lost favor.

In North America, the Society of Thoracic Surgeons (STS) led the foundation of the STS National Cardiac Database to accumulate useful data for development of a new model.¹⁵³ Thanks to the vast number of CABGs performed in North America, new models were developed, with publication of a new risk score after a few years.¹⁵⁴ The STS update the risk models regularly, which is available on the STS website.¹⁵⁵ The STS have developed a new model for CABG+valve replacement (primarily aortic valve) in addition to the one for CABG alone.¹⁵⁶ In 2018, the STS expanded application of the models to other cardiovascular surgeries using newly accumulated data.^{157,158}

In Europe, the simple EuroSCORE was soon accepted and widely used. The more accurate EuroSCORE II was published in 2012.¹⁵⁹ It was developed from data collected from 22,381 patients at 154 facilities in 43 countries. Because the data were collected in a relatively short period (12 weeks from May through July 2010), some researchers have noted that it may be biased.¹⁶⁰ Nevertheless, the EuroSCORE II is simple to use and used globally, including in Japan.¹⁵²

In Japan, development of the nationwide Japan Cardiovascular Surgery Database (JCVSD) started in 2000. The momentum to develop a database started at the Asian Society for Cardiovascular and Thoracic Surgery (ASCVTS) conference in 1999. At that meeting, participants agreed that a new Asian model was needed in light of the STS risk models in the USA, and the EuroSCORE in Europe. Because collecting data from different countries in Asia simultaneously was thought to be unrealistic, a Japanese database was conceived as a pilot case. Data collection first started with 5 institutions in Japan. The data items and their definitions were borrowed from the STS database (with STS approval and cooperation). In 2004, a web entry system, which was technically advanced at the time, was introduced for data collection, and the number of participating institutions gradually increased.¹⁶¹ An original risk model was completed in 2008, and the original Japanese risk score, JapanSCORE, was published.¹⁶² An updated risk model was made available in 2011,163 together with a new and more accurate risk scoring system, JapanSCORE II. A smartphone application (for iOS and Android) for convenient patient assessment was introduced in 2018 and is well accepted by the clinical community.

Risk scoring systems developed in the EU/USA use information collected from patients in their countries. Because differences in national healthcare systems certainly affect risk evaluation, one risk scoring system may not be equally relevant in the different countries. A comparison between the STS risk scoring system and EuroSCORE was conducted soon after their development.¹⁶⁴ Accuracy variance of the risk scoring systems in different countries seems inevitable.¹⁶⁵ A meta-analysis comparing the STS, EuroSCORE II, and ACEF (Age, Creatinine, Ejection Fraction) scores reported that STS and EuroSCORE II are superior to the ACEF score without a significant difference between STS and EuroSCORE II.¹⁶⁶ However, the STS risk scoring system is apparently more reliable, because it continues to be updated frequently compared with EuroSCORE II, which has remained unchanged.

Because JapanSCORE is an original system based on Japanese patient information, it is expected to be more relevant to the Japanese population than systems developed elsewhere. Kurazumi et al compared JapanSCORE with EuroSCORE using data obtained from 523 patients treated at their hospital. They reported that the overall c-coefficient under the receiver operating characteristic (ROC) curve was 0.688 for the Logistic EuroSCORE and 0.770 for JapanSCORE. For isolated CABG alone, it was respectively 0.564 and 0.790, revealing the superiority of JapanSCORE with a statistically significant difference (P=0.001).¹⁶⁷ Umehara et al performed a similar comparison using data from 733 patients at their hospital, and reported that the c-coefficient was 0.740 for the Logistic EuroSCORE and 0.806 for JapanSCORE.168 These findings support the use of JapanSCORE for Japanese patients in the clinical setting.

Because cardiovascular surgeries are performed daily and constantly evolving, databases also require frequent updates. Databases should be continually expanded and refined to maintain/improve their relevance.

3. Location of Lesions, Number of Involved Vessels, and Treatment Decision-Making

3.1 Input Into Treatment Planning

Treatment outcomes of CAD have been improved by technical advances such as DES, OMT, internal thoracic artery (ITA) graft use, and off-pump coronary artery bypass (OPCAB).¹⁶⁹ The benefits of each new treatment technique compared with older techniques have been investigated in clinical trials. Risk prediction models and the treatment decision-making process have also changed significantly over time. In general, a guideline is thought to cover only 20–30% of the entire patient population. In the USA, "appropriate use criteria" (AUC) have been developed to support the rational use of coronary revascularization in different clinical scenarios.

We also aim to present this guideline as practical and relevant guidance for appropriate use of revascularization in Japan based on latest evidence. In fact, the COR and LOE shown in Table 13 for PCI and CABG for different types of coronary artery lesions are similar to the AUC published in the USA in 2017. For example, the COR for PCI in the proximal LAD artery is IIa. Although recent evidence outside registries is lacking, PCI in the proximal LAD is generally regarded as beneficial and commonly performed in the clinical setting. The AUC updated in 2017 also states that PCI in proximal LAD is "appropriate".170 For 1-vessel disease other than in the proximal LAD, however, there are large differences between the Japanese and American clinical communities about appropriate treatment. Because PCI for 1-vessel disease (other than in the proximal LAD) is supported by the results of the J-SAP study and is common practice in Japan, this guideline recommends the procedure as Class I.

Other points to note in **Table 13** are severity evaluation, DM, and the Heart Team.

Table 13. Recommendation and Evidence for Revascularization in Stable Coronary Disease						
			PCI		CABG	
			COR	LOE	COR	LOE
Heart team conference for cases	of COR IIb and III		1	С	1	С
Risk prediction (SYNTAX score, S	STS risk models, JapanSC	CORE)	I	В	I	В
ad hoc PCI			llb	С	_	_
1-vossol disoaso	No proximal LAD lesion		I.	С	llb	В
1-763561 0136636	Has a proximal LAD lesi	ion	lla	с	1	С
	SYNTAX score ≤22		I.	В	I.	А
2-/3-vessel disease without DM	SYNTAX score 23–32		lla	В	I.	А
	SYNTAX score ≥33		ш	В	I.	А
	SYNTAX score ≤22		lla	В	I.	А
2-/3-vessel disease with DM	SYNTAX score 23–32		llb	В	I	А
	SYNTAX score ≥33		ш	В	I.	А
		Bifurcation lesion not requiring 2 stents	I	В	I	
Unprotected LMCA lesion	SYNTAX score ≤22	Bifurcation lesion requiring 2 stents	llb	В		A
	EVNITAX appro 22, 22	Bifurcation lesion not requiring 2 stents	lla	В	1	•
	SYNTAX score 23–32	Bifurcation lesion requiring 2 stents	llb	В		
	SYNTAX score ≥33		Ш	В	I	А
Impaired cardiac function (LVEF <35%)		llb	С	I	В	

CABG, coronary artery bypass grafting; COR, class of recommendation; DM, diabetes mellitus; LAD, left anterior descending coronary artery; LMCA, left main coronary artery; LOE, level of evidence; LVEF, left ventricular ejection fraction; PCI, percutaneous coronary intervention; STS, Society of Thoracic Surgeons.

Available data consistently indicate that severity evaluation of coronary artery lesions is the key factor in treatment decision-making. In the past, the severity of a coronary artery lesion was evaluated solely by the number of involved vessels. Many past guidelines adopted the same approach to severity assessment. The SYNTAX score then incorporated the location and morphology of lesions into risk prediction and soon was recognized as the most robust model for severity evaluation.¹⁴²⁻¹⁴⁴

The SYNTAX score for severity evaluation in multivessel disease and LMCA lesions is endorsed in this guideline.

For a single LMCA lesion requiring 2 stents, however, COR IIb is assigned irrespective of the SYNTAX score, because although the outcomes of PCI in LMCA lesions have improved dramatically over the years, risks (secondary revascularization, death, and thrombosis) are still relatively high for patients who require 2 stents compared with those who need only 1 stent.¹⁷¹

Another important factor that affects treatment planning is DM. A number of clinical trials have demonstrated the superior benefits of CABG compared with PCI in patients with DM.^{144,172} However, the relationship between the baseline SYNTAX score and the outcome of PCI/CABG was not studied for a long time. In 2018, a pooled analysis of data from 11,518 patients with multivessel disease or LMCA lesions in 11 comparative studies was published.¹⁷³ The analysis revealed that 5-year survival rate was similar between CABG and PCI in nondiabetic patients with multivessel disease, but was higher with a statistically significant difference for CABG among DM patients. The observed difference was more notable in patients with more complex lesions.¹⁷³ Although no similar meta-analyses are available, the pooled analysis included a large dataset including data from most of the major and well-respected clinical trials. We therefore decided to incorporate the finding reported by the analysis into this guideline.

The recommendations shown in **Table 13** include stratification by combining DM and severity of CAD. Better outcomes of both CABG and PCI in diabetic patients have been reported in Japan compared with the USA.^{174,175} However, no reliable data are available on the outcomes of PCI/CABG in diabetic patients having lesions with a low SYNTAX score. Collection of such data is eagerly awaited.

The advent of 2nd-generation DES has narrowed the variability in PCI outcomes. Recent studies show that the outcomes of PCI are almost equal those of CABG.

However, patients treated in clinical trials share relatively similar backgrounds compared with the general patient population. Also, treatment plans in the clinical setting are not decided solely on the location or morphology of lesions. For instance, CABG is superior to PCI for complete revascularization of complex multivessel disease and also for improvement of survival. Less invasive PCI has greater advantage, however, in elderly (\geq 80 years) patients in whom angina control is the primary goal.

Treatment for a patient should be decided in consideration of its goal, potential risks of different treatments, physician's skills, and patient preferences, among others. Evaluating risks other than those of CAD is therefore necessary. Because available evidence is insufficient for lesions with COR IIb or III in **Table 13**, the Heart Team should engage in an open discussion during the treatment decision-making process, reviewing data available at their institution or in their community.

3.2 Single-Vessel Disease

Single-vessel disease is grouped into proximal LAD lesions and lesions in other areas.

Proximal LAD lesions are high-risk disease and closely associated with survival. CABG with ITA grafts or PCI with new-generation DES is indicated for these lesions. Classic meta-analyses indicate the long-term outcomes (mortality rate and incidence of myocardial infarction/ stroke) of PCI are similar to those of CABG, but the repeat revascularization rate is higher for PCI.176,177 However, those meta-analyses included data from clinical trials that only used bare-metal stent (BMS) in PCI. Due to the dramatic decrease of repeat revascularization with DES,¹⁷⁸ a similar analysis today is expected to produce a much different result. The j-Cypher Registry, a prospective study of sirolimus-eluting stents (SES), compared the outcomes of revascularization of ostial LAD lesions in 481 patients and of non-ostial proximal LAD lesions in 5,369 patients, reporting little difference in the 3-year repeat revascularization rate or the incidence of myocardial infarction/death.¹⁷⁹ The New York State registry compared the outcomes of CABG and PCI in isolated LAD lesions in propensity-matched patients (n=715 each) and reported no difference in 3-year survival.¹⁸⁰ These reports indicate that the outcomes of PCI with DES placement in ostial LAD lesions is comparable, unlike in non-ostial LAD lesions, to those of CABG and that PCI is a viable alternative to CABG for ostial LAD lesions.

For total ostial occlusion or ostial LAD lesions with complex morphology, however, long-term survival is the primary concern and CABG is still the preferred procedure.

Evidence showing the benefits of revascularization in 1-vessel disease other than in the proximal LAD is lacking. Because of this, recommendations given by non-Japanese guidelines vary widely. The ACC/AHA guideline published in 2012 classifies both PCI and CABG as Class III in terms of prognosis.¹⁸¹ The weak recommendation reflects the lack of evidence showing the superiority of PCI over medical therapy.^{88,89} The ESC/EACTS guidelines of the year 2018 give Class I and IIb recommendations for PCI and CABG, respectivey.⁶⁴ Studies comparing ischemia-guided PCI and medical therapy have consistently reported the greater benefit of PCI.^{36,40} A meta-analysis of data from 3 comparative studies that give ischemia-related data (subgroup analysis in the COURAGE, FAME2, and SWISSI studies) indicated PCI decreases the 3-year mortality rate more than medical therapy.¹⁸²

This guideline uses the same COR as in the 2018 ESC/ EACTS guideline. However, the following points noted by the AUC as the key factors for treatment planning are supported: (1) presence/absence and extent of ischemia, (2) with/without prognostic determinants such as HF, (3) severity of angina symptoms, and (4) medical therapy regimen.¹⁷⁰ Although not empirically well supported, proximal LCX disease in patients with left-dominant coronary circulation is considered to be clinically equivalent to a proximal LAD lesion.¹⁷⁰

3.3 Multivessel Disease

The BARI 2D and FREEDOM studies investigated multivessel disease in DM patients.^{172,183} The BARI 2D study compared revascularization (CABG or PCI) with medical therapy alone against OMT and reported that only CABG achieved a lower incidence of cardiac death and myocardial infarction compared with medical therapy alone.¹⁸³ The FREEDOM study assigned 1,900 patients to CABG or PCI and compared outcomes. Both the 5-year mortality rate and the incidence of myocardial infarction in the CABG group were lower, with a statistically significant difference, than in the PCI group (mortality, 10.9% vs. 16.3%; myocardial infarction, 6.0% vs. 13.9%), and the incidence of stroke was significantly higher in the CABG group (5.2% vs. 2.4%).

The SYNTAX study revealed the significance of rating the complexity of CAD. The 5-year all-cause mortality, incidence of myocardial infarction, and repeat revascularization rate in the GABG group vs. PCI group were, respectively, 9.2% vs. 14.6%, 3.3% vs. 10.6%, and 12.6% vs. 25.4%, revealing the superiority of CABG with a statistically significant difference in each endpoint (respectively P=0.006, 0.001, and 0.001). Subgroup analysis using the SYNTAX score showed little difference in the composite endpoint (all-cause death, myocardial infarction, repeat revascularization) between CABG and PCI (26.8% vs. 33.3%, P=0.21) among patients with a low score (0-22), but the incidence of the composite endpoint was lower with a statistically significant difference in the CABG group among patients with medium (23-32) and high (≥ 33) scores (respectively 22.6% vs. 37.9%, P=0.0008; 24.1% vs. 41.9%, P=0.0005).143

Subsequent clinical trials have reported similar results to those of the SYNTAX study. For example, the BEST study assigned 880 patients to PCI with 2nd-generation DES or to CABG and reported little difference in mortality rate over a follow-up of 4.6 years, but with a statistically higher incidence of myocardial infarction and repeat revascularization in the PCI group than in the CABG group.¹⁴² A pooled analysis of 5,054 patients with 3-vessel disease from 11 comparative trials revealed no difference in outcome between CABG and PCI in non-DM patients, but found a lower 5-year mortality rate for CABG in DM patients, with a greater difference in patients with higher SYNTAX scores.¹⁷³

The CREDO-Kyoto registry was a post-hoc analysis comparing the outcomes of CABG and PCI in 5,651 cases of 3-vessel disease. Although CABG was found to be associated with an increased stroke risk, it also correlated with a lower overall risk of death.¹⁸⁴ The CREDO-Kyoto registry compared the above data with contemporary

American registry data and noted differences in the outcomes of revascularization between Japanese and American DM patients.¹⁷⁴

From the New York State registry, a comparison between CABG against PCI with 1st-generation DES, and another between PCI with 2nd-generation DES and synchronous CABG have been reported.^{137,185} The comparison of 17,400 cases between 2003 and 2004 revealed a statistically higher 18 months survival rate in the CABG group.¹³⁷ However, the 2015 report noted little difference in mortality (2.8-year mean follow-up; 3.1% per year for PCI and 2.9% per year for CABG; P=0.50). Nevertheless, the PCI group had a higher incidence of myocardial infarction (1.9% per year vs. 1.1% per year, P<0.001) and repeat revascularization rate (7.2% per year vs. 3.1% per year, P<0.001). In contrast, stroke incidence was significantly higher for CABG (0.7% per year vs. 1.0% per year, P<0.001).¹⁸⁵

As these reports show, the treatment outcomes of multivessel disease depend on the complexity of disease and patients with or without DM. In general, the more complex a lesion in a DM patient, the greater the benefits of CABG compared with PCI. In this guideline, recommendations are stratified by combining DM and the severity of CAD.

3.4 LMCA Disease

Since the establishment of CABG's superiority to medical therapy in clinical trials in 1980s,^{186–188} CABG was long considered to be the absolute indication for revascularization in LMCA disease. PCI used to be associated with a high late restenosis rate. Also, many patients with LMCA disease also have multivessel disease for which CABG has better survival benefit, making PCI traditionally the less favored technique.^{189,190} However, recent reports indicate that PCI with DES in selected patients is similar in outcomes to CABG for up to 5 years.^{142,191,192}

The SYNTAX study compared CABG and PCI in 705 patients with LMCA lesions and reported no significant differences in 5-year survival (14.6% for CABG and 12.8% for PCI; P=0.53), incidence of myocardial infarction (respectively 4.8% and 8.2%; P=0.10), and incidence of the composite endpoint (death, myocardial infarction, stroke, and repeat revascularization: 31.0% and 36.9%; P=0.12). At the same time, however, the study revealed a significantly higher incidence of stroke for CABG, and a significantly higher repeat revascularization rate for PCI.142,192 Subgroup analysis of the SYNTAX study also indicated that the incidence of the composite endpoint varied among patients with different SYNTAX scores. The incidence of the composite endpoint was similar between CABG and PCI in low-risk (SYNTAX score 0-22) and medium-risk (23-32) patients (P=0.74 and P=0.88, respectively), but was significantly higher in the PCI group among high-risk (≥33) patients (P=0.003).¹⁹² This particular finding from the subgroup analysis suggests that PCI is reasonable for patients with a SYNTAX score \leq 32.

The more recent EXCEL study produced similar results. It assigned 1,905 LMCA disease patients with a SYNTAX score \leq 32 to either CABG or to PCI with 2nd-generation DES and followed the patients for 3 years after revascularization. The incidence of the composite endpoint (all-cause death, myocardial infarction, and stroke) was 15.4% for PCI and 14.7% for CABG, demonstrating the noninferiority of PCI.¹⁹³ The noninferiority of PCI was consistently observed, with no interaction with risk factors such as

DM, CKD, and bifurcation lesion.¹⁹³ The NOBLE study assigned 1,201 patients to either PCI with early, thick-strut DES or to CABG and compared the 5-year major adverse cardiac or cerebrovascular event (MACCE) rate. The noninferiority of PCI to CABG was hypothesized, but was not achieved, with the 5-year MACCE rates of 29% vs. 19% (P=0.0066). The study report noted that the exclusion of perioperative myocardial infarction, the higher incidence of stent thrombosis (ST) compared with previous reports in the PCI group (despite similar mortality rates), and the higher incidence of late stroke in the PCI group were reasons for the hypothesis not being achieved.¹⁹⁴

None of the meta-analyses of these RCTs comparing PCI with DES against CABG revealed a difference in 5-year survival or the incidence of myocardial infarction.^{195–198} Also, a pooled analysis of 4,478 cases reported little difference between CABG and PCI in DM patients.¹⁷³

Therefore, PCI is a potential alternative to CABG in revascularization of LMCA disease. However, variability of outcomes has been noted in patients with different SYNTAX scores.¹⁹⁸ PCI is reportedly safer in the short term, whereas CABG is supported for better long-term safety due to the higher risk of repeat revascularization associated with PCI. Longer follow-up data are needed to make a more complete comparison.

A Japanese report noted that 5-year outcomes of 1-stent PCI are similar between LMCA bifurcation lesions and nonbifurcation LMCA lesions and that, with 2-stent PCI, the risk of death (including repeat revascularization) and thrombosis is slightly higher for LMCA bifurcation lesions despite no difference in mortality.¹⁷¹ Although outcomes of PCI are probably similar to those of CABG in most bifurcation lesions, no sweeping generalization can be made for all types of LMCA disease. In this guideline, the COR for PCI in bifurcation lesions that require 2 stents is IIb regardless of the patient's SYNTAX score, but only after discussion within the Heart Team. For PCI in complex lesions, operator skills/experience and patient demographic and baseline characteristics must always be considered.

3.5 Complete Revascularization (Table 14)

Complete revascularization is normally confirmed by diagnostic angiography. It is defined as successful treatment of any lesion with >50% diameter stenosis in vessels ≥ 1.5 mm, regardless of the size of the territories the vessel is supplying.¹⁹⁹ The effects of complete and incomplete revascularization on patient prognosis have been investigated based on this definition.

Poorer long-term outcomes have been reported for both PCI/CABG with incomplete revascularization.^{199,200} There are other contradictory reports. One report noted that outcomes of PCI were less favorable with incomplete revascularization, while those of CABG were similar between complete and incomplete revascularization.²⁰¹ Another report concluded that outcomes of both PCI and CABG were similar with or without complete revascularization.²⁰² Only incomplete revascularization is attained in CABG; most notably, when the target artery is small or has diffuse disease. In PCI, incomplete revascularization has the same causes. At the same time, incomplete revascularization is selected in lesions with complex morphology or in other lesions that are technically difficult to intervene for other reasons (e.g., total occlusion, severe calcification). Incomplete revascularization of a proximal lesion by PCI

Table 14. Recommendation and Evidence for Complete Revascularization		
	COR	LOE
Multivessel disease		А
Prior functional assessment of severity (ischemia)	lla	В

COR, class of recommendation; LOE, level of evidence.

tends to leave clinically relevant distal segments with insufficient flow.

To improve the prognosis for multivessel disease, complete revascularization is desirable. However, deciding whether complete revascularization is appropriate is difficult based solely on anatomic variables such as vessel diameter. A revascularization technique must always be chosen by considering the effect of the size of the territory to which blood is supplied by the treated vessel and the viable myocardial mass on prognosis after revascularization. Revascularization guided by FFR has been reported to improve graft patency.²⁰³ Complete revascularization guided by ischemia may improve long-term outcomes of both PCI and CABG. Fundamentally, however, either complete or incomplete revascularization should be chosen depending on the treatment goal for each patient.

4. Timing of Revascularization and Ad hoc PCI

Delayed intervention can increase the risk of events such as myocardial infarction. Revascularization, once decided, should therefore be done within a reasonable timeframe for the patient's safety.²⁰⁴⁻²⁰⁶ The ESC/EACTS guidelines of 2018 recommend that revascularization be carried out within 2 weeks in patients with LMCA disease or severe cases with frequent anginal episodes even on oral antianginal therapy, or within 6 weeks in other stable angina patients for whom revascularization is indicated.⁶⁴

4.1 Ad hoc PCI

Because coronary CT angiography enables physicians to evaluate CAD before intervention, ad hoc PCI in which PCI is performed immediately after coronary angiography reveals CAD has become an accepted treatment approach. Ad hoc PCI is time- and cost-efficient and may also mean less stress to the patient. According to an analysis of CREDO-Kyoto Cohort 2, adjusted 5-year survival rate was no different between 1,722 (24.8%) patients with ad hoc PCI and 5,221 (75.1%) patients without ad hoc PCI (15% vs. 15%, P=0.53), with even a slightly lower incidence of stroke in patients with ad hoc PCI (hazard ratio [HR], 0.78; P=0.06).²⁰⁷ Despite the benefits, concerns have been

Table 15.	Prerequisites	for Ad hoc PC
-----------	---------------	---------------

- 1. Ischemia is documented.
- 2. The Heart Team has decided that PCI is anatomically feasible and safe.
- 3. The patient is fully informed.

PCI, percutaneous coronary intervention.

raised that ad hoc PCI tends to be performed even when it is not clearly needed/appropriate. ad hoc PCI also tends to be performed without adequate informed consent. In this guideline, 3 prerequisites for ad hoc PCI (**Table 15**) are defined, and routine performance of the procedure is not endorsed.

4.2 Multistage PCI vs. One-Stage PCI for Multi-Vessel CAD

Staged PCI is a common approach for the treatment of multivessel disease. Dividing PCI into multiple stages shortens the duration of procedure in each stage, which has a number of benefits such as lower risk of contrastinduced nephropathy and less radiation exposure. Although multistage PCI may potentially be safer and more effective than one-staged PCI, such benefits have not yet been established.²⁰⁸ Therefore, one-staged PCI should be the standard approach even in patients with multivessel disease. In practice, however, multistage PCI is often chosen over one-staged PCI for different reasons, which vary and are related to renal impairment, contrast dose, disease complexity, ACS, radiation dose, patient age, impaired cardiac function, and procedural complications, among others.²⁰⁹

The SCAI of the USA published a consensus statement on staged PCI in 2012.²¹⁰ It specifies that one-staged PCI should generally be performed when: (1) the patient has severe functional stenosis (=high degree of ischemia) and requires PCI in non-main lesions, considering symptoms and prognosis; (2) the patient has no comorbidities, has undergone successful intervention of the main lesion, and can tolerate additional contrast dose and radiation exposure; and (3) the patient has requested PCI and delaying the procedure is expected to result in loss of benefits.

Due to the inherent limitations of PCI in terms of safety (e.g., the use of contrast dye, radiation), the treating physician is required to identify the lesion(s) in which PCI or ischemia evaluation is planned, plan the procedural sequence, select a technique, decide whether to perform the procedure in a one-staged or multistage manner, and communicate all the information to the patient in advance. When unforeseeable events occur, the planned procedure should be modified as needed in an appropriate manner.

V. Revascularization in Special Populations

1. HF, Impaired Left Ventricular Function (Table 16)

CAD is the most frequent cause of chronic HF. Patients with left ventricular dysfunction are at risk of sudden cardiac death with or without revascularization. The indication for implantable cardioverter-defibrillator should always be considered in these patients.²¹¹

1.1 Evidence in Chronic HF Patients

For ischemic HF patients, coronary artery revascularization is recommended because it can achieve a higher long-term survival rate compared with medical therapy alone.^{135,211} Nevertheless, consensus has not been reached on the optimal revascularization technique for these patients.

The STICH study was a RCT comparing CABG with medical therapy.¹³⁵ One of the analyses performed in the study revealed that patients with impaired left ventricular function (LVEF <35%) had an acceptable 30-day mortality rate of 5.1% after CABG.¹³⁵ In the STICH Extension Study (STICHES), the 10-year survival rate of patients who underwent CABG with medical therapy was significantly higher compared with patients who received medical therapy alone, supporting the finding in the STICH study.²¹²

In Japan, the observational CREDO-Kyoto PCI/CABG Registry Cohort-2 reported post-CABG prognosis of patients grouped by cardiac function. Among 1,877 patients who underwent isolated CABG, outcomes were compared in patients with normal cardiac function (LVEF >50% and no HF, n=1,489), patients with systolic failure (LVEF \leq 50% and with HF, n=236), and patients with diastolic failure (LVEF >50% and with HF, n=152).²¹³ Although the 30-day mortality rate was significantly higher in the systolic failure group (3.0%) compared with 0.5% in the normal group and 0.7% in the diastolic failure group (P=0.003), the 5-year all-cause mortality rate was highest in the diastolic failure group (32% vs. 14% in the normal group and 27% in the systolic failure group; P<0.001). After adjustment for confounding factors, the 5-year mortality rate of the diastolic failure group was higher than in the normal group and similar to the systolic failure group.

No RCTs have compared PCI with medical therapy in patients with impaired left ventricular function. Only a few observational studies have investigated the outcomes of PCI alone in that patient population. In a retrospective study in 5,377 patients (≥70% underwent PCI with DES), the target lesion revascularization (TLR) rate at 1 year following PCI was not different among 4 LVEF subgroups (>50%, 41-50%, 25-40%, and <25%), but ST occurred more frequently in the <25% and 25-40% groups compared with the >50% group.²¹⁴ In a prospective observational study of 839 patients with chronic total occlusion (CTO; successful PCI in 93.6%), the incidence of cardiovascular events over 2 years was similar across the LVEF \geq 50%, 35–50%, and \leq 35% subgroups. In successful PCI patients with LVEF ≤35%, the mean LVEF increased from 29.1±3.4% to 41.6±7.9%.215 Advances in PCI technology and medical therapy may affect the clinical outcomes, and patient demographics often vary significantly between patients with and without impaired left ventricular function. Therefore, interpretation of these observational data always requires caution.

No RCT has compared the outcome of PCI and CABG in patients with impaired left ventricular function. There are only reports of subgroup analysis in RCTs or from observational studies. In the subgroup analysis of the EXCEL study that compared PCI with 2nd-generation everolimus-eluting stent (EES) and CABG in patients with LMCA disease (SYNTAX score \leq 32), the incidence of the primary endpoint (3-year all-cause death, stroke, and myocardial infarction) revealed no significant difference between the PCI (20.4%) and CABG (18.2%) groups among patients with <50% LVEF (111 patients in the PCI and 115 in the CABG group, respectively).¹⁹³ The CREDO-Kyoto PCI/CABG Registry Cohort-2 was an observational study of PCI with 1st-generation DES. There were 3,584 patients with 3-vessel or LMCA disease among 15,939 who underwent revascularization for the first time. Of these patients, the propensity score-adjusted 5-year all-cause mortality and cardiac death rates were similar between PCI and CABG among those with preserved left ventricular systolic function (LVEF >50%, 2,676 patients). In patients with impaired systolic function (LVEF $\leq 50\%$, 908 patients), the PCI group had higher all-cause death (HR, 1.49; 95%) confidence interval [CI], 1.04-2.14; P=0.03) and cardiac

Table 16.	Recommendation and Evidence for Revascularization in Patients With Chronic Heart
	Failure or Left Ventricular Systolic Dysfunction
	(LVEF ≤35%)

	,	-
	COR	LOE
Revascularization in patients with myocardial viability*	I	В
CABG in patients with a significant stenosis in LMCA or with a lesion of equivalent clinical significance (e.g., severe stenoses in proximal LAD and proximal LCX)	I	С
CABG in patients with a significant stenosis in LAD or multivessel disease intended to reduce death or hospitalization due to cardiovascular disease	I	В
PCI in patients with coronary artery anatomy amenable to PCI	lla	С
SVR for left ventricular aneurysm or ventricular arrhythmia unresponsive to medical therapy	I	С
CABG + SVR with anterior wall incision in patients with impaired left ventricular function and anterior wall scar who are expected to achieve, if SVR is performed simultaneously, a postoperative left ventricular endsystolic volume index of 40–80 mL/m ²	lla	В
CABG + SVR with posterior wall incision in patients with impaired left ventricular function and posterior wall scar	llb	с
SVR in patients in whom SVR is considered high risk	ш	В

*See Chapter 1.4, page 484. CABG, coronary artery bypass grafting; COR, class of recommendation; LAD, left anterior descending coronary artery; LCX, left circumflex coronary artery; LMCA, left main coronary artery; LOE, level of evidence; LVEF, left ventricular ejection fraction; PCI, percutaneous coronary intervention; SVR, surgical ventricular reconstruction. death (HR, 2.39; 95% CI, 1.43-3.98; P<0.01) rates compared with the CABG group.²¹⁶ Among observational studies of PCI using newer-generation DES, the New York State registry reported a comparison of PCI with 2ndgeneration EES and CABG in multivessel disease patients with impaired left ventricular systolic function (LVEF ≤35%).²¹⁷ Over the median 2.9-year follow-up of 2,126 propensity score-matched patients (1,063 each underwent PCI and CABG), the all-cause mortality rate of the patients with PCI (HR, 1.01; 95% CI, 0.81–1.28; P=0.91) was similar to that of the patients with CABG. PCI was associated with an increased risk of late myocardial infarction, especially among patients who had incomplete revascularization or underwent repeat revascularization. CABG on the other hand was associated with an increased risk of stroke. The report concluded that PCI may be a meaningful option in multivessel disease patients with impaired left ventricular function if complete revascularization is feasible.

Generally, CABG achieves a higher long-term survival rate and decreases long-term cardiovascular events more than PCI in patients with moderately or severely impaired left ventricular function (LVEF <50%).^{213,218} Nevertheless, the choice of CABG or PCI should be made by the Heart Team with careful assessment of the patient's clinical presentation, anatomy of CAD, the expected degree of revascularization (or if complete revascularization is feasible), myocardial viability, the presence or absence of valvular heart disease, and other comorbidities.

1.2 PCI

A registry of PCI with newer-generation DES has reported no difference in survival benefit between PCI and CABG.²¹⁷ However, this is not sufficient to prove the efficacy of PCI in patients with impaired left ventricular function, because of the absence of RCTs comparing PCI against medical therapy or CABG. In a patient with impaired left ventricular function, PCI should be considered only if the patient has myocardial viability, demographic or other characteristics that make CABG inappropriate, and lesions for which PCI is anatomically indicated (**Table 16**).

Observational studies have shown that prophylactic intra-aortic balloon pumping (IABP) during PCI in highrisk patients decreases mortality and major complications compared with rescue IABP.^{219,220} In the BCIS-1 study, an RCT of patients with extensive CAD and impaired cardiac function (mean LVEF, 23.6%), no differences were observed in the outcomes of PCI between the group with and without prophylactic IABP. However, IABP was required during PCI by 12% of the group without the prophylactic procedure.²²¹ Routine prophylactic IABP is not recommended during PCI in patients with impaired left ventricular function. Nevertheless, necessary preparation should be made for timely IABP during PCI in high-risk patients.

The recently launched Impella[®] is a catheter-mounted small device for circulatory assistance. It provides greater hemodynamic support than IABP and can decrease the left ventricular afterload that is increased by veno-arterial extracorporeal membrane oxygenation. In Japan, Impella is indicated for patients with acute left HF complicated by cardiogenic shock and not responding to medical therapy. A multicenter retrospective study that investigated the outcomes of PCI performed on unprotected LMCA disease in 36 patients with ACS complicated by cardiogenic shock reported that the 30-day survival rate was significantly higher in patients who had Impella 2.5 placed prior to PCI compared with those who had the device placed after PCI (48.1% vs. 12.5%, P=0.004).²²² In an RCT comparing Impella and IABP in 48 patients with AMI complicated by cardiogenic shock, no statistically significant differences were observed in the 30-day or 6-month mortality rate.²²³ Evidence to support the use of Impella in elective PCI in patients with impaired left ventricular function is insufficient to date. We await accumulation of data through RCTs and in registries.

1.3 CABG

CABG is commonly performed "off-pump" (OPCAB). In patients with impaired cardiac function, however, on-pump coronary artery bypass (ONCAB) is also frequently selected because of the risk of hemodynamic perturbations during heart displacement. In a clinical trial that compared OPCAB and ONCAB, 934 patients with impaired cardiac function (LVEF $\leq 30\%$) who underwent OPCAB or ONCAB under cardiac arrest were followed for an extended period and matched by baseline characteristics for comparison of outcomes. The incidence of perioperative myocardial infarction was higher for ONCAB (3.8% vs. 1.3%, P=0.04), but no statistically significant differences were noted in perioperative mortality rate or the incidence of other complications, including stroke.²²⁴ In the long term, the repeat revascularization rate was higher for the OPCAB group, but without a statistically significant difference in mortality rate.

In patients with impaired cardiac function, ONCAB is occasionally performed on a beating heart for myocardial preservation. In a study that allocated patients with impaired cardiac function (LVEF \leq 35%) to beating-heart ONCAB or OPCAB and compared early postoperative outcome, the number of bypass grafts was significantly larger in the beating-heart ONCAB group (3.7±0.8 vs. 2.8 ± 0.6 , P<0.001), together with significantly higher postoperative LVEF (baseline LVEF was similar between the groups).²²⁵ No significant differences were observed in perioperative mortality or complications. Multivariate analysis in the study indicated neither beating-heart ONCAB nor OPCAB as a predictor of perioperative death or complications. Another study compared the outcomes of beating-heart ONCAB, OPCAB, and traditional CABG in patients with 37% mean LVEF and a EuroSCORE of 12, and reported that beating-heart ONCAB decreased perioperative cardiac complications and was safe and effective.²²⁶ Because these clinical trials only had small patient populations without collection of long-term outcome data, however, they only have limited clinical relevance.

1.4 Surgical Ventricular Reconstruction (SVR)

1.4.1 Goals

The goals of SVR for the treatment of ischemic heart disease are summarized as volume reduction of the left ventricle, myocardial scar exclusion, and left ventricular reshaping.

Dilatation of the left ventricle by post-infarction remodeling is associated with a lower survival rate,²²⁷ whereas successful left ventricular volume reduction (endsystolic volume index [ESVI] <60 mL/m²) after SVR is associated with a higher survival rate.^{228–230} Moreover, further left ventricular remodeling can be induced by increased neurohormonal activity in patients with a dilated left ventricle,²³¹ but SVR can decrease this activity.²³² On the other hand, because left ventricular volume reduction by SVR may decrease stroke volume,²³³ excess volume reduction should be avoided.

An increase in the left ventricular akinetic area due to myocardial ischemia decreases stroke volume, though subsequent left ventricular dilatation compensates for the decrease.^{234,235} Exclusion of the scar in SVR can decrease the left ventricular volume without reducing the stroke volume.²³⁶

The relationship between myocardial fiber contraction and LVEF is affected by myocardial fiber orientation, which is also associated with left ventricular shape. Left ventricular ejection gets more inefficient as the left ventricle becomes more spherical in post-infarction remodeling.²³⁷ In contrast, SVR focusing on restoration of a conical left ventricular shape was associated with a higher survival rate than that focusing on reducing left ventricular volume without restoring the shape.²³⁸

1.4.2 Benefits

The STICH trial, an RCT that investigated the benefits of SVR on the ischemic heart with left ventricular dysfunction (baseline LVEF <35%), compared 499 patients who underwent isolated CABG and 501 patients who underwent CABG+SVR, and concluded that adding SVR to CABG did not improve survival.²³⁹ However, there has been criticism of the study design.²⁴⁰ A Japanese retrospective, multicenter study (SURVIVE) reviewed 293 CABG patients with baseline LVEF <40% and indicated that SVR with anterior left ventricular wall incision achieved a significant decrease in ESVI and an increase in LVEF. The study also reported that postoperative LVEF affected patient survival and concluded that SVR could improve survival by increasing LVEF.²⁴¹

1.4.3 Indications

The indication of SVR should be determined comprehensively by considering several factors, including the extent of left ventricular remodeling, surgical risk, and left ventricular shape.

The patients for whom SVR can improve survival (i.e., responder to SVR) are considered to be those with moderate left ventricular remodeling, not those with severe (too late) or mild (too early) remodeling.242 However, previous studies failed to demarcate the lower and upper limits of the extent of left ventricular remodeling for the indication of SVR in terms of baseline left ventricular ESVI. Instead, the significance of postoperative left ventricular volume in the identification of a responder to SVR was suggested in the STICH trial, where CABG+SVR was associated with a higher survival rate than isolated CABG in those with postoperative ESVI ≤70 mL/m².²³⁰ The SURVIVE study also reported that the postoperative ESVI could demarcate the responder to SVR: an increase of LVEF by SVR had a survival benefit only in patients with postoperative ESVI of 40-80 mL/m². The SURVIVE study concluded that estimation of postoperative ESVI could help identify responders to SVR, also showing an equation to estimate postoperative ESVI using the extent of baseline left ventricular remodeling and surgical technique.241 Thus, those who are estimated to have postoperative ESVI of $40-80 \,\mathrm{mL/m^2}$ can be considered responders to SVR.

On the other hand, improvement of survival by adding

SVR to CABG does not always substantially contribute to long-term survival. For this reason, estimation of survival time after SVR should be performed for individual candidates using risk prediction models after SVR.243,244 The Japanese retrospective study (J-STICH) reviewed 596 patients who underwent SVR and identified the baseline INTERMACS level, severity of mitral regurgitation (MR), LVEF, and age as the independent predictors of postoperative mortality. The postoperative 3-year survival rates of the low-, intermediate-, and high-risk groups categorized by risk scores assigned using the predictors were, respectively, 93%, 81%, and 44%.243 Therefore, SVR should be beneficial for responders if they are categorized as low or intermediate risk. In high-risk patients, however, achieving favorable long-term survival is probably difficult even for responders to SVR. Palliative care, ventricular assist device implantation, or heart transplant are more practical options in such patients.241

SVR was originally developed for the treatment of left ventricular aneurysm, and subsequently adopted for ischemic cardiomyopathy with a large akinetic area. Although a significant difference was reported in post-SVR survival time between left ventricular aneurysm and ischemic cardiomyopathy,²⁴⁵ other reports indicate that left ventricular shape is irrelevant to the outcomes of SVR.^{246,247} Despite the absence of consensus, baseline left ventricular shape does not appear to determine the indication of SVR. On the other hand, SVR should be considered when myocardial scar, such as in a left ventricular aneurysm, is associated with formation of a giant left ventricular thrombus or ventricular arrhythmia that are refractory to medical treatment.

The extent of residual myocardial viability has been considered to be associated with survival after coronary revascularization,²⁴⁸ and also helps predict the outcome of SVR. In contrast, a subanalysis of the STICH trial demonstrated that there was no interaction between myocardial viability and the type of the procedure (isolated CABG vs. CABG+SVR) with respect to mortality.²⁴⁹ There remains no consensus on how myocardial viability should be treated when determining the indication of SVR.

1.4.4 Variations in SVR

Various techniques have been reported for SVR in terms of the use of an intraventricular patch, the location of the left ventricular incision, myocardial resection, and postoperative ventricular shape.²⁵⁰⁻²⁵³ As there is no study to date that can conclude which is the best procedure for SVR, it is recommended to carefully select the procedure that seems most appropriate for the patient, considering the location of the left ventricular incision according to the scar sites,²⁵⁴ prevention of excess volume reduction using dedicated sizers,²⁵⁵ and restoration of left ventricular shape, etc.

2. DM

2.1 DM and CAD

An MHLW report published in 2016 stated that almost 24% of the Japanese population had or were at risk of diabetes (including ~10 million "strongly suspected" to have diabetes and another 10 million at risk).²⁵⁶ CAD is one of the leading causes of death among DM patients,^{257–259} killing almost 3-fold more DM patients than non-DM patients.

Even without a prior history of CAD, the incidence of myocardial infarction in DM patients is about 6-fold higher than in non-DM patients.²⁶⁰

Many DM patients have a number of comorbidities, and CAD in DM patients tends to have characteristics that make revascularization difficult, such as diffuse and microvascular disease. CAD in DM patients is also often asymptomatic, which can delay revascularization, making detection of CAD particularly important for DM patients. DM is an important determinant of the revascularization technique to be used and choosing an optimal revascularization technique requires holistic assessment because of the wide variation in clinical presentation among DM patients.

Over 40% of Japanese patients who undergo revascularization in the clinical setting have DM,²⁶¹ which is significantly high compared with 20–30% in Europe/US.²⁶²

2.2 PCI (Table 17)

CAD in DM patients is often LMCA disease, multivessel disease, and/or diffuse disease, and DM patients typically have small vessels and/or severe calcification. Also, hyperglycemia has adverse effects on the vascular endothelium. These features seen in DM patients tend to make PCI unsuitable or selection of a suitable PCI device difficult. DM therefore lowers the lesion success rate and impairs the long-term prognosis of CAD. The incidence of in-stent restenosis (ISR) was high during the BMS era but decreased, even among DM patients, after the advent of DES. The SIRIUS study compared DES and BMS in DM patients.²⁶³ A SES was placed in 279 DM patients and achieved a significantly lower TLR rate compared with BMS at 8 months after stent placement. Newer-generation DES have improved the outcome of PCI compared with 1st-generation DES in DM patients, but the extent of this

Table 17. Recommendation and Evidence for PCI in Diabetic Patients			
	COR	LOE	
Use of 2nd-generation or later DES in stenting		В	
Interruption of metformin for 48 h before/after PCI	I	С	

COR, class of recommendation; DES, drug eluting stent; LOE, level of evidence; PCI, percutaneous coronary intervention.

Table 18. Recommendation and Evidence for CABG in Diabetic Patients			
	COR	LOE	
Choose CABG as first-line treatment for multivessel disease		А	
Aim for post-intervention blood glucose levels of <180 mg/dL		В	
Carry out artery grafting using skeletonized BITA as the first choice	lla	А	
Skeletonized harvesting of ITA	lla	A	

BITA, bilateral internal thoracic artery; CABG, coronary artery bypass grafting; COR, class of recommendation; ITA, internal thoracic artery; LOE, level of evidence.

improvement is smaller compared with the improvement achieved in non-DM patients, indicating the difficulty of PCI in DM patients.²⁶⁴⁻²⁶⁶

The superiority of CABG to PCI in DM patients, particularly for DM patients with multivessel disease, has been demonstrated in a number of clinical trials.144,172 In the BARI study, the cardiac mortality rate over 5.4 years following revascularization of multivessel disease was significantly lower in the CABG group compared with the balloon PCI group (5.8% vs. 20.6%).267 The difference in mortality rate was maintained 7 and 10 years after revascularization.131,268,269 In the FREEDOM study, the incidence of major adverse cardiovascular events in the 5-year followup period was 26.6% in the PCI group and significantly lower in the CABG group (18.7%). The difference between the groups was due to the greater number of all-cause deaths and myocardial infarctions in the PCI group.¹⁷² In 2018, a pooled analysis of 11 comparative studies in multivessel and LMCA disease patients was published.¹⁷³ According to the analysis, the 5-year survival rate for multivessel disease was no different between CABG and PCI among non-DM patients, but was significantly higher for CABG among DM patients. In addition, more favorable survival was achieved after CABG than after PCI in DM patients with left ventricular dysfunction.²⁷⁰

Preventing myocardial infarction and death from CAD (secondary prophylaxis), together with the relief of angina pectoris is particularly important for DM patients. Also, DM patients with multivessel disease are likely to receive a survival benefit from CABG. These findings should be remembered when the Heart Team defines the goal of coronary artery revascularization in a DM patient.

2.3 CABG (Table 18)

2.3.1 Impact on Outcome

The outcome of CABG in DM patients is generally poorer than in non-DM patients.^{271–273} Herlitz et al reported from a 2-year follow-up of CABG patients that the mortality rate within 30 days and between 30 days and 2 years after CABG were respectively 3% and 3.6% in non-DM patients compared with 6.7% and 7.8% in DM patients.²⁷³ The incidence of postoperative complications is also higher in DM patients. In particular, insulin therapy is a notable risk factor in postoperative death and complications.^{271,272,274–280}

2.3.2 Benefits of OPCAB

Greater benefits of OPCAB are generally expected in patients with more severe DM. The use of extracorporeal circulation carries a greater risk in DM patients than in non-DM patients.²⁸¹ A few studies have compared OPCAB against ONCAB in DM patients. Some reporting more favorable results for OPCAB²⁸²⁻²⁸⁴ noted less short-term adverse events (death, infections, cardiac events, cerebral infarction, renal failure) and shorter postoperative hospital stay.^{285,286} There are recent reports throwing doubt on the benefits of OPCAB.²⁸⁷⁻²⁸⁹ However, many of the reports disputing the benefits of OPCAB only pointed out the way OPCAB had been performed, rather than refuting the potential benefits of OPCAB. Most reports published by people working at experienced institutions recommend OPCAB.

2.3.3 Graft Selection for Diabetic Patients

Most studies reporting the effects of DM on graft patency

have noted that DM has little effect on the long-term patency of arterial grafts.^{290–294} One report indicated that saphenous vein grafts (SVGs) have low long-term patency in DM patients.²⁹⁴

Bilateral ITA (BITA) grafting has a favorable long-term outcome in both the general patient population^{295,296} and DM patients.²⁹⁷ A number of recent studies have investigated the use of arterial grafts, because of their increased popularity, and have shown that the use of multiple arterial grafts (MAG), primarily BITA, can significantly improve the outcome of CABG in DM patients.281-286,297-305 However, the risk of mediastinitis with BITA is a concern in DM patients.³⁰⁶⁻³⁰⁹ Many reports have noted mediastinitis will not increase when skeletonized BITA is used.281,298-301 A meta-analysis published by Kajimoto et al in 2015 reported that the incidence of mediastinitis was no different between skeletonized BITA (1.4%) and skeletonized single ITA (SITA; 1.5%).281 The above reports show that skeletonized BITA is an important option for CABG in DM patients. Nevertheless, its use should be carefully considered per patient as the risk of surgical site infection will increase in the presence of risk factors such as obesity in women and chronic obstructive pulmonary disease.310

2.3.4 Postoperative Glucose Control

Many reports agree that postoperative hyperglycemia is associated with postoperative complications and death.^{311–316} In particular, hyperglycemia within 2 days after CABG has been reported as an independent risk factor of mediastinitis.^{315,316} No optimal postoperative glucose levels have been established for DM patients. However, the STS notes that $\geq 150 \text{ mg/dL}$ is associated with increased complications and mortality rate, and proposes 100–150 mg/dL as the reference range.³¹⁷ Some recent reports argue that moderate control (up to 180 mg/dL) rather than rigorous control correlates with less frequent deaths and complications.^{318,319} In this guideline, <180 mg/dL for glucose levels after CABG is loosely recommended.

3. CKD

CKD affects 13.3 million Japanese, or approximately 13% of adults, making CKD a new "national disease". Because CKD is more prevalent in aged individuals,³²⁰ it poses a greater problem in apidly aging populations. The prevalence of CAD is high among CKD patients, who areare estimated to be 1.9-fold more likely to develop CAD than non-CKD patients.³²¹ Even early-stage CKD, let alone end-stage renal disease requiring dialysis, is known as a significant risk factor of cardiovascular death.³²² CKD patients are more likely to die from cardiovascular disease than from end-stage renal disease.³²³ Cardiovascular disease comprises about 50% of all deaths of CKD patients. Management of CAD, including revascularization, is therefore of great importance, but there have been few RCTs in CKD patients, limiting evidence to the results of observational studies and subgroup analyses of large-scale RCTs.

3.1 Assessment of Renal Impairment

In 2002, the National Kidney Foundation (K/DOQI) published their definition, diagnostic criteria, and disease stage classification of CKD.³²⁴ Their diagnostic criteria are made up of (1) kidney damage for \geq 3 months, as defined

by structural or functional abnormalities of the kidney (pathological abnormalities, abnormalities in the composition of the blood or urine, or abnormalities in imaging tests), with or without decreased GFR, and (2) GFR <60 mL/min/1.73 m² for \geq 3 months. The K/DOQI defines the diagnosis of CKD as being when the patient fulfills either or both of the criteria.

Estimated GFR (eGFR) is calculated using serum creatinine (SCr), age, and sex. The Japanese Society of Nephrology recommends the following eGFR formula for the treatment of CKD in the clinical setting:³²⁵

eGFR (mL/min/1.73 m²) = $194 \times Cr - 1.094 \times Age - 0.287$ (+ "×0.739" for female).

3.2 Degree of Renal Impairment and Outcome of Revascularization

CKD is recognized as a significant factor associated with the early and long-term outcomes of revascularization for CAD patients.^{326,327} According to an analysis of the STS's National Adult Cardiac Database (480,000 cases of CABG between the years 2000 and 2003), eGFR before CABG was the strongest predictor of perioperative death.³²⁶ Although early outcomes of CABG are poor in CKD patients compared with non-CKD patients, a study reported that CKD patients who are discharged alive after CABG have good long-term survival.³²⁸ Also, although the risks of early postoperative dialysis and death are higher for CABG than for PCI in CKD patients, long-term survival after CABG equals or exceeds that after PCI.^{329,330}

There is an analysis of the relationship between renal function and treatment outcome in 4,584 patients who had severe coronary artery stenosis and underwent cardiac catheterization at Duke University Medical Center between 1995 and 2000.331 According to the analysis, the 5-year survival rate was significantly higher for the PCI group compared with the medical therapy group among patients with normal renal function or mild to moderate renal impairment, but PCI did not improve survival in patients with severe renal impairment. In patients who underwent CABG, 5-year survival was significantly higher compared with the medical therapy group, regardless of renal function. Long-term survival was also significantly more favorable with CABG than PCI in patients with severe renal impairment. CKD is a common comorbidity in CAD patients, and the severity of CKD is a determinant of the outcome of revascularization and an important factor in treatment planning.

Of the 15.939 patients in the CREDO-Kvoto PCI/CABG Registry Cohort-2, 14,706 were discharged alive, had renal function data, and were stratified into 4 groups by baseline eGFR and with/without dialysis for analysis of the incidence of cardiovascular events (myocardial infarction or death) over 3 years.332,333 Of the 12,588 who underwent PCI, the 3-year event-free survival rate in 7,899 patients with normal renal function and 3,780 patients with mild renal impairment was respectively 91.2% and 85.3%. In 461 patients with severe renal impairment (eGFR <30 mL/ min/1.73 m²) and 448 on dialysis, it was 66.7% and 61.5%, respectively. Of the 2,118 patients who underwent CABG, the 3-year event-free survival rate was 91.9% in 1,070 patients with normal renal function, and 87.1% in 787 patients with mild renal impairment, similar to the PCI group. In 147 patients with severe renal impairment and 124 patients on dialysis, however, it was respectively 75.9% and 72.8% and significantly higher than in the PCI group. Subgroup analysis of the ARTS study reported that CABG decreases repeat revascularization compared with PCI in multivessel disease in patients with moderate CKD.³³⁴ Strong evidence indicates that CABG can reduce repeat revascularization and offers a greater survival benefit than PCI for complex CAD patients with severe renal impairment.

3.3 Patients on Dialysis

Of all CKD patients, those on dialysis have a particularly poor prognosis. The incidence of cardiovascular death in CKD patients on dialysis is 10–20-fold that in the general population.³³⁵ This increased risk is suspected to be caused by the high prevalence of CAD among these patients.³³⁶ CAD in CKD patients on dialysis warrants special consideration. However, there are few reports, with a limited number of cases, of revascularization in maintenance dialysis patients.

A report comparing the outcomes of CABG and PCI against those of medical therapy in CAD patients on dialysis noted that CABG achieved better long-term survival than medical therapy. PCI also offered better survival than medical therapy.337 A data analysis by the US Renal Data System compared the long-term outcome of revascularization by CABG or PCI between 1995 and 1998 in American patients on dialysis (6,668 underwent CABG, 4,836 received balloon dilatation alone, and 4,280 underwent stent placement).338 The 2-year survival rate was 56.4% for CABG, 48.2% for balloon dilatation, and 48.4% for stent placement, revealing the superiority of CABG. The CREDO-Kyoto PCI/CABG Registry Cohort-2 also compared CABG (n=130) and PCI (n=258) among propensitymatched patients on dialysis, and reported a significantly higher incidence of cardiovascular death and sudden death, as well as a significantly higher repeat revascularization rate, for PCI but the long-term all-cause mortality rate was similar between CABG and PCI.339

Even today with the widespread use of DES, the benefits of CABG are generally considered to exceed those of PCI. Because maintenance dialysis patients are more likely to undergo surgery than CAD patients in general, treatment for CAD should be chosen by considering the performance status and vital prognosis of each patient.

3.4 PCI (Table 19)

Precautions for contrast-induced nephropathy (CIN), hemorrhagic complications, and vascular access site are

Table 19. Recommendation and Evidence for PCI in CKD Patients			
	COR	LOE	
Prior risk evaluation of contrast-induced nephropathy based on baseline GFR		С	
Carry out PCI with contrast dose adjustment considering the risk of contrast-induced nephropathy		с	

CKD, chronic kidney disease; COR, class of recommendation; GFR, glomerular filtration rate; LOE, level of evidence; PCI, percutaneous coronary intervention. needed for PCI in CKD patients. The incidence of CIN is high. CIN has a negative effect on the prognosis of CKD (see Chapter VIII, page 537 for more information). CKD is also a risk factor for hemorrhagic complications during dual antiplatelet treatment (DAPT). Precautions are also needed for concomitant drug dosing and adverse reactions. Patients with CKD often have calcified coronary artery lesions, and calcification is particularly severe in CKD patients with DM. Calcification increases the likelihood of incomplete stent dilatation and weak contact between the stent and artery wall in PCI, and both of these are risk factors for procedural complications such as ISR and ST. In cases where preservation of blood access for dialysis should be considered, an approach site other than the radial artery (RA) must be selected. In such cases, the risk of bleeding complications increases.

A study comparing the outcome of PCI with BMS (n=204) and DES (n=301) reported a significantly lower TLR for DES in a 6-year period.³⁴⁰ Even with DES, however, the restenosis rate was higher in patients on dialysis compared with non-dialysis patients.³⁴¹ Patients on dialysis tend to have complex disease such as severe calcification and elongated lesions that make stent insertion difficult or require use of the Rotablator[®]. Skilled hands are also required to perform PCI in dialysis patients.

The prevalence of CAD is higher in dialysis patients than in non-dialysis patients. Often CKD patients have asymptomatic coronary artery stenosis even before starting dialysis. Because CAD can lead to serious cardiac events or death, rigorous screening is recommended for early detection and treatment of CAD in dialysis patients.

3.5 CABG (Table 20)

3.5.1 Procedure Selection

OPCAB has been associated with better operative outcomes than ONCAB in patients with renal impairment.³⁴²⁻³⁴⁴ A number of observational studies in CKD patients report superiority of OPCAB, with statistically significant differences in the length of postoperative ICU stay, intubation time or transfusion volume, but few have reported significant benefits in surgical or long-term mortality. There is skepticism about the benefits of OPCAB in patients with moderate CKD. There are reports indicating that OPCAB does not lessen the worsening of renal impairment or the risk of renal replacement therapy,^{345,346} and does not affect dialysis in the long term.³⁴⁷

3.5.2 Graft Selection

Bypass graft patency is critical for the long-term outcome

Table 20. Recommendation and Evidence for CABG in CKD Patients			
	COR	LOE	
Choose CABG over PCI in multivessel disease to place emphasis on long-term survival	lla	В	
Perform OPCAB for lower perioperative risk	IIb	В	

CABG, coronary artery bypass grafting; CKD, chronic kidney disease; COR, class of recommendation; LOE, level of evidence; OPCAB, off-pump coronary artery bypass; PCI, percutaneous coronary intervention.

after CABG. ITA is most often used because of its superior long-term patency. The use of BITA has improved the survival of CKD patients or patients on dialysis.348,349 However, endothelial function inside the ITA may be affected in CKD patients.350 BITA is occasionally avoided in dialysis patients because of concerns about deep sternal wound infection (DSWI). However, the frequency of late wound recovery or DSWI is similar with or without BITA use in CKD patients, according to some reports.^{348,351} The gastroepiploic artery (GEA) is often avoided as a graft because many CKD patients have sclerotic changes in the splanchnic arteries or require peritoneal dialysis. In addition, the RA, which typically provides vascular access for hemodialysis, cannot normally be used as a graft in CKD patients. Because the SVG deteriorates rapidly in dialysis patients, an arterial graft is generally preferred. Because of the above limitations, however, graft selection should take into account individual conditions in CKD patients.

4. Valve Disease

4.1 Treatment Approach

A slightly different treatment approach is needed for CAD in patients for whom surgical treatment of valvular disease is indicated, and for patients who have valvular disease but first require revascularization for CAD. For revascularization in patients for whom surgery for valvular disease is indicated, CABG is typically performed simultaneously with valvular disease surgery when the risk is acceptable. However, there is very little supportive evidence for such concomitant surgery.³⁵² For patients who need revascularization for CAD but do not have a surgical indication for valvular disease, coronary artery revascularization should be given priority.

4.2 PCI

4.2.1 Aortic Stenosis (AS; Table 21)

AS is, unless rheumatic or inflammatory in origin, agerelated arteriosclerosis/degeneration of the aortic valve and often complicated by CAD.³⁵³ TAVI is mostly performed in aged individuals. According to the large TAVI registry of the STS/ACC TVT, only 37% of patients were free of CAD.³⁵⁴ A Japanese TAVI registry also reported that about 50% of patients have CAD.³⁵⁵ Aortic valve replacement (AVR), whether by standard surgery or the less invasive TAVI, carries a high risk of death in patients with both severe AS and CAD.^{356–358} Therefore, just as with cardiovascular surgery, coronary angiography for preoperative evaluation is recommended for most patients (excluding young adults) who are scheduled to undergo aortic valve surgery (including TAVI).

Consensus has not been reached on whether PCI should be performed in patients scheduled to undergo TAVI.³⁵⁸⁻³⁶⁰ Historically, multicenter studies have reported that PCI prior to TAVI is beneficial. In a meta-analysis published in 2017, however, PCI before TAVI revealed no clear benefits and instead was associated with increased 30-day mortality and vascular complications.³⁶¹ Some studies have noted that a residual SYNTAX score and CAD severity are unrelated to outcome after TAVI in asymptomatic patients.^{362,363} Available evidence suggests that revascularization prior to TAVI should not be a routine procedure. The decision to perform PCI should be based on the

Table 21. Recommendation and Evidence for PCI Before Aortic Stenosis Intervention			
	COR	LOE	
Prior review of CAD by Heart Team	I.	С	
Coronary angiography for preoperative examination (excluding young adults and premenopausal women)	I	С	
PCI in severe coronary artery stenosis in patients for whom TAVI is indicated	llb	А	

CAD, coronary artery disease; COR, class of recommendation; LOE, level of evidence; PCI, percutaneous coronary intervention; TAVI, transcatheter aortic valve implantation.

patient's ischemic symptoms.

Ischemia evaluation in severe AS is known to be difficult. Due to left ventricular subendocardial ischemia, fibrosis, and/or hypertrophy, which are often caused by AS, the effect of coronary artery stenosis on ischemia often cannot be determined. Evaluation of the functional severity of stenosis using FFR or other methods is also difficult. Nevertheless, one report noted FFR is capable of reducing unnecessary aortic valve surgeries or revascularization scheduled simultaneously with aortic valve surgery.³⁶⁴ At the very least, measurement of FFR can be safely performed in severe AS patients.³⁶⁵

4.2.2 MR (Table 22)

Just as with AS, CAD complicated by MR is commonly treated by CABG if the MR is operable. In MR patients, ischemic MR is the primary cause of CAD. Because relieving ischemia can sometimes improve the MR, revascularization prior to intervention for the MR may have a beneficial effect on MR to some extent.³⁶⁶ A study investigating the feasibility of minimally invasive mitral valve surgery after PCI in a small number of patients at a single center reported favorable results.^{367,368}

In Japan, a minimally-invasive percutaneous treatment for MR patients who are likely to undergo surgery (e.g., aged individuals) was added to the approved treatments of the National Health Insurance program in 2018. Clinical application of the treatment started immediately. This new treatment is most likely to be applied to functional MR induced by CAD. Revascularization before transcatheter mitral valve repair has case reports³⁶⁹ only and therefore lacks reliable evidence. A study reported the utility of SYNTAX score II for severity assessment of CAD before

Table 22. Recommendation and Evidence for PCI Before Surgery for MR		
	COR	LOE
Heart Team review of CAD prior to percutaneous mitral valve clipping	I.	С
Coronary angiography for preoperative examination (excluding young adults and premenopausal women)	I	С
PCI in severe coronary artery stenosis in patients with inoperable ischemic MR	llb	С

CAD, coronary artery disease; COR, class of recommendation; LOE, level of evidence; MR, mitral regurgitation; PCI, percutaneous coronary intervention.

Table 23. Recommendation and Evidence for Treatment of AS in Patients Undergoing Elective Coronary Artery Bypass Grafting		
	COR	LOE
Aortic valve replacement in severe AS		С
Aortic valve replacement in moderate AS	lla	С

AS, aortic stenosis; COR, class of recommendation; LOE, level of evidence.

Table 24. Recommendation and Evidence for Treatment of MR in Patients Undergoing Elective CABG		
	COR	LOE
CABG+mitral valve surgery in severe secondary MR	lla	В
CABG+mitral valve surgery in moderate secondary MR	llb	С

CABG, coronary artery bypass grafting; COR, class of recommendation; LOE, level of evidence; MR, mitral regurgitation.

percutaneous mitral valve clipping.³⁷⁰ The SYNTAX score II may be referenced by the Heart Team, though it does not provide generalizable data for this guideline. The combination of revascularization and valvular disease therapy should be assessed on a per-patient basis.

4.3 CABG

4.3.1 AS (Table 23)

In Japan, the number of valvular disease surgeries is on the rise while the number of patients undergoing CABG is in decline. In 2015, 8,561 patients underwent AVR. Of these, 28.8% (2,492 patients) underwent simultaneous CABG,³⁷¹ a significant rise from 16% in 2005.³⁷² The increase is probably due to the increased age of patients and the increased severity of arteriosclerosis. The reported mortality rate for CABG+AVR varies from 1.3% to 14.1%,³⁷³ but is apparently higher than the mortality rate for isolated CABG (mortality for AVR alone was 2.0% in 2015 in Japan).^{374,375}

Since the reports of high mortality rates (14–24%) for delayed AVR performed on nonsignificant AS remaining after the initial CABG,^{376,377} AVR has come to be recommended even for moderate AS. The ECC/EACTS deleted the recommendation of AVR for moderate AS in their recent guidelines published in 2017. The recent development, popularity, and reported favorable and consistent outcomes of TAVI are enabling new treatment strategies, such as putting patients with moderate AS on follow-up until TAVI becomes necessary.³⁷⁸

4.3.2 MR (Table 24)

Guidelines on MR should be referenced for the applicability of mitral valve surgery simultaneously with CABG in patients with severe MR.^{379–385} Ischemic MR is the primary concern when simultaneous surgery for CAD and MR is considered. Ischemic MR is (1) a mitral valve disease that occurs secondary to and as a result of CAD (2) in the absence of rheumatic heart disease, (3) mitral valve disease, and (4) congenital heart disease. In other words, ischemic MR is functional mitral valve disease resulting from the pulling of the tendinous cords by repositioning of the posterolateral papillary muscle.^{386,387} In theory, relief of ischemia can also alleviate or resolve functional (or ischemic) MR. When left ventricular remodeling is not reversible, however, mitral valve intervention becomes necessary.

On the clinical course of MR after CABG, there is a report of occasional worsening even in patients with only moderate MR (on transesophageal echocardiography during CABG).³⁸⁸ The possibility of transesophageal echocardiography under anesthesia underestimating the severity of MR was also reported.³⁸⁹ Therefore, whether MR in patients with ischemic MR requiring subvalvular intervention can be successfully treated by CABG currently cannot be predicted reliably. Cautious evaluation in advance is advised.

For moderate MR, there are reports of aggressive surgery achieving favorable outcomes, 390, 391 while others have indicated CABG with or without mitral valve surgery achieves similar survival rates.392,393 CABG alone in moderate MR patients has relieved MR immediately for only a short period, followed by worsening in many patients.^{394–396} There is a report arguing that MR by itself is a risk factor of postoperative survival.³⁹⁷ Isolated CABG relieved MR in another report.398 The CTSN study conducted in the face of these mixed results produced no conclusive evidence, only reporting similar survival rates and cardiac event-free rates as well as similar left ventricular remodeling between CABG with and without mitral valve surgery.^{399,400} In Japan, OPCAB is often performed in isolated CABG. There is no doubt that clinicians now prefer to avoid mitral valve intervention.

5. PAD

5.1 Carotid Artery Disease

5.1.1 Prevalence of Complications and Mechanism of Onset of Cerebral Infarction

Cerebral infarction is a serious perioperative complication in patients who undergo PCI or CABG for the treatment of CAD. The incidence of perioperative cerebral infarction is about 0.3–0.4% after PCI,^{172,401} and 1.1% after CABG according to the nationwide survey conducted by the Japanese Association for Coronary Artery Surgery.⁴⁰² There is a long, ongoing discussion about prevention of perioperative cerebral infarction after CABG. AF, atherosclerosis of the ascending aorta and arch, left ventricular impairment, and carotid artery disease have been recognized as risk factors for perioperative cerebral infarction after CABG.⁴⁰³ Screening for carotid artery disease before CABG found severe (≥70%) stenosis in about 5% of patients.⁴⁰⁴

Carotid artery disease can lead to cerebral infarction through decreased cerebral blood flow resulting directly from stenosis or by embolism caused by unstable plaque rupture, but the latter is believed to be the more frequent cause.⁴⁰⁵⁻⁴⁰⁷ The degree of carotid artery stenosis does not necessarily correlate with the probability of having histologically unstable plaque.^{408,409} Screening for intraplaque hemorrhage or ruptured cap by carotid ultrasonography or MRI has been shown to be useful for evaluating the probability of having an unstable plaque.⁴¹⁰ Currently, however, plaque is commonly regarded as stable when carotid artery disease is asymptomatic, and as unstable otherwise. Carotid artery disease is considered asymptomatic if the patient has no history of or not had symptomatic stroke or transient ischemic attack (TIA) in the past 6 months. It is symptomatic when the patient had a symptomatic stroke or TIA in the past 6 months.^{411,412}

5.1.2 Treatment of Carotid Artery Disease (Table 25)

Because the incidence of perioperative cerebral infarction after PCI is low, the common question is whether and what intervention should be done for carotid artery disease in patients undergoing CABG. To determine a suitable treatment, the risk of perioperative cerebral infarction occurring as a result of carotid artery disease and the extent to which the risk can be reduced by treatment must be assessed. For this purpose, brain perfusion scintigraphy is conducted when severe stenosis is suspected in the bilateral carotid arteries.407 Carotid ultrasonography and MRI also will be useful for determining plaque instability of the carotid artery disease.⁴⁰⁹ Neurosurgical proficiency also affects the results of carotid endarterectomy (CEA) or carotid artery stenting (CAS) and constitutes an important factor in treatment decision-making. The risk of perioperative stroke and death preferably should be <3% in asymptomatic patients and <6% in symptomatic patients.^{139,413}

There is not a randomized trial about management strategies in patients with concomitant CAD and carotid artery disease. Therefore, whether a treatment is feasible and safe, as well as when to give treatment, should be decided by a multidisciplinary team including a cardiac surgeon, cardiologist, neurosurgeon, and neurologist.^{139,411-415} When CABG is performed following CAS, DAPT is advised for 4 weeks in advance.^{416,417} The "Japanese Guidelines for the management of stroke 2015" should be referenced for more information about candidate medical therapies and CEA/CAS for carotid artery disease.⁴¹⁸

5.2 Other PADs

Regardless of leg symptoms, patients with PAD in a lower extremity have a high prevalence of cardiovascular disease and a high mortality rate.⁴¹⁹ PAD in patients with a history of myocardial infarction, PCI, or CABG is a risk factor of major adverse cardiovascular events (composite of cardiovascular death, myocardial infarction, and cerebral infarction).420,421 The ankle-brachial index (ABI) test is recommended to screen for PAD when coronary angiography is planned for suspected CAD.412,422 For PCI in patients with PAD, prolonged (24 weeks) DAPT significantly decreased the composite cardiovascular event (death, myocardial infarction, and cerebrovascular event) without increasing hemorrhagic complications compared with short-term (6 weeks) DAPT.423 Access via the RA is recommended for coronary angiography or PCI in patients with PAD in the lower extremities.422

6. Repeat Revascularization

6.1 Restenosis After PCI

6.1.1 Clinical Implication of Follow-up Coronary Angiography

Follow-up coronary angiography after PCI enables comparison of the outcomes of different treatments, as well as the detection of restenosis. Asymptomatic restenosis

Table 25. Recommendation and Evidence for Treatment of Carotid Artery Disease in Patients Undergoing Elective Coronary Artery Bypass Grafting		
	COR	LOE
CEA or CAS in severe symptomatic carotid artery stenosis	I	С
Treatment of asymptomatic severe bilateral stenosis or asymptomatic severe unilateral stenosis with contralateral occlusion	llb	С
Treatment of asymptomatic severe unilateral carotid artery stenosis	ш	В

CAS, carotid artery stenting; CEA, carotid endarterectomy; COR, class of recommendation; LOE, level of evidence.

discovered on angiography 6-8 months after PCI was associated with death by postoperative mortality at 4 years in an observational study.424 Therefore, the ReACT study investigated the utility of routine follow-up coronary angiography post-PCI. The study assigned 700 post-PCI patients to follow-up with or without coronary angiography and compared the incidence of a composite endpoint (all-cause death, myocardial infarction, emergency hospitalization for ACS, stroke, and hospitalization for HF). The incidence of the composite endpoint over 5 years was no different between the groups, indicating routine follow-up coronary angiography only increases early repeat revascularization.⁴²⁵ Post-hoc analyses of other RCT data also suggest that routine follow-up coronary angiography in patients with no documented ischemia has no clear clinical relevance while increasing the need for revascularization in the long term (because of the oculo-stenotic reflex).426,427

On the basis of these reports, the ESC/EACTS guidelines in 2018 classified the recommendation for follow-up coronary angiography as Class IIb.⁶⁴ Routine follow-up coronary angiography is not recommended in this guideline. Follow-up coronary angiography should be restricted to symptomatic patients or patients with signs of ischemia. Follow-up coronary angiography may have some clinical relevance in patients in whom restenosis may immediately result in a fatal event (e.g., LMCA disease). However, because of limited evidence supporting utility in high-risk cases, in general, less invasive techniques should always be considered first.

6.1.2 Restenosis of DES

Stent restenosis is the so-called "Achilles' heel" of PCI, but its incidence has been decreased to approximately 5% since the development of DES. For lesions in which DES placement is difficult (e.g., ISR, small vessel lesion, or side branch lesion of bifurcation disease), the drug-coated balloon (DCB) has been shown to be effective for preventing restenosis. Although the frequency of restenosis after PCI has been decreasing thanks to DES and DCB, the probability of recurrent restenosis after a second restenosis has not decreased much. For this reason, treatment of restenosis is still clinically relevant.

Restenosis of BMS often occurs after 6–8 months, but the degree of stenosis, if it develops, reportedly tends to decrease after this period. On the other hand, DES are associated with late restenosis.⁴²⁸ The risk of restenosis of the DES varies according to the lesion location and nature of the disease. For example, even new-generation DES fail to effectively prevent restenosis in a highly calcified lesion,

Table 26. Recommendation and Evidence for Repeat Percutaneous Coronary Intervention for Restenosis		
	COR	LOE
New DES placement for in-stent (BMS or DES) restenosis		А
Dilatation of in-stent (BMS or DES) restenosis using DCB		A
IVUS or OCT/OFDI for evaluation of the mechanism of in-stent restenosis	lla	С

BMS, bare metal stent; COR, class of recommendation; DCB, drug coated balloon; DES, drug eluting stent; IVUS, intravascular ultrasound; LOE, level of evidence; OCT/OFDI, optical coherence tomography/optical frequency domain imaging.

ostial lesion of the RCA, bifurcation lesion with two-stents, and in dialysis patients.

6.1.3 Mechanism of ISR

Vessel recoil and neointimal thickening are the common mechanisms of ISR. The former is controlled by BMS while the latter is more frequent with BMS than with balloon dilatation. DES has enabled better control of both mechanisms. Mechanical and procedural factors, as well as neointimal proliferation, are known causes of restenosis with DES.

Early DES were prone to restenosis following stent fracture (caused by physical stress) or stent recoil.^{429,430} Such types of restenosis have been reduced by the development of thinner DES with improved flexibility.⁴³¹ Examples of procedure-related restenosis include incomplete stent expansion and residual stenosis at the stent edge.

6.1.4 Repeat Revascularization by PCI (Table 26)

The utility of DCB for the treatment of ISR is well recognized.⁴³² DCB is more effective than plain balloon for the treatment of in-stent (BMS or DES) restenosis, with greater benefits against restenosis of BMS than DES.⁴³³ Although late secondary restenosis has been reported after DCB treatment of DES restenosis,⁴³⁴ recent studies indicate the outcomes of DCB and new-generation DES in the treatment of ISR are similar regardless of the stent type.^{435,436} For DCB, better angiographic outcomes were reported when predilatation was performed using a scoring balloon.⁴³⁷ Careful dilatation of the entire affected segment is needed to decrease the risk of restenosis.⁴³⁸ This is an important note for DCB dilatation. The etiology of DES restenosis should be analyzed before treatment. IVUS and OCT/OFDI can enable evaluation of the extent of stent expansion and/or the extent/development of neointimal formation. These technologies can also detect stent rupture or recoiling. OCT/OFDI images of the restenosis lesion also provide useful information about tissue characteristics. An association between observations on OCT images and recurrence of restenosis has been noted.⁴³⁹

6.2 ST

6.2.1 Background and Types of ST

Subacute ST, which occurs within 2 weeks after stent placement, has been practically eliminated by the use of high-pressure stent implantation and DAPT (aspirin+ thienopyridine). Subsequently, however, very late ST (VLST), which is defined as thrombosis occurring ≥ 1 year after stent implantation, came to prominence after the introduction of 1st-generation DES. Longer-term DAPT was first applied clinically. However, because of the lower frequency of VLST with the new-generation DES than with 1st-generation DES, 440 short-term DAPT is becoming more of the standard.

It has been difficult to compare different studies of ST because of the varying definitions in use, and also due to the low incidence of ST. Subsequently, the Academic Research Consortium of clinicians/researchers, government, and stent manufacturers developed a new classification system based on the time of onset and level of certainty (**Table 27**).⁴⁴¹

6.2.2 Causes of ST and Frequency of VLST

The cause of ST varies by the time of onset. Early ST (EST) is caused primarily by incomplete stent expansion or

Table 27. Classification of Stent Thrombosis
By time of onset
 EST: ≤1 month after implantation
2. LST: 1 month to 1 year after implantation
 VLST: ≥1 year after implantation
By how diagnosis is confirmed
1. Definite stent thrombosis
[1] Confirmed by angiography
Presence of a thrombus that originates in the stent or in the segment 5 mm proximal or distal to the stent and either acute onset of myocardial ischemic symptoms or signs (electrocardiographic or myocardial enzyme changes) within a 48-h window
[2] Confirmed by pathology
Stent thrombosis confirmed by autopsy or via examination of tissue retrieved following thrombectomy
2. Probable stent thrombosis
[1] Unexplained death within 30 days
[2] Acute MI involving the target vessel territory without angiographic confirmation
3. Possible stent thrombosis
[1] Unexplained death after 30 days

EST, early stent thrombosis; LST, late stent thrombosis; MI, myocardial infarction; VLST, very late stent thrombosis. (From Cutlip DE, et al. 2007.⁴⁴¹)

inefficacy of antiplatelet therapy. Late ST (LST) or VLST may occur as a result of (1) delayed re-endothelialization and prolonged exposure of the strut caused by the eluting drug;^{442,443} (2) vascular reactions to stent components, such as localized chronic inflammation and hypersensitivity reaction;⁴⁴⁴ (3) late stent malapposition;⁴⁴⁵ (4) progression of neoatherosclerosis independent of neointimal formation;⁴⁴⁶ or (5) disturbance of blood flow of a physical origin, such as stent failure/recoil.^{430,447} Signs of vascular reactions related to hypersensitivity reaction include peri-stent contrast staining (PSS),⁴⁴⁸ multiple interstrut hollows,⁴⁴⁹ and evagination.⁴⁵⁰ IVUS, OCT, or OFDI is useful for evaluation of these phenomena.⁴⁵¹

With a 1st-generation DES, the incidence of VLST is thought to remain unchanged for years, but in reality the length of follow-up is limited. With a follow-up period of 10 years, one report noted the incidence of VLST started to decline after about 5 years,⁴⁵² but another study presented similar incidence between over 1 and 10 years after stent implantation.⁴⁵³ With the 2nd-generation DES, the incidence of VLST has significantly decreased from that with 1st-generation DES.

6.2.3 Prophylaxis and Prognosis

Antiplatelets administered after stent placement and the duration of antiplatelet therapy vary depending on the patient's clinical condition and the type of stent. Proper stent implantation and appropriate antiplatelet therapy are crucial for prevention of ST.

Antiplatelet therapy is terminated/interrupted by the doctor's decision, prior to surgery, due to occurrence of complications, or because of patient noncompliance. Cessation of antiplatelet therapy by the occurrence of complications or patient noncompliance is undesirable because it is associated with increased clinical events, including ST.⁴⁵⁴ Stent failure and PSS confirmed by angiography are associated with ST. DAPT should be continued if stent fracture or PSS is observed with 1st-generation SES.⁴⁵⁵

The outcome of treatment for ST varies by the time of onset. For EST, the thrombosis frequently recurs, with a high likelihood of repeat revascularization. For VLST, low recurrence and repeat revascularization rates have been reported.^{456,457}

6.3 Graft Failure After CABG (Table 28)

According to a survey conducted between 2004 and 2014 by the Japanese Association of Thoracic Surgery (JATS), the percentage of redo CABG among all isolated CABG interventions was 1.3–2.4%, peaking in 2004 (2.4%) and decreasing to 1.6% in 2011 and down further to 1.3% in 2014.⁴⁵⁸ OPCAB was chosen in 54–62% of redo CABG cases during this time period, which was similar to the ratio with initial CABG. The 30-day mortality rate was 2.1–4.5% for elective CABG, and 9.1–18.5% for emergency CABG, somewhat higher compared with that after the first surgery.

According to a report based on the STS database, the ratio of redo CABG to all CABG performed between 2000 and 2009 decreased from 6.0% to 3.4%, together with a decrease in the operative mortality rate from 6.1% to 4.6%.⁴⁵⁹ The mortality rate for primary CABG during the same period was 2.4–1.9%, revealing a significantly higher mortality for redo CABG despite the observed improvement. The mortality rate of redo CABG patients has

Table 28. Recommendation and Evidence for Treatment of Graft Failure After CABG		
	COR	LOE
Redo CABG with ITA graft	I	В
Redo CABG for symptom relief in a patient with a patent bypass ITA graft in LAD who has documented ischemia in LCX/RCA and has anatomy unsuitable for PCI	lla	В

CABG, coronary artery bypass grafting; COR, class of recommendation; ITA, internal thoracic artery; LAD, left anterior descending coronary artery; LCX, left circumflex coronary artery; LOE, level of evidence; PCI, percutaneous coronary intervention; RCA, right coronary artery.

historically been and is still higher compared with that for initial CABG patients.⁴⁶⁰ Nevertheless, this is partly because patients who undergo redo CABG have more comorbidities. A risk-adjusted comparison between initial and redo CABG has shown that the difference in mortality rate is decreasing over time.⁴⁵⁹

A report indicated that OPCAB helps improve the early outcome of CABG,⁴⁶¹ and another study reported a similar long-term outcome between OPCAB and ONCAB.⁴⁶² Although there is no consensus on whether OPCAB is superior to ONCAB or vice versa, the frequency of OPCAB is slightly on the rise in the USA.

A randomized study comparing redo CABG and PCI revealed early death was significantly more frequent with redo CABG but with no statistically significant difference in survival or repeat revascularization rate over a 3-year follow-up.⁴⁶³ Another study that compared redo CABG, PCI, and medical therapy in patients who had a patent left ITA (LITA) and stenosis in the LCX or RCA reported no difference in 1-year survival.⁴⁶⁴ In other words, intervention in a non-LITA vessel in patients with a patent LITA does not improve survival and should therefore aim solely for symptom relief.

The use of LITA grafts in LAD disease has favorable early- and long-term outcomes.⁴⁶⁵ Recycling of an ITA graft by anastomosing to a different location, such as a BITA graft, has been reported.⁴⁶⁶

7. Patients With AF

7.1 PCI

AF is not a rare comorbidity in patients undergoing elective PCI. The incidence is 5-10% in Europe/USA,467 and about 8% in Japan according to the CREDO-Kyoto PCI/CABG Registry Cohort-2. The percentage of patients with a score ≥2 on CHADS₂ (cerebral infarction risk prediction model with a scale of 0-6; "CHADS" is an acronym for Congestive HF/LV dysfunction, Hypertension, Age ≥75 years, DM, and Stroke/TIA)468 reached nearly 75%.469 In the CREDO-Kyoto PCI/CABG Registry Cohort-2, the risks of stroke and all-cause death, and major bleeding among patients with AF were respectively about 2-, 2-, and 1.5-fold higher than in patients without AF over a follow-up period of up to 7 years. In the OACIS study investigating the effects of AF in acute myocardial infarction patients treated with PCI, the prevalence of AF was 12%. AF was not shown to be related to in-hospital death, but was identified as a

Table 29. Recommendation and Evidence for CABG in Patients With AF		
	COR	LOE
Surgical ablation, for sinus rhythm recovery, simultaneous with CABG in patients with AF	lla	В
Left atrial appendage closure or resection, for cerebral infarction risk reduction, simultaneous with CABG in patients with AF	llb	С

AF, atrial fibrillation; CABG, coronary artery bypass grafting; COR, class of recommendation; LOE, level of evidence.

significant predictor of death within 1 year.⁴⁷⁰ As shown in these studies, both bleeding and mortality risks are high with PCI in patients with AF.

New-onset AF immediately after PCI is rare. According to the EXCEL study, the incidence of new-onset AF within a mean of 3 days after PCI was 0.1%, much lower than that after CABG (18%).⁴⁷¹

PCI in patients with AF requires anticoagulants to prevent embolism, and antiplatelets to prevent coronary artery events (especially ST). These drugs significantly increase the bleeding risk. In such patients, PCI technique and medical therapy should be chosen in consideration of the bleeding risk (see Chapter IX, page 538 for more information). For PCI in these patients, a treatment strategy not requiring long-term DAPT should be selected and performed only after careful comparison with medical therapy and CABG. Percutaneous left atrial appendage (LAA) closure is worth considering for risk reduction when the bleeding risk is very high or when embolism develops during anticoagulation therapy.⁴⁷² Percutaneous LAA closure (Watchman device procedure) was used in 2 large-scale RCTs with warfarin (PROTECT AF473 and PREVAIL⁴⁷⁴) and shown to decrease hemorrhagic stroke, cardiovascular death, and all-cause death significantly over a period of 5 years compared with warfarin, though there was no observed difference in the incidence of stroke.475

7.2 CABG (Table 29)

In patients undergoing CABG, the presence of AF is a known poor perioperative and long-term prognostic factor. The study based on an American Medicare cohort reported that the presence of AF significantly increases long-term mortality after CABG, and also the incidence of late stroke and systemic embolism.⁴⁷⁶ A meta-analysis of 12 retrospective observational studies comparing patients with and without AF also reported that the presence of AF increased perioperative mortality, perioperative cerebral infarction, and long-term mortality by 64%, 50%, and 74%, respectively.⁴⁷⁷ These reports endorse rigorous intervention in AF for reduction of embolic risk in patients with AF undergoing CABG.

7.3 Surgical Ablation

Surgical ablation as treatment of AF during mitral valve surgery was shown in an RCT to significantly increase the likelihood of sinus rhythm recovery.⁴⁷⁸ Left arteriotomy is indispensable for mitral valve surgery, but not for CABG or AVR. Because of the popularity of OPCAB (without extracorporeal circulation) in Japan, the invasive burden of surgical ablation added to CABG or AVR is not considered to be comparable to that added to mitral valve surgery. However, retrospective comparative studies have shown that the addition of surgical ablation to CABG or AVR does not necessarily increase the risk. In single-center comparative studies, perioperative mortality did not differ between isolated CABG/AVR and CABG/AVR with surgical ablation.^{479,480} An analysis of the Medicare population revealed no significant difference in the 90-day postoperative mortality rate between isolated CABG and CABG+surgical ablation, and also showed a lower mortality rate after 90 days for CABG+surgical ablation.⁴⁸¹ Additional performance of surgical ablation with CABG does not seem to increase operative mortality.

The effects of surgical ablation performed with CABG have only been investigated in observational studies without control groups, and in small comparative studies. These studies have indicated the efficacy of surgical ablation, although the reliability/usefulness of the data is limited. Damiano et al performed the Maze III procedure in 47 CABG patients (including 7 who underwent simultaneous mitral valve surgery) and reported that the rate of freedom from AF was 98% over a mean follow-up of 5.7 years.482 Notably, multiple small RCTs have shown that pulmonary vein isolation (PVI, without the need for atriotomy) in addition to CABG can attain an outcome similar to the Maze procedure. In an RCT that assigned 95 CABG patients to PVI+CABG, mini-Maze procedure+CABG, or isolated CABG and monitored AF using an implantable loop recorder, the freedom from AF was similar between PVI and the mini-Maze procedure (80% vs. 86.2%).483 Another RCT comparing isolated CABG with PVI+CABG in 35 patients noted a higher rate of freedom from AF for the group with PVI+CABG.484 A study that followed 33 patients after OPCAB+PVI reported that the freedom from AF was 71% over 1 year.485 The STS guidelines published in 2017 list the additional performance of surgical ablation to CABG for sinus rhythm recovery as a Class I recommendation.486

7.4 LAA Closure

LAA closure performed during cardiac surgery is common, but its benefits are not well established. A meta-analysis of data from 2 RCTs and 5 observational studies indicated LAA closure decreases perioperative cerebral infarction, long-term cerebral infarction, and all-cause death by 54%, 52%, and 62%, respectively.487 Two retrospective observational studies based on Medicare data also showed the procedure significantly decreased cerebral infarction and all-cause death. 488, 489 In a study based on another large-scale registry of CABG patients (Nationwide Impatient Sample), LAA closure decreased the incidence of cerebrovascular disease during hospital stay but increased bleedings events, pericardial effusion, and cardiac tamponade, resulting in an increased in-hospital mortality rate.490 More data are necessary for deciding the safety of LAA closure performed with CABG.

One well-known issue with surgical LAA closure is incomplete closure resulting from surgical ligation. A transesophageal echocardiography analysis revealed the existence of residual flow in 60% of cases.⁴⁹¹ Significantly more frequent cerebral infarction has been reported in patients with incomplete LAA closure.⁴⁹² An epicardial LAA clip (Atriclip[®]) has been granted approval in Japan. An analysis using CT reported a success rate of $\geq 98\%$.⁴⁹³ An observational study involving 291 patients who underwent cardiac surgery reported cerebral infarction in only 5 (1.7%) patients during a mean follow-up of 3 years. Still, data from more reliable studies, including large-scale RCTs, are needed for the device. The benefits and safety of anticoagulation therapy after LAA closure have not been fully investigated. For Atriclip, however, the reported incidence of cerebral infarction per year in patients given aspirin without any other anticoagulants after LAA closure is 0.5%, equivalent to a relative risk reduction of 87.5% compared with the incidence predicted using CHA₂DS₂-VASc score.⁴⁹³ The STS guidelines of the year 2017 list LAA closure for thromboembolism risk reduction in patients with AF undergoing cardiac surgery as a Class IIa recommendation. In this guideline, a Class IIb recommendation is given for the procedure.

VI. CABG Techniques

1. Comparison Against Medical Therapy and PCI

1.1 Treatment Effects

The true benefits of CABG can be assessed by comparing them against those of medical therapy in a RCT. All-cause death is the most objective measure of benefit. Confirmation of the benefits of CABG with a statistically significant difference against medical therapy in an RCT does not immediately translate into applicability of the procedure (i.e., whether the patient benefits from it) in the clinical setting. The number needed to treat (NNT) is one of the common measures of clinical benefit. NNT represents the number of patients needed to be treated to prevent one additional adverse event. The smaller the NNT of a treatment, the greater its clinical benefit.

In 1994, Yusuf et al published the findings of a metaanalysis of 2,649 patients with stable CAD (main trunk disease in 6.6%, proximal LAD lesion in 59.4%, 1-vessel disease in 10.2%, 2-vessel disease in 32.4%, 3-vessel disease in 50.6%, and DM in 9.6%), and reported that a survival benefit of CABG compared with medical therapy was observed with a statistically significant difference from 5 to 10 years after CABG.133 The NNT with CABG for 5-year and 7-year survival was respectively 18 and 17, and it increased (=decreased benefit) to 24 for 10-year survival. Evidence supports the survival benefit of CABG and continued listing as a Class I recommendation for CABG in stable CAD, despite recent advances and development of more aggressive medical therapy and PCI. The report by Yusuf et al has been challenged by later studies. For instance, some have thrown doubt on the benefit of CABG itself, arguing that statin therapy was not in use at the time of the report and that today's CABG does not have the reported survival benefit. On the other hand, others have argued that the observed decrease in benefit after 7 years was due to the use of venous graft alone in most (90%) of the patients and that, because the ITA rather than venous graft is most commonly used today, the survival benefit of today's CABG is even longer.494

The MASS II study,⁴⁹⁵ STICH study,²¹² and BARI 2D study¹⁸³ are some of the RCTs that have compared CABG against medical therapy after the spread of statin therapy and ITA graft use. The MASS II study was conducted in a small number of patients who had relatively simple, low-risk disease without main trunk lesions and who were free of impaired cardiac function (42% had 2-vessel disease and 58% had 3-vessel disease). The study found no significant

difference over 5-year follow-up. After 10 years, however, the incidence of cardiac death was 20.7% for medical therapy vs. 10.8% for CABG (P=0.019). The incidence of myocardial infarction was respectively 20.7% and 10.3% (P=0.010).⁴⁹⁵ The STICH study compared medical therapy (602 patients) with CABG (610 patients) among those with stable CAD complicated by impaired cardiac function (LVEF \leq 35%). The study reported no significant difference after 5-year follow-up. After 10 years, however, the all-cause mortality rate was 66.1% for medical therapy vs. 58.9% for CABG (P=0.02). The NNT with CABG for 10-year survival was 14.212 The BARI 2D study (in 763 patients with DM) administered potent lipid-lowering therapy. In this setting, CABG decreased the incidence of myocardial infarction in the 5-year follow-up (17.6% in aggressive medical therapy group and 10.0% in CABG group). The NNT with CABG for prevention of secondary myocardial infarction in 5 years was 13.183

The aforementioned reports show that CABG using ITA grafts can improve survival and reduce secondary myocardial infarction (level of evidence=A), even in patients on aggressive medical therapy, for longer than 10 years. Due to advances in medical therapy, however, the length of time needed for CABG to demonstrate its benefits superior to medical therapy is probably longer now, especially for the treatment of simple lesions, than when the study by Yusuf et al. was conducted (**Table 30**).

1.2 2-/3-Vessel Disease With Diabetes

The CREDO-Kyoto registry is the only Japanese prospective cohort study comparing CABG and PCI. According to a report based on the registry, the 3-year mortality rate with PCI (using BMS) in 2- and 3-vessel disease patients (n=5,420) was significantly higher compared with CABG in the group with DM rather than among patients with 3-vessel disease (adjusted hazard ratio [HR], 1.38; P=0.003).⁴⁹⁶ In another report on patients with 2-vessel disease, 3-vessel disease, or main trunk lesion (n=3,982),

- Table 30. Conditions Favoring Coronary Artery Bypass Grafting
- Presence of diabetes mellitus
- Impaired cardiac function (LVEF ≤35%)
- Multivessel disease or main trunk lesion with SYNTAX score $\geq\!\!23$

LVEF, left ventricular ejection fraction.

based on the same registry, the 5-year mortality rate was similar between PCI (using DES) and CABG among non-DM patients but was higher for PCI (adjusted HR, 1.31; P=0.04) among DM patients.⁴⁹⁷

Head et al. contacted the principal investigators of 11 RCTs in patients with 2-vessel, 3-vessel, or main trunk lesions, and analyzed data of a total 11,518 patients enrolled in those trials and published the results on the Lancet's website on February 22, 2018.173 The mean follow-up period was 3.8 years across the trials. The 5-year mortality rate was 9.2% for CABG and 11.2% for PCI (P=0.0038). The NNT with CABT for 5-year survival was 50, which is not impressive. In a subgroup analysis, quantitative interaction was observed only with DM. In 2- and 3-vessel disease patients with DM, the 5-year mortality rate was 10.0% for CABG and 15.5% for PCI (P=0.00037). The NNT with CABG for 5-year survival was 18. In non-DM patients, survival benefit was similar between CABG and PCI. SYNTAX score revealed no interaction, but a higher score tended to be associated with a greater survival benefit of CABG.

2. Preoperative Management

2.1 Performance Status

Apart from preoperative coronary angiography, evaluating the patient's baseline performance status, including organ function, arteriosclerotic lesions, and severity of comorbidities other than cardiac function (e.g., myocardial viability, valvular disease), should help obtain useful information for choosing a suitable CABG technique to minimize postoperative complications and also for intraoperative and postoperative management. The patient's baseline comorbidities should also be evaluated individually to decide whether CABG can be performed safely.

- Hematology: Anemia, renal/hepatic function tests, infection, DM, fibrinolytic system, thyroid function, electrolytes, and any other tests necessary for evaluation of existing diseases/conditions.
- CT: Head imaging for brain disorders, including assessment of the severity of asymptomatic cerebral infarction, etc.

Chest imaging to evaluate aortic arteriosclerosis and to collect information relevant to selection of surgical technique (e.g., on-pump or off-pump, side-bite clamp or clampless devices for proximal anastomosis).

Abdominal imaging from the abdominal aorta through the iliac and femoral arteries to detect aneurysm and arteriosclerotic obliteration and check out whether IABP or PCPS cannula can be inserted via a femoral artery.

- Echocardiography: Useful for evaluation of cardiac function, left ventricular dilatation, valvular disease, and the area of myocardial ischemia.
- MRI: Cardiac MRI allows accurate assessment of left ventricular function. Delayed enhancement MRI is used in cardiac viability assessment.
- Myocardial scintigraphy: Useful in myocardial viability assessment.
- Carotid ultrasonography: To visualize stenosis and mobile plaque inside the carotid artery and predict perioperative cerebrovascular complications.
- Respiratory function test: To assess the risk of obstructive pulmonary disorders.

2.2 DM

CABG has been reported to be more effective than PCI in patients with DM.498 However, DM is not only associated with survival and cardiovascular complications after CABG, but is also a risk factor of postoperative infections/ respiratory complications and prolonged hospital stay. HbA1c $\geq 6.5\%$ (or $\geq 7.0\%$ in some reports) has been repeatedly reported to be a strong risk factor of surgical site infection (SSI) and sternal wound infection,499-501 indicating HbA1c <6.5% should be a reference point for baseline diabetic management. HbA1c represents the level of glycemic control 2-3 months before the measurement. For many patients who require CABG, waiting for HbA1c to drop to a suitable level is not feasible. There is a report of 2-week preoperative glycemic control sufficiently decreasing postoperative infections. In patients with high HbA1c levels who need to undergo CABG, perioperative glycemic control is essential for control of perioperative SSI and sternal wound infection.502,503

For patients with diabetic retinopathy, however, an excessive decrease in HbA1c with aggressive insulin therapy can worsen the retinopathy.

2.3 Preoperative Anticoagulation/Antithrombotic Therapy

Anticoagulation/antiplatelet therapy in the perioperative period of CABG is given as care for preoperative angina and also effective for decreasing the risks of early graft occlusion and embolism due to increased postoperative platelet activity. At the same time, however, they can increase perioperative bleeding and blood transfusion requirements.⁵⁰⁴ Among various anticoagulants/antiplatelets, low-dose aspirin is recommended through the perioperative period of CABG because it may lower the incidence of acute graft occlusion without significantly increasing bleeding risk.⁵⁰⁵ When clopidogrel is used, bleeding risk is thought to increase 20% with clopidogrel alone and 50% when clopidogrel+another antiplatelet drug are administered. For risk control, clopidogrel should be stopped 5-10 days before CABG while continuing with aspirin.506,507

Recently, oral prasugrel has been used for possible emergency PCI. The time to onset of action of prasugrel is only a few hours, which is convenient when emergency PCI becomes necessary. However, if emergency CABG is performed, prasugrel will start to exert its action at the time of surgery and increase bleeding risk. Platelet transfusion should be kept ready for control of bleeding during emergency CABG.

2.4 Emergency/Urgent CABG

Maintenance of stable hemodynamics is of utmost importance in the preoperative period of emergency or urgent CABG. IABP is the preferred procedure. Keeping BP high to minimize myocardial infarction and progression of myocardial ischemia is important for early postoperative recovery. When the patient has recurrent ventricular arrhythmia or presents with low BP, there should be no hesitation in using percutaneous cardiopulmonary support, which can decrease the risks associated with anesthesia.

2.5 HF

Emergency or urgent CABG is often performed in patients with acute HF as a result of acute myocardial infarction and/or myocardial ischemia. If the patient also has severe pulmonary congestion, it is reasonable to provide care for HF for a few days before CABG. Resolution of ischemia is the key for care of HF in such patients. A minimum level of coronary circulation should be restored by, for instance, plain old balloon angioplasty (POBA) for early recanalization. When coronary artery anatomy is not amenable to PCI and myocardial ischemia persists, CABG should be chosen even if HF is severe.⁶⁴

3. Blood Management

3.1 Blood-Saving Strategies (Table 31)

An automated autologous blood collection/transfusion system was useful for reducing intraoperative bleeding and blood transfusion in a number of reports, and is used widely in CABG or OPCAB (excluding in patients in whom the system is contraindicated).^{508–510} The system can decrease the systemic inflammatory response, allow fat removal, and does not increase the risk of infection.^{511–513}

CABG without cardiopulmonary bypass (OPCAB) reduces bleeding compared with CABG with cardiopulmonary bypass (ONCAB)^{514,515} and can be an option when the risk of graft occlusion and conversion to cardiopulmonary bypass is low.

A cardiopulmonary bypass circuit with low-volume priming achieved by eliminating the open venous reservoir (closed circuit) is designed to reduce blood dilution/transfusion and to minimize blood–air contact for lower inflammatory response risk compared with conventional cardiopulmonary bypass devices. The efficacy of closed circuits for blood-saving has been demonstrated by many RCTs and is commonly accepted.^{516–519} A closed circuit is especially useful when cardiopulmonary bypass becomes necessary in patients who refuse blood transfusion (for religious reasons, etc.).^{520,521}

Reports published in the 1980s documented the efficacy of applying positive end expiratory pressure (PEEP) 5–20 cmH₂O for hemostasis in patients with \geq 200 mL/h bleeding from the drain.^{522,523} Though there are not much data supporting efficacy, PEEP may be worth trying in patients with significant postoperative bleeding. Prospective studies have noted that routine use of PEEP regardless of the amount of bleeding does not help decrease bleeding and is not recommended.⁵²⁴⁻⁵²⁶

3.2 Pharmacological Approach (Table 32)

In Japan, erythropoietin use is covered by National Health Insurance only in preoperative autologous blood donation. Preoperative administration of erythropoietin with iron preparation without autologous blood donation is therefore not covered by insurance, although it is recommended elsewhere for patients with preoperative anemia or who refuse blood transfusion.⁵²⁷ A meta-analysis of data from patients with preoperative anemia reported that preoperative erythropoietin+iron preparation significantly decreased postoperative homologous blood transfusion regardless of being with/without autologous blood donation.⁵²⁸

Whether in OPCAB or ONCAB, preoperative oral

Table 31. Recommendation and Evidence for Blood-Saving During Coronary Artery Bypass Grafting		
	COR	LOE
Intraoperative use of an automated autologous blood collection/transfusion system (Cell Saver) to reduce transfusion (excluding patients with malignancies/infections)	I	A
Use of a closed circuit, when cardiopulmonary bypass is used, to reduce blood dilution and transfusion	I	A
OPCAB for reduction of blood loss/transfusion when it is not likely to cause conversion to cardiopulmonary bypass or risk bypass occlusion	lla	A
Use of PEEP for hemostasis in a patient with significant bleeding from the drain	llb	В
Routine use of high PEEP to control hemorrhage from the drain	111	В

COR, class of recommendation; LOE, level of evidence; OPCAB, off-pump coronary artery bypass; PEEP, positive end expiratory pressure.

Table 32. Recommendation and Evidence for Use of Blood- Saving Agents in CABG		
	COR	LOE
Stop antiplatelet drugs, excluding aspirin, to minimize the risk of postoperative bleeding (if the patient is continuing DAPT)	I	В
Administration of lysine analogs (e.g., tranexamic acid) to reduce bleeding after CABG	I	A
Administration of aprotinin to reduce bleeding after CABG	Ш	А

CABG, coronary artery bypass grafting; COR, class of recommendation; DAPT, dual antiplatelet treatment; LOE, level of evidence.

aspirin+clopidogrel increases postoperative bleeding and blood transfusion and therefore is not recommended.^{529,530} A meta-analysis also indicated that DAPT administered within 5 days before CABG significantly increased the incidence of reoperation for bleeding and death while not affecting the incidence of perioperative myocardial infarction or major adverse cardiac events (MACE).⁵³¹

Aprotinin used to be regarded as useful for postoperative hemostasis, but is no longer recommended because of reports showing that it increased the perioperative mortality rate significantly compared with lysine analogs (tranexamic acid, aminocaproic acid).^{532–535} Lysine analogs have a potent hemostatic effect with relatively few adverse reactions and are recommended.^{535,536}

3.3 Blood Transfusion (Table 33)

At what level of anemia RBC transfusion should be given during or after CABG is a very important question that resists a generalized answer. EU/US guidelines indicate RBC transfusion is absolutely required at Hb 6g/dL and is reasonable to consider at \leq 7 g/dL.⁵²⁷ Hb 6g/dL is considered the minimum required for safe transport of oxygen.^{537,538} In patients who are indicated for CABG/OPCAB, 7 g/dL is regarded as the minimum instead.⁵³⁹ In a recent RCT,

Table 33. Recommendation and Evidence for Blood Transfusion During Coronary Artery Bypass Grafting		
	COR	LOE
RBC transfusion in patients with Hb ≤7g/dL		С
RBC transfusion in patients with Hb >7 g/dL and ≤9 g/dL	lla	С
RBC transfusion in patients at risk of cerebral ischemia, aged patients, or patients with impaired cardiac function	lla	с
Use of fresh frozen plasma for control of bleeding in patients without coagulation disorders	ш	A

COR, class of recommendation; Hb, hemoglobin; LOE, level of evidence; RBC, red blood cells.

5,243 patients were treated with cardiotomy and transfusion at Hb 7.5 g/dL or at 9.5 g/dL and no significant difference in perioperative deaths between the groups was reported, suggesting an Hb of about 7.5 g/dL is an adequate threshold.⁵⁴⁰ In a guideline published by the Japan Society of Transfusion Medicine and Cell Therapy, however, 9–10g/dL is stated as the optimal Hb range after cardiac surgery.⁵⁴¹ The guideline supports the 9–10g/dL range by citing reports, including a meta-analysis, noting that patients with 9–10g/dL of Hb have a significantly lower mortality rate compared with patients with lower Hb levels.^{542–545}

There are fewer reports on appropriate hematocrit levels. Wu et al. reported a significantly lower mortality rate in patients given blood transfusion than in others not given blood transfusion among patients aged ≥ 65 years who were hospitalized with acute myocardial infarction and had $\leq 30\%$ hematocrit.⁵⁴⁶

Prophylactic use of fresh frozen plasma is not recommended because numerous reports have shown it does not affect bleeding after cardiac surgery.⁵⁴⁷⁻⁵⁵⁰

4. Vessel Harvesting

4.1 LITA (Table 34)

LAD revascularization using a LITA graft (LITA-LAD), compared with revascularization with a venous graft, maintains better short-term and long-term patency and has higher survival and cardiac event-free rates.551-560 Venous graft patency decreases after 5 years, but LITA grafts maintain ≥90% patency⁵⁵¹ with notably higher survival and cardiac event-free rates than venous grafts for over 10-20 years. 552, 553 In Japan, there is one report showing favorable outcomes of LITA-LAD at 10 years after surgery.554 For CABG in the LAD, evidence indicates the LITA graft is the definitive first choice. Although some reports have indicated that the use of a right ITA (RITA) graft in CABG on the LAD (RITA-LAD) achieves similar outcomes to LITA-LAD,561-563 no grafts have been reported with better outcomes than the LITA. LITA-LAD is considered the gold standard in CABG.

However, few studies have reported the outcomes of CABG with LITA grafts used in vessels other than the LAD.^{561,564} In a study of CABG with LITA grafts in 1,482 patients, graft patency was 97.2% with LITA–LAD after a mean of 79 months compared with 91.0% with LITA to the LCX, suggesting that anastomosis of a LITA graft to

Table 34. Recommendation and Evidence for LITA Graft		
	COR	LOE
LITA-to-LAD bypass grafting	I	В
Bypass grafting of circumflex branch using LITA graft	lla	В
Skeletonization of LITA graft for graft extension or increased graft flow	lla	В
Skeletonization of LITA graft to avoid mediastinitis	lla	A

COR, class of recommendation; LAD, left anterior descending coronary artery; LITA, left internal thoracic artery; LOE, level of evidence.

the LCX constitutes a risk factor of LITA graft occlusion.⁵⁶¹ Combining the LITA with RITA–LAD is recognized as an effective approach when the LITA is to be grafted to a non-LAD artery such as the LCX.⁵⁶⁴

Skeletonization is now recommended as a standard procedure for LITA harvesting.¹³⁹ In a study of 200 consecutive patients, skeletonized LITA grafts were on average 4 cm longer and had 30% greater flow and attained an early patency rate of 99.6%.565 Skeletonization is also considered an effective technique for prevention of mediastinitis compared with the more traditional harvesting of LITA as a pedicle.566-569 The risks of graft injury and vasoreactivity have been the greatest concerns raised for skeletonization, but they have been shown to be similar between skeletonization and harvesting as a pedicle.⁵⁷⁰ In particular, the safety of the harvesting procedure using the harmonic scalpel is widely accepted.^{571,572} Using a skeletonized LITA as a sequential bypass graft in the LCX has been noted to improve the outcomes of CABG.573,574 Sequential bypass grafting is expected to become an important procedure with the expected diversification of arterial graft usage. Because of this, the skeletonized LITA will prove extremely valuable for safe and longer graft length.

4.2 RITA (Table 35)

Due to the favorable outcomes of CABG with LITA graft, the use of the BITA graft has gained popularity. In a retrospective study of medium- to long-term outcome, BITA lowered the mortality rate and decreased other events in both young adults⁵⁷⁵⁻⁵⁸⁵ and aged individuals.⁵⁸⁶⁻⁵⁸⁹ Also, the superior survival benefit of BITA compared with either LITA or RITA has been shown to grow for over 20 years after CABG.⁵⁹⁰

For CABG, recent studies show that RITA–LAD can achieve similar outcomes to LITA–LAD,^{591,592} and postoperative graft patency is similar between them.^{554,593,594} The outcome of CABG with RITA grafted to the LCX is also similar to that for LITA–LAD.^{593,595-597} However, RITA grafted to the RCA, although limited numbers among the reported cases, has shown a relatively low patency of about 80% with a high postoperative event rate.^{561,587,598,599} RITA grafting to the LCA in BITA operations reportedly achieves better survival than grafting to the RCA.⁵⁷⁵

As diverse arterial grafts come into use, RITA is increas-
Table 35. Recommendation and Evidence for	BITA/RIT	A Graft
	COR	LOE
Use BITA graft to decrease mortality and other events in the long run	lla	В
Choose left coronary artery region for anastomosis of in situ RITA graft	lla	В
Skeletonization of BITA graft to reduce the risk of mediastinitis	lla	В
LAD bypass grafting with RITA	llb	В

BITA, bilateral internal thoracic artery; COR, class of recommendation; LAD, left anterior descending coronary artery; LOE, level of evidence; RITA, right internal thoracic artery.

ingly used as a free graft. For proximal graft anastomosis, RITA is used as a composite graft with LITA,⁶⁰⁰⁻⁶⁰⁵ other than anastomosed to the ascending aorta.^{561,606} Higher patency and improved graft length have been reported for such use. There is also a report contending that the BITA graft configuration has no effect on survival.⁶⁰⁷ No consensus has been reached about whether BITA should be used in situ or as a composite.

Mediastinitis is one of the potential postoperative complications in CABG with BITA. Patients with DM (especially obese women)^{310,608-610} or with chronic obstructive lung disease^{561,593-605} are known to be at risk of mediastinitis. The skeletonized ITA decreased mediastinitis according to some reports.^{310,569,611-614} However, the incidence of postoperative mediastinitis is similar between skeletonization of BITA and SITA.⁶¹⁵

4.3 GEA (Table 36)

The first use of the right GEA as the 3rd type of in situ arterial graft for CABG was reported in 1987.^{616,617} Although an in situ GEA graft can be anastomosed to any segment, it is most commonly used in the RCA. There is no systematic report on the long-term outcomes of GEA grafts by target coronary artery. Available data on early and long-term outcomes are mostly from reports of GEA grafts anastomosed to the RCA. The early postoperative patency ranges from 88% to 100% in such reports.^{578,618-636} Notable long-term (\geq 3 years) patency is 91.1–96.0% for 3 years,^{629,636} 80.5–94.7% for 5 years,^{624,627,629} and 62.5–66.5% for 10 years.^{627,634}

With bypass grafting to the RCA, the 5-year patency of RITA is 83% according to a study.⁶³⁷ Some researchers are against RITA grafting to the distal segment of the RCA and its branches.⁶³⁸ Comparison between RITA and GEA use for the RCA is controversial. The 5-year patency rate of RA grafts is 73–83%,^{637,639,640} which is similar to that for GEA. The superiority of GEA to SVGs in 5-year patency rates has been noted.⁶²⁴ The 10-year patency rate of saphenous vein (SV) grafted to the RCA is 56% according to a report;²⁹⁴ however, a slightly higher 10-year patency rate of SV compared with GEA graft was shown in another report.⁶²⁷ There are still others noting that the GEA has no specific clinical benefit,^{642,643} and there are disagreements also about the long-term outcome of GEA vs. SVGs.

The degree of stenosis of the coronary artery affects the patency of the GEA. It is the 3rd branch of the abdominal aorta and has a BP 10–15 mmHg lower than in the ITA. Because of this, the GEA graft is sensitive to competitive

Table 36. Recommendation and Evidence for	GEA Gra	ıft
	COR	LOE
RCA bypass with right GEA graft	lla	В
RCA bypass using right GEA or SV graft to achieve long-term survival	lla	В
Bypass grafting using right GEA for severe RCA stenosis	lla	С
Skeletonization of right GEA graft to reduce spasm	llb	С

COR, class of recommendation; GEA, gastroepiploic artery; LOE, level of evidence; RCA, right coronary artery; SV, saphenous vein.

flow with the coronary artery when the coronary artery has moderate stenosis. Competitive flow can decrease the shear stress of GEA, reduce vasoactive substances such as nitric oxide, and increase the risk of graft failure.^{644,645} When the target coronary artery has severe stenosis, however, competitive flow is unlikely to develop. The GEA maintains good function and a smooth lumen with a high patency rate in that case.^{624,636,646}

Unlike the ITA, the GEA is contractile and prone to vasospasm. However, skeletonization using the harmonic scalpel can safely reduce spasm, extend the graft length, and enable anastomosis with a larger diameter vessel.^{647–649} Removing the periarterial nerve of the GEA can also further lower the risk of vasospasm, and removal of periarterial connective tissues by skeletonization may also achieve denervation.⁶⁵⁰ In addition, skeletonization of the GEA can help avoid competitive flow and improve long-term graft patency.^{634–636,651} There is still disagreement about the GEA's utility as the inflow of a composite graft, ^{621,652–655} and of its patency when used as a free graft.^{628,656,657}

4.4 RA (Table 37)

4.4.1 RA Graft Uses and Advantages

The RA is often used as the 2nd/3rd arterial graft (the 1st being the ITA) chosen (e.g., for complete revascularization) in multivessel disease. The RA can be used in aortocoronary (AC) bypass or as composite graft with the ITA and increase the applicability of CABG.^{658,659} When used as a composite graft, the RA makes off-pump surgery easier and enables aortic no-touch bypass grafting. A metaanalysis has shown that the aortic no-touch technique decreases the incidence of cerebral infarction significantly compared with CABG under cardiopulmonary bypass or

Table 37. Recommendation and Evidence for	RA Graft	t
	COR	LOE
Use of RA as the 2nd graft to the LITA for bypass of severe LAD stenosis	lla	В
Use of RA as aorto-coronary bypass or as composite graft and sequential anastomosis	lla	С
Medical therapy with RA graft for reduction of spasm	lla	В

COR, class of recommendation; LAD, left anterior descending coronary artery; LITA, left internal thoracic artery; LOE, level of evidence; RA, radial artery.

Table 38. Recommendation and Evidence for	SV Graft	:
	COR	LOE
Endoscopic SV harvesting for less wound complications and infections	lla	А

COR, class of recommendation; LOE, level of evidence; SV, saphenous vein.

OPCAB that touches the aorta. Other cardiac complications are also less frequent with the no-touch technique.⁶⁶⁰ Unlike the ITA, RA graft harvesting is free from complications associated with midline incision (e.g., mediastinitis).

As RA graft usage spreads, more favorable data are being published. The RA graft is now chosen as the 2nd arterial graft in some cases. Clinicians planning to use the RA should note that the long-term outcomes of CABG with the RA can vary by the level of stenosis in the target vessel and that the RA requires premedication to prevent vasospasm.

4.4.2 Vessel Harvesting

The RA is 1 of the 2 continuations of the brachial artery (the other being the ulnar artery) and runs along the radius. Whether or not ischemia in the palm can be avoided mostly determines whether an RA graft can be harvested. The Allen test and Doppler ultrasonography should be performed for characterization of the artery. Also, the RA's position relative to the ulnar artery in the palm needs to be checked.^{661–663} The skin incision for RA harvesting is made from the elbow to the wrist. The lateral forearm cutaneous nerve and superficial radial nerve must be carefully avoided. Endoscopically harvested RA graft has been reported to have similar patency compared with grafts harvested by open surgery, but with reduced surgical wound pain and numbness.^{664–668}

4.4.3 Medication

Medication may be given (1) to the RA graft or (2) to the patient after CABG. Compared with the ITA, the RA has more smooth muscle and is prone to vasospasm. The harvested RA should be promptly immersed in a vasodilator solution.^{669–673} Commonly, a papaverine hydrochloride solution, milrinone, or verapamil-nitroglycerine (VG) solution is used. According to the literature, the VG solution is the most effective.^{669–673} Typical perioperative medication is intravenous calcium antagonist, switched to oral administration when the patient is able to swallow and continued for an extended period.⁶⁷⁴

4.4.4 Usage and Outcome

Many RCTs and meta-analyses indicate the patency of RA grafts is similar to that of the SV in the short term because some patients have the string sign on the RA. In the long term, however, RA grafts have shown significantly higher patency than the SV.⁶⁷⁵⁻⁶⁸³ The string sign is diffuse narrowing along the full (or most of) length of the graft or localized spasm and is reported in up to 7% of patients.⁶⁷⁵ Recent RCTs show that the long-term patency rate of RA grafts is much higher than with the SV and similar to the ITA.⁶⁸⁴ To achieve long-term patency of an anastomosis with the RA, however, the degree of proximal stenosis in the target coronary artery must be $\geq 90\%$.^{658,659,684} If the degree of stenosis is < 90%, competitive flow tends to

develop and decreases the long-term patency to about the same as that of the SV.⁶⁸⁴ In older (age \geq 75 or \geq 78 years) patients, the superiority of the RA over the SV may not exist, ^{684,685} making patient age an important factor in graft selection.

When LITA–LAD is chosen as the primary technique, either the RITA or RA is commonly chosen as the 2nd arterial graft. Although no large-scale study has compared these grafts, patency rates seem to be similar or slightly better for the RITA.^{678,686–688} However, RA harvesting carries no risk of mediastinitis and should be more suitable for aged individuals and patients with DM.^{684,689} The use of the RA with BITA can improve survival without increasing operative risk, and regardless of sex and whether or not the patient has DM,⁶⁹⁰ and is therefore an option worth considering.

4.4.5 Graft Design

The RA can be used as a composite graft and therefore can be used in sequential anastomoses. Some reports note that the RA used in AC bypass attains higher short- and long-term patency than when used as a composite graft, but others contend the patency rate is similar between such uses.^{640,691–695} Also, some studies reported a higher patency rate with sequential anastomoses than with single anastomosis; however, similar patency rates were noted by others.^{696–698} The available evidence therefore seems to suggest no significant difference between the inflow to RA graft being the aorta or the ITA. There are reports indicating that increased anastomoses do not affect patency, suggesting greater potential graft and design choices when complete revascularization is the goal.^{658,659,695–697}

4.5 SV (Table 38)

4.5.1 Effect of Different Harvesting Techniques

The SV is still an important graft option for CABG. It can be harvested by open or endoscopic techniques, and there is also a new "no-touch SVG" (NT-SVG) method whereby the SV is harvested with a pedicle of surrounding fat.

Subgroup analysis in the PREVENT IV study reported that different harvesting techniques of the SVG may affect the outcome of CABG.699 Endoscopically harvested SVGs were associated with significantly lower graft patency compared with grafts harvested by open techniques. Also, the incidence of myocardial infarction, long-term repeat revascularization, and long-term mortality were higher for CABG performed using endoscopically harvested SVGs. However, criticisms were raised about inconsistent skills among the surgeons who harvested the grafts and also about potential biases in the study. More RCTs and multicenter studies were conducted subsequently,^{700–703} and today's consensus is that endoscopically harvested SVGs do not have inferior clinical outcomes compared with grafts harvested by open techniques. Nevertheless, the learning curve of the endoscopic harvesting technique does affect graft quality.704 An inexperienced surgeon can cause damage by excessive pulling, heating by electrocautery, or tears at branch points. Also, more endothelial damage was noted with the endoscopically harvested SV compared with the SV harvested by open techniques.705,706

The biggest advantages of endoscopic harvesting are patient preference and reduced surgical site infection. Some RCTs reported endoscopic SV harvesting can reduce infection at the site of harvest,^{707–709} and a multicenter

study has shown that harvest site infection notably prolongs hospital stay.⁷¹⁰ Because of this, in the USA where prolongation of hospital stay caused by surgical site infection has a significant effect on hospital costs, endoscopic harvesting is used in 70% of all CABG cases with SVGs.^{155,707,709} The ESC/EACTS guidelines for 2014 describe endoscopic SV harvest reducing surgical site infection and list it as a Class IIa recommendation.¹³⁹

Endoscopic SV harvest is therefore a favored technique due to its association with less surgical wound problems, but more time is needed for the overall evaluation of the outcomes of CABG with endoscopically harvested SVGs (e.g., long-term graft patency).

4.5.2 NT-SVG

NT-SVG harvesting is an open technique that began in the 1990s.⁷¹¹ NT-SVG harvesting removes the SV with surrounding fat as a pedicle and does not require dilatation by syringe.

A recent RCT reported that the patency of the NT-SVG after 16 years was 83%, which is significantly higher than that with SVGs harvested by other techniques and is close to the 88% reported for LITA grafts.⁷¹² Clinical outcomes of the NT-SVG have also been reported in a subgroup analysis of the SAVE-RITA study. That analysis showed that the early and 1-year patency rates of the NT-SVG were 100% and 97.4%, respectively, both of which are significantly higher than those of SVGs harvested by other techniques.⁷¹³

Because the NT-SVG is not dilated by syringe, the endothelium and venous wall are undamaged and are not excessively dilated. The SVG is commonly anastomosed to the aorta. The endothelial cells of the graft are damaged to some extent by exposure to arterial pressure, but intraluminal dilation by syringe can significantly increase the loss of endothelial cells.⁷¹⁴ Many reports support the pathological and physiological benefits of the NT-SVG.⁷¹⁵⁻⁷¹⁹ Preservation of the vasa vasorum around the SV helps maintain blood flow in the venous wall and may contribute to long-term graft patency.⁷²⁰⁻⁷²³

The long time required for cure at the harvest site is a concern with the NT-SVG. Using an interrupted skin incision and drain tube, however, will likely make the incidence of surgical site complications similar to that with conventional techniques.⁷¹³ The frequency of abnormal cutaneous sensation is reportedly similar between NT-SVG harvesting and conventional techniques at 1 year after harvesting.⁷²⁴ The reported benefit of the NT-SVG in long-term patency is not well established because the graft has so far been used in only a limited number of institutions.

4.5.3 Effect of Different Harvest Sites

The SV is harvested from the femur or lower leg, and whether either site attains higher patency has not been determined. Normally, the SV in the lower leg is thinner than in the femur. The caliber of an SVG may be related to its patency. A study that followed the patency of SVGs for over 20 years noted the frequency of occlusion was higher for SVGs with a larger caliber at the time of surgery.⁷²⁵ Subgroup analysis of the CASCADE study also reported that the degree of SV intimal thickening at 1 year after CABG was significantly more severe for the thicker SV.⁷²⁶

These findings suggest an SVG should be preferably harvested from the lower leg where the vein is thinner.

4.5.4 External Stent

Attempts have recently been made with placement of a metal external stent around the SVG to improve patency.^{727,728} External stent placement can protect the SVG from excess dilation, correct intraluminal irregularities, and mitigate size mismatch between the coronary artery and SVG. Intravascular ultrasound (IVUS) revealed less intimal thickening inside an SVG at 1 year after external stent placement.^{729,730}

The idea of external stent placement is over 50 years old,⁷³¹ but its clinical application only began recently with SVGs in CABG. The early clinical results of external stenting were poor at best, with reported early postoperative patency rates of 0-34%.^{732–734} The patency rate of external stenting has improved with the development of new stents with different shapes and materials, but still remains unsatisfactory.

5. Diffuse Stenosis

5.1 Significance of Revascularization and On-Lay Patch Grafting

Against the background of increasing arteriosclerotic disease among rapidly aging populations, CAD is diversifying and becoming more complex. In addition to multivessel disease and LMCA disease, some patients present with diffuse stenosis in distal segments.

Diffuse stenosis may require placement of multiple stents, but severe calcification can prevent stent insertion, making catheterization difficult. Tsagalou et al reported perioperative myocardial infarction in 16.6% of patients who had a stent implanted over long lesions, and restenosis within 6 months in 19.6%.735 Sharp et al inserted a stent into the site of long (≥ 60 mm) lesions in 617 patients using the full-metal jacket procedure, and observed cardiac death in 3.6% and perioperative myocardial infarction in 9.5% over a mean follow-up of 38.9 months, and reported a TLR rate of 23.4% over the same period.⁷³⁶ Shirai et al. also reported the TLR rate tended to increase for the longer lesions.⁷³⁷ For long lesions, stent implantation is showng a higher incidence of perioperative myocardial infarction and TLR. In particular, occlusion of side branches by a stent implanted in a long LAD lesion is most problematic.

Surgery for diffuse stenosis also involves difficulties. Because of the poor vascular condition, conventional anastomosis may not be applicable. Even when anastomosis to the distal side is feasible, sometimes only partial revascularization is achievable in the side branches. Because incomplete revascularization in the LAD is thought to significantly affect treatment outcomes,⁷³⁸ maintaining sufficient blood flow is crucial.

On-lay patch grafting is a technique indicated for CABG in diffuse stenosis.^{739–741} It involves making a longitudinal incision into the diffusely stenotic segment and subsequent anastomosis of the segment with a graft cut open for the same length. The arteriosclerotic lesion at the stenotic site is placed outside by anastomosis, leaving the normal intima of the graft to cover most of the lumen. On-lay patch grafting allows observation inside the lumen of the side branches, which helps achieve complete revascularization. Endarterectomy is added when the intimal condition is particularly poor. Endarterectomy was first started in the 1950s and initially had poor results,^{742–744} but the procedure has

evolved and is now applied to more complex lesions with better results.

5.2 Indication of On-Lay Patch Grafting

The primary goal of on-lay patch grafting in diffuse LAD stenosis is to revascularize the side branches occluded by the diffuse stenosis, together with revascularization of the distal arteries. Even when a graft can be anastomosed to the distal side of a diffuse lesion, the stenosis on the proximal side may block adequate recovery of blood flow in the side branches (especially in the diagonal or septal branch of the LAD). Revascularization of a long segment including side branches is required in such cases. On-lay patch grafting is intended for patients who require a long anastomosis of the graft to revascularize affected side branches.

It is also suitable when multiple lesions are spread over distal segments of the coronary artery and where anastomosing a graft at a point proximal to the more distal lesions would leave distal stenoses. When calcification in the distal segments makes normal anastomosis difficult, on-lay patch grafting with endarterectomy is called for as the final option. Patients with such lesions often have an old anteroseptal myocardial infarction and require preoperative evaluation of myocardial viability in the LAD territory using myocardial scintigraphy, MRI, and/or ultrasound cardiography. On-lay patch grafting has little clinical relevance when the patient has poor myocardial viability and revascularization is unlikely to reverse the ischemia.

5.3 On-Lay Patch Grafting Procedure

5.3.1 Target Vessels and Graft

On-lay patch grafting primarily involves longitudinal dissection of an artery with diffuse stenosis and anastomosis of a graft over the dissection.

The LAD is the most common target of this technique among the coronary arteries, because of the sheer number of vessels that branch out from the LAD and the large area of myocardium perfused by the LAD and its branches. The ITA graft is used for on-lay patch grafting to the LAD. Arteries in general have better patency rate than veins when used as bypass grafts. In particular, the ITA graft has



Figure 4. Diffusely stenosed left anterior descending coronary artery grafted longitudinally with left internal thoracic artery.

a 10-year patency rate >90% and is regarded as the best conduit.⁵⁵² ITA grafting to the LAD improves survival. On-lay patch grafting is thought to have a similar benefit. For the ITA graft, skeletonization is preferred for harvesting a long and thick graft that is suitable for extensive anastomosis.

5.3.2 On-Lay Patch Grafting

On-lay patch grafting (**Figure 4**) involves opening the target vessel over the entire diffuse lesion and reconstruction of the vessel without removal of arteriosclerotic intima.⁷⁴⁰ The dissection is made in the distal direction until the point where almost normal intima is observed. The graft is cut open for the same length and anastomosed to the dissected vessel. Anastomosis uses 8-0 or 7-0 polypropylene sutures. Suturing must be done with care not to block the ostia of the side branches. The length of the dissection/anastomosis is 2-10 cm.

The key to this technique is positioning of the arteriosclerotic lesion to the outside of the suture line. This leaves little lesion inside the lumen formed by the anastomosed graft, which is necessary for long-term patency.

5.3.3 Endarterectomy

The oldest endarterectomy procedure from 1950s is the closed method in which the intima is pulled out from a coronary artery incision. The patency rate with this method is poor, and it is no longer used in many institutions. On the other hand, in open endarterectomy, a longitudinal incision is made for separation and removal of the intima followed by reconstruction of the vessel using a graft cut open for the same length. Open endarterectomy achieves a higher patency rate than the closed method. Open endarterectomy is founded on the same idea as on-lay patch grafting.⁷⁴⁰ The normal intima of the graft covers most of the inside of the reconstructed vessel.

Open endarterectomy is built on the on-lay patch grafting procedure and used in patients with severely thickened intima. The plaque is removed to the distal extremity (**Figure 5**) until the point where almost normal intima is observed. The posterior intima at the distal end of the endarterectomy incision is anchored to the adventitia by suture. The intimal flaps remaining on the adventitia are removed carefully with rinsing.

5.3.4 Postoperative Anticoagulation Therapy

Postoperative anticoagulation therapy is critically important with on-lay patch grafting. When endarterectomy is performed simultaneously, the risk of thrombus formation is particularly high. Prompt anticoagulation therapy is necessary to reduce the risk of early thrombotic occlusion. Intravenous heparin is started once postoperative bleeding has been controlled and is switched to oral antiplatelets and warfarin when the patient is capable of awallowing.

5.4 Outcome of On-Lay Patch Grafting

Because of the controlled risk of early thrombotic occlusion, on-lay patch grafting has been reported with favorable results, including patency rate. Barra et al used the ITA in on-lay patch grafting to the LAD and reported a patency rate of 95%.⁷³⁹ Fukui et al also had a patency rate of 98% with on-lay patch grafting without endarterectomy.⁷⁴⁰

The patency rate of on-lay patch grafting with endarterectomy varies according to the graft used, the endarter-



Table 39. Recommendation and Evidence for Proximal Graft-to-Aorta Anastomosis COR LOE Aortic no-touch OPCAB for stroke reduction В (more effective than side-clamp OPCAB) Epiaortic ultrasonography for aortic wall assessment, evaluation of the feasibility and В lla site of proximal graft-to-aorta anastomosis, and selection of clamp and cannulation sites Use of assist device for graft-to-aorta anastomosis (alternative to side clamp) in lla B the presence of moderate or severe aortic arteriosclerosis Use of non-ITA graft as cuff (similar to pedicled lla В graft) when free ITA graft is used Proximal RA graft-to-aorta anastomosis В (patency is similar to that of Y/I graft using lla ITA graft as inflow)

COR, class of recommendation; ITA, internal throarcic artery; LOE, level of evidence; OPCAB, off-pump coronary artery bypass; RA, radial artery.

ectomy method (closed or open), and the graft location among others. A study comparing the outcomes of on-lay patch grafting with closed or open endarterectomy reported a long-term patency rate of 89% for open endarterectomy and 81% for closed endarterectomy, revealing a statistically higher patency rate with the open method.745 Schwann et al investigated by angiography the effect of the graft used on long-term patency and noted a higher patency for arterial grafts (ITA and RA) than for venous grafts.746 The difference is probably for the same reason as the higher patency recorded for arterial grafts than for venous grafts in CABG in general. There is a report noting that the location of the endarterectomized artery has little effect on patency,747 but there is no agreement on this point. Erdil et al performed on-lay patch grafting with closed endarterectomy in the RCA and reported a 100% long-term patency rate.748 Nishigawa et al achieved $\geq 90\%$ patency with the ITA anastomosed to the LAD with open endarterectomy.749

6. Proximal Graft-to-Aorta Anastomosis (Table 39)

The following points are to be considered in proximal graft-to-aorta anastomosis: (1) risk control of stroke resulting from the release of arteriosclerotic debris or gases caused by aortic manipulation, (2) suitability of the chosen graft (with a favorable long-term patency record) for proximal aortic anastomosis and technical aspects of anastomosis, and (3) long-term patency of the graft used in AC anastomosis.

6.1 Prevention of Related to Aortic Manipulation

6.1.1 Evaluation of Aortic Wall Thickness

Routine epiaortic ultrasonography is recommended for evaluation of aortic wall thickness. It is useful for deciding the suitability of proximal aortic anastomosis, site of anastomosis, clamp strategy, and cannulation site.^{750–752}

6.1.2 ONCAB

The single-clamp technique for ONCAB completes the

entire procedure including proximal aortic anastomosis with a single cross-clamp. In theory, this should reduce the risk of cerebral infarction compared with the double-clamp technique where side-clamping is applied after removal of the cross-clamp. However, there is no conclusive evidence on whether the single-clamp technique can actually reduce the occurrence of cerebral infarction.⁷⁵³

6.1.3 OPCAB

Aortic no-touch OPCAB lowers cerebral infarction risk compared with OPCAB with the side-clamp technique.⁷⁵⁴ When the aortic condition is good, however, the superiority of an anastomosis assist device (Heart String, Enclose II) to the side-clamp technique has not been established (Class IIb, Level B). When epiaortic ultrasonography reveals moderate or severe aortic arteriosclerosis, the anastomosis assist device may lower the cerebral infarction risk more than side-clamping.^{752,754-757}

Therefore, proximal graft-to-aorta anastomosis in OPCAB may be chosen over the aortic no-touch technique, after assessment of the patient's cerebral infarction risk, when it is expected to help avoid competitive flow or increase the likelihood of complete revascularization.

6.2 Indications and Procedures

6.2.1 SVG

An SVG should be anastomosed to the aorta unless aortic arteriosclerosis is severe (Class I, Level C). End-to-side anastomosis should be performed after careful selection of the site of anastomosis and graft orientation to avoid twisting of the graft.

6.2.2 RA Graft

No difference has been noted in long-term patency between RA graft used as a Y or I composite graft, with the pedicled ITA graft being used in proximal anastomosis and direct RA graft-to-aortic anastomosis.⁷⁵⁸ Therefore, proximal aortic anastomosis is a viable option. Just as with the SVG, end-to-side anastomosis should be chosen for the RA graft.

6.2.3 Free ITA Graft

When the free ITA graft is used, sequential anastomosis can revascularize more coronary arteries (Class IIb, Level B).^{759,760} Direct anastomosis to the ascending aorta is technically difficult and there is a risk of anastomosis site stenosis, especially in Japanese who tend to have thin ITAs. The piggyback/V graft technique by which the free ITA graft is anastomosed to the proximal aorta immediately above the SV/RA graft anastomosed to the ascending aorta can achieve at least equal long-term patency to that with the pedicled graft.^{759,760} When a pedicled graft does not reach the target vessel, sequential anastomosis is required, or if the distal anastomosis is not thick enough, the free ITA may be used as a Y graft or as an AC graft by the piggyback/V graft technique.

6.2.4 Other Grafts

The GEA may be used in AC anastomosis (Class IIb, Level C).⁷⁶¹

6.3 Graft Types, Outcomes, and Long-Term Patency

RA grafts when used as the 2nd graft after ITA graft show better long-term patency than SVGs, with a lower incidence of cardiac events and repeat revascularization (Class IIa, Level B).^{684,762,763} However, when used as the 3rd arterial graft together with BITA graft, RA grafts may or may not attain better long-term outcomes compared with SVGs (Class IIb, Level C).⁷⁶⁴

Compared with SVGs, a free ITA graft in AC anastomosis retains superior patency (Class IIa, Level B).^{759,760,763}

Table 40. Recommendation and Evidence for Selection, Design, and Configuration	Graft	
	COR	LOE
In situ LITA graft is recommended for revascularization of LAD	I	В
OPCAB with aorta no-touch technique utilizing an in situ arterial graft or composite graft is recommended in patients with a severely calcified ascending aorta		В
2nd arterial graft (RA or RITA) should be considered in low-risk patients	lla	В
2nd arterial graft to the LCA territory is reasonable	lla	С
BITA grafting is reasonable in patients without risk factors of sternal wound infection	lla	В
BITA grafting should be considered in patients <70 years old	lla	В
3rd arterial graft may be reasonable in patients with no perioperative risk factors and a long life expectancy	llb	С
A skeletonized right GEA graft may be considered in the right coronary or circumflex territory with severe stenosis (≥90%) and adequate run-off	llb	С
Sequential bypass using arterial grafts may be considered for multiple targets with severe stenoses (≥90%) that are in suitable locations	llb	С

BITA, bilateral internal thoracic artery; COR, class of recommendation; GEA, gastroepiploic artery; LAD, left anterior descending coronary artery; LCA, left coronary artery; LITA, left internal thoracic artery; LOE, level of evidence; OPCAB, off-pump coronary artery bypass; RA, radial aretry; RITA, right internal thoracic artery. Directly (AC) anastomosed free RITA and RA grafts share similar long-term cardiac event-free rates and patency (Class IIb, Level B). When used as the 2nd arterial graft in other than AC anastomosis, RITA grafts may achieve more favorable long-term results but may increase early complications (Class IIb, Level B).^{687,763,765-767}

7. Graft Selection, Design, and Configuration (Table 40)

7.1 Selection of Graft Materials 7.1.1 First Arterial Graft

Normally, ITA grafts are used to construct a bypass to the LAD. ITA grafts have superior long-term patency, a higher cardiac event-free rate, and better survival benefit than SVGs.⁴⁹⁴ The in situ ITA is generally the 1st choice for an ITA–LAD bypass.

7.1.2 Second Arterial Grafts

Until the 1990s, SITA grafts were commonly anastomosed to the LAD, with SVGs being the standard choice for other target vessels, such as the diagonal branch, LCX, and RCA. The high frequency of sternal wound infections from using BITA, and other previously reported issues, has discouraged arterial graft use. However, the establishment of calcium antagonists as a deterrent of RA vasospasm, as well as the ITA/GEA skeletonization technique enabling better preservation and protection of sternal blood flow and increased graft caliber and length, have provided additional evidence supporting the benefits of surgical techniques using a 2nd arterial graft in addition to the 1st arterial graft (ITA–LAD).

a. Target Vessel

The RITA, RA, and GEA are the candidates for the 2nd arterial graft. Generally, 2nd arterial grafts are suggested for use primarily in the LCA territory.^{295,575,637,768,769} A meta-analysis by Karangelis et al indicated that the LCX should be the primary target of a 2nd arterial graft.⁷⁷¹ The primary reason for this is the generally higher patency rate of an arterial graft in the LCA than in the RCA territory, which can have a significant effect on patient survival.⁷⁷² In the RAPCO study that compared RA and SVGs in the construction of a bypass to the largest non-LAD vessel, grafts were used in the LCX in 70% of the cases.⁶⁷⁶ Although the LCX should be considered first as the target of the 2nd arterial graft, the RCA may be the preferred vessel in appropriately selected patients who have an RCA, which is the most important vessel after the LAD.

b. Graft Material Comparisons

The results of RCTs comparing RA and SVGs are summarized in **Table 41**.^{673–678,680–682,773,774} The RA graft was chosen because it is used in a manner similar to that of the SVG. How the SV and RA grafts were used in these studies, including the vessels to which they were anastomosed, is more important than whether or not the SV or RA was better overall when applying the findings to patients in the clinical setting. Many of the RCTs used the grafts for AC bypass and mostly (50–70%) in the LCX territory. The RA graft patency was generally more favorable than that of the SVG. However, although the outcomes with SVGs were unaffected by the degree of stenosis in the native coronary artery, an increased risk of physical or functional

Table 41. C	Comparison Betwee	en RA and SV	Grafts					
Reference	Author, year	Grafts	Study method	Sample size	Results	Follow-up (years), method	Graft usage, target	Inflow
673, 674	Desai/RAPS, 2004, Deb/RAPS, 2012	SV vs. RA	Randomized	561	RA had better patency	7.7, angiography	RCA or LCX with >70% stenosis and ≥1.5 mm diameter, randomized to RA or SV, LCX=50%	ACB 100%
675	Collins/RSVP, 2008	SV vs. RA	Randomized	142	RA had better patency	5, angiography	Randomized to different grafts used on the lateral target (primarily LCX)	ACB 100%
676	Hayward/ RAPCO, 2010 (Group 2)	SV vs. RA	Randomized	225	Similar patency rate, similar incidence of MACE	5.5	Randomized to different grafts chosen for the largest non-LAD target LCX:RCA:Dx= 70:25:5 for RA and 60:37:3 for SV	ACB
677	Goldman, 2011	SV vs. RA	Randomized	733	Similar patency	1, angiography	LAD:LCX:RCA was 14:59:27 for SV and 14:55:31 for RA	ACB=99% for SV and 92% for RA
773	Petrovic, 2015	SV vs. RA	Randomized	200	No difference in patency rate or event incidence	ø	Target of RA: 74% to LCX, 9% to Dx, 17% to RCA	ACB
681	Cao, 2013	SV vs. RA	Meta-analysis	1,708	RA had better patency (short or medium term)	≥4		
774	Zhang, 2014	SV vs. RA	Meta-analysis		RA had better patency and less repeat revascularization	18		
682	Gaudino, 2018	SV vs. RA	Meta-analysis		RA had better patency rate for 5 years and less cardiac events	5.0		
680	Athanasiou, 2011	SV vs. RA	Meta-analysis		RA had better patency (for medium and long term)			
678	Benedetto, 2010	SV vs. RA	Meta-analysis		Similar patency			
ACB, aorto right coroné	coronary bypass; D: ary artery; SV, saph	x, diagonal brar enous vein.	ıch; LAD, left anteri	or descendin	g coronary artery; LCX, left circumflex coro	onary artery; MAC	E, major adverse cardiovascular events; RA,	radial artery; RCA,

ļ	, BC
	artery
	adial a
	RA, ra
	ents; F
	ar eve
	ascula
	rdiova
	se ca
	adver
	ajor a
	л СЩ
	; MA(
	artery
	nary
	(coro
	umflex
	t circu
	X, lef
	y; LC
	arter
	onary
	ig cor
	endin
	. desc
	Iterior
	left ar
	LAD,
	Inch;
	ial bra ein.
	liagor Jus ve
	Dx, d shenc
	pass; V, saļ
	try by ∍ry; S
	oron <i>e</i> ry arte
	aortoc
1	t a

Table 42. C	Comparison Betwe	en RITA and R/	A Graft					
Reference	Author, year	Grafts	Study method	Sample size	Results	Follow-up (years)	Graft usage, target	Inflow
676	Hayward/ RAPCO, 2010 (Group 1)	RITA vs. RA	Randomized	394	Similar patency; RA had better clinical outcome at 6 years	5.5	Randomized to different grafts chosen for the largest non-LAD target LCX:RCA:LAD was 62:35:3 for RA and 69:25:6 for RITA	ACB
776	Caputo, 2003	RITA vs. RA	Retrospective	661	RA had higher event-free rate	1.79, 1.54	LAD:LCX:RCA was 16:31:53 for RITA and 4:58:38 for RA	RITA: 94% in situ and 6% in ACB RA: 78% in ACB and 22% as composite graft
685	Tranbaugh, 2014	RITA vs. RA	Retrospective	1,056	RA had less frequent MAE, a similar patency rate to RITA, and higher survival rate in aged individuals and COPD patients	9, 8.5	RA or RITA to LCX	ACB 100%
777	Ruttmann, 2011	RITA vs. RA	Retrospective	554	RITA had higher cardiac event-free rate and survival rate	4.8	RA: 94% in LCX BITA: 97% in LCA SITA+RA: 94% in LCA	In situ RITA: 58% in LCX, 18% as free RITA
778	Raja, 2015	Second ITA vs. RA	Retrospective	1,020	RITA had higher survival rate and less repeat revascularization	ω	In situ ITA: 618 in LCX Y: 90 in LCX, 39 in RCA RA: 458 in LCX, 283 in RCA, 38 in Dx RA Y: 96 in LCX, 23 in RCA	RITA Y: 90 in LCX, 39 in RCA
779	Tranbaugh, 2017	RITA vs. RA vs. SV	Retrospective	13,324	RA and RITA had better results than SV in <70 years RA∕RITA vs. SV not significantly different in ≥70-year-olds	8.8, 8.9, 9.1	RITA in LCX, RA in LCX	RITA: in situ or free
679	Hu, 2011	RITA vs. RA vs. SV	Meta-analysis		RA had less cardiac events than RITA, had similar survival rate, better patency, less wound infection			
780	Hwang, 2013	RITA vs. GEA	Retrospective	210	Patency rate and clinical outcomes similar after 5 years	Median of 6.7		100% Y composite graft, free GEA vs. free RITA
781	Benedetto, 2015	RITA vs. RA vs. GEA vs. SV	Meta-analysis		RITA and RA had better patency than SV; GEA had poorer patency than SV			
ACB, aorto anterior de: artery; SIT/	ocoronary bypass; B scending coronary a A, single internal the	ITA, bilateral inte artery; LCA, left oracic artery; SV	ernal thoracic arter coronary artery; LC , saphenous vein; `	y; COPD, chi X, left circun Y, Y graft.	ronic obstructive pulmonary disease; Dx, di nflex coronary artery; MAE, major adverse	iagonal branch; (events; RA, radi	bEA, gastroepiploic artery; ITA, internal thora al artery; RCA, right coronary artery; RITA, rig	ic artery; LAD, left nt internal thoracic

Table 43. C	Comparisons Betw	veen BITA and SITA, and Be	etween Seconda	ry Grafts				
Reference	Author, year	Grafts	Study method	Sample size	Results	Follow-up (years)	Graft usage, target	Inflow
687	Taggart/ART, 2016	BITA vs. SITA	Randomized	3,102	Similar 5-year event-free survival rate	10	BITA to LCA, ITA to other than RCA	BITA composite graft included
785	Iribarne, 2017	BITA vs. SITA	Retrospective	2,779	BITA had less repeat revascularization	13.2		
590	Lytle/ATS, 2004	BITA vs. SITA	Retrospective	2,304	BITA had higher long-term survival	16.2		
296	Lytle/JTCVS, 1999	BITA vs. SITA	Retrospective	10,124	BITA had higher long-term operation-free survival	10	61% to LAD+LCX, 23% to LAD+RCA	12% to 1 in situ and 1 free ITA, 87% to 2 in situ ITAs
786	Rubino, 2018	BITA vs. SITA (≥70 years)	Retrospective	1,608	BITA had frequent SWI in emergency cases	Short term		
787	DeSimone, 2018	BITA vs. SITA	Retrospective	2,594	BITA had higher survival rate	Long term		
788	Luthra, 2018	BITA+SV vs. BITA+arterial (ITA or RA)	Retrospective	334	No significant difference between SV and arterial grafts up until 8 years	7.0, 4.3	Mostly RA, 8.3% of RITA were to RCA	
688	Gaudino, 2017	3 arterial vs. 2 arterial grafts	Meta-analysis		3 arterial grafts had higher survival rate			
789	Hirose, 2002	BITA+RA vs. BITA+GEA	Retrospective	96 vs. 123	RA and GEA had similar patency rates and clinical outcomes	2.3	92% of GEA and 48% of RA to RCA	GEA; In situ RA; ACB, or composite graft
062	Di Mauro, 2009	BITA SV vs. BITA RA vs. BITA GEA	Retrospective	1,015	RCA stenosis <80%, SV superior to GEA	8.1	GEA and RA to RCA; BITA to LCA	In situ GEA
791	Pevni, 2005	BITA SV vs. BITA-Y vs. BITA GEA	Retrospective	619	RITA, SV, and GEA were similar in clinical outcomes	5.6	SV, GEA, and RITA to RCA; BITA to LCA	RITA, Y composite or in situ; SV, ACB
792	Grau, 2015	BITA SV vs. BITA RA	Retrospective	366	No significant difference overall; RA had higher survival rate at 10 years or later	10+	RA to RCA in 48%, SV to RCA in 54%, targeted mixed	
793	Gllineur, 2012	BITA SV vs. BITA GEA	Retrospective	297	GEA had higher survival rate	16.1	GEA to RCA; SVG to RCA	
649	Suzuki, 2011	BITA+SV vs. BITA+GEA skeletonized	Retrospective	170	GEA had higher survival rate and cardiac event-free rate	5.1	BITA to LCA In situ GEA or SVG to RCA±posterolateral branch	In situ GEA: SV=ACB
763	Schwann, 2016	RA-MAG vs. RITA-MAG vs. SAG	Multicenter, retrospective	1,653	SAG had poorer outcome than RITA-MAG or RA-MAG; SWI more frequent with RITA-MAG	0.25– 15.75		RITA; 68% ACB, 32% in situ RA mostly used as ACB
794	Buxton, 2014	TAR vs. SITA-SV	Retrospective	768	TAR had better outcome than SITA-SV	10	RITA's target=22:34:12:36 for LAD:LCX:Dx:RCA; BITA in 36% of TAR	49% of RITA were free; RA was primarily as ACB including composite graft
795	Tatoulis, 2015	TAR vs. SITA-SV	Multicenter, retrospective	12,464	TAR had less early mortality and higher long-term survival rate than non-TAR	4.5	19% of BITA in RITA but mostly in LCX; RA in RCA	Y graft=18%
796	Glineur, 2016	In situ BITA vs. Y	Randomized	304	Y had lower incidence of cardiovascular/cerebrovascular events, MI+PCI, and MI+PCI+stroke	3.4±2.1	Y or in situ ITA in LCX (more anastomoses with ITA for Y); SV or GEA was used in other targets	No ACB
797	Gatti, 2018	In situ BITA vs. BITA-Y	Retrospective	80	Survival rate, stress test results, and patency were all similar	5.9	Y or in situ ITA in LCX	No ACB
ACB, aorto artery; LCX thoracic art	coronary bypass; Bl (, left circumflex cor ery; SAG, single art	TA, bilateral internal thoracic a onary artery; MAG, multiple a terial graft; SITA, single interna	rtery; Dx, diagona rterial grafts; MI, n al thoracic artery; \$	I branch; G nyocardial SV, sapher	EA, gastroepiploic artery; ITA, internal thorac infarction; PCI, percutaneous coronary inter ious vein; SVG, saphenous vein graft; SWI,	cic artery; LAE rvention; RA, I , sternal woun), left anterior descending corona radial artery; RCA, right coronar d infection; TAR, total arterial rev	ry artery; LCA, left coronary / artery; RITA, right internal /ascularization; Y, Y graft.

(i.e., string sign) occlusion was observed for RA grafts when the degree of stenosis was <90%.⁶⁷³ Additionally, the SV and RA are both prone to stenosis in the middle of the graft and at the site of anastomosis to the aorta.⁶⁷³

The results of RCTs comparing the RITA and RA as the 2nd arterial graft are presented in **Table 42**.^{676,679,685,776–781} Both grafts were primarily used in the LCA territory, whereas, in some studies, RITA was occasionally used in the RCA. Superiority in graft patency of RITA or RA has not been conclusive. Use of the RITA has a risk of sternal wound infection. Regarding clinical outcome endpoints, such as the cardiac event-free rate and survival rate, some studies reported better results for the RA, whereas others indicated the superiority of the RITA. Compared with the SV, the RITA is superior in patency and freedom from events. In general, however, the RA and the RITA are equally suitable as the 2nd arterial graft of choice.

c. BITA

The ITA has intrinsic resistance to arteriosclerosis and rarely develops vasospasm or thrombus. Additionally, it is generally more suitable for bypass grafting than are other arterial grafts such as the RA and GEA. The BITA graft has been thought to have superior long-term outcomes, but the ART study report in 2016 found that the 5-year postoperative all-cause mortality or cardiac event-free (death, myocardial infarction, cerebral infarction) rate was no better for the BITA than for the SITA^{687,782} (Table 43). Possible explanations for these results of the ART study are the conversion from BITA to SITA after randomization, which occurred in 14% of patients, and the inclusion of 22% of patients who received MAG (e.g., RA) in the SITA group. Moreover, the results suggested that the experience level of both the operators and institutions significantly affected the outcomes of CABG. Additionally, BITA grafts harvested and used by experienced operators are generally superior to SITA grafts.

The finding of an association between the harvesting technique for BITA and sternal wound infection led to a subgroup analysis in the ART study, which found that the risk of sternal wound infection with the skeletonized BITA was similar to that with a non-skeletonized SITA, but the risk with the non-skeletonized BITA was 1.8-fold higher than that of the skeletonized BITA.615 Additionally, insulin therapy in DM patients, female sex, and high BMI were found to be independent risk factors of sternal wound infection.615 Even when only the skeletonized SITA was used (to avoid the risk), sternal wound infection was not significantly decreased relative to that with the non-skeletonized SITA.615 The mortality rate after a sternal wound infection has decreased to <20%,^{783,784} thanks to the greater use of vacuum-assisted closure and infection control teams. Whether or not the BITA is beneficial should be decided while considering the patient's age and comorbidities.

d. Comparisons of Grafting Strategies

A substantial number of studies have compared SITA+SV against MAG (**Table 43**).^{296,590,649,687,688,763,785-797} All such studies reported that MAG achieved better outcomes. A multicenter study conducted by Schwann et al revealed little difference between the MAG group using RITA graft, and the MAG group using the RA, but showed that both groups achieved better outcomes than those of the SITA group.⁷⁶³ The total arterial revascularization (TAR) group had better outcomes than those of the SITA+SV

group.794

Improvements in PCI outcomes over the years also encourage the use of arterial grafts in CABG. CABG with SITA+SV has few long-term benefits over PCI with DES.⁷⁹⁸ The use of MAG is becoming the norm for CABG. The patient's life expectancy can still be a determinant of whether arterial grafts should be used. A report, however, found that multiple ITA/RA grafts can have short-term and long-term benefits even in patients aged ≥80 years.⁷⁹⁹

GEA can also potentially be used as a 2nd arterial graft, but is commonly regarded as a 3rd arterial graft choice because it is primarily used in the RCA.

7.1.3 Third Arterial Grafts

A limited number of reports have indicated that the use of a 3rd arterial graft can improve treatment outcomes. The effects of different grafts used in the RCA on the outcomes of CABG involving grafting of a BITA to the LCA have been investigated. BITA combined with a 3rd arterial graft has a beneficial effect on outcomes, especially long term (about 10 years).^{649,688,790-793} Luthra et al reported that the outcomes of CABG with a 3rd arterial (e.g., RA) graft were similar to those with SVG for ≤ 8 years of follow-up.⁷⁸⁸ Hirose et al noted no difference between the GEA and RA used as a 3rd graft.⁷⁸⁹ Because some studies with a follow-up of >10 years have shown a statistically significant benefit, a 3rd arterial graft appears to be beneficial in some patient subgroups or selected patients.

The GEA is a preferred 3rd arterial graft. Hwang et al reported that the GEA achieved patency and outcomes similar to those of the free RITA, when used in the same manner, and concluded that the GEA clearly had great potential as a bypass graft.⁷⁸⁰ In situ use of the GEA provides an independent inflow and imparts a significant advantage by eliminating the need for aortic manipulation. As an in situ graft, however, the intraluminal pressure of the GEA graft is approximately 10% lower than that of an ITA graft and 20% lower than that of the aorta, because of its anatomy.⁸⁰⁰ In particular, for use in a coronary artery with moderate stenosis, the low pressure in the GEA can affect graft flow and patency. For this reason, careful selection of the target coronary artery is required when using the GEA. Based on the results of an RCT that compared the SV and GEA, Glineur et al stated that the GEA had a significantly lower functional patency rate than that of the SV when the degree of stenosis of the native coronary artery is ≤80%.801 Suma et al stated that the GEA is indicated for ≥90% of stenoses.⁶³³ Other researchers have proposed ≥80% stenosis as the threshold for GEA use.^{801,802} Some surgeons consider the GEA to be the most suitable graft for stenosis in the proximal RCA (#1, #2, or #3) with a sizable territory.803 The GEA also has been reported as unsuitable for a stenosis with a minimal luminal diameter ≥1.1 mm.⁸⁰⁴ The criteria for the use of GEA have not been fully established.

The GEA is prone to functional occlusion, such as when poor graft flow is caused by moderate stenosis. The expected patency and benefits specific to GEA should be assessed in consideration of certain factors, such as the expected outcome, degree of stenosis, and flow demand, to select the patients or targets meeting these specific criteria.

7.1.4 Venous Grafts

Venous grafts, which are typically used by anastomosing their proximal side to the ascending aorta, have high intraluminal pressure and graft flow capacity. However, ascending aorta manipulation is a risk factor for cerebral infarction. Venous grafts also have worse endothelial function than arterial grafts and are more susceptible to relatively early occlusion resulting from thrombus or hyperplasia and to long-term occlusion due to atherosclerosis of the venous wall. Venous grafts generally have a lower patency rate than that of arterial grafts. The use of an SVG is sometimes considered to be a risk factor itself.⁸⁰⁵

Nevertheless, unlike arterial grafts, the patency of venous grafts is less prone to the same degree of stenosis in the native coronary arteries, which makes venous grafts most suitable for use in the RCA with moderate stenosis, for which arterial grafts are not suitable because of the high risk of competitive flow.^{804,806} Venous grafts are also preferred when the ITA is unlikely to provide sufficient bypass flow or when myocardial flow demand or vascular resistance is increased (e.g., in the acute phase of myocardial infarction).

7.2 Graft Configurations

The ART study, with a 5-year follow-up, found no notable differences between BITA and SITA. Other than the lower incidence of graft occlusion and the resulting lower frequency of myocardial infarction than with venous grafts, their report noted that potential bias might occur because of the diversity in how arterial grafts are used and configured, in part because of the lack of sufficiently experienced operators.⁶⁸⁷ A study of graft flow also noted that graft configuration affected coronary circulation and may increase the risk of occlusion.⁸⁰⁷ Graft configuration and design could affect both patency and treatment outcome.

7.2.1 Sequential Grafting

Anastomosis to multiple vessels may be required within the coronary territory because of diffuse coronary artery narrowing associated with DM and CKD or, especially in Japan, with repeated catheterization. Compared with an arrested heart, OPCAB better preserves the shape and size of the left ventricle and allows easy adjustment of the anastomosis angle and graft position. Because of the limited availability of usable arterial grafts and the risk of complications with harvesting, maximizing the potential of an arterial graft is required. Dion et al reported that patients treated by sequential anastomosis with the ITA maintained a favorable patency rate and had a low repeat revascularization rate during a mean follow-up of approximately 10 years.⁸⁰⁸ Sequential grafting allows multiple anastomoses on 1 graft and is an essential technique in today's coronary artery surgery. However, it is technically demanding and associated with types of graft failure that are specific to this technique, and it may occur even when the anastomoses are constructed properly.

To achieve patency over the entire graft, sufficient antegrade flow must be obtained to the target artery anastomosed at the distal end of the graft. The site and angle of each anastomosis are adjusted to minimize the graft route. Sequential anastomosis in a diamond fashion can be a useful option.⁵⁷³ With sequential anastomosis using an in situ ITA or one as inflow, the probability of attaining antegrade flow decreases when there is moderate stenosis in the target coronary artery anastomosed to the distal end of the graft. For this reason, a coronary artery with $\geq 90\%$ stenosis should be selected for anastomosis with the distal end of a graft.^{657,809} Conversely, a bypass graft anastomosed with the ascending aorta as inflow has a large flow capacity and high intraluminal pressure. Because venous grafts are largely unaffected by the degree of stenosis in the target artery, they are a suitable candidate when the target vessel has only moderate stenosis.

7.2.2 Composite Graft (In Situ Arterial Graft+Free Graft)

Aortic manipulation should be avoided in patients with severe calcification in the ascending aorta. If multivessel bypass grafting is feasible and safe, composite grafting should be a viable option for both complete revascularization and avoidance of cerebral complications. As in sequential anastomosis, attaining antegrade flow to multiple coronary arteries with a single graft requires careful patient and target vessel selection.

In particular, for composite grafts having a Y (or T) branch, the degree of stenosis in each of the anastomosed vessels has complex effects. To attain antegrade flow to both ends of the composite graft, each end must be anastomosed to a vessel with severe stenosis. In particular, interruption of the ITA-LAD bypass flow and patency must be avoided.⁸¹⁰

Not many RCTs have compared different graft configurations. Glineur et al compared BITAs used as two in situ grafts to LAD and LCX with an in-situ LITA to LAD and a free RITA to LCA as a Y composite graft. The composite graft made sequential anastomosis easier, was usable for creating bypasses to more vessels with the ITA, and helped reduce cardiac events.⁷⁹⁶ Based on their study comparing the outcomes of CABG with BITA, Magruder et al reported that graft configuration did not affect outcomes.⁶⁰⁷ Their study assumed that operators selected the "optimal" graft configuration for individual patients, but the report did not describe how this optimization was performed.

For decades, optimal selection of grafts has been discussed. How the optimal graft configuration should be determined in individual patients is currently a matter of debate.

8. ONCAB and OPCAB (Table 44)

8.1 Outcomes in RCTs

A large number of RCTs have compared OPCAB vs. ONCAB. The ROOBY⁸¹¹ was the first large-scale multicenter study of such RCTs. The incidence of the composite endpoint (mortality, myocardial infarction, and repeat revascularization) was similar at 30 days but higher for OPCAB after 1 year. More OPCAB patients had fewer grafts performed than planned. The graft patency rate after 1 year was significantly lower in the OPCAB group. The 5-year mortality rate was also significantly lower for

Table 44. Recommendation and Evidence for	OPCAB	
	COR	LOE
Experienced operator at an experienced institution	I	В
On high-risk patients	I	В
Use of aortic no-touch technique	I	В

COR, class of recommendation; LOE, level of evidence; OPCAB, off-pump coronary artery bypass.

OPCAB.⁸¹² Criticism against the study included the inclusion of operators with limited experience in OPCAB and the enrollment of relatively young male patients. The CORONARY study⁸¹³ selected only operators with ample experience in OPCAB and reported that the incidence of the primary endpoint (composite of mortality, myocardial infarction, and cerebral infarction) was no different between OPCAB and ONCAB after 30 days, 1 year, and 5 years. More patients underwent repeat revascularization within 30 days in the OPCAB group, but no difference was observed after 5 years.814 In the GOPCABE study, OPCAB was performed by experienced operators in patients aged ≥75 years. Little difference was seen in the composite endpoint of mortality, cerebral infarction, and myocardial infarction between OPCAB and ONCAB after 30 days or 12 months.815 The SMART study816 was an RCT in which all OPCAB procedures were performed by a single experienced operator. The study found no difference between OPCAB and ONCAB for survival and graft patency rates 1 year after surgery. The graft patency rate was also similar over a mean follow-up of 7.5 years. A higher survival rate was seen in the OPCAB group between 3 and 5 years later, with the difference narrowing slightly from 5 to 7 years.817

The JOCRI study⁸¹⁸ was a Japanese RCT in which only experienced operators participated. Only preliminary outcomes have been analyzed. Operative mortality and postoperative complications were no different between OPCAB and ONCAB. Graft patency rates were also similar.

The results of these prospective studies indicate that the outcomes of OPCAB performed by operators with ample experience are likely to be similar to those for ONCAB for up to nearly 5 years.

8.2 Volume-Outcome Relationship in OPCAB

Benedetto et al⁸¹⁹ searched through the Nationwide Inpatient Sample database to compare the effect of the annual number of patients operated on per operator or institution on outcomes for OPCAB and ONCAB. Among patients who had ≥ 2 vessels treated by CABG, OPCAB had a higher operative mortality rate than ONCAB when performed at an institution with <29 treated patients per year or by operators who performed the surgery on <19 patients per year. However, the operative mortality rate was lower for OPCAB performed at an institution with ≥ 164 treated patients per year or by operators who performed the surgery on ≥ 64 patients per year.

8.3 Advantages of OPCAB Over ONCAB

8.3.1 Outcomes in High-Risk Patients

Puskas et al⁸²⁰ reported that OPCAB had a mortality benefit in patients with an STS predicted risk of mortality $\geq 2.5\%$, and that this mortality benefit increased as the predicted risk of mortality increased. A similar pattern was shown in a large-scale registry based on the STS database.⁸²¹ A meta-analysis in a recent RCT⁸²² indicated the incidence of operative death, myocardial infarction, and cerebral infarction with OPCAB decreased more markedly in patients with a less favorable risk profile.

8.3.2 Benefits of Aortic No-Touch Technique

A meta-analysis comparing the outcomes of OPCAB and ONCAB by the technique used for proximal aortic anastomosis⁶⁶⁰ revealed that aortic no-touch OPCAB most effectively decreased cerebral infarctions, all-cause mortality, renal failure, bleeding, AF, and ICU stay. A study using the JCVSD⁷⁵⁷ compared OPCAB using an anastomosis assist device with side-clamp OPCAB. Although early outcomes were similar, temporary neurological abnormalities were more frequent with side-clamp OPCAB.

8.3.3 Effects on Renal Function

A propensity-matched analysis using the STS database revealed a decrease in the incidence of in-hospital death and the hemodialysis rate after OPCAB among patients with baseline renal impairment.⁸²³ The decrease was more marked in patients with more severe baseline renal impairment. An analysis using the JCVSD indicated progression to hemodialysis was significantly less frequent among patients with an eGFR <30 mL/min/1.73 m² and who underwent OPCAB.⁸²⁴

8.4 Cerebral Infarction

A meta-analysis of RCT data indicated OPCAB lowers the incidence of cerebral infarction.⁸²⁵

9. Intraoperative Graft Evaluation

9.1 Intraoperative Fluorescence Imaging (IFI; Table 45)

9.1.1 Benefits of Semiquantitative Analysis

Indocyanine green (ICG) used with a near-infrared light source was developed by the Kodak Research Laboratories and has been used in diagnostic imaging since 1956. A large number of papers on surgeries performed using ICG in different clinical areas have been published over the years.⁸²⁶ In the field of cardiovascular surgery, IFI with ICG was first reported in 2002.827 Subsequently, Taggart et al, Reuthebuch et al, Takahashi et al, and Balacumaraswami et al have reported on graft validation using IFI.828-831 In 2005, the FDA granted approval for coronary angiography using ICG. Before the clinical application of IFI with ICG, graft evaluation with transit-time flowmeter (TTFM) was the only quantitative technique. IFI enabled real-time videorecording of blood flow in bypass grafts and the native coronary artery while the patient's heart was exposed (Figure 6).

Detecting technical errors in anastomosed grafts during CABG certainly helps improve the surgical outcome. IFI has the highest sensitivity among all the techniques in use for intraoperative graft validation, making it suitable for use in CABG.⁸²⁶ IFI does not require catheterization of any graft or iodine contrast medium and therefore has no adverse effect on renal function or cause radiological exposure, making it a minimally-invasive technique for intraoperative graft assessment.⁸³²⁻⁸³⁴

Although OPCAB is chosen in ≥60% of CABG per-

Table 45. Recommendation and Evidence for	IFI	
	COR	LOE
Intraoperative graft validation during CABG using IFI with indocyanine green	lla	В

CABG, coronary artery bypass grafting; COR, class of recommendation; IFI, intraoperative fluorescence imaging; LOE, level of evidence.



Figure 6. Intraoperative fluorescence imaging with indocyanine green visualizes grafts to the LAD, RCA, and LCX territories and in the heart as a whole. LAD, left anterior descending coronary artery; LCX, left circumflex coronary artery; RCA, right coronary artery.

formed in Japan,⁸³⁵ it is technically demanding and may have the disadvantage of decreasing the graft patency rate. Combining a visual graft evaluation technique with TTFM helps improve the outcome of the surgery. The 2011 American College of Cardiology Foundation (ACCF)/ AHA Guideline⁸³⁶ states that IFI enables "semiquantitative" graft validation method during CABG by visualizing the bypass grafts using ICG fluorescence.

9.1.2 Clinical Outcomes

In 2009, the Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services in the USA reported that CABG patients who underwent intraoperative fluorescence vascular angiography (IFVA) with ICG had a shorter average hospital stay, by approximately 1 day, and a lower average medical cost than those who did not undergo IFVA with ICG. Concerning the IFI method using ICG, noncoronary IFVA had been covered by insurance as ICD Code 17.71, and coronary IFVA had been covered under ICD Code 88.59 in the past.⁸³⁷ Currently, the code for coronary IFVA is updated to ICD 10 Code 4A12XSH (Monitoring of Cardiac Vascular Perfusion using Indocyanine Green Dye, External Approach).

The National Institute for Health and Care Excellence in the UK refers to IFVA as a safe and effective method for the evaluation of CABG patency under its guideline (Interventional Procedure Guidance 98).⁸³⁸

Balacumaraswami et al⁸³⁹ reported insufficient blood flow in 8 (3%) of 266 grafts by IFI during CABG and reanastomosed those grafts. TTFM suggested possibly insufficient blood flow in 10 grafts in 10 patients, but none of the grafts were re-anastomosed because IFI detected sufficient flow. The authors concluded that IFI is superior to TTFM in terms of accuracy of graft patency evaluation. Waseda et al⁸⁴⁰ compared IFI, TTFM, and postoperative coronary angiography in 137 patients who underwent CABG (507 grafts were used). IFI indicated poorly constructed anastomoses in 6 patients, but TTFM failed to identify any of them. On the other hand, TTFM suggested re-anastomosis of 21 grafts that IFI revealed as no issue. The authors concluded IFI is useful for intraoperative assessment of anastomosed graft patency and helps avoid early graft failure associated with technical errors. Desai et al performed both IFI and TTFM and compared the findings with postoperative coronary angiography in an RCT in 106 patients.⁸⁴¹ IFI was shown to have superior sensitivity compared with TTFM (P=0.023) and was more accurate in detecting graft failure.

9.2 TTFM

Numerous articles have attested to the importance of graft assessment during CABG for improving and maintaining the quality of CABG. Intraoperative graft evaluation techniques include those for morphology assessment, such as angiography, IFI using ICG, and ultrasonography as well as quantitative techniques that measure graft flow. Coronary angiography is an invasive and time-consuming procedure and not suitable for intraoperative evaluation. IFI is a relatively easy technique and useful, but is yet to be widely accepted.826 Ultrasound imaging only requires a probe for the heart surface, but it is suitable only for evaluation of a narrow area, and accurate evaluation is sometimes difficult with the 2-dimensional imaging.842 Compared with these, TTFM is easy and reproducible, and thus most commonly used for intraoperative graft assessment.843 With TTFM, mean graft flow, pulsatility index (PI), and diastolic filling index (DFI) are the common measures. These 3 measures are used in intraoperative graft evaluation (to detect anastomotic errors and whether revision is necessary).

9.2.1 Mean Graft Flow

Unlike in other organs, the majority of blood flow in the coronary artery occurs during diastole. Graft flow is recognizable during diastole when adequate flow is obtained. When the absolute graft flow or graft flow during diastole is low, competitive flow, vasospasm or graft failure such as dissection or anastomotic failure is suspected.

Beating CABG allows graft evaluation with TTFM after each anastomosis. For example, placing a suture for

Table 46. Measurement of In-	Graft Flow and PI Using Tran	sit-Time Flowmeter
	Observation	Possible scenario
Moon graft flow (Om)	≥20 mL/min	Normal in general, but a high PI may be an indication of abnormalities at the site of anastomosis
Mean gran now (Qm)	<20 mL/min	Some abnormality should be suspected for the graft, anastomosis or target coronary artery
	Qm unchanged + normal diastolic pressure	Competitive flow, stenosis at the proximal side of the anastomosis
Biockage at proximal side of target coronary artery	Qm decreased + diastolic pressure decreased	Abnormality in distal coronary artery, stenosis at the distal side of the anastomosis, or small perfusion territory in the distal side of the anastomosis
	Qm increased	Competitive flow, no abnormality in the distal side of the anastomosis
Blockage at distal side of target coronary artery	Qm decreased	No abnormality in the distal side of anastomosis; competitive flow; stenosis in the proximal side of the anastomosis
	<5	Low resistance to graft flow
PI	≥5	Stenosis at the anastomotic side; residual stenosis in the distal side of the anastomosis

PI, pulsatility index.

blood blockage around the vessel at the proximal and distal sides of each anastomotic site allows measurement of (1) uninterrupted graft flow, (2) graft flow when the proximal side is blocked, and (3) graft flow when the distal side is blocked after the anastomosis is constructed. This technique helps detect stenosis or occlusion in the proximal and/or distal side of an anastomosis, as well as competition between the coronary artery flow and graft flow (**Table 46**).

With ONCAB, accurate graft flow measurement is possible only after construction of all anastomoses, recovery of cardiac contractility and systolic blood presure.

9.2.2 Pl and DFI

The PI is calculated by "(maximum flow-minimum flow)/ mean flow". PI represents the flow pattern and resistance: a high values means a high resistance against graft flow and suggests residual stenosis in the target artery, graft spasm/ stenosis, or other problems at the distal anastomosis.

The DFI is calculated as percentage by " $100 \times diastolic$ flow/(diastolic flow + systolic flow)". Systolic flow and diastolic flow are calculated using the interval from the R wave peak to the T wave peak on ECG as the systolic phase. DFI represents the ratio of diastolic flow to graft flow. A high DFI indicates a high ratio of diastolic flow and that the graft flow matches the flow pattern of the coronary artery.

9.2.3 Criteria for Revision

For evaluation of graft failure using TTFM, the following cutoff points for acute graft failure have been proposed based on comparisons with postoperative angiograms: 15 mL/min or 20 mL/min for mean graft flow, 11.5 mL/min for an arterial graft, 15 mL/min for the LCA, and 20 mL/min for the RCA.⁸⁴³⁻⁸⁴⁶ For PI and DFI, respectively >5 and >50% have been frequently reported as reference points. Normally, a graft flow rate of $\geq 20 \text{ mL/min}$ and a PI <5 are recommended as cutoff points.

When a TTFM measurement deviates from the cutoff points, whether the deviation was caused by the graft, anastomosis or the lesion in the target coronary artery should be assessed to decide whether revision is required. Combining quantitative analysis by TTFM with a modality that allows morphological assessment enables accurate graft evaluation and helps achieve consistent quality of care for CABG.⁸⁴⁷

10. CABG Outcome Registry

Case registries of coronary artery revascularization have been around for many years, though mostly in Europe and the USA.

Because the development of a nationwide database in Japan did not come about until recently, individual institutions have created their own case registries and evaluated risk prediction models developed outside Japan using their own data.⁸⁴⁸ The JATS has collected case information (including operative mortality) from >90% of relevant institutions in Japan through their questionnaire survey and have reportedly collected data annually⁴⁵⁸ since 1986. The annually reported data are critically important as Japanese statistics of cardiovascular surgeries. However, because no preoperative information is included, only the crude mortality rate, not the risk-adjusted, can be drawn from the data. The number of CABG cases peaked around 2003 and has been decreasing in recent years in Japan.

In 2002 the Japanese Association for Coronary Artery Surgery started an annual national questionnaire survey intended to collect more complete data specific to coronary artery surgery. They send questionnaires to about 300 institutions where coronary artery surgery is performed, with a response rate of about 60%. The data collected in the survey are published on their website.⁸⁴⁹ Although the survey does not register all cases, it provides valuable information about coronary artery surgery performed in Japan. According to the survey in 2017, OPCAB accounted for 64% of CABGs performed at the responding institutions. The mortality rate was 1.52% for isolated CABG, 0.81% for initial elective CABG, and 0.61% for initial elective OPCAB without conversion to cardiopulmonary bypass.⁸⁴⁹

Long after the development of similar databases in Europe/USA, the development of a nationwide database of cardiovascular surgeries with baseline risk information gained momentum in Japan. This movement was fueled partly by certain medical malpractice lawsuits in the cardiovascular field that captured media attention. The JCVSD was established in 2000 and started registration of CABG cases. Only 5 institutions participated at the launch of the database, but others gradually followed suit.

Japanese and American nationwide databases publish annual reports. According to the STS report in 2018,

156,931 CABG cases were registered in 2016. The operative mortality rate (30-day mortality+in-hospital mortality) was 2.2%, and OPCAB accounted for about 13% of all CABG cases.⁸⁵⁰ The JCVSD published a report for the years 2013 and 2014 in 2018. The total number of CABG performed in the 2 years was about 32,000. The operative mortality rate was 3.0%, and the percentage of OPCAB in all CABG cases was 55%.^{851,852} The operative mortality rate for elective CABG and elective OPCAB was, respectively,

2.0% and 1.1%. A questionnaire survey conducted by the Japanese Association for Coronary Artery Surgery boasted better numbers, but the JCVSD report is probably more accurate because of the higher coverage of cases.

A CABG registry is an essential tool that allows an operator to ojectively look at the results of invasive surgeries he/she has performed. It is also important for cardiologists. Case registries are aimed at providing quality information to all physicians in the field.

VII. PCI Techniques

1. Strategies to Improve Prognosis

The history of PCI started with POBA performed by Gruentzig et al. on September 16, 1977.⁸⁵³ In 1986, Sigwart et al⁸⁵⁴ and Serruys et al⁸⁵⁵ introduced the BMS, which was shown to be effective particularly for acute coronary occlusion after balloon dilatation and quickly gained acceptance.^{854–856} ISR was, however, reported in approximately 30% of BMS cases and came to be known as the Achilles' heel of PCI.^{857,858} Development of the DES was intended to solve the problem of ISR. The first DES was used by Sousa et al. in 1999.⁸⁵⁹ In this manner, the major developments in PCI-related techniques occurred at intervals of about 10 years.

The 1st-generation DES had mixed results due to VLST, but 2nd-generation DES are largely free from VLST and have become the first choice in PCI regardless of the characteristics of CAD. The scenarios where a BMS has the advantage over a DES are now very limited. The ESC/ EACTS guidelines of 2018 recommend new-generation DES as the first choice for all PCI.⁶⁴

Development of new stents has led to improved clinical outcomes of PCI over the years. In multivessel or other complex disease (e.g., patients with DM), however, PCI is still unable to improve survival as much as CABG. Studies to further improve the outcomes of PCI are ongoing. One of the fruits of such studies is the 5 general recommendations for maximizing the survival benefit of PCI (**Table 47**). These constitute today's core PCI strategies.

One of these strategies is PCI guided by the severity of functional stenosis (ischemia). Traditionally, PCI was guided by visual assessment of stenosis (or guided by angiography). This changed when the benefit of PCI guided by FFR (or guided by ischemia) was reported in a series of studies, including DEFER, FAME, and FAME 2.34,36,134 The DEFER study reported the outcomes of PCI with 15-year follow-up and demonstrated the safety of deferring PCI based on ischemia assessment in patients on OMT.35 The COURAGE and BARI 2D studies compared angiography-guided PCI with OMT and failed to demonstrate the superiority of PCI in reducing cardiovascular events.88,89 However, the 5-year follow-up of the FAME 2 study with a comparison of ischemia-guided PCI and medical therapy revealed PCI decreased myocardial infarction compared with medical therapy.860

Stent placement guided by IVUS is another key PCI strategy. Evidence on IVUS was previously limited to PCI in complex disease such as LMCA lesions. An all-comers RCT comparing angiography-guided and IVUS-guided stent placement indicated IVUS-guided stent placement could improve the outcomes of PCI further in the era of DES.⁸⁶¹

Complete revascularization is also one of the key PCI strategies. The SYNTAX study reported that long-term death and myocardial infarction occurred more frequently after PCI than CABG and attributed the differences partly to the lower percentage of complete revascularization achieved with PCI compared with CABG.⁸⁶² CTO and microvascular disease are the main causes of incomplete revascularization, although the outcomes of PCI in CTO lesions have improved significantly in recent years.⁸⁶³ The DCB was also shown to be as effective as DES for the treatment of microvessel disease in the BASKET-SMALL study.⁸⁶⁴ Today, PCI should therefore aim for complete revascularization when it is feasible and safe, considering the size of ischemic area.

Combining the above 3 strategies is required to maximize the survival benefit of PCI. The SYNTAX II study assessed the suitability of PCI using iFR, placed stents guided by IVUS, and reported recanalization of CTO at a high success rate. The study became a textbook example of the latest PCI strategies. The outcomes of PCI reported in the study also equaled those of CABG in the SYNTAX study.⁸⁶⁵ The results of the SYNTAX II study at the same time indicated there is still room for improvement in PCI. The study reported that the number of lesions treated per patient was 2.6, compared with 4.0 in the SYNTAX study, and that the percentage of patients with 3-vessel disease was 37.2% vs. 83.3%. PCI guided by the current and most suitable techniques can increase its survival benefit and also make it a cost-effective treatment.

Table 47. Recommendation and Evidence for General Strategies in PCI			
	COR	LOE	
PCI guided by severity of functional stenosis (ischemia)	T	А	
Imaging-guided stent placement	I.	А	
Complete revascularization guided by perfusion area and ischemia	I	А	
Consideration of hemorrhagic complications and contrast-induced nephropathy in PCI	I	В	
Optimal medical therapy and lifestyle intervention	I	A	

COR, class of recommendation; LOE, level of evidence; PCI, percutaneous coronary intervention.



COR, class of recommendation; LOE, level of evidence.

Considering the risk of hemorrhagic complications and CIN is also an important PCI strategy. The combination of perioperative bleeding and CIN has been reported as a prognostic determinant. Meta-analyses revealed RA access is superior to femoral artery access for both the risk of bleeding complications and CIN.^{866,867} Ingenuity may also be needed to adjust the contrast dose depending on the patient's renal function.

Combining OMT, tailored to the patient with the goal of managing classic risk factors such as diabetes, hypertension, dyslipidemia, obesity, and smoking, with lifestyle interventions such as smoking cessation, diet therapy, and acquisition of exercise habits is the last of the 5 core PCI strategies. Long-term prognosis after revascularization has been shown to vary between patients with and without OMT. In OMT, proactive risk management needs to be combined with antithrombotic therapy that balances ischemia and hemorrhagic complications.^{868,869}

2. Access Site (Table 48)

Femoral artery access and RA access for angioplasty and PCI were compared in RCTs, among which the RIVAL and MATRIX studies are well known.^{870,871}

The RIVAL study enrolled 7,201 patients and showed no difference in 30-day event rate (mortality, myocardial infarction, stroke, or major bleeding unrelated to CABG) between femoral artery access and RA access, but the RA approach significantly decreased access site complications (HR, 0.30; 95% CI, 0.13–0.71; P=0.006).

In the MATRIX study, 8,404 patients with ACS were enrolled. The 30-day net adverse clinical event (MACE or major bleeding) rate and the incidence of Bleeding Academic Research Consortium (BARC) 3 or 5 major bleeding were significantly lower in the radial artery access group (major bleeding, 1.6% vs. 2.3%; relative risk, 0.67; 95% CI, 0.49–0.92; P=0.013). RA access decreased all-cause mortality rate (1.6% vs. 2.2%; relative risk, 0.72; 95% CI, 0.53–0.99; P=0.045).

A meta-analysis of data from over 600,000 patients in observational studies and RCTs showed RA access reduced hemorrhagic complications by 78% and post-procedural blood transfusion by 80% compared with femoral artery access.⁸⁶⁶ Also, the RA approach is linked to lower risk of renal impairment.^{867,872}

Based on these and other related data, RA access is the commonly recommended route of access for PCI.

3. POBA

POBA was first performed in Zurich in 1977 and soon faced considerable criticism. It nevertheless gained popularity because of the less invasive nature of the procedure compared with other options.⁸⁵³ PCI used to be called percutaneous transluminal coronary angioplasty (PTCA).

Initially, PTCA involved compression of the atheroma and disruption of the artery wall, but the efficacy of atheroma compression/removal was very limited. Artery wall dissection and recoil were unavoidable with the procedure involving balloon dilatation alone. PTCA in its early days was therefore troubled by frequent acute coronary occlusion and restenosis in the chronic phase. Debates ensued on the appropriate balloon size and dilatation technique, but little improvement in clinical outcome followed.^{873,874}

4. BMS

To overcome the limitation of balloon dilatation, the coronary artery stent was introduced to support the lumen against recoil. The use of the first BMS, Wallstent[™], was reported by Sigwart et al⁸⁵⁴ and Serruys et al⁸⁵⁵ among others.856 The BMS was shown to be particularly effective for reducing acute coronary occlusion resulting from arterial dissection after balloon dilatation. In 1994, Serruys et al conducted the BENESTENT study, the world's first RCT of BMS (Palmaz-Schatz stent).858 The study enrolled 516 patients with stable angina. In the balloon-alone group, chronic cardiac events and cerebrovascular disease were reported in 76 (30%) patients, compared with 52 patients (20%) in the stent group, showing a statistically significant difference (P=0.017). Also, the incidence of restenosis, assessed by quantitative coronary angiography, was 22% in the stent group, significantly lower than the 32% in the balloon-alone group (P<0.05).858 The superiority of stent placement to the balloon-alone procedure was established by the BENESTENT study.858

The widely accepted minimum duration of DAPT after BMS placement in stable CAD is 1 month. BMS is a reasonable option in a patient who cannot continue antiplatelet therapy for longer than 1 month for any reason. However, BMS revealed no advantages over DES in patients who had discontinued DAPT early for any reason (e.g., for surgery) and also in RCTs in patients who were at increased risk of bleeding and received 1 month of DAPT.^{454,875-878} The ESC/EACTS guidelines of 2018 recommend the use of new-generation DES instead of BMS in any patient undergoing myocardial revascularization.¹³⁹ The spread of new-generation DES has significantly limited the clinical scenarios where BMS is a viable option.

5. DES (Table 49)

The rate of restenosis after PCI decreased to about 20–30% after the development of the BMS, but ISR remained the vulnerability of PCI.^{857,858} DES took the place of BMS by mostly overcoming restenosis.⁸⁵⁹ Eluting a drug to inhibit neointimal formation dramatically decreased chronic restenosis and achieved a marked reduction in repeat revascularization.

5.1 1st-Generation DES

The world's first clinically used DES contained sirolimus, the immunosuppressive compound isolated from a fungus in Easter Island.⁸⁷⁹ The first-in-human clinical trial of DES

reported no ISR in 6 months and only once in 1 out of 30 patients by 3 years later.⁸⁵⁹ Serruys et al reported 0% restenosis after 6 months and a 1-year MACE rate of 5.8% in the multicenter RAVEL study in 238 patients.⁸⁸⁰ The SIRIUS study in the USA used the SES. It was larger in scale than and almost contemporary to the RAVEL study. SIRIUS enrolled 1,058 patients with stable or unstable angina and demonstrated overwhelming superiority of the SES (P<0.001).⁸⁸¹ In Japan, the SES was launched in 2004.

After SES, paclitaxel drew attention for its immunosuppressant and cytostatic activities and as a drug to be incorporated into stents. In the first paclitaxel-eluting stent (PES), paclitaxel was conjugated to a biocompatible polymer and applied as a stent coating. PES was launched in 2007 in Japan.⁸⁸²

Adverse effects specific to DES, such as VLST, then came to light. According to a report from Rotterdam, the incidence of VLST was about 0.6% per year. In a 7-year follow-up of 5,078 Japanese patients who had SES placed, the incidence of VLST was 1.43%.^{883,884} Delayed and incomplete re-endothelialization of the stent and inflammatory response to the polymer, among others, have been purported as possible causes of VLST, but the true mechanisms remain unclear.⁸⁸⁵⁻⁸⁸⁷ There are a large number of patients who still have a first-generation DES (SES, PES) and although the reported incidence of VLST is low, it is an ongoing concern for these patients.

5.2 2nd- and 3rd-Generation DES

The 2nd- and later generation DES are made of drugeluting durable polymers with greater biocompatibility for improved safety, combined with changes in materials and strut thickness. Medium- to long-term mortality rates and myocardial infarction rate are similar between newer durable-polymer DES and BMS. However, durable-polymer DES have a significantly lower incidence of subacute and LST and share a similar or lower incidence of VLST vs. BMS.^{888,889} The EES, constructed with a highly biocompatible polymer, is a 2nd-generation DES that has been in use since 2010 in Japan.

Table 49. Recommendation and Evidence for DES			
	COR	LOE	
Use DES for all PCI	I	А	

COR, class of recommendation; DES, drug eluting stent; LOE, level of evidence; PCI, percutaneous coronary intervention.

The 3rd-generation DES are made of biodegradable polymer and show similar characteristics to BMS after the end of drug release and polymer biodegradation. A number of thin-strut, biodegradable-polymer DES (UltimasterTM, SynergyTM, OsiroTM) have been released since 2015. Numerous clinical trials have compared biodegradablepolymer DES and durable-polymer DES,890,891 but only the BIOFLOW V study has so far reported a lower incidence of 12-month target lesion failure for biodegradable-polymer DES vs. durable-polymer DES (P=0.0399).892 The SORT OUT IV study did not find conclusive evidence.893 Shortterm DAPT (1 month in stable angina and 6 months in ACS) combined with PCI in the SENIOR study revealed a similar safety profile between biodegradable-polymer DES and BMS, and superior efficacy of biodegradablepolymer DES.877

Whether 2nd- and 3rd-generation DES truly have different class effects and in what scenarios (clinical background and presentation) such effects will be achieved are yet to be uncovered. A list of commonly used DES is presented in **Table 50**.

Restenosis in diffuse/multivessel/microvascular disease and CTO lesions as well as ISR reported frequently with older DES have been decreased with new-generation DES (the overall restenosis rate is now estimated to be <10%). Consequently, indications for PCI have expanded to lesions that used to be difficult to treat or were contraindicated with PCI, including LMCA lesions. Also, DES is taking over BMS as the first choice for use in PCI in ACS, in particular ST-segment elevation myocardial infarction (STEMI).⁸⁹⁴

Table 50. 2nd-Generation and Later DES Available in Japan (as of October 2018)				
	Stent platform	Polymer coating	Drug	No. of links
Double polymer coating				
Promus Premier	Platinum chromium	PBMA, PVDF-HFP	Everolimus	2–4
Resolute	Cobalt alloy	PBMA, PHMA, PVP, PVA	Zotarolimus	1.5–2.5
Xience	Cobalt chromium	PBMA, PVDF-HFP	Everolimus	3
Biodegradable polymer coating				
Nobori	Stainless-steel	PDLLA	Biolimus A9	2
Orsiro	Cobalt chromium	PLLA	Sirolimus	3-4
Synergy	Platinum chromium	PLGA	Everolimus	2–4
Ultimaster	Cobalt chromium	PDLLA, PCL	Sirolimus	2
No polymer coating				
BioFreedom	Stainless-steel	_	Biolimus A9	2–3

DES, drug eluting stent; PBMA, poly n-butyl-methacrylate; PCL, poly caprolactone; PDLLA, poly d,l-lactide; PHMA, poly hexyl methacrylate; PLGA, polylactic acid-glycolic acid; PLLA, poly-L-lactic acid; PVA, polyvinyl alcohol; PVDF-HFP, polyvinylidene fluoride hexafluoropropylene; PVP, polyvinyl pyrrolidone.

Table 51. Recommendation and Evidence for Use of the Atherectomy Catheter		
	COR	LOE
Use of Rotablator in calcified lesion	lla	В
Use of DCA in bifurcation lesion	llb	С

COR, class of recommendation; DCA, directional coronary atherectomy; LOE, level of evidence.

6. Special Balloons

6.1 DCB

DCB refers to balloons that are coated with highly liposoluble paclitaxel and designed to apply the drug to the vascular wall through balloon dilatation. Different DCBs have had mixed results, but mostly have been shown to be effective for reducing ISR. DCB is more effective than POBA against BMS restenosis and as effective as in-stent placement of new-generation DES, but it is considered to have greater angiographic late lumen loss than DES.435,895 In treatment of restenosis after DES placement, DCB have had mixed results and no reports have shown the risk of late lumen loss is lower for DCB compared with new-generation DES. None of the previous studies reporting on the survival benefit of DCB has had adequate statistical power due to limitations such as follow-up period and sample size. However, network meta-analyses indicate that new-generation DES and DCB have similar efficacy in reducing repeat revascularization.896,897 Evidence suggests DCB has benefit against small vessel disease. The use of DCB is also approved for <3 mm de novo CAD.

6.2 Cutting Balloon

Cutting balloon catheters are used to dilate stenotic segments that are difficult to dilate by conventional POBA. A cutting balloon catheter has 3 or 4 parallel blades in the longitudinal direction. Inflating the balloon pushes the blades against and makes cuts in the plaque, allowing dilatation of the segment with minimal pressure. Use of a cutting balloon enables dilatation of a stenotic segment without the risk of severe coronary artery dissection, but it can cause coronary artery perforation. In the case of coronary artery hematoma, a cutting balloon can cut the intima and create an entry from the false lumen to the true lumen.

The REDUCE III study was a Japanese study investigating the benefit of cutting balloon angioplasty before BMS placement.⁸⁹⁸ The rate of restenosis in patients who had BMS placed after IVUS-guided cutting balloon angioplasty was 6.6% and significantly lower than the 17.9% for BMS placed after angiography-guided cutting balloon angioplasty, 19.8% for BMS placed after IVUSguided balloon angioplasty, and 18.2% for BMS placed after angiography-guided balloon angioplasty. Therefore, IVUS-guided cutting balloon angioplasty has been suggested to be a useful pretreatment for stent placement.

6.3 Scoring Balloon

Scoring balloons (AngioSculpt® Balloon Catheter, Lacrosse

NSE[®] Balloon Catheter) have scoring elements such as wire (rather than blades) on the balloon to reduce the risk of coronary artery perforation that may occur with cutting balloon. They can achieve good dilatation in segments where a normal balloon cannot (e.g., due to slipping).

6.4 Perfusion Balloon Catheter

Perfusion balloon catheters can dilate the narrowed segment for an extended period while maintaining coronary blood flow. They are used to achieve hemostasis in the event of coronary artery perforation. Withdrawing the guidewire to the perfusion marker can increase blood flow to the balloon tip.

7. Atherectomy Catheter (Table 51)

Various devices have been developed with the hope of overcoming the problem of restenosis. In the early 1990s, atherectomy and laser systems were successively released and collectively called "new devices" at the time. However, none of them effectively decreased restenosis compared with BMS and despite initially drawing attention, many of them were never in common use.

7.1 Rotablator and the Orbital Atherectomy Catheter

The Rotablator[®] (high-speed rotational percutaneous atherectomy system) was approved in 1997 in Japan. Initially, it was not expected to show efficacy in restenosis reduction.^{899–902} PCI is still not entirely effective when severe calcification is present and the Rotablator has become a necessary tool for the treatment of heavily calcified segments, which are often found in dialysis patients.⁹⁰³ The CVIT registry reported that the Rotablator was used in 3.2% of PCI performed in 2014 and 2015, and the incidence of major complications and cardiac tamponade in PCI using Rotablator was 1.3% and 0.6%, respectively.⁹⁰⁴

In 2017, the new Orbital Atherectomy System[®] for use in calcified segments was included in the Japanese National Health Insurance price list. The aim of the Orbital Atherectomy System is improving the success rate of PCI by sufficient dilation of heavily calcified segments. The ORBIT II and COAST studies reported that the system is useful for assisting dilatation of calcified lesions,⁹⁰⁵ but evidence supporting its benefit is still insufficient. More data are needed with accumulation of user experience for overall assessment.

7.2 Directional Coronary Atherectomy (DCA)

The only DCA device was discontinued in 2008, and the previous version of our guideline did not include any information about DCA. In 2015, however, a Japanese manufacturer relaunched the device. It was initially unable to show benefit over BMS, but the OARS study⁹⁰⁶ and ABACAS study⁹⁰⁷ in which DCA was performed with IVUS guidance reported that the device lowered the restenosis rate more than BMS. Because DES were developed around the same time as the reports of these studies, however, DCA was not given the opportunity to be tested globally.

DCA is capable of curtailing carina shift and plaque shift

during treatment of bifurcation lesions. The multicenter PERFECT registry of DCA+SES in bifurcation lesions reported an overall TLR rate of 1% and 0 TLR in the subgroup of patients with bifurcation lesions in LMCA.⁹⁰⁸ Synergistic effects of DCA with stent placement were therefore indicated.⁹⁰⁹

No data about DCA have been published since the relaunch. DCA may prove useful as a supportive device for DES or DCB in PCI in bifurcation lesions.

7.3 Excimer Laser Coronary Angioplasty (ELCA)

ELCA was first used in PCI in 1992 and is a relatively old technique. Because various complications, such as perforation and dissection, were frequently reported, ELCA failed to gain acceptance for many years. Subsequent technical advances improved the safety of the technique, but ELCA remained an experimental treatment used by a limited number of institutions until recently because its benefit remained in doubt. When its utility for withdrawal of pacemaker leads was reported, however, ELCA came into the spotlight. In 2012, ELCA was granted an indication for coronary artery intervention in Japan.

The key mechanisms of ELCA are ablation and evaporation of tissue by laser. ELCA is expected to prove efficacious in reducing soft tissue such as the culprit coronary lesion of AMI, thrombus in the SVG, or neointima causing ISR, but available data are limited to a small number of cases.^{910–912}

8. Bioresorbable Scaffold (BRS)

8.1 Overview

Extraneous material inside the vessel treated by PCI came to be identified as a source of thrombus and inflammation. Eliminating foreign material from inside the treated coronary artery is therefore important. The development of the BRS drew attention because its resorbs completely over time inside the body. The BRS was expected to eliminate arteriosclerosis that occurs from long-term foreign-body reaction as well as the need for DAPT. However, the incidence of both early and late thrombosis with the BRS was higher compared with 2nd-generation and later DES, revealing that longer DAPT was actually necessary with the BRS.

Absorb GT1[®] (Abbott Vascular Japan) was granted approval in Japan because the BRS had the most reported clinical experience in the country. Subsequently, however, the EU placed restrictions on the use of the device, and the product was discontinued globally. The BRS is now being developed by small manufacturers in small clinical trials. Despite its history, the BRS may have a long-term benefit compared with metal stents that permanently remain in the patient's body and therefore has the potential to be the ideal device for local treatment of CAD.

The BRS is not currently available in Japan. The procedure for BRS placement and reported evidence of the device are discussed next.

8.2 Data on BRS (Bioresorbable Vascular Scaffold [BVS])

The Absorb GT1 BVS by Abbott Vascular Inc. was tested in early safety studies ABSORB Cohort B and EXTEND and then in a number of RCTs (ABSORB II, ABSORB III, ABSORB Japan, ABSORB China, EVERBIO II, and TROFI II), together with registry analysis. During almost 6 years since the product launch in 2011 in Europe, metaanalyses of the early safety studies and pivotal study were published. The risk of repeat revascularization for restenosis with the BVS was similar to that with metal DES, but more frequent device thrombosis was reported for BVS compared with the EES (control).^{913,914} A meta-analysis of data collected after 2 years from device placement reported that the repeat revascularization rate was higher for the BVS than for the EES even in the absence of such a difference in analysis of individual study data.⁹¹⁵

The EES used as the control in these studies has the best clinical outcomes with the least rate of ST. Because the BVS is only the 1st-generation BRS, more time may be necessary for BRS to be able to achieve results similar to those for the EES.

The specific benefit of the BRS is likely to appear only after 5 years or longer when the device has completely resorbed, and such long-term data are still limited. However, multislice CT scans taken 72 months after BRS placement in the ABSORB Cohort B indicated lumen expansion,⁹¹⁶ suggesting the benefit of BRS may be proven when more long-term data become available.

8.3 Recommended Techniques for Reduction of Device Thrombosis

The BRS has thick struts to sustain its structure and overexpansion must be avoided to avoid structural damage. The BRS is also more prone to radial force than metal stents. Like metal stents, insufficient expansion of a BRS can increase the risk of thrombosis. A BRS must be placed with these characteristics in mind in order to reduce thrombosis. It should be noted, however, that careful placement of the device can reduce early thrombosis.⁹¹⁷ The primary challenge is VLST that develops between 1 and 4 years after placement. Strut fracture over time in patients with strut malapposition,^{918,919} and development of coronary aneurysms are potential causes of late thrombosis associated with BRS.⁹²⁰

Early thrombosis may be caused by technical problems such as edge dissection and insufficient expansion (these are also common with metal stents). Many other factors are suspected, such as large thrombosis volume in patients with dehydration or ACS, and ineffective antiplatelet therapy. Predilatation, Sizing, and Post-dilatation (PSP), known collectively as PSP, are regarded as important for BRS placement. A retrospective analysis indicated fewer events in patients who had BRS placed according to PSP.921 Previous clinical trials have shown that placing a disproportionately large BRS in a small vessel increases the scaffold footprint and protruded strut, and as a result increases the risk of thrombosis, especially in small vessels with a reference diameter <2.25mm. Enough strut embedment in the vascular wall is important for early strut coverage by neointima and for reduction of flow disturbance. Japanese clinical trial data indicate that strut embedment was about $50\,\mu m$ on average, which is shallow compared with the about $80\,\mu m$ common with metal stents. At only about $50\,\mu\text{m}$ into the vascular wall, the strut remains protruding into the lumen.922 In a calcified lesion, this embedment depth is difficult to achieve and in such cases malapposition is more likely to occur with a higher

Table 52. Recommendation and Evidence for Intravascular Ultrasound in PCI Guidance		
	COR	LOE
IVUS is recommended in complex disease such as LMCA disease, CTO, and diffuse lesions		A
IVUS should be considered to optimize stent implantation	lla	В
IVUS should be considered in ostial lesion, bifurcation lesion, or calcified lesion	lla	С
IVUS should be considered for reduction of stent thrombosis and restenosis	lla	С
IVUS is not recommended to determine the indication of PCI based on minimal lumen area or plaque burden	Ш	С

COR, class of recommendation; CTO, chronic total obstruction; IVUS, intravascular ultrasound; LMCA, left main coronary artery; LOE, level of evidence; PCI, percutaneous coronary intervention.

likelihood of thrombus formation.⁹²³ PSP is deemed important for attaining good strut embedment.

Antiplatelet therapy should be adjusted when ineffective. Compared with clopidogrel, which has a long or inconsistent time to onset of action, new ADP receptor antagonists such as prasugrel and ticagrelor may be more effective and suitable, but evidence supporting them is still lacking. There is only one case report of switching from clopidogrel to ticagrelor after the occurrence of scaffold thrombosis.⁹²⁴

If the BRS was covered by neointima 1 year after placement, no subsequent thrombosis was supposed to occur. In reality, however, thrombosis occurring more than 1 year later was reported many times. Many of the patients who had VLST had stopped DAPT entirely, though this is not likely to be the only reason for the occurrence of thrombosis.915,925,926 The number of patients with malapposition immediately after BRS placement stands out on the list of patients who experienced VLST in the B-SEARCH study conducted in Rotterdam.927 Longterm (3-4 years) DAPT is probably necessary, at least in patients with poor strut apposition immediately after placement. Thrombosis has also been reported in patients receiving DAPT (aspirin+prasugrel).919 DAPT may not be able to completely prevent thrombosis associated with strut fracture (scaffold discontinuity revealed by optical coherence tomography [OCT]). Placement of a metal stent to provide support to the scaffold may be necessary in such cases.

Careful selection of lesions and accurate placement are therefore essential for good initial apposition, which is probably the key to achieving long-term survival while preventing VLST. In other words, PSP is also important for reducting the occurrence of VLST.

9. Diagnostic Techniques

9.1 IVUS (Table 52)

IVUS is an imaging technique that uses a catheter inserted into a coronary artery to obtain cross-sectional images of the vessel lumen and arterial wall. Compared with coronary angiography, IVUS allows more accurate assessment of lumen diameter and lumen/vessel area; plaque area, appearance, and distribution; vascular remodeling; coronary artery dissection; ST, and restenosis. IVUS is the most well-established, standard technique among all clinically available intravascular diagnostic imaging techniques.⁹²⁸ As PCI guidance, IVUS is used to characterize the lesions prior to PCI, determine the suitable stent size, and optimize stent placement. Its findings help select the most appropriate treatment strategy for individual patients.

The percentage of IVUS-guided PCI among all PCI performed in Japan is much higher than in Europe or the USA. Clinical trials have reported controvercial results on the utility of routine IVUS in PCI.⁹²⁹⁻⁹³¹ The benefit of IVUS in PCI has been demonstrated in selected lesions. Clinical trials and meta-analyses have indicated that IVUS guidance improves the outcomes (including survival benefit) of PCI performed on complex disease such as LMCA lesions, CTO, and diffuse lesions.⁹³¹⁻⁹³⁷ The benefit of IVUS for PCI in bifurcation lesions, calcified lesions, and ostial lesions is also suggested.^{938,939}

In addition, IVUS may help identify the cause of complications, thrombosis, and restenosis associated with PCI. Minimum stent area and stent edge plaque burden immediately after stent placement are predictors of thrombosis and restenosis.^{940,941} However, lumen area and plaque burden at the segment examined under IVUS should not be used to determine the indication of revascularization.

IVUS has its own weakness. It is sometimes difficult to cross extremely tortuous lesions, heavily calcified lesions, severe stenosis, or occlusion with the catheter. IVUS should be used with prior consideration of its suitability for the patient and whether its cost is justified. Interpreting IVUS images also requires knowledge and experience. IVUS for PCI guidance must be conducted under well-established criteria.

Virtual histology IVUS, integrated backscatter IVUS, and near-infrared spectroscopy IVUS all enable automated characterization of plaque components. Whether PCI will benefit from guidance by these techniques awaits for further evaluation in RCTs.

9.2 OCT (Table 53)

OCT and optical frequency-domain imaging (OFDI) obtain luminal images by using near-infrared light and the latest optical technology.942 An OCT/OFDI system provides a high-resolution image and allows more accurate measurement of lumen diameter or lesion length than angiography or IVUS. It can also differentiate lipid, fibrous tissue, and calcification for characterization of plaque components. Inside arteriosclerotic lesions, OCT/OFDI is capable of identifying plaque rupture/erosion, calcified nodules, thin-cap fibroatheroma, macrophages, cholesterol crystals, vasa vasorum, and thrombi. In PCI, OCT/OFDI offers important information for stent sizing and detects stent underexpansion or malapposition, tissue prolapse, and stent edge dissection more accurately than IVUS. Furthermore, OCT/OFDI has several capabilities that are useful for guiding PCI over IVUS, including automatic measurement, co-registration with angiography (integration of information), construction of 3D images, and automatic detection of stent malapposition.

The benefit of OCT/OFDI guidance on the clinical outcomes of PCI is greater than that of angiography guidance and possibly equal to that of IVUS guidance.^{931,943–948} As with IVUS, routine OCT/OFDI in all PCI is not recom-

Table 53. Recommendation and Evidence for OCT/OFDI in PCI Guidance		
	COR	LOE
OCT should be considered to optimize stent implantation	lla	В
OCT should be considered in bifurcation lesion, calcified culprit lesion, or in-stent restenosis	lla	С
OCT should be considered for reduction of stent thrombosis and restenosis	lla	С
OCT may be considered in selected patients with chronic kidney disease (excluding hemodialysis) patients	llb	С
OCT is not recommended in coronary artery ostial lesion or CTO	Ш	С
OCT is not recommended to determine the indication of PCI based on minimal lumen area or plaque characteristics	III	С

COR, class of recommendation; CTO, chronic total obstruction; LOE, level of evidence; OCT/OFDI, optical coherence tomography/ optical frequency domain imaging; PCI, percutaneous coronary intervention.

mended. OCT/OFDI should be used in PCI in select lesions. For bifurcation lesions, OCT/OFDI may help predict side branch occlusion and optimal wire delivery to side branches. In calcified lesions, OCT/OFDI is regarded as useful for assessment of PCI pretreatment such as balloon dilatation or Rotablator[®] atherectomy. In culprit lesions of ACS, OCT/OFDI assessment of lipid-rich plaque and thrombosis is considered to help predict no-reflow (failure to restore normal myocardial blood flow despite removal of the coronary obstruction) or perioperative myocardial infarction. For ISR, neointimal characterization by OCT/OFDI can purportedly help predict the benefit of DCB.

In addition, OCT/OFDI may help identify the cause of complications, thrombosis, and restenosis associated with PCI. Minimum stent area and lipid-rich plaque at the stent edge immediately after stent placement are indicated as predictors of late repeat revascularization. The degree of neointimal coverage of stent struts, late stent malapposition, and neoarteriosclerosis long after PCI with DES have been suggested to be associated with VLST.

OCT/OFDI also has specific shortcomings. It requires removal of blood from the coronary artery by injection of contrast or low-molecular dextran. Because complete blood removal from the ostia or occluded segment of a coronary artery is difficult, OCT/OFDI is not suitable for imaging of such areas. In patients with spontaneous coronary artery dissection, attention should be paid to the excessive increase in intracoronary pressure associated with injection of contrast agents. OCT/OFDI increases the amount of contrast agent used during catheterization. For patients with CKD (excluding hemodialysis patients), the use of OCT/OFDI should be carefully considered, and if used, appropriate pretreatment to prevent worsening of renal function is necessary. The visible depth of OCT/OFDI is shallow compared with IVUS, making OCT/OFDI only suitable for observation of the plaque surface. OCT/OFDI is therefore unsuitable for quantification of vessel size or plaque area and for assessment of vascular remodeling. Similar to IVUS, the OCT/OFDI catheter may face difficulty crossing highly tortuous or calcified lesions. OCT/

Table 54. Recommendation and Evidence for Angioscopy in PCI Guidance		
	COR	LOE
Angioscopy may be considered for reduction of stent thrombosis and restenosis	llb	С
Angioscopy may be considered for reduction of complications of PCI	llb	С
Angioscopy is not recommended to determine the indication of PCI based on plaque characteristics	111	С
COR, class of recommendation; LOE, level of evidence; PCI,		

COR, class of recommendation; LOE, level of evidence; PCI, percutaneous coronary intervention.

OFDI requires training in imaging procedure and interpretation. Prior consideration of the suitability of the procedure and cost-effectiveness are also advised.

9.3 Angioscopy (Table 54)

The original angioscopy technique was developed by Mizuno et al⁹⁴⁹ in the 1980s, and since then the angioscopy catheter has undergone improvements and been made thinner. The currently used catheter can be delivered to relatively small coronary arteries.⁹⁴⁹ Angioscopy produces full-color, high-resolution, three-dimensional images of the lumen to enable macroscopic pathological diagnosis. In Japan, angioscopy was added to the National Health Insurance listing in 2000 and is available in the daily clinical setting.

Historically, angioscopy has made a significant contribution to elucidation of CAD pathology. Angioscopy has been used in examination of various types of CAD, such as ACS, and has shown its effectiveness in detecting thrombosis and yellow plaque.950 Angioscopy can also detect red thrombi rich in fibrin and red blood cells, white thrombi rich in platelets,⁹⁵¹ and protrusion of yellow tissue from ruptured plaque blocking the lumen together with thrombi in most patients with ACS.951 Angioscopy may detect vellow plaques occasionally in the culprit lesion of patients with stable effort angina. PCI in such lesions can induce distal embolism by thrombi and the lipid-rich plaque content, which increases the risk of the slow-flow/no-reflow phenomenon and perioperative myocardial infarction. Angioscopy prior to PCI may give information about whether a distal protection device should be used.951 Newgeneration DES may show different long-term angioscopic findings compared with the 1st-generation DES. Angioscopy can visualize changes that occur after DES placement.952 The angioscopic procedure and interpretation of images do require adequate training.

10. Bifurcation Lesions (Table 55)

A bifurcation lesion amenable to PCI is the most frequent type of complex CAD. Accurate assessment of the lesion and the procedure suitable for bifurcation lesions are required to attain favorable outcomes of PCI.

10.1 Lesion Assessment

The Medina classification is the most commonly used classification system for bifurcation lesions.⁹⁵³ It groups

Table 55. Recommendation and Evidence for PCI in Bifurcation Lesions		
	COR	LOE
Stent placement only in the main artery of bifurcation lesion	I	A
Use of IVUS or OCT/OFDI in PCI in bifurcation lesion	lla	В
2-stent placement when 1 stent is not likely to maintain patency of side branches (considering the angle of those branches or the perfusion area)	llb	В

COR, class of recommendation; IVUS, intravascular ultrasound; LOE, level of evidence; OCT/OFDI, optical coherence tomography/ optical frequency domain imaging; PCI, percutaneous coronary intervention.



bifurcation lesions into main branch (proximal), main branch (distal), and side branch combined with "1" for the lesion with stenosis and "0" for the lesion without (**Figure 7**).⁹⁵³

In addition to morphology, bifurcation lesions may also be classified by location. For example, a bifurcation lesion in the distal LMCA and another in any other area have different flow demands, vessel diameters, and bifurcation angles, and require careful selection of appropriate technique. The early and mid-/long-term outcomes of PCI also vary between a bifurcation lesion in the distal LMCA and another in any other area.⁹⁵⁴

10.2 Technique

10.2.1 Guidewire for Side Branch

A normal guidewire is not suitable for engaging a side branch oriented in a reverse angle. In such a branch, the guidewire is bent in advance to engage from the distal side (reverse wire technique).⁹⁵⁵ There is also a reverse wire technique that uses a double-lumen catheter to facilitate manipulation of the guidewire.⁹⁵⁶

10.2.2 Pretreatment

Some bifurcation lesions with carina shift or plaque shift may require placement of a stent in the side branch. DCA may be used instead to remove plaque and avoid additional stent placement.⁹⁵⁷

10.2.3 Stent Placement

Single stent placement in the main branch achieved superior outcomes compared with 2-stent placement (one in the main branch and another in the side branch) according to a RCT958 and meta-analyses.959,960 Whenever feasible, a stent should be placed only in the main branch. If the main branch has a large side branch (≥ 2.75 mm in diameter) that exhibits severe stenosis, has a large territory, and has a long $(\geq 5 \text{ mm})$ lesion, however, 2-stent placement may be needed and appropriate. There are several types of 2-stent placement methods. Side branch stent placement is performed at the beginning of the procedure for Crush and T-and-protrusion (TAP) stenting. T-stenting and culotte stenting are done in the middle of procedure. The DKCRUSH study indicated 2-stenting has better long-term outcomes, compared with provisional T-stenting, in LMCA disease,961 but further evaluation (e.g., diagnostic imaging) is needed.

Angiography performed after placing a stent in the main branch sometimes fails to give sufficient information for deciding whether intervention in its side branch is necessary. In such cases, the FFR of the side branch should be useful.^{962,963}

10.2.4 Proximal Optimization Technique (POT)

POT is dilatation of the proximal side to the stent in the main branch with a balloon suitable for the particular segment.⁹⁶⁴ It helps achieve better apposition of the proximal side of the stent strut to the vascular wall and also makes guidewire delivery to the side branch easier. POT decreases the risk of the guidewire going through the outside of the stent strut when inserting the guidewire in a side branch from the proximal side. In LMCA disease, using POT after placement of a stent to the ostia reduces the risk of deformation of the stent's shape by contact with the guiding catheter.

10.2.5 Re-Engagement With Guidewire in a Side Branch

Where the guidewire is re-engaged in a side branch may affect the degree of subsequent stent expansion. Generally, maximally passing the guidewire distal to the stent strut reduces the likelihood of the strut remaining in the bifurcation, which helps achieve good stent expansion. IVUS and OCT (OFDI) are useful for checking that the wire in the side branch is in the distal side. A three-dimensional OCT image gives an accurate location of the wire,⁹⁶⁵ and a double-lumen catheter ensures safe re-engagement of the side branch.

10.2.6 Avoiding Side Branch Occlusion

Placing a stent in the bifurcation can occlude the side branch. Inserting a balloon into the side branch in advance (jailed balloon)^{966,967} or inserting a microcatheter into the side branch (CorsairTM)⁹⁶⁸ are known techniques for reducing the risk of side branch occlusion.

10.2.7 DCB

Because the long-term outcomes of 2-stenting are not always favorable, the DCB is sometimes applied to a side branch

with the hope of decreasing restenosis.⁹⁶⁹ However, the longterm effects of DCB use in a side branch remain unclear.

10.2.8 Significance of IVUS

Intravascular imaging provides important information (vessel diameter, plaque distribution, severity of calcification, etc.) for ideal PCI in bifurcation lesions. IVUS is crucial before DCA in a bifurcation LMCA lesion. An optimal stent area has been suggested for LMCA disease. For an LCX lesion, LAD lesion, bifurcation lesion, and LMCA lesion, attaining a stent area of 5 mm², 6 mm², 7 mm², and 8 mm², respectively, is considered to minimize the late restenosis risk.⁹⁷⁰

10.3 Outcomes

The long-term outcomes of PCI in bifurcation lesions have improved after the advent of 2nd-generation DES compared with the 1st-generation DES era. Observational studies reported a greater survival benefit of 1st-generation DES with single-stenting than with 2-stenting. With the 2nd-generation DES, however, 2-stenting achieves greater survival benefit than single-stenting.^{971,972} The thinner stent struts and improved design of 2nd-generation DES might be contributing to the observed difference in survival benefit.

11. Ostial Lesions

PCI in ostial CAD requires special considerations in assessment of stenosis, techniques to be applied, and long-term outcomes.

11.1 Lesion Assessment

IVUS should prove useful for assessment of an ostial lesion when angiography alone is insufficient for thorough assessment.⁹⁷³ For PCI in an ostial RCA lesion, catheter insertion might cause coronary spasm. Adequate vasodilator must be administered before assessment of stenosis. For a moderate (about 75%) ostial stenosis, assessment of myocardial ischemia using FFR or iFR is also useful.

11.2 Technique

Positioning of a stent constitutes the critical part of PCI in ostial RCA lesions. Selecting a suitable angiographic angle for the ostia or marking the intended stent location on the IVUS image will make stent placement easier. Also, IVUS should be used to characterize the lesion and to select the optimal sized stent.⁹⁷³

11.3 Outcome

The restenosis rate of ostial RCA lesions is higher than that of other ostial lesions. Stent fracture or recoiling caused by mechanical stress is a potential cause of restenosis of ostial RCA lesions.^{430,974} Intervention in ISR of the RCA is frequently followed by recurrent restenosis,⁹⁷⁵ which makes the initial PCI more important for reducing restenosis. Ostial LMCA lesions have a lower restenosis rate compared with other ostial lesions.

The restenosis rate of ostial lesions with 2nd-generation DES is lower than with 1st-generation DES.^{976,977}

Table 56. Recommendation and Evidence for PCI in CTO		
	COR	LOE
Assessment of the difficulty of PCI in CTO lesion using J-CTO score	lla	В
PCI in CTO in viable myocardium when angina persists despite medical therapy	llb	В
PCI in CTO of an artery supplying a small territory	Ш	С

COR, class of recommendation; CTO, chronic total occlusion; J-CTO, Multicenter CTO Registry of Japan; LOE, level of evidence; PCI, percutaneous coronary intervention.

12. CTO (Table 56)

CTO is defined as "TIMI 0 flow with an occlusion duration \geq 3 months or unknown",^{978,979} and is seen in about 20% of CAD patients who undergo angiography.^{980,981}

12.1 Lesion Assessment

PCI is considered when the patient has viable and ischemic myocardial segments supplied by a CTO and has persistent angina symptoms associated with the CTO despite medical therapy. PCI in a CTO lesion requires accurate assessment of the lesion and good PCI skills for successful outcome.⁹⁸² The difficulty of PCI in a CTO lesion can be estimated using the J-CTO score (sum of scores in 5 predictors) (**Table 57**).⁹⁸³

12.2 Technique

The wiring techniques include the following: (1) Antegrade wire escalation, (2) parallel wire technique, (3) IVUS guidance, (4) direct retrograde wire crossing, (5) kissing wire technique with bidirectional approach, (6) controlled antegrade and retrograde tracking (CART), and (7) reversed CART.

The choice of technique to be used will be based on the length of the CTO lesion, location and morphology of the proximal end of the CTO, characteristics of arteries in the distal side of the CTO (diameter, stenosis, calcification, side branch at the distal end of CTO), and whether the artery with the CTO has collateral circulation that allows a retrograde approach. When the chosen technique is deemed unsuitable during PCI, switching to another novel technique increases the chance of success and reduces complications.⁹⁸⁴ The success rate of PCI in CTO lesions is still low when severe calcification is present.⁹⁸⁴

12.3 Outcomes

12.3.1 Short-Term

The reported rates of in-hospital mortality range from 0.2% to 0.9% and the incidence of MACCE, including serious coronary artery perforation, is 2-7.0%.^{863,985,986} Patients with successful PCI in CTO lesions have significantly lower rates of in-hospital death and MACCE compared with those with unsuccessful PCI (0.5% vs. 1.4%/987 and 2.4–5.7% vs. 7.7–10.2%, respectively985-987).

Retrograde approach, advanced age, and disease complexity (based on J-CTO score) have been noted as predictors of complications.^{986,988} The retrograde approach is correlated with significantly more frequent symptomatic ischemia and asymptomatic myocardial injury compared

Table 57. J-CTO Scoring System (for Chronic Total Occlusion)				
Variables and definitions				
Tapered Blunt	Entry with any tapered tip or dimple indicating the direction of true lumen is categorized as "tapered"	Entry shape Tapered Blunt	(0) (1)	
1			Point	
Calcification	Regardless of severity, 1 point is assigned if any evident calcification is detected within the CTO segment	Calcification Absence Presence 	(0) (1)	
Within the CTO segment			Point	
Bending >45° >45° Estimated CTO route	1 point is assigned if bending >45° is detected within the CTO segment. Any tortuosity separate from the CTO segment is excluded from this assessment	Bending >45° Absence Presence	(0) (1)	
			Point	
Occlusion length	Using good collateral images, try to measure the "true" distance of the occlusion, which tends to be shorter than the first impression	Occlusion length □ <20 mm □ ≥20 mm	(0) (1)	
i rue occlusion length			Point	
Re-try lesion Is this a re-try (2nd attempt) lesion (previously attempted but failed)?		Re-try lesion No Yes 	(0) (1)	
			Point	
Category of difficulty (total points) □ Easy (0) □ Intermediate (1) □ Difficult (2) □ Very difficult (≥3)		Total	Point	

CTO, chronic total occlusion; J-CTO, Multicenter CTO Registry of Japan. (From Morino Y, et al. 2011.⁹⁸³ Copyright (2011) by the American College of Cardiology, with permission from Elsevier. https://www.sciencedirect.com/journal/jacc-cardiovascular-interventions.)

with the antegrade approach (13.8% vs. 6.7%). In patients who experienced symptomatic ischemia and asymptomatic myocardial injury, the incidence of MACE was significantly higher over a follow -up period of 2.3 years.⁹⁸⁹

PCI in CTO lesions requires a higher dose of contrast agent, higher radiation exposure (air kerma), and longer procedure with longer fluoroscopy time compared withPCI in any other type of lesion. The median dose of contrast, radiation exposure, length of procedure, and fluoroscopy time are respectively 270 mL, 2.9 Gy, 123 min, and 47 min⁹⁸⁶ for all PCI in CTO lesions. The amount of contrast, radiation exposure time, length of procedure, and fluoroscopy time are all significantly higher/longer in unsuccessful procedures than in successful procedures.⁹⁸⁵

12.3.2 Long-Term

The presence of a CTO lesion is a risk factor for incomplete

revascularization in PCI. Incomplete revascularization has been frequently reported to affect survival.¹⁹⁹ A successful PCI in a CTO lesion can decrease all-cause death and MACE,^{990–992} improve LVEF, and decrease left ventricular endsystolic volume.^{993,994} Compared with OMT, PCI alleviated angina symptoms, reduced exercise intolerance, and improved QOL for up to 3 years but showed little benefit in mortality, myocardial infarction, stroke, or repeat revascularization, revealing no prognostic benefit.⁹⁹⁵

Although technical improvements have raised the success rate of PCI in CTO lesions, the outcomes of the procedure still depend much on the operator's experience and skill. Because of the shortage of studies comparing PCI in CTO lesions with other treatments, the relative applicability and effectiveness of PCI vs. other treatment options have not been fully investigated.

VIII. CIN

1. Diagnosis

A diagnosis of CIN is made when "SCr is increased $\geq 0.5 \text{ mg/dL}$ or $\geq 25\%$ from baseline within 72 h after iodinated contrast administration".⁹⁹⁶ Alternatively, the KDIGO Clinical Practice Guideline for Acute Kidney Injury may be used^{997,998} for diagnosis. The following precautions apply: (1) assessment of renal function using the last available SCr prior to contract administration and (2) use of the eGFR in the baseline renal assessment but changing to SCr for diagnosis of CIN.

2. Risk Evaluation

Some risk factors for CIN after CABG/PCI have been reported, but are not fully validated.⁹⁹⁹ The risk factors should therefore only be used as reference. **Table 58** presents the risk factors for CIN listed in the "Guidelines for iodinated contrast administration in patients with kidney disease 2018" published by the Japanese Society of Nephrology and others.¹⁰⁰⁰

The osmotic pressure of contrast agent has been debated as a potential cause of CIN. However, no difference in the incidence of CIN has been reported between isotonic and hypotonic contrast media. In addition, the reported incidence of CIN is similar among hypotonic contrast media. Nevertheless, a higher incidence of CIN has been indicated for intraarterial administration than intravenous administration.

While PCI is not shown to worsen the prognosis of CKD, contrast media should nevertheless be kept to a necessary minimum. Also, repeating PCI within a short period of time should be avoided.

3. Prophylaxis

Patients with CIN reportedly have a higher incidence of

cardiovascular events, which makes preventing CIN a priority. However, hydration is the only recommended prophylactic treatment supported by evidence.^{1001,1002}

In patients undergoing elective PCI, normal saline should be administered at 1 mL/kg/h from 6 h before contrast administration. After the end of contrast-enhanced imaging, saline should be administered at 1 mL/kg/h for 6–12 h. When the time available for hydration is limited, the use of sodium bicarbonate solution is also recommended. In patients undergoing emergency PCI, infusion of sodium bicarbonate should be given at 3 mL/kg/h from 1 h before contrast administration and at 1 mL/kg/h for 6 h after contrast-enhanced imaging. Hydration by drinking alone is not sufficient. Appropriate hydration therapy should be administered.

A number of drugs, such as N-acetylcysteine, h-ANP, ascorbic acid, and statins, have been tested for prophylaxis of CIN, but none has shown favorable results.

Hemodialysis is also occasionally administered, but it has no demonstrated prophylactic effect and should be avoided.^{1003,1004}

4. Treatment

For the treatment of CIN, loop diuretics, low-dose dopamine, and hANP have no evidence of efficacy. Also, hydration therapy should be avoided when the patient shows no reduction in effective circulating plasma volume. Continuous hemofiltration is recommended for patients with poor performance status (e.g., with oliguria), but not for improvement of renal dysfunction.

Refer to the "Guidelines for iodinated contrast administration in patients with kidney disease 2018" edited by the Japanese Society of Nephrology, Japan Radiological Society, and Japanese Circulation Society¹⁰⁰⁰ for more information about the treatment of CIN.

Table 58. Risk Factors for CIN			
Factor	Description/guidance		
СКD	Risk factor for CIN onset		
Advanced age	Risk factor for CIN onset		
Diabetes mellitus	Risk factor for CIN when the patient has CKD; otherwise may or may not be a risk factor		
Use of RAS inhibitor	No clear evidence whether it increases the risk of CIN onset		
Continued use of diuretics	No evidence whether it increases the risk of CIN onset		
Prophylactic diuretics	Not recommended		
NSAIDs	Not recommended		
Antidiabetic biguanides	Appropriate action (e.g., interruption) should be taken		
Patients on peritoneal dialysis	May adversely affect residual renal function		
Having only 1 kidney	No clear evidence whether it increases the risk of CIN onset		

CIN, contrast induced nephropathy; CKD, chronic kidney disease; NSAID, nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drug; RAS, renin–angiotensin system. (From Japanese Society of Nephrology, et al. 2018.¹⁰⁰⁰)

IX. Perioperative Medical Therapy

1. PCI

The chapter on antithrombotic therapy was revised in 2020. For details, please refer to the "JCS 2020 Guidelines focused update on antithrombotic therapy in patients with coronary artery disease", edited by the JCS.

1.1 Concomitant Medical Therapy (Table 59)

Anticoagulation therapy is required to prevent thrombotic complications during PCI. In Japan, however, unfractionated heparin is the only anticoagulant used, whereas in Europe/USA, other anticoagulants such as the direct antithrombin bivalirudin and low-molecular heparin enoxaparin are available. Intravenous glycoprotein IIb/IIIa inhibitors are also not approved for use in Japan.

1.1.1 Unfractionated Heparin

The activated clotting time (ACT) is used to measure the effects of heparin. Unfractionated heparin should be administered as appropriate^{1005,1006} to keep ACT between 250 and 400 s. Increased hemorrhagic complications are reported when the ACT >400 s during PCI.¹⁰⁰⁷ An initial bolus injection of 70–100 IU/kg should be administered after arterial sheath insertion. An additional 2,000–5,000 IU should be administered when the ACT does not achieve the target range.

Heparin-induced thrombocytopenia (HIT) is a known adverse reaction, other than bleeding, to heparin treatment. HIT is suspected if thromboembolism occurs during heparin administration or thromboembolism of unknown origin develops following heparin treatment.

1.1.2 Argatroban

Argatroban has been reported as effective for the treatment of HIT^{1008,1009} and its use as treatment is covered by the National Health Insurance in Japan. When HIT occurs or is suspected, administer $100 \mu g/kg$ of argatroban as a bolus over 3–5min, followed by infusion at $6 \mu g/kg/min$. Measure the ACT after about 10min and adjust the infusion rate to control the ACT between 250 and 400s. When continued anticoagulation therapy is desired after PCI, decrease the argatroban infusion rate to $0.7 \mu g/kg/min$ to adjust the activated partial thromboplastin time to between 1.5- and 3-fold the reference value. Argatroban is metabolized by the liver, so a lower dose should be considered in patients with hepatic impairment.

Table 59. Recommendation and Evidence for Medical Therapy During PCI		
	COR	LOE
Administer unfractionated heparin during PCI to control ACT between 250 and 400 s		В
Administer argatroban for the treatment of HIT	I	В

ACT, activated clotting time; COR, class of recommendation; HIT, heparin-induced thrombocytopenia; LOE, level of evidence; PCI, percutaneous coronary intervention.

1.2 DAPT (Table 60)

DAPT has been standard treatment after stent placement since the establishment of the efficacy of aspirin+thienopyridine antiplatelet for ST prophylaxis in a group of clinical trials including the STARS study.¹⁰¹⁰

1.2.1 DAPT Drugs and Duration

Initially, the duration of DAPT used to be lengthy after PCI with 1st-generation DES, because of concerns about delayed re-endothelialization at the stented site. A j-Cypher registry study in Japan indicated that, although ceasing thienopyridine within 6 months increased the risk of ST, ceasing it more than 6 months after PCI did not increase the cardiac event risk over 2 years.¹⁰¹¹ Even when thienopyridine was continued for >1 year, VLST and cardiovascular events were not decreased in frequency over 5 years.¹⁰¹² The ISAR-SAFE study,¹⁰¹³ ITALIC study,¹⁰¹⁴ and SECURITY study,¹⁰¹⁵ which compared 6-, 12-, and 24-month DAPT, respectively, as well as the Japanese NIPPON study¹⁰¹⁶ failed to demonstrate the efficacy of long-term DAPT. The typical length of DAPT became shorter after 2nd-generation and later DES were shown to decrease ST compared with 1st-generation DES.1017

The ACC/AHA guidelines in 2012 and the ESC/EACTS guidelines in 2018 recommend aspirin+ ≥ 6 months of clopidogrel to prevent ST in patients with stable CAD and a low risk of bleeding, and aspirin+1–3 months of clopidogrel in patients with stable CAD and a high risk of bleeding.^{1018,1019} The NIPPON and STOPDAPT studies conducted in Japan also reported that shorter DAPT does not increase ST or cardiovascular events.¹⁰²⁰ No inhibitory effect of ≥ 1 -year DAPT on cardiac events was found in subgroup analysis of patients with DM, myocardial infarction, or highly complex CAD.^{1021,1022} A Japanese observational study reported that prolonged DAPT increased moderate or severe bleeding requiring transfusion.¹⁰²³ For patients at high bleeding risk, stopping DAPT early should

Table 60. Recommendation and Evidence for DAPT in PCI		
	COR	LOE
Aspirin 162–200 mg before PCI and subsequently 81–100 mg/day in patients not treated with aspirin	I	A
Aspirin + ADP receptor (P2Y ₁₂) inhibitor for ≥ 6 months after stent placement	I	А
Loading dose of either prasugrel 20 mg or clopidogrel 300 mg before stent placement in patients not treated with P2Y12 inhibitor	lla	С
Discontinue DAPT within ≤3 months in patients at increased bleeding risk	lla	В
Continue DAPT for up to 30 months in patients with high ischemic risk and no bleeding events in the first 6 months of DAPT	llb	В
Thienopyridine antiplatelet monotherapy in patients with aspirin contraindication	Ilb	В
Ticagrelor+aspirin when neither clopidogrel nor prasugrel is appropriate	IIb	В

ADP, adenosine diphosphate; COR, class of recommendation; DAPT, dual antiplatelet treatment; LOE, level of evidence; PCI, percutaneous coronary intervention.



Table 61. PRECISE-DAPT and DAPT Scores				
	PRECISE-DAPT score	DAPT score		
Timing	After stent placement	After 12 months of DAPT		
Length of DAPT	Short (3–6 months) vs. Standard/Prolonged (12–24 months)	Standard (12 months) vs. Prolonged (30 months)		
Score factors	Hemoglobin, WBC count, age, creatinine clearance, history of bleeding	Age, smoking, diabetes mellitus, PCI on myocardial infarction, History of PCI or myocardial infarction, paclitaxel-eluting stent, <3mm stent diameter, heart failure or LVEF <30%, stented venous graft		
Score range	0 to 100	-2 to 10		
Recommended cutoff value	≥25 → Short DAPT <25 → Standard/Prolonged DAPT	≥2 → Prolonged DAPT <2 → Standard DAPT		
Web calculator	www.precisedaptscore.com	www.daptstudy.org		

DAPT, dual antiplatelet treatment; LVEF, left ventricular ejection fraction; PCI, percutaneous coronary intervention; WBC, white blood cell. (From Costa F, et al. 2017¹⁰²⁴ and Yeh RW, et al. 2015.¹⁰²⁵)

be considered, even within 3 months, to avoid bleeding events. The optimal duration of antiplatelet therapy may vary by race and generation of DES.

Nevertheless, we adopt similar recommendations on the duration of DAPT based on bleeding risk in stable CAD to those presented in European and American guidelines (**Figure 8**). The DAPT drug and duration recommendations were further updated in the "JCS 2020 Guideline focused update on antithrombotic therapy in patients with coronary artery disease" (see guidelines for details).

1.2.2 Measures of Bleeding Risk

Outside Japan, useful tools have been developed for calculation of the optimal duration of DAPT (**Table 61**).^{1024,1025} For example, the RECISE-DAPT score is the measure of bleeding risk during DAPT after PCI based on the patient's age, history of bleeding, whote bllod cell count, hemoglobin, and Cr clearance.¹⁰²⁴ The DAPT score is a measure of long-term bleeding risk. A higher score is assigned to patients who smoke, have DM, have a history of myocardial infarction and/or PCI, have a paclitaxel-eluting stent, have a stent smaller than 3 mm in diameter, have HF or LV ejection fraction <30%, or have a stented venous graft. Higher age decreases the DAPT score. In patients with a high DAPT score, long-term DAPT can decrease mortality and cardiovascular events such as myocardial infarction and stroke without increasing the bleeding risk.^{1024,1025} Caution should be exercised when applying these scores to Japanese patients.

Recently, Japanese researchers developed a measure of bleeding risk and ischemic event risk based on an analysis of the CREDO-Kyoto registry.¹⁰²⁶ The percentage of

Table 62. Recommendation and Evidence for Antithrombotic Therapy in PCI in Patients on Anticoagulants		
	COR	LOE
Triple antithrombotic therapy after stent placement		С
Triple antithrombotic therapy (for 3–6 months) after stent placement in patients with high ischemic risk	lla	В
Triple antithrombotic therapy (for <1 month) after stent placement in patients with high bleeding risk	lla	В
DOAC over warfarin as anticoagulant	lla	В
Switch to a single anticoagulant from 1 year after stent placement	lla	В
When warfarin is used, set a low target PT/INR range and control TTR at \geq 65%	llb	С

COR, class of recommendation; DOAC, direct oral anticoagulant; INR, international normalized ratio; LOE, level of evidence; PCI, percutaneous coronary intervention; PT, prothrombin time; TTR, time in therapeutic range.

patients with a bleeding risk accurately assessed by these measures was not more than 0.7.¹⁰²⁴⁻¹⁰²⁶ The basic strategy is to individualize the DAPT duration based on the balance between bleeding and ischemic risks, but many bleeding risk factors are also risk factors for ischemic events. Therefore, the treating doctor should consider the various risks globally and adopt these indicators.

In the "JCS 2020 Guideline focused update on antithrombotic therapy in patients with coronary artery disease", the concept of high bleeding risk was adopted (see the 2020 guidelines for details).

1.3 Patients on Anticoagulant Therapy (Table 62)

Patients with persistent or paroxysmal AF need anticoagulation therapy.¹⁰²⁷ With the prolongation of life expectancy, PCI in patients with AF is becoming more common and is estimated to account for about 10% of all PCI.^{1028,1029} Immediately after stent placement, such patients need triple antithrombotic therapy comprising DAPT (aspirin + thienopyridine antiplatelet) and anticoagulant (warfarin or direct oral anticoagulant [DOAC]) to balance between bleeding and thromboembolism.

1.3.1 Overseas Evidence and Recommendations

The WOEST study compared safety and efficacy between dual agent therapy (warfarin + single antiplatelet) and triple agent therapy (warfarin+DAPT) in PCI patients requiring oral anticoagulation therapy. The dual agent group was reported with less frequent bleeding events and had a lower incidence of composite cardiovascular events compared with the triple agent group.¹⁰³⁰ The PIONEER AF-PCI study compared dual therapy (rivaroxaban 15 mg + clopidogrel) with the more conventional triple therapy (warfarin +DAPT) and reported a significantly lower incidence of bleeding events in the dual agent group, although little difference was seen in the efficacy endpoints.¹⁰³¹ Similar findings were reported by the RE-DUAL PCI study of dabigatran.¹⁰³²

Single DOAC+clopidogrel can significantly decrease bleeding events, without increasing thrombotic events or repeat revascularization, compared with the more conven-

Table 63.	Predictors of	of Stent Th	rombosis
-----------	---------------	-------------	----------

History of stent thrombosis while on adequate antiplatelet therapy First-generation DES

Non-ST-segment elevation or ST-segment elevation myocardial infarction

Complex PCI (placement of \geq 3 stents, treatment of \geq 3 lesions, 2 stents in bifurcation lesion, \geq 60mm total stented length, or chronic total occlusion)

Diffuse lesion in diabetic patients

Chronic kidney disease

DES, drug eluting stent; PCI, percutaneous coronary intervention. (From Roffi M, et al. 2016^{1035} and Giustino G, et al. $2016^{.1036}$)

Table 64 Management of Bleeding Risk in PCI Patients on
Anticoagulation Therapy
Assess ischemic/bleeding risk
Keep triple therapy as short as possible; dual therapy after PCI to be considered
For patients treated with warfarin, consider a target PT/INR in the lower part of the recommended range and control TTR at \geq 65%
Concomitantly administer proton-pump inhibitor whenever possible
Perform PCI via radial artery access if feasible
INR, international normalized ratio; PCI, percutaneous coronary

INR, international normalized ratio; PCI, percutaneous coronary intervention; PT, prothrombin time; TTR, time in therapeutic range. (From Valgimigli M, et al. 2018.¹⁰¹⁹)

tional warfarin + DAPT. The ESC/EACTS guidelines in 2018 recommended triple therapy for 6 months in patients at high ischemic risk, for 1 month in patients with low bleeding risk, and dual therapy instead (single DOAC + clopidogrel) in patients with high bleeding risk.¹⁰¹⁹ A recent expert report by the AHA recommended triple therapy (single DOAC+DAPT) for no more than 1 month after PCI.¹⁰³³ The European Heart Rhythm Association (EHRA) recommends triple therapy during hospital stay for elective PCI with new-generation DES followed by dual therapy (DOAC+clopidogrel) after discharge. For patients who undergo PCI for ACS, the EHRA recommends triple therapy for \leq 3 months followed by DOAC+clopidogrel.¹⁰³⁴

1.3.2 Recommendations and Precautions in Japanese Patients

Triple therapy administered for a reasonable period of time in non-Japanese patients is likely to be also effective in Japanese patients. Considering device improvements over the years and the increasing prevalence of AF among older patients who undergo PCI, however, in this guideline we recommend limiting triple therapy to no more than 1 month and generally to the duration of hospital stay after PCI (Figure 8). In patients at increased thrombotic risk, triple therapy should be extended to 3–6 months. In patients at risk of bleeding, dual therapy should be given for no more than 6 months.

The ESC/EACTS guidelines present cases of complex PCI where early interruption of triple therapy is difficult due to the risk of ST. These cases give predictors of ST that should prove useful for deciding the duration of triple therapy in Japanese patients (**Table 63**).^{1035,1036} PCI requires caution to avoid hemorrhagic complications and a PCI



CABG, coronary artery bypass grafting; COR, class of recommendation; LOE, level of evidence; OPCAB, off-pump coronary artery bypass grafting.

strategy that does not require prolonged DAPT should be adopted (Table 64).¹⁰¹⁹

The AFIRE study was conducted in Japanese patients with nonvalvular AF and stable CAD. Our expert opinion is single anticoagulant therapy from at least 12 months after stent placement in stable CAD patients with nonvalvular AF (**Figure 8**).

The approved dose of prasugrel in Japan is approximately one-third that used overseas. At present, there is insufficient evidence for the combination of prasugrel and anticoagulant therapy in Japanese patients. We need more evidence to recommend this combination therapy.

2. CABG

2.1 Anticoagulants (Table 65)

Anticoagulants are not recommended for oral treatment after CABG unless the patient has indications for anticoagulation therapy (e.g., AF). A RCT investigated the effects of routine warfarin use in CABG patients and revealed a significant increase in postoperative bleeding risk. On the effect of warfarin on venous graft patency, however, the reported evidence is contradictory.^{1037–1039} A meta-analysis of data from these studies with mixed results indicated that warfarin monotherapy can significantly increase graft patency rate and that the extent of this benefit is similar to that of aspirin.¹⁰⁴⁰ However, because aspirin has lower bleeding risk, it has been the first-line drug for maintenance of graft patency after CABG.

The effects of adding warfarin to aspirin were investigated in a RCT (Post CABG study). The study assigned 1,351 patients to aspirin + warfarin or aspirin + placebo and reported no significant difference in graft patency rate,¹⁰⁴¹ concluding that combining aspirin with warfarin is not recommended. However, the Post CABG study only used low-dose warfarin (mean prothrombin time-international normalized ratio [PT-INR] of 1.4). The efficacy of warfarin for a target PT-INR range of 1.6–2.6 or \geq 2.0 is unclear. A study comparing aspirin + warfarin with aspirin alone after myocardial infarction reported a significantly lower incidence of cerebral infarction and myocardial infarction in patients treated with aspirin and warfarin (PT-INR \geq 2.0). The effects of the aspirin + warfarin combination therefore need further analysis.¹⁰⁴²

Table 66. Recommendation and Evidence for Antiplatelet Therapy in CABG		
	COR	LOE
Start oral aspirin (81–162 mg/day) within 48 h after CABG/OPCAB	I	А
DAPT after CABG/OPCAB in patients with acute coronary syndrome	I	А
DAPT after OPCAB to keep venous graft patency in patients with exertional angina	lla	В
Continuation or initiation of preoperative oral aspirin in patients with elective CABG/OPCAB	lla	С
Add an antiplatelet to aspirin before CABG to improve the surgical outcome (including postoperative patency)	Ш	В

CABG, coronary artery bypass grafting; COR, class of recommendation; DAPT, dual antiplatelet treatment; LOE, level of evidence; OPCAB, off-pump coronary artery bypass.

The effects of DOAC administered after CABG have been investigated in a few RCTs and also remain unclear.

When AF occurs after CABG, anticoagulation therapy is recommended for prevention of cerebral infarction.¹⁰⁴³ At exactly what time point heparin and or OAC should be started after the occurrence of AF is not established. Timing for treatment initiation is decided by weighing the patient's risk for bleeding against the risk of embolism, but 12–48 h after onset is most common.

2.2 Antiplatelet Drugs (Table 66)

Multiple benefits of aspirin administered after CABG have been frequently reported.^{1044–1047} Lifelong aspirin therapy is recommended because it has been shown to increase venous graft patency, improve post-CABG survival, and decrease postoperative events. In a RCT in 407 patients, oral aspirin+dipyridamole improved the 1-year patency rate of venous grafts compared with patients without such treatment (89% vs. 77%).¹⁰⁴⁷ On the other hand, for patients with an ITA graft, aspirin does not help increase graft patency because of the high patency rate of ITA grafts even without aspirin.¹⁰⁴⁸ However, aspirin is today's standard therapy for secondary prophylaxis (together with its benefit on native coronary artery lesions) after CABG, because an increased survival rate to 68% and a decreased incidence of myocardial infarction by 48% were reported in patients treated with aspirin in another study.¹⁰⁴⁹

Varying reports have also been published about the timing of oral aspirin initiation. A report indicated aspirin started before CABG decreased perioperative complications and mortality, and concluded that aspirin should be initiated before CABG/OPCAB.¹⁰⁵⁰ Aspirin started at least 3 days after CABG was found to show no benefit on graft patency.1037,1038,1051 Aspirin's benefit on graft patency was reported when the drug was started within 6 or 7h after CABG.1047,1052 In another report, aspirin started within 48h after CABG significantly decreased early postoperative mortality, myocardial infarction, stroke, and renal failure without affecting postoperative bleeding. The commonly recommended timing for initiation of oral aspirin therapy is within 48 h after CABG.1049 With regard to aspirin dose, Fremes et al performed a meta-analysis and noted 100-325 mg/day compared with 975 mg/day maintained the benefit on graft patency without increased bleeding.¹⁰⁴⁰ The

commonly recommended aspirin dose is 81–325 mg/day in Europe and the USA.¹⁰⁵³ Aspirin 81–162 mg/day is recommended for prophylaxis of recurrent myocardial infarction in Japanese patients with chronic angina. Our recommended dose is also 81–162 mg/day, considering the average Japanese build and susceptibility to bleeding.

Combining aspirin with another antiplatelet drug in DAPT, when administered before CABG/OPCAB, significantly increases postoperative bleeding while failing to decrease postoperative MACE.529-531 DAPT after CABG/ OPCAB is indicated in patients with ACS. Benefits of DAPT were demonstrated in RCTs that compared aspirin alone with aspirin+clopidogrel after revascularization in ACS patients (CURE study, CREDO study).1054,1055 In the CURE study where CABG was performed in some patients, the DAPT group was reported with significantly less frequent cardiovascular mortality, myocardial infarction, and stroke. DAPT is therefore recommended after CABG/OPCAB in ACS patients. The efficacy of DAPT for stable angina after CABG/OPCAB has also been assessed in some RCTs.1056-1058 A meta-analysis of data from those studies showed that DAPT significantly improved venous graft patency compared with aspirin alone and also that DAPT after OPCAB was more efficacious than after CABG.^{1059,1060} In addition, DAPT may possibly inhibit progression of native CAD.1061,1062

2.3 Lipid Control Agents (Table 67)

Patients with high levels of LDL cholesterol (LDL-C) are at increased risk of atherosclerotic disease and intimal hyperplasia in venous graft after CABG/OPCAB.^{1063,1064} Statins are HMG-CoA reductase inhibitors and an essential treatment after CABG, because they can inhibit venous graft occlusion and intimal hyperplasia,726,1041,1065-1067 decrease cardiovascular events, improve survival rate, and act against progression of native CAD.¹⁰⁶⁸⁻¹⁰⁷¹ Resumption of statin therapy early after surgery is effective and recommended.^{1072–1074} For patients who are unable to take statins orally, fibrates are a viable alternative. Fibrates act on HDL cholesterol and triglycerides, but little evidence shows therapeutic benefits after CABG. Nevertheless, a study reported fibrates administered without statins decreased new lesions in venous grafts.¹⁰⁷⁵ Statins share the same benefit, which exceeds that of fibrates, hence are the first-line treatment. The statin+fibrate combination increases complications (rhabdomyolysis, myopathy, etc.) and is not recommended. The effects of the combination therapy administered after CABG are unknown.1076,1077 Statins also have diverse benefits not mediated by control of LDL-C. These include enhancement of vascular endo-

Table 67. Recommendation and Evidence for Statins After CABG/OPCAB		
	COR	LOE
Statin (excluding in patients who have contraindications to statins)		А
Use of intestinal cholesterol absorption inhibitor together with statin when statin alone is unable to control LDL cholesterol	lla	В

CABG, coronary artery bypass grafting; COR, class of recommendation; LDL, low-density lipoprotein; LOE, level of evidence; OPCAB, off-pump coronary artery bypass. thelial function, inhibition of vascular smooth muscle cell proliferation, plaque stabilization, and inhibition of inflammatory response and platelet aggregation.¹⁰⁷⁸⁻¹⁰⁸² In the USA, high-dose statin therapy (either atorvastatin 40–80 mg/day) or rosuvastatin 20–40 mg/day) is recommended after CABG/OPCAB in patients ≤75 years. Although medium-dose statin therapy is recommended for patients >75 years elsewhere, both the indicated medium-dose and high-dose levels in Europe/USA are excessive, and lower doses are used in Japanese patients.

Lower LDL-C levels are associated with more potent inhibition of native CAD. For secondary prophylaxis in high-risk patients (e.g., after CABG), ≤70 mg/dL is desirable.1083-1085 Relatively few RCTs have focused on the effects of LDL-C levels on graft patency rate after CABG. The Post CABG study randomized patients to lovastatin 40-80 mg/day or 2.5-5 mg/day to investigate the effects of high-dose statin therapy and reported a significantly lower LDL-C in the high-dose group (93–97 mg/dL vs. 132– 136mg/dL, P<0.001), a significantly lower percentage of venous graft occlusion on angiography 4 years later (10%) vs. 21%, P<0.001), and a smaller number of diseased grafts (27% vs. 39%, P<0.001).¹⁰⁴¹ Cardiovascular events were also less frequent in the high-dose group, supporting <100 mg/dL as the LDL-C threshold and high-dose statin therapy. Hata et al reported less yellow plaque inside venous grafts in patients with <80 mg/dL LDL-C and suggested a lower LDL-C threshold is desirable.¹⁰⁸⁶ Based on recent discoveries that lowering LDL-C levels significantly decreases cardiac events (together with the benefit of a low LDL-C against native CAD), today's recommended LDL-C target is $\leq 70 \text{ mg/dL}$.^{1083–1085}

Combining the intestinal cholesterol absorption inhibitor ezetimibe with statin can lower LDL-C and vascular events more than statin alone and is a viable option when statin alone cannot lower LDL-C sufficiently.^{118,1087} The efficacy of the PCSK9 inhibitor evolocumab in combination with statin against arteriosclerotic disease was recently reported, but there is little evidence yet of the efficacy of evolocumab used after CABG.¹¹⁹

Progression of native CAD occurs even in patients with low HDL-C or high triglycerides.¹⁰⁸⁸ Smoking cessation, exercise therapy, and diet therapy are also indicated for such patients.

2.4 Other Drugs, Including BB (Table 68)

Oral BB therapy before and after CABG is recommended for prophylaxis of perioperative AF.^{1089–1093} BB+ACE-I is recommended for patients with impaired cardiac function or a history of myocardial infarction. The efficacy of the combination therapy for lowering long-term mortality and HF has been indicated in a number of reports.^{1094–1097}

Table 68. Recommendation and Evidence for BB and ACE-I Use in Coronary Artery Bypass Grafting		
	COR	LOE
BB for prophylaxis of postoperative atrial fibrillation	I	А
BB+ACE-I in patients with impaired cardiac function or a history of myocardial infarction	I	В

ACE-I, angiotensin converting enzyme inhibitor; BB, beta-blocker; COR, class of recommendation; LOE, level of evidence.

X. Volume-Outcome Relationship of PCI and CABG in Japan

1. PCI

The 2011 ACCF/AHA/SCAI guideline was the first to include clear-cut operator/institutional criteria regarding the volume-outcome relationship of PCI (Class I recommendation, Level of evidence C, for PCI at an institution with ≥400 procedures per year and an operator(s) performing ≥75 procedures per year).¹⁰⁹⁸ The threshold has been later lowered due to improved safety of PCI and device improvements. The revised ACCF/AHA/SCAI guideline in 2013 titled "Update of the clinical competence statement on coronary artery interventional procedures" states recommended thresholds of ≥ 200 procedures per year at an institution with operators with experience of \geq 50 procedures per year (averaged over a 2-year period).¹⁰⁹⁹ Old studies reported that more procedures performed would improve in-hospital outcomes, but more recent studies no longer suggest such a simple association.^{1100–1102}

In Japan, an analysis of 323,322 procedures performed by 4,211 operators at 625 institutions was performed using the J-PCI data (years 2014 and 2015) of the National Clinical Database and published in 2017.¹¹⁰³ The number of institutions that perform PCI in Japan is large compared with its small geographic area, making the number of procedures performed per institution smaller compared with Europe or the USA. According to the report, only about half of the institutions that perform PCI in Japan met the annual threshold of \geq 200 procedures stated in the ACCF/AHA/SCAI guideline.

The report also revealed that the number of procedures was related to in-hospital mortality rate and the incidence of complications. At institutions with <150 procedures per year, both the incidence of in-hospital mortality and complications were significantly higher than at institutions with \geq 150 procedure per year. In addition, the Japanese study indicated that the in-hospital mortality rate and the incidence of complications tend to even out as the number of procedures performed at an institution per year exceeds around 100, suggesting that a different volume–outcome relationship pattern may exist in Japan. The report also noted no correlation was found between the number of procedures performed by operators and the outcomes of PCI.

2. CABG

The volume–outcome relationship of CABG was initially assessed using raw data without adjustment by preoperative risk. According to an analysis published in 2007 based on survey data of the JATS, the 30-day mortality rate for CABG patients was 3.4% at institutions with ≤ 24 procedures per year ("low-volume institutions") compared with 1.3% at institutions with ≥ 100 procedures ("high-volume institutions") with an odds ratio of 2.40 for the smallvolume institutions.¹¹⁰⁴ This is a significant figure at first glance. However, because of the large variability in reported outcomes at low-volume institutions, the report suggested the data might not be accurate. In 2012, the same analysis was performed using data from 2005 to 2009 and reported a 30-day mortality rate of 2.72% for lowvolume institutions and 1.00% for high-volume institutions (odds ratio, 2.52).¹¹⁰⁵ The more recent report revealed better outcomes of CABG in general, but still indicated a volume-outcome relationship. Large variability in lowvolume institutions still existed in the recent reports.

The JCVSD is the first database that allowed the use of data adjusted for risk for analysis of the volume–outcome relationship in CABG patients in Japan.¹⁶² In the report published in 2008, the 30-day operative mortality rate was 4.1% for institutions with 16–30 CABG procedures per year (institutions with ≤ 15 procedures were excluded because of their variability), 2.8% for institutions with $\leq 1-50$ procedures per year, and 1.6% for institutions with ≥ 51 procedures per year.¹¹⁰⁶ The JCVSD allows isolation of data by individual operators. Just as with PCI, the report indicated no correlation between the number of procedures performed by an operator and the outcome of CABG, suggesting the outcomes of CABG depend much on the institution as a whole rather than individual operator skill.

The risk-adjusted mortality rate, calculated using the number of CABG performed at each institution and by each operator, was 2.05% for expert operators with ≥ 16 procedures per year at institutions with 16–30 procedures per year compared with 1.70% for non-expert operators with ≤ 15 procedures per year at institutions with ≥ 51 procedures per year. Operators who perform only a relatively small number of CABG per year at high-volume institutions therefore can and do attain similar outcomes of CABG to those by operators who perform a relatively large number of CABG per year at low-volume institutions, implying the importance of the number of procedures performed at institutions where training on the CABG procedure takes place. Variability in outcomes noted at small-volume institutions was less conspicuous at institutions with ≥ 40 procedures a year, suggesting 40 procedures/ year may be used as a threshold for more consistent outcomes.1106

XI. Health Economics

1. Cost-Effectiveness Measures

Rising healthcare expenses, partly due to the aging of the population and advances in healthcare technologies, are increasing pressure on Japan's National Healthcare Insurance system. Accurate assessment of the value and efficiency of care is required to keep medical expenses in check.

The quality-adjusted life year (QALY) is a measure commonly used in health economics. A QALY combines survival and QOL into a single index. A QALY of 1 translates into 1 year of survival with perfect health. The efficiency of medical care is often assessed using cost-benefit analysis. The incremental cost-effectiveness ratio (ICER) is used to calculate the economic value of an intervention compared with an alternative. When the ICER of an intervention is smaller than a certain reference value, the intervention is regarded as cost-efficient. There is no internationally-agreed cost-per-QALY threshold for ICER. In the USA, however, \$50,000 is often used.

In the era of rapid drug development and advances in PCI techniques combined with continuous fluctuation in drug/medical device prices, the old cost–benefit analyses cannot be applied to today's medical care. Because of differences in healthcare systems among countries, a cost–utility analysis of a treatment in a foreign country is normally not applicable in Japan. Most studies of the cost-effectiveness of coronary artery revascularization are reported from outside Japan. Data included in such studies are discussed in subsequent paragraphs. Japanese researchers recently proposed a QALY calculation model using utility indices recorded before and after PCI.¹¹⁰⁷ More evidence is needed for comparison of the cost-effectiveness of treatments given to Japanese patients with stable CAD.

2. PCI vs. Medical Therapy

The COURAGE study reported that adding PCI to OMT in stable CAD patients did not improve survival, while increasing the cost of PCI (\$10,000), and the lifetime ICER of PCI was \$168,019 dollars per QALY gained.^{88,1108} However, PCI was not ischemia-guided and used only dated techniques in the study.

In the FAME 2 study of stable CAD patients, FFRguided PCI performed with 2nd-generation DES decreased cardiovascular events (particularly the need for urgent revascularization) compared with medical therapy alone. The decrease was subsequently reconfirmed after a 3-year follow-up.40,41,134 The study reported a higher average cost initially for PCI (\$9,944 for PCI and \$4,440 for medical therapy alone; P<0.001). After 3 years, however, cost was similar between the 2 groups (respectively \$16,792 and \$16,737; P=0.94).⁴¹ With respect to cost-effectiveness, the ICER for FFR-guided PCI compared with medical therapy alone was \$17,300 per QALY at 2 years and \$1,600 per QALY at 3 years, both below the threshold of \$50,000 commonly used in the USA. FFR-guided PCI is likely to improve long-term outcomes and also be a cost-effective treatment strategy compared with medical therapy alone.

3. BMS vs. DES

Although BMS are no longer used frequently in PCI, a meta-analysis of RCT data has reported a cost-effectiveness comparison between the cobalt-chromium EES (CoCr-EES) and BMS.¹¹⁰⁹ According to the analysis, CoCr-EES prolonged QALY per patient by 0.018 compared with BMS, saved \$236, and was cost-effective (ICER \leq \$50,000) at a probability of \geq 99% compared with BMS.

An analysis of data from the SPIRIT IV study reported a comparison between 1st- and 2nd-generation DES.¹¹¹⁰ The 2nd-generation EES significantly decreased target lesion failure compared with the PES,^{1111,1112} and saved \$273 dollars per patient vs. PES over 2 years.¹¹¹⁰ The ICER of PCI with EES was ≤\$50,000 at a probability of 85.7%. Newer-generation (i.e., 2nd-generation and later) DES likely have better clinical outcomes and are more costeffective than BMS and 1st-generation DES.

4. PCI vs. CABG (vs. Medical Therapy)

The well-known SYNTAX study compared PCI using DES with CABG and revealed the superiority of CABG to PCI with the PES in LMCA disease or 3-vessel disease.142,1113 The study also reported that CABG saved \$3,415 of the initial procedural cost but required \$10,036 more for hospital stay compared with PCI.1114 Over the subsequent 5-year follow-up, PCI was more costly due to more frequent hospitalization, revascularization procedural cost, and higher medication cost. Over a lifetime horizon, CABG was more costly than PCI, but the ICER of CABG vs. PCI in the study was favorable: \$16,537 per QALY gained. However, PCI was more cost-efficient in patients with LMCA disease or a SYNTAX score ≤22 or those for whom SYNTAX score II favored PCI based on lower predicted 4-year mortality rate with PCI vs. CABG.1114,1115

The FREEDOM study in patients with DM and multivessel disease compared PCI (mostly with 1st-generation DES) on top of aggressive medical therapy vs. CABG, and reported a significantly lower incidence of events for CABG over a median follow-up of 3.8 years.¹⁷² As in the SYNTAX study, initial procedural cost was lower for CABG, but the total cost through the index hospitalization was higher for CABG by \$8,622.¹¹¹⁶ Over the subsequent 5 years, PCI was more costly due to more frequent repeat revascularization and higher outpatient medication costs. Nevertheless, the cumulative expense, including the initial costs, were higher for CABG by \$3,641. The cumulative 5-year QALY was 0.0312 longer for CABG. The ICER for CABG was \$8,132 per QALY gained and estimated to fall below \$50,000 per QALY at a probability of 99.2%.

The MASS II study compared medical therapy, PCI (POBA alone or with stent placement), and CABG in multivessel disease patients with preserved left ventricular function (mean ejection fraction 67%). Events were more frequently reported for medical therapy and PCI than for CABG over the 5- and 10-year follow-up periods.^{495,1117,1118} The study estimated the event-free cost over 5 years was \$9,071 dollars for medical therapy, \$19,967 for PCI, and

\$18,263 for CABG, and noted that medical therapy was most cost-effective, followed by CABG.¹¹¹⁹

The ASCERT study was a large observational study and compared the long-term (\geq 4 years) effectiveness of PCI and CABG in multivessel disease patients with stable CAD.¹¹²⁰ The ACC and STS databases were linked to the centers for Medicare and Medical Services claims data to compare cost-effectiveness between CABG (86,244 patients) and PCI (103,549 patients). The costs by propensity score bin bootstrapping were higher for CABG for the index hospitalization (\$24,290 for CABG and \$13,620 for PCI), for the observation period from 2004 to 2008 (\$63,785 vs. \$55,640), and for the lifetime (\$184,933 vs. \$173,358). However, patients undergoing CABG gained an average of 0.2525 longer QALYs over the observation period and 0.3801 lifetime QALYs relative to PCI. The lifetime ICER of CABG vs. PCI was \$30,454 per QALY gained.

Although a number of studies have reported the superior cost-effectiveness of CABG vs. PCI, most patients in these studies did not undergo PCI using newer-generation DES. More data and domestic studies are therefore needed for an accurate and current cost–utility assessment of PCI.

XII. AUC and Standardized PCI

1. AUC

Recommendations presented in guidelines based primarily on data from large RCTs have long been considered to form the foundation of evidence-based medicine. However, because recommendations in clinical practice guidelines are estimated to cover merely 20–30% of patients, the limitations of their applicability have been noted. Hence, AUC (described in Section 3.1 "Input Into Treatment Planning" page 492 of Chapter IV) were developed to give better guidance on appropriate use of tests and procedures.

The AUC presents recommendations for more individualized scenarios for which consensus is established by a modified Delphi method using relevant questions (e.g., location of disease, presence/absence of ischemia, and medications administered). Since the publication of the COURAGE study, AUC have been gaining interest as a practical tool for suitability assessment of revascularization strategies. It is now commonly used by healthcare teams to reflect on the decisions they make in daily clinical practice.¹¹²¹

In the USA, the first version of AUC for revascularization was published in 2009, followed by the first revision in 2012, and another in 2017.^{170,1122–1124} Analysis of revascularization registry data show that most emergency PCI procedures are performed in accordance with the AUC: 10% of elective PCI was deemed "inappropriate." When the revised AUC (2012 version) was applied, the percentage of "inappropriate" elective PCI become more than 25%.^{1125,1126}

A similar estimate has been reported for elective PCI in Japan. The reported percentage of inappropriate PCI was 15%, according to the AUC of 2009, and 30% according to the criteria of 2012. Coronary CT angiography was commonly performed in Japan, and this modality was considered appropriate as a preoperative test in the AUC. Therefore, the older versions of the AUC could not be directly applied to some of the cases in Japan.^{1127,1128} The updated US AUC published in 2017 includes scenarios in which coronary CT or FFR is used for guidance and is generally congruous with their clinical practice pattern.

There were also differences when considering the appropriateness in applying revascularization for patients who do not have proximal LAD disease and with low ischemic risk.¹¹²⁹ The US AUC recommend medical therapy in such patients. In Japan, both medical therapy and PCI are established as first-line, mostly based on the results of the J-SAP study.^{1130,1131} This may be one of the reasons why PCI is more frequently performed in lower-risk

patients in Japan.

The spread of AUC has cut the ratio of "inappropriate" PCI by 50% and decreased elective PCI by 30% in the USA.¹¹³² However, even the current US AUC cannot be applied directly in Japan. Nevertheless, unnecessary or inappropriate PCI does take place in Japan as elsewhere. Medical institutions and the healthcare industry should continue to improve efforts eliminate unnecessary/inappropriate PCI.

2. Standardized PCI (Table 69)

Despite the substantial clinical benefit, of PCI, the skill of the person who performs the procedure often affects its outcome. PCI operators are expected to acquire and maintain their skillset, and should ideally perform a sufficient number of procedures for its maintenance. The Japanese Association of Cardiovascular Intervention and Therapeutics (CVIT) specifies the minimum number of PCI performed as primary operator for qualification as a "Fellow" or "Board-Certified Member."

As for considering the appropirate indication for PCI, the Japanese medical service fee revision report of the fiscal year 2018 stated that new criteria to evaluate the necessity for each medical care/service given will be introduced in a reimbursement review. For elective PCI, ischemic dysfunction confirmed by preoperative testing is specified as the requirement for reimbursement from the NHI program.¹¹³³ This new requirement is a call for more appropriate use of medical procedures.

In a move to respond to this new social demand, the

Table 69. Recommendation and Evidence for Standardized PCI		
	COR	LOE
Control quality and outcomes of PCI and CABG by referencing nationwide data	I	С
Member societies of the JCS Joint Working Group establish their own databases and engage in quality control	I	С
Share data with other institutions	I	С

CABG, coronary artery bypass grafting; COR, class of recommendation; JCS, Japanese Circulation Society; LOE, level of evidence; PCI, percutaneous coronary intervention.

Table 70. 7 Performance Indices of "Standardized PCI" Initiative

- 1. Percentage of patients with acute coronary syndrome (Item 11)
- 2. Percentage of emergency PCI (Item 19)
- 3. Percentage of patients with preoperative antiplatelet therapy (Item 13–3)
- 4. Percentage of patients who undergo ischemia assessment before non-emergency PCI (Item 13–1)
- 5. Door-to-balloon time in patients with ST-segment elevation acute myocardial infarction (Item 19–1)
- 6. Percentage of radial artery access (Item 121)
- 7. Percentage of non-emergency PCI in non-main coronary artery (other than segments 1–3, 5–7, and 11) (Item 24 and later)

PCI, percutaneous coronary intervention. "Item" numbers correspond to those on the J-PCI registry. (From Nakao K, 2018.¹¹³⁴)

CVIT has launched their "Standardized PCI" initiative. The CVIT requires each of their member training facilities or other associated training facilities to register all PCI to the national J-PCI registry. The registration system allows simple comparison of institutional case data with data from other institutions across the country. The CVIT registry steering committee has defined 7 performance indices, shown in Table 70 (feedback system of the CVIT's J-PCI registry),¹¹³⁴ per institution to allow individual institutions to put their practice into perspective. Because only a small number of variables are included, the J-PCI registry, unlike the US AUC, is not expected to have an immediate effect on whom PCI is performed. However, it will visualize each institution's attitude towards advance ischemia assessment and intervention in side branches and provide an opportunity to reflect on their practice of PCI against national averages.

This CVIT's work with the "Standardized PCI" initiative has just started. It is a meaningful response to society's call for more appropriate use of healthcare resources.

XIII. Future Outlook

1. Robot-Assisted PCI

1.1 Outline and Rocedure

A robot-assisted PCI system was approved in 2018 in Japan. The system comprises a bedside subunit and remote interventional cockpit.

The operator sits in front of the remote interventional cockpit, installed away from the angiography table and surrounded by a radiation shield. The operator manipulates the guidewire, and balloon catheter/stent, and engages the guidewire using separate controls while looking at the fluoroscopy and recording monitors in the cockpit. The bedside unit inserts the guidewire, selects the target vessel, inserts and positions the balloon, and places the stent as instructed by the operator in the cockpit. Although the bedside unit is capable of performing many of the tasks normally performed by a human operator, insertion of the sheath, guiding catheter insertion and positioning, and attachment of balloon/stent to the guiding catheter must be done manually. A 6-7F guiding catheter can be used with the system. The system allows intervention in a main coronary artery while protecting its side branch with a guidewire. The system does not need special guidewire, balloons, or stents and is capable of handling both radial and femoral artery access.

1.2 Indications, Benefits, and Limitations

When the first robotic PCI system was released, it was recommended for only single-stenting in a lesion not longer than 24 mm.¹¹³⁵ Today's systems are capable of handling complex disease (AHA classification type B2/C).^{1136,1137} For CTO lesions, manual PCI up to guidewire insertion to the lesion is combined with robotic PCI for balloon dilatation through to stent placement.

This can somewhat prolong the duration of the procedure due to the time needed for setup of the system, but it reportedly does not change the fluoroscopy time.

Robotic PCI has significantly less stent placement error in the longitudinal direction compared with manual PCI,¹¹³⁸ which may allow reduction of contrast media. The greatest benefit of robotic PCI is ≥90% reduction of the primary operator's exposure to radiation compared with manual PCI. Health issues associated with radiation exposure among healthcare professionals are widely acknowledged and are a concern raised among hospital management. Robotic systems are also considered to have the potential for application in long-distance PCI. Current limitations of robotic systems include phased-array IVUS being the only intravascular imaging modality compatible with the systems.

2. Hybrid Coronary Revascularization (HCR)

2.1 Overview

HCR combines CABG and PCI into 1 operation in multivessel disease. A common definition of HCR includes (1) minimally invasive direct coronary artery bypass (MIDCAB; may include the use of a robotic system) in a LITA-to-LAD grafting, (2) PCI using DES, and (3) either 1-stop or staged (≤60 days) procedure.¹¹³⁹

CABG with LITA has favorable long-term outcomes and is a standard treatment in patients with severe multivessel disease. When SVGs are used, CABG is unable to achieve a satisfactory long-term patency rate. Stents placed in PCI now have a better long-term patency rate than SVG thanks to the reduction in both ST and ISR over the years (**Figure 9**).¹¹⁴⁰

HCR aims to combine the favorable long-term outcomes of CABG with the benefit of less invasive PCI while simultaneously reducing the shortcomings of each technique. HCR is estimated to account for 0.5% of all CABG performed in the USA.¹¹⁴¹



2.2 Indications

Determining whether HCR is feasible and safe (**Table 71**) requires knowledge of the latest evidence on PCI and CABG. As discussed earlier in this guideline, most of the reliable evidence comes from RCTs comparing DES vs. CABG, including the SYNTAX study,¹⁴² FREEDOM study,¹⁷² EXCEL study,¹⁹³ NOBLE study,¹⁹⁴ a pooled analysis of data from 11 RCTs,¹⁷³ and the ASCERT study that analyzed data from databases across the USA.^{1142,1143}

The ACC/AHA guideline published in 2012 states that HCR is indicated for (1) patients who are not amenable to CABG because of severe calcification in the ascending aorta or narrow target lesions, (2) patients with a lack of suitable graft conduits, or (3) when PCI of the LAD artery is not feasible because of excessive tortuosity or CTO (Class IIa).¹⁸¹ HCR should also be considered in older patients, patients with severe comorbidities, and patients with a history of cardiotomy or thoracic radiation therapy.^{1144,1145}

Alternatively, CABG is indicated for patients who are not suitable for DAPT, patients with valve disease requiring surgery, patients with poor vascular access, and patients who have non-LAD complex disease not amenable to PCI. PCI is indicated for patients with severe obstructive lung disease and patients who do not have suitable ITA graft conduits.^{1146,1147}

2.3 One-Stop or Staged

A recently reported meta-analysis noted little differences in the outcomes of 1-stop and staged HCR (in-hospital mortality, perioperative myocardial infarction/ cerebral infarction/ repeat revascularization, 1-year survival).¹¹⁴⁸ A standard HCR procedure is carried out with a small, left anterior thoracotomy incision and without heart–lung machine.

The 1-stop HCR typically starts with MIDCAB in the hybrid operating room, followed by PCI. Close coordination between the surgeon and cardiologist is required for successful HCR. For staged HCR, CABG is normally completed first. In patients with a severe non-LAD lesion,

Table 71. Patient Selection Criteria for Hybrid Coronary Revascularization

Indicated

- Not amenable to CABG (severely calcified ascending aorta, aortic valve, or mitral valve)
- Lack of suitable non-ITA graft conduits
- LAD disease not amenable to PCI (total occlusion, severe calcification, bifurcation lesion) but its distal side allows bypass grafting
- Non-LAD lesion amenable to PCI
- History of CABG
- History of thoracic radiation therapy
- Residual lesion in LAD or otherwise after PCI for acute coronary syndrome

Contraindicated

- Patient-related factors
- Not suitable for DAPT
- History of severe obstructive lung disease or left thoracotomy
- Valve disease requiring surgery
- Unstable angina

Anatomic risk factors

- Non-LAD complex disease
- No suitable ITA for graft conduits

CABG, coronary artery bypass grafting; DAPT, dual antiplatelet treatment; ITA, internal thoracic artery; LAD, left anterior descending coronary artery; PCI, percutaneous coronary intervention.

PCI must follow soon after CABG. PCI prior to CABG is effective in non-LAD culprit lesions in patients with ACS. In this instance, the use of DES in PCI performed before CABG in HCR is controversial.^{1149,1150}

2.4 Outcomes and Limitations

Most reports on the outcomes of HCR give short-term results and come from single-center studies. HCR reportedly has a similar 30-day mortality rate, 1-year survival rate, and incidence of MACCE, but less frequent perioperative complications (rethoracotomy, renal failure, mechanical ventilation time), less blood transfusion, and shorter hospital and ICU stay compared with CABG.1151,1152 OOL was maintained better with HCR vs. CABG 6 weeks after discharge.¹¹⁴⁸ Meta-analyses generally show a similar incidence of MACCE between HCR and CABG, but tend to report a higher rate of repeat revascularization for HCR.1148,1151,1153 The only RCT between HCR and CABG has reported similar 5-year clinical outcomes.^{1154,1155} A multicenter study reported a similar incidence of MACCE over 1 year between HCR and PCI in multivessel disease.1156 However, evidence is generally lacking on comparisons between HCR and PCI. The recent popularity of FFR guidance in PCI increases the importance of current data in order to make a more relevant comparison between the procedures.

The reported rates of ISR and thrombosis after HCR are 9–13% and 2.2–3.7%, respectively.^{1157–1159} In patients who undergo PCI first, discontinuation of DAPT for CABG is thought to increase ST, but the estimated incidence of ST was equivalent to 3.3% at 1 year in the SYNTAX study.¹¹¹³

In general, HCR is a safe procedure when performed in carefully selected patients. Medium-term outcomes of HCR are similar to those of CABG. Because PCI and CABG are individually established therapies for CAD, however, HCR needs to demonstrate its superiority over PCI or CABG. Bilateral ITA (BITA) grafts commonly used in CABG in Japan only show their superiority over single ITA after around 10 years. This means a longer follow-up is necessary for a comparison, and HCR using BITA is potentially a suitable option.

3. Minimally Invasive CABG (Table 72)

3.1 Definition and Benefits

Minimally invasive CABG is generally defined as off-pump multivessel bypass grafting with a small left intercostal incision instead of median sternotomy. Single-vessel bypass grafting of the LITA to the LAD is called MIDCAB.¹¹⁶⁰

Minimally invasive CABG is typically used in multivessel bypass grafting in addition to LITA-to-LAD anastomosis. Its potential benefits compared with CABG include less blood loss and blood transfusion, reduction of AF, less use of inotropes, lower risk of respiratory infections, early extubation, early discharge from the ICU, and shorter hospital stay. Avoiding median sternotomy can eliminate the risk of mediastinitis and less blood loss/transfusion. MIDCAB in patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease is reported to decrease postoperative complications.¹¹⁶¹

Table 72. Recommendation and Evidence for Minimally Invasive CABG		
	COR	LOE
Minimally invasive CABG is associated with less frequent onset of mediastinitis and requires less blood transfusion compared with ONCAB	llb	С

CABG, coronary artery bypass grafting; COR, class of recommendation; LOE, level of evidence; ONCAB, on-pump coronary artery bypass. Minimally invasive CABG shares the following limitations/shortcomings with OPCAB with median sternotomy compared with traditional CABG: a smaller number of bypasses and doubtful long-term outcomes because anastomoses constructed on a beating heart in general have an increased risk of graft stenosis/occlusion.^{1162–1165} Because of the general difficulty of bypass grafting to the RCA, HCR is also performed.^{1147,1166–1168}

To some, minimally invasive CABG is multivessel bypass grafting through a small left intercostal incision (i.e., rather than median sternotomy) with cardiopulmonary bypass, but this procedure may become more invasive. A study noted that, even if about 20% of patients use cardiopulmonary bypass in minimally invasive CABG, the procedure still has the benefit of early return to normal life and avoidance of mediastinitis.¹¹⁶⁴

Cardiac surgeons with no or limited experience in OPCAB will be able to start minimally invasive CABG with cardiopulmonary bypass or HCR without complications. Regardless of cardiopulmonary bypass, side-clamping of the ascending aorta has been shown to increase the risk of atherothrombotic stroke.¹¹⁶⁹ To avoid atherothrombotic stroke, in situ graft and composite graft for distal anastomosis is necessary when the ascending aorta is atherosclerotic.

3.2 Totally Endoscopic Coronary Artery Bypass (TECAB), Awake OPCAB

TECAB is the least invasive type of CABG. TECAB uses the robotic da Vinci Surgical System^{1170,1171} and requires special anastomotic devices when cardiopulmonary bypass is not used. TECAB can be made easier when cardiopulmonary bypass is used, but this inevitably makes the procedure more invasive.

Awake OPCAB is performed with a median sternotomy while the patient is awake and having spontaneous breathing under thoracic epidural anesthesia.^{1172,1173} Patients who undergo awake OPCAB can achieve early mobilization and discharge by avoiding intubation and general anesthesia. Decreased heart rate increases coronary blood flow during the procedure, which is claimed to reduce arrhythmia and help make anastomosis easier.

4. Cardiac Regeneration

Heart transplantation is the most important treatment option for patients with severe HF, but heart donors are constantly in short supply. The amendment of the Organ Transplant Law in 2009 is unlikely to succeed in making heart transplant as nearly accessible as in Europe or the USA. Left ventricular assist device (LVAD) is another treatment option for severe HF patients. In Japan, outcomes of LVAD therapy given as a bridge to heart transplant are troubled by complications such as infections and cerebral thrombosis due to the long waiting period for a heart transplant. Although expectations for regenerative medicine are high around the world, available treatments are not yet capable of curing severe HF. We need new treatments that can support/enhance the effectiveness of existing treatments for severe HF such as heart transplant and LVAD.

Research is ongoing for clinical application of new cell/ tissue transplant methods as well as regenerative treatments.
4.1 Overview of Autologous Myoblast Sheet

Myoblast sheet transplant is a cellular therapy for severe HF. The patient undergoes left thoracotomy and has 5 sheets of 6×10^7 myoblast cells each (**Figure 10**) transplanted onto a large area of the heart from the left ventricular anterior to lateral walls. For this treatment, skeletal muscle of about 5–10g is isolated from the femoral vastus medialis, cultured, and frozen. The culture cells are thawed when the date of transplantation is fixed. The cells are formed into sheets on temperature-responsive culture dishes for transplantation.

Implanted cells fall under ischemic and are expected to express the HIF-1 gene, which should then induce secretion of cytokines such as hepatocyte growth factor, vascular endothelial growth factor, basic fibroblast growth factor, and stroma cell-derived factor 1 (SDF-1) that help achieve cardiac regeneration through their promotion of angiogenesis, and stem cell induction, and inhibition of fibrosis. Preclinical research has shown that, although the myoblast sheets disappear after a few months, angiogenesis occurs within 1 month. Also, bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells induced in the area by SDF-1 further promote angiogenesis and some of them form part of new vessels.¹¹⁷⁴

A cell processing room is required for the culture of myoblast cells in a clean environment. This precludes patients infected by viruses such as HIV or hepatitis from myoblast sheet transplantation. Studies in HF animal models have shown myoblast sheet transplantation improves cardiac function and survival.

4.2 Efficacy of Myoblast Sheet

Autologous myoblast sheets have been implanted in 4 dilated cardiomyopathy patients with LVAD. Improved cardiac function was observed in 2 patients who subsequently had the LVAD removed.¹¹⁷⁵ In ischemic cardiomyopathy patients, a clinical trial¹¹⁷⁶ and sponsored multicenter trial¹¹⁷⁷ have demonstrated the safety and efficacy of myoblast sheet transplantation. The myoblast sheet product "HeartSheet" has been designated under Japan's accelerated approval program and listed in the National Health Insurance list as the world's first regenerative medical product for the treatment of HF. Regulatory



approval is expected when efficacy is demonstrated in 60 ischemic cardiomyopathy patients against control.

In a single-arm study, myoblast sheet transplantation in ischemic cardiomyopathy patients improved cardiac function, alleviated HF symptoms, and significantly decreased B-type natriuretic peptide, pulmonary arterial pressure, and pulmonary artery pressure.¹¹⁷⁶ A physician-initiated trial conducted in children and adults with dilated cardiomyopathy to widen the potential indications of the product has been completed. Whether the product is suitable for a wider patient population is being evaluated.

The efficacy of myoblast sheets has been demonstrated only in a small number of patients with severe HF. The profile of patients who will respond to the treatment needs to be established.

The Regenerative Medicine Subcommittee under the Health Sciences Council of Japan recently approved the conducting of the first-in-human clinical trial of transplantation of iPS-derived myocardial cells that are presumed to be more effective than myoblast cells.¹¹⁷⁸

End Note

Who is the target audience of the guidelines? No guidelines have or are intended to have a legally binding effect. As with any other guidelines, this guideline only presents the treatments established and accepted as standard practice based on evidence. This guideline is written on the assumption that individual institutions can perform coronary artery revascularization with a standard quality. Achieving and maintaining high standards of care requires technical skills of both cardiologists and cardiovascular surgeons. The Heart Team is expected to play the central role in treatment decision-making. Sharing of clinical outcomes of treatments administered within an institution is essential for the effectiveness of the team.

Individual institutions may choose treatments with Class IIb or III recommendation over one with Class I

recommendation. It is entirely acceptable depending on the circumstances. However, the Heart Team is expected to discuss and reach consensus when making such a decision. The patient must of course be presented with the reason for the treatment the Team has chosen. Finally, we consider that the academic societies involved in publication of this guideline are responsible for gathering data regarding the level of adherence to the recommendations presented here, in the clinical setting as well as the clinical outcomes of treatments administered according to the recommendations.

Some recent medical malpractice lawsuits were filed claiming that doctors failed to provide adequate information to the patients as suggested in clinical practice guidelines. There are also cases filed against the academic societies publishing the guidelines on the grounds that they failed to carry out supervisory obligations. An article published in 2002 titled "Medical Professionalism in the New Millennium: A Physician Charter" stated that striving for evidence-based medicine is the doctor's obligation.¹¹⁷⁹ Acting professionally

will become more important for doctors and will protect themselves from lawsuits and also protect the patients from unnecessary/inappropriate treatments.

References

- 1. Osler W. The Lumleian lectures on angina pectoris. *Lancet* 1910; **175**: 973–977.
- Geleijnse ML, Elhendy A, Kasprzak JD, Rambaldi R, van Domburg RT, Cornel JH, et al. Safety and prognostic value of early dobutamine–atropine stress echocardiography in patients with spontaneous chest pain and a non-diagnostic electrocardiogram. *Eur Heart J* 2000; **21:** 397–406.
- Cohn PF. Asymptomatic coronary artery disease: Pathophysiology, diagnosis, management. *Mod Concepts Cardiovasc Dis* 1981; **50**: 55–60.
- Medalie JH, Goldbourt U. Unrecognized myocardial infarction: Five-year incidence, mortality, and risk factors. *Ann Intern Med* 1976; 84: 526–531.
- Lloyd-Jones DM, Wilson PW, Larson MG, Beiser A, Leip EP, D'Agostino RB, et al. Framingham risk score and prediction of lifetime risk for coronary heart disease. *Am J Cardiol* 2004; 94: 20–24.
- NIPPON DATA80 Research Group. Risk assessment chart for death from cardiovascular disease based on a 19-year follow-up study of a Japanese representative population. *Circ J* 2006; 70: 1249–1255.
- Nishimura K, Okamura T, Watanabe M, Nakai M, Takegami M, Higashiyama A, et al. Predicting coronary heart disease using risk factor categories for a Japanese urban population, and comparison with the Framingham risk score: The Suita Study. J Athenoscler Thromb 2014; 21: 784–798.
- Kinoshita M, Yokote K, Arai H, Iida M, Ishigaki Y, Ishibashi S, et al. Japan Atherosclerosis Society (JAS) guidelines for prevention of atherosclerotic cardiovascular diseases 2017. J Atheroscler Thromb 2018; 25: 846–984.
- Japan Atherosclerosis Society. Japan Atherosclerosis Society (JAS) guidelines for prevention of atherosclerotic cardiovascular diseases 2017. Tokyo: Japan Atherosclerosis Society, 2017.
- Mabuchi H, Koizumi J, Shimizu M, Takeda R. Development of coronary heart disease in familial hypercholesterolemia. *Circulation* 1989; 79: 225–232.
- 11. Japanese Circulation Society. JCS Joint Working Groups for guidelines for diagnosis and treatment of cardiovascular diseases (JCS 2009). Guidelines for diagnostic evaluation of patients with chronic ischemic heart disease (JCS 2010) [in Japanese]. http://www.j-circ.or.jp/guideline/pdf/JCS2010_yamagishi_h.pdf (accessed February 24, 2021).
- Kwok Y, Kim C, Grady D, Segal M, Redberg R. Meta-analysis of exercise testing to detect coronary artery disease in women. *Am J Cardiol* 1999; 83: 660–666.
- Japanese Circulation Society. JCS Joint Working Groups for guidelines for diagnosis and treatment of cardiovascular diseases (JCS 2007–2008). Guidelines for noninvasive diagnosis of coronary artery lesions (JCS 2009) [in Japanese]. http://www.j-circ. or.jp/guideline/pdf/JCS2010_yamashina_h.pdf (accessed February 24, 2021).
- Miller JM, Rochitte CE, Dewey M, Arbab-Zadeh A, Niinuma H, Gottlieb I, et al. Diagnostic performance of coronary angiography by 64-row CT. *N Engl J Med* 2008; **359**: 2324–2336.
- 15. Budoff MJ, Dowe D, Jollis JG, Gitter M, Sutherland J, Halamert E, et al. Diagnostic performance of 64-multidetector row coronary computed tomographic angiography for evaluation of coronary artery stenosis in individuals without known coronary artery disease: Results from the prospective multicenter ACCURACY (Assessment by Coronary computed tomographic Angiography of Individuals Undergoing Invasive Coronary Angiography) trial. J Am Coll Cardiol 2008; 52: 1724–1732.
- 16. Magalhães TA, Kishi S, George RT, Arbab-Zadeh A, Vavere AL, Cox C, et al. Combined coronary angiography and myocardial perfusion by computed tomography in the identification of flow-limiting stenosis – the CORE320 study: An integrated analysis of CT coronary angiography and myocardial perfusion. J Cardiovasc Comput Tomogr 2015; 9: 438–445.
- 17. Min JK, Leipsic J, Pencina MJ, Berman DS, Koo BK, van Mieghem C, et al. Diagnostic accuracy of fractional flow reserve

- from anatomic CT angiography. JAMA 2012; 308: 1237-1245.
- Cook CM, Petraco R, Shun-Shin MJ, Ahmad Y, Nijjer S, Al-Lamee R, et al. Diagnostic accuracy of computed tomographyderived fractional flow reserve: A systematic review. *JAMA Cardiol* 2017; 2: 803–810.
- 19. Douglas PS, Pontone G, Hlatky MA, Patel MR, Norgaard BL, Byrne RA, et al. Clinical outcomes of fractional flow reserve by computed tomographic angiography-guided diagnostic strategies vs. usual care in patients with suspected coronary artery disease: The prospective longitudinal trial of FFR(CT): Outcome and resource impacts study. *Eur Heart J* 2015; **36**: 3359–3367.
- Douglas PS, De Bruyne B, Pontone G, Patel MR, Norgaard BL, Byrne RA, et al. 1-Year outcomes of FFRCT-guided care in patients with suspected coronary disease: The PLATFORM study. J Am Coll Cardiol 2016; 68: 435–445.
- Hlatky MA, Saxena A, Koo BK, Erglis A, Zarins CK, Min JK. Projected costs and consequences of computed tomographydetermined fractional flow reserve. *Clin Cardiol* 2013; 36: 743–748.
- 22. Kimura T, Shiomi H, Kuribayashi S, Isshiki T, Kanazawa S, Ito H, et al. Cost analysis of non-invasive fractional flow reserve derived from coronary computed tomographic angiography in Japan. *Cardiovasc Interv Ther* 2015; **30**: 38–44.
- Japanese Circulation Society. Appropriate use guidance on FFRct [in Japanese]. http://www.j-circ.or.jp/topics/FFRCT_ tekisei_shishin.pdf (accessed February 24, 2021).
- Kubo S, Tadamura E, Toyoda H, Mamede M, Yamamuro M, Magata Y, et al. Effect of caffeine intake on myocardial hyperemic flow induced by adenosine triphosphate and dipyridamole. J Nucl Med 2004; 45: 730–738.
- Elhendy A, Bax JJ, Poldermans D. Dobutamine stress myocardial perfusion imaging in coronary artery disease. J Nucl Med 2002; 43: 1634–1646.
- Travain MI, Wexler JP. Pharmacological stress testing. Semin Nucl Med 1999; 29: 298–318.
- He ZX, Hedrick TD, Pratt CM, Verani MS, Aquino V, Roberts R, et al. Severity of coronary artery calcification by electron beam computed tomography predicts silent myocardial ischemia. *Circulation* 2000; **101**: 244–251.
- Kamiya K, Sakakibara M, Asakawa N, Yamada S, Yoshitani T, Iwano H, et al. Cardiac magnetic resonance performs better in the detection of functionally significant coronary artery stenosis compared to single-photon emission computed tomography and dobutamine stress echocardiography. *Circ J* 2014; 78: 2468–2476.
- Nakamura M, Yamagishi M, Ueno T, Hara K, Ishiwata S, Itoh T, et al. Prevalence of visual-functional mismatch regarding coronary artery stenosis in the CVIT-DEFER registry. *Cardiovasc Interv Ther* 2014; 29: 300–308.
- Park SJ, Kang SJ, Ahn JM, Shim EB, Kim YT, Yun SC, et al. Visual-functional mismatch between coronary angiography and fractional flow reserve. *JACC Cardiovasc Interv* 2012; 5: 1029–1036.
- 31. Pijls NH, van Son JA, Kirkeeide RL, De Bruyne B, Gould KL. Experimental basis of determining maximum coronary, myocardial, and collateral blood flow by pressure measurements for assessing functional stenosis severity before and after percutaneous transluminal coronary angioplasty. *Circulation* 1993; 87: 1354– 1367.
- 32. Pijls NH, De Bruyne B, Peels K, Van Der Voort PH, Bonnier HJ, Bartunek J, et al. Measurement of fractional flow reserve to assess the functional severity of coronary-artery stenoses. N Engl J Med 1996; 334: 1703–1708.
- 33. Bech GJ, De Bruyne B, Pijls NH, de Muinck ED, Hoorntje JC, Escaned J, et al. Fractional flow reserve to determine the appropriateness of angioplasty in moderate coronary stenosis: A randomized trial. *Circulation* 2001; **103**: 2928–2934.
- 34. Pijls NH, van Schaardenburgh P, Manoharan G, Boersma E, Bech JW, van't Veer M, et al. Percutaneous coronary intervention of functionally nonsignificant stenosis: 5-year follow-up of the

DEFER Study. J Am Coll Cardiol 2007; 49: 2105–2111.

- 35. Zimmermann FM, Ferrara A, Johnson NP, van Nunen LX, Escaned J, Albertsson P, et al. Deferral vs. performance of percutaneous coronary intervention of functionally non-significant coronary stenosis: 15-year follow-up of the DEFER trial. *Eur Heart J* 2015; **36**: 3182–3188.
- 36. Tonino PA, De Bruyne B, Pijls NH, Siebert U, Ikeno F, van't Veer M, et al. Fractional flow reserve versus angiography for guiding percutaneous coronary intervention. N Engl J Med 2009; 360: 213–224.
- 37. Pijls NH, Fearon WF, Tonino PA, Siebert U, Ikeno F, Bornschein B, et al. Fractional flow reserve versus angiography for guiding percutaneous coronary intervention in patients with multivessel coronary artery disease: 2-year follow-up of the FAME (Fractional Flow Reserve versus Angiography for multivessel Evaluation) study. J Am Coll Cardiol 2010; 56: 177–184.
- 38. van Nunen LX, Zimmermann FM, Tonino PA, Barbato E, Baumbach A, Engstrøm T, et al. Fractional flow reserve versus angiography for guidance of PCI in patients with multivessel coronary artery disease (FAME): 5-year follow-up of a randomised controlled trial. *Lancet* 2015; **386**: 1853–1860.
- 39. Tanaka N, Nakamura M, Akasaka T, Kadota K, Uemura S, Amano T, et al. One-year outcome of fractional flow reserve-based coronary intervention in Japanese daily practice: CVIT-DEFER Registry. *Circ J* 2017; 81: 1301–1306.
- 40. De Bruyne B, Fearon WF, Pijls NH, Barbato E, Tonino P, Piroth Z, et al. Fractional flow reserve-guided PCI for stable coronary artery disease. *N Engl J Med* 2014; **371**: 1208–1217.
- 41. Fearon WF, Nishi T, De Bruyne B, Boothroyd DB, Barbato E, Tonino P, et al. Clinical outcomes and cost-effectiveness of fractional flow reserve-guided percutaneous coronary intervention in patients with stable coronary artery disease: Three-year follow-up of the FAME 2 Trial (Fractional Flow Reserve versus Angiography for multivessel Evaluation). *Circulation* 2018; 137: 480–487.
- 42. Tonino PA, Fearon WF, De Bruyne B, Oldroyd KG, Leesar MA, Ver Lee PN, et al. Angiographic versus functional severity of coronary artery stenoses in the FAME study fractional flow reserve versus angiography in multivessel evaluation. J Am Coll Cardiol 2010; 55: 2816–2821.
- Nakamura M, Yamagishi M, Ueno T, Hara K, Ishiwata S, Itoh T, et al. Modification of treatment strategy after FFR measurement: CVIT-DEFER registry. *Cardiovasc Interv Ther* 2015; 30: 12–21.
- 44. Van Belle E, Rioufol G, Pouillot C, Cuisset T, Bougrini K, Teiger E, et al. Outcome impact of coronary revascularization strategy reclassification with fractional flow reserve at time of diagnostic angiography: Insights from a large French multicenter fractional flow reserve registry. *Circulation* 2014; **129**: 173–185.
- Nam CW, Mangiacapra F, Entjes R, Chung IS, Sels JW, Tonino PA, et al. Functional SYNTAX score for risk assessment in multivessel coronary artery disease. *J Am Coll Cardiol* 2011; 58: 1211–1218.
- 46. Sen S, Escaned J, Malik IS, Mikhail GW, Foale RA, Mila R, et al. Development and validation of a new adenosine-independent index of stenosis severity from coronary wave-intensity analysis: Results of the ADVISE (ADenosine Vasodilator Independent Stenosis Evaluation) study. J Am Coll Cardiol 2012; 59: 1392–1402.
- 47. Davies JE, Sen S, Dehbi HM, Al-Lamee R, Petraco R, Nijjer SS, et al. Use of the instantaneous wave-free ratio or fractional flow reserve in PCI. *N Engl J Med* 2017; **376**: 1824–1834.
- Götberg M, Christiansen EH, Gudmundsdottir IJ, Sandhall L, Danielewicz M, Jakobsen L, et al. Instantaneous wave-free ratio versus fractional flow reserve to guide PCI. N Engl J Med 2017; 376: 1813–1823.
- 49. Svanerud J, Ahn JM, Jeremias A, van't Veer M, Gore A, Maehara A, et al. Validation of a novel non-hyperaemic index of coronary artery stenosis severity: The Resting Full-cycle ratio (VALIDATE RFR) study. *EuroIntervention* 2018; 14: 806–814.
- Van't Veer M, Pijls NHJ, Hennigan B, Watkins S, Ali ZA, De Bruyne B, et al. Comparison of different diastolic resting indexes to iFR: Are they all equal? J Am Coll Cardiol 2017; 70: 3088–3096.
- Lee JM, Park J, Hwang D, Kim CH, Choi KH, Rhee TM, et al. Similarity and difference of resting distal to aortic coronary pressure and instantaneous wave-free ratio. J Am Coll Cardiol 2017; 70: 2114–2123.
- 52. Meuwissen M, Chamuleau SA, Siebes M, Schotborgh CE,

Koch KT, de Winter RJ, et al. Role of variability in microvascular resistance on fractional flow reserve and coronary blood flow velocity reserve in intermediate coronary lesions. *Circulation* 2001; **103**: 184–187.

- 53. Lee JM, Choi KH, Hwang D, Park J, Jung JH, Kim HY, et al. Prognostic implication of thermodilution coronary flow reserve in patients undergoing fractional flow reserve measurement. *JACC Cardiovasc Interv* 2018; 11: 1423–1433.
- Allman KC. Noninvasive assessment myocardial viability: Current status and future directions. J Nucl Cardiol 2013; 20: 618–637.
- 55. Bax JJ, Poldermans D, Elhendy A, Boersma E, Rahimtoola SH. Sensitivity, specificity, and predictive accuracies of various noninvasive techniques for detecting hibernating myocardium. *Curr Probl Cardiol* 2001; 26: 147–186.
- 56. Sciagrà R, Bisi G, Santoro GM, Zerauschek F, Sestini S, Pedenovi P, et al. Comparison of baseline-nitrate technetium-99m sestamibi with rest-redistribution thallium-201 tomography in detecting viable hibernating myocardium and predicting postrevascularization recovery. J Am Coll Cardiol 1997; 30: 384–391.
- 57. Udelson JE, Coleman PS, Metherall J, Pandian NG, Gomez AR, Griffith JL, et al. Predicting recovery of severe regional ventricular dysfunction: Comparison of resting scintigraphy with ²⁰¹Tl and ^{99m}Tc-sestamibi. *Circulation* 1994; **89**: 2552–2561.
- Patel P, Ivanov A, Ramasubbu K. Myocardial viability and revascularization: Current understanding and future directions. *Curr Atheroscler Rep* 2016; 18: 32.
- 59. Matsunari I, Tamaki N, Ikeda M, Naito H, Okazaki O, Miki S et al. A Post-marketing clinical study to confirm the efficacy of ¹⁸F-fluorodeoxyglucose for the diagnosis of myocardial viability: A prospective multicenter study in patients with ischemic heart disease. *Ann Nucl Cardiol* 2016; **2**: 9–20.
- 60. Ling LF, Marwick TH, Flores DR, Jaber WA, Brunken RC, Cerqueira MD, et al. Identification of therapeutic benefit from revascularization in patients with left ventricular systolic dysfunction: Inducible ischemia versus hibernating myocardium. *Circ Cardiovasc Imaging* 2013; 6: 363–372.
- 61. Rischpler C, Langwieser N, Souvatzoglou M, Batrice A, van Marwick S, Snajberk J, et al. PET/MRI early after myocardial infarction: Evaluation of viability with late gadolinium enhancement transmurality vs. ¹⁸F-FDG uptake. *Eur Heart J Cardiovasc Imaging* 2015; **16**: 661–669.
- 62. Shah DJ, Kim HW, James O, Parker M, Wu E, Bonow RO, et al. Prevalence of regional myocardial thinning and relationship with myocardial scarring in patients with coronary artery disease. *JAMA* 2013; **309**: 909–918.
- Allman KC, Shaw LJ, Hachamovitch R, Udelson JE. Myocardial viability testing and impact of revascularization on prognosis in patients with coronary artery disease and left ventricular dysfunction: A meta-analysis. J Am Coll Cardiol 2002; 39: 1151–1158.
- 64. Neumann FJ, Sousa-Uva M, Ahlsson A, Alfonso F, Banning AP, Benedetto U, et al. 2018 ESC/EACTS guidelines on myocardial revascularization [published correction appears in *Eur Heart J* 2019; 40: 3096]. *Eur Heart J* 2019; 40: 87–165.
- Kannel WB, D'Agostino RB, Belanger AJ. Fibrinogen, cigarette smoking, and risk of cardiovascular disease: Insights from the Framingham Study. *Am Heart J* 1987; 113: 1006–1010.
- 66. Davis JW, Hartman CR, Lewis HD, Shelton L, Eigenberg DA, Hassanein KM, et al. Cigarette smoking-induced enhancement of platelet function: Lack of prevention by aspirin in men with coronary artery disease. J Lab Clin Med 1985; 105: 479–483.
- Zeiher AM, Schächinger V, Minners J. Long-term cigarette smoking impairs endothelium-dependent coronary arterial vasodilator function. *Circulation* 1995; 92: 1094–1100.
- 68. Taylor AE, Johnson DC, Kazemi H. Environmental tobacco smoke and cardiovascular disease: A position paper from the Council on Cardiopulmonary and Critical Care, American Heart Association. *Circulation* 1992; 86: 699–702.
- 69. Shimbo D, Child J, Davidson K, Geer E, Osende JI, Reddy S, et al. Exaggerated serotonin-mediated platelet reactivity as a possible link in depression and acute coronary syndromes. *Am J Cardiol* 2002; 89: 331–333.
- Willett WC, Green A, Stampfer MJ, Speizer FE, Colditz GA, Rosner B, et al. Relative and absolute excess risks of coronary heart disease among women who smoke cigarettes. *N Engl J Med* 1987; **317:** 1303–1309.
- 71. Pell JP, Haw S, Cobbe S, Newby DE, Pell AC, Fischbacher C, et al. Smoke-free legislation and hospitalizations for acute

coronary syndrome. N Engl J Med 2008; 359: 482-491.

- Doll R, Peto R. Mortality in relation to smoking: 20 years' observations on male British doctors. Br Med J 1976; 2: 1525– 1536.
- Critchley J, Capewell S. Smoking cessation for the secondary prevention of coronary heart disease. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev* 2004; 1: CD003041.
- 74. Gordon T, Kannel WB, McGee D, Dawber TR. Death and coronary attacks in men after giving up cigarette smoking. A report from the Framingham study. *Lancet* 1974; 2: 1345–1348.
- U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Public Health Service. Treating Tobacco Use and Dependence: 2008 Update. Clinical Practice Guideline. Rockville, MD, 2008.
- Gorin SS, Heck JE. Meta-analysis of the efficacy of tobacco counseling by health care providers. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev* 2004; 13: 2012–2022.
- 77. Bogers RP, Bemelmans WJ, Hoogenveen RT, Boshuizen HC, Woodward M, Knekt P, et al. Association of overweight with increased risk of coronary heart disease partly independent of blood pressure and cholesterol levels: A meta-analysis of 21 cohort studies including more than 300 000 persons. *Arch Intern Med* 2007; **167**: 1720–1728.
- McTigue K, Larson JC, Valoski A, Burke G, Kotchen J, Lewis CE, et al. Mortality and cardiac and vascular outcomes in extremely obese women. *JAMA* 2006; **296**: 79–86.
- Pi-Sunyer FX. The obesity epidemic: Pathophysiology and consequences of obesity. *Obes Res* 2002; 10(Suppl 2): 97S–104S.
- 80. JASSO Committee on Guidelines for the Management of Obesity Disease. Guidelines for the management of obesity disease 2016. Tokyo: Life Science Publishing, 2016.
- Sjöström L, Narbro K, Sjöström CD, Karason K, Larsson B, Wedel H, et al. Effects of bariatric surgery on mortality in Swedish obese subjects. *N Engl J Med* 2007; **357**: 741–752.
- 82. Jensen MD, Ryan DH, Apovian CM, Ard JD, Comuzzie AG, Donato KA, et al. 2013 AHA/ACC/TOS guideline for the management of overweight and obesity in adults: A report of the American College of Cardiology/American Heart Association Task Force on Practice Guidelines and the Obesity Society. J Am Coll Cardiol 2014; 63: 2985–3023.
- Taylor RS, Brown A, Ebrahim S, Jolliffe J, Noorani H, Rees K, et al. Exercise-based rehabilitation for patients with coronary heart disease: Systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. *Am J Med* 2004; **116**: 682–692.
- Froelicher V, Jensen D, Genter F, Sullivan M, McKirnan MD, Witztum K, et al. A randomized trial of exercise training in patients with coronary heart disease. *JAMA* 1984; 252: 1291– 1297.
- 85. Hambrecht R, Niebauer J, Marburger C, Grunze M, Kälberer B, Hauer K, et al. Various intensities of leisure time physical activity in patients with coronary artery disease: Effects on cardiorespiratory fitness and progression of coronary atherosclerotic lesions. J Am Coll Cardiol 1993; 22: 468–477.
- 86. Haskell WL, Alderman EL, Fair JM, Maron DJ, Mackey SF, Superko HR, et al. Effects of intensive multiple risk factor reduction on coronary atherosclerosis and clinical cardiac events in men and women with coronary artery disease: The Stanford Coronary Risk Intervention Project (SCRIP). *Circulation* 1994; 89: 975–990.
- 87. Haskell WL, Lee IM, Pate RR, Powell KE, Blair SN, Franklin BA, et al. Physical activity and public health: Updated recommendation for adults from the American College of Sports Medicine and the American Heart Association. *Circulation* 2007; **116**: 1081–1093.
- Boden WE, O'Rourke RA, Teo KK, Hartigan PM, Maron DJ, Kostuk WJ, et al. Optimal medical therapy with or without PCI for stable coronary disease. N Engl J Med 2007; 356: 1503–1516.
- BARI 2D Study Group; Frye RL, August P, Brooks MM, Hardison RM, Kelsey SF, MacGregor JM, et al. A randomized trial of therapies for type 2 diabetes and coronary artery disease. N Engl J Med 2009; 360: 2503–2515.
- 90. Ahn JM, Park DW, Shin ES, Koo BK, Nam CW, Doh JH, et al. Fractional flow reserve and cardiac events in coronary artery disease: Data from a Prospective IRIS-FFR Registry (Interventional cardiology Research Incooperation Society Fractional Flow Reserve). *Circulation* 2017; **135**: 2241–2251.
- Bangalore S. Applicability of the COURAGE, BARI 2D, and FREEDOM trials to contemporary practice. J Am Coll Cardiol 2016; 68: 996–998.
- 92. Ishikawa K, Kanamasa K, Ogawa I, Takenaka T, Naito T,

Kamata N, et al. Long-term nitrate treatment increases cardiac events in patients with healed myocardial infarction: Secondary Prevention Group. *Jpn Circ J* 1996; **60**: 779–788.

- Yusuf S, Peto R, Lewis J, Collins R, Sleight P. Beta blockade during and after myocardial infarction: An overview of the randomized trials. *Prog Cardiovasc Dis* 1985; 27: 335–371.
- 94. The Beta-Blocker Pooling Project (BBPP): Subgroup findings from randomized trials in post infarction patients. The Beta-Blocker Pooling Project Research Group. *Eur Heart J* 1988; 9: 8–16.
- McMurray J, Køber L, Robertson M, Dargie H, Colucci W, Lopez-Sendon J, et al. Antiarrhythmic effect of carvedilol after acute myocardial infarction: Results of the Carvedilol Post-Infarct Survival Control in Left Ventricular Dysfunction (CAPRICORN) trial. J Am Coll Cardiol 2005; 45: 525–530.
- 96. Nissen SE, Tuzcu EM, Libby P, Thompson PD, Ghali M, Garza D, et al. Effect of antihypertensive agents on cardiovascular events in patients with coronary disease and normal blood pressure: The CAMELOT study: A randomized controlled trial. JAMA 2004; 292: 2217–2225.
- 97. Poole-Wilson PA, Lubsen J, Kirwan BA, van Dalen FJ, Wagener G, Danchin N, et al. Effect of long-acting nifedipine on mortality and cardiovascular morbidity in patients with stable angina requiring treatment (ACTION trial): Randomised controlled trial. *Lancet* 2004; **364**: 849–857.
- Japanese beta-Blockers and Calcium Antagonists Myocardial Infarction (JBCMI) Investigators. Comparison of the effects of beta blockers and calcium antagonists on cardiovascular events after acute myocardial infarction in Japanese subjects. *Am J Cardiol* 2004; **93**: 969–973.
- IONA Study Group. Effect of nicorandil on coronary events in patients with stable angina: The Impact Of Nicorandil in Angina (IONA) randomised trial. *Lancet* 2002; 359: 1269–1275.
- 100. Whelton PK, Carey RM, Aronow WS, Casey DE Jr, Collins KJ, Dennison Himmelfarb C, et al. 2017ACC/AHA/AAPA/ABC/ACPM/AGS/APhA/ASH/ASPC/NMA/PCNA guideline for the prevention, detection, evaluation, and management of high blood pressure in adults: A report of the American College of Cardiology/American Heart Association Task Force on Clinical Practice Guidelines. *Hypertension* 2018; **71**: e13–e115.
- 101. Japanese Society of Hypertension Committee on Guidelines for the Management of Hypertension. Guidelines for the management of hypertension 2014. Tokyo: Japanese Society of Hypertension, 2014.
- 102. Al-Mallah MH, Tleyjeh IM, Abdel-Latif AA, Weaver WD. Angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibitors in coronary artery disease and preserved left ventricular systolic function: A systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. J Am Coll Cardiol 2006; 47: 1576–1583.
- 103. Dahlöf B, Sever PS, Poulter NR, Wedel H, Beevers DG, Caulfield M, et al. Prevention of cardiovascular events with an antihypertensive regimen of amlodipine adding perindopril as required versus atenolol adding bendroflumethiazide as required, in the Anglo-Scandinavian Cardiac Outcomes Trial-Blood Pressure Lowering Arm (ASCOT-BPLA): A multicentre randomised controlled trial. *Lancet* 2005; **366**: 895–906.
- 104. Jamerson K, Weber MA, Bakris GL, Dahlöf B, Pitt B, Shi V, et al. Benazepril plus amlodipine or hydrochlorothiazide for hypertension in high-risk patients. *N Engl J Med* 2008; 359: 2417–2428.
- 105. Pitt B, Zannad F, Remme WJ, Cody R, Castaigne A, Perez A, et al. The effect of spironolactone on morbidity and mortality in patients with severe heart failure. Randomized Aldactone Evaluation Study Investigators. N Engl J Med 1999; 341: 709– 717.
- 106. Pitt B, Remme W, Zannad F, Neaton J, Martinez F, Roniker B, et al. Eplerenone, a selective aldosterone blocker, in patients with left ventricular dysfunction after myocardial infarction. N Engl J Med 2003; 348: 1309–1321.
- 107. Mabuchi H, Kita T, Matsuzaki M, Matsuzawa Y, Nakaya N, Oikawa S, et al. Large scale cohort study of the relationship between serum cholesterol concentration and coronary events with low-dose simvastatin therapy in Japanese patients with hypercholesterolemia and coronary heart disease: Secondary prevention cohort study of the Japan Lipid Intervention Trial (J-LIT). Circ J 2002; 66: 1096–1100.
- 108. Action to Control Cardiovascular Risk in Diabetes Study Group; Gerstein HC, Miller ME, Byington RP, Goff DC Jr, Bigger JT, Buse JB, et al. Effects of intensive glucose lowering in type 2 diabetes. N Engl J Med 2008; 358: 2545–2559.

- 109. Japan Diabetes Society. Japanese clinical practice guideline for
- diabetes 2016. Tokyo: Nankodo, 2016.
 110. Erdmann E, Dormandy JA, Charbonnel B, Massi-Benedetti M, Moules IK, Skene AM, et al. The effect of pioglitazone on recurrent myocardial infarction in 2,445 patients with type 2 diabetes and previous myocardial infarction: Results from the PROactive (PROactive 05) Study. J Am Coll Cardiol 2007; 49: 1772–1780.
- 111. Zinman B, Wanner C, Lachin JM, Fitchett D, Bluhmki E, Hantel S, et al. Empagliflozin, cardiovascular outcomes, and mortality in type 2 diabetes. *N Engl J Med* 2015; **373**: 2117–2128.
- 112. Neal B, Perkovic V, Mahaffey KW, de Zeeuw D, Fulcher G, Erondu N, et al. Canagliflozin and cardiovascular and renal events in Type 2 diabetes. *N Engl J Med* 2017; **377**: 644–657.
- 113. Marso SP, Daniels GH, Brown-Frandsen K, Kristensen P, Mann JF, Nauck MA, et al. Liraglutide and cardiovascular outcomes in Type 2 diabetes. *N Engl J Med* 2016; **375**: 311–322.
- 114. Baigent C, Keech A, Kearney PM, Blackwell L, Buck G, Pollicino C, et al. Efficacy and safety of cholesterol-lowering treatment: Prospective meta-analysis of data from 90,056 participants in 14 randomised trials of statins. *Lancet* 2005; 366: 1267–1278.
- 115. Okazaki S, Yokoyama T, Miyauchi K, Shimada K, Kurata T, Sato H, et al. Early statin treatment in patients with acute coronary syndrome: Demonstration of the beneficial effect on atherosclerotic lesions by serial volumetric intravascular ultrasound analysis during half a year after coronary event: The ESTABLISH Study. *Circulation* 2004; **110**: 1061–1068.
- 116. Hiro T, Kimura T, Morimoto T, Miyauchi K, Nakagawa Y, Yamagishi M, et al. Effect of intensive statin therapy on regression of coronary atherosclerosis in patients with acute coronary syndrome: A multicenter randomized trial evaluated by volumetric intravascular ultrasound using pitavastatin versus atorvastatin (JAPAN-ACS [Japan assessment of pitavastatin and atorvastatin in acute coronary syndrome] study). J Am Coll Cardiol 2009; 54: 293–302.
- 117. Tsujita K, Sugiyama S, Sumida H, Shimomura H, Yamashita T, Yamanaga K, et al. Impact of dual lipid-lowering strategy with ezetimibe and atorvastatin on coronary plaque regression in patients with percutaneous coronary intervention: The multicenter randomized controlled PRECISE- IVUS trial. J Am Coll Cardiol 2015; 66: 495–507.
- 118. Cannon CP, Blazing MA, Giugliano RP, McCagg A, White JA, Theroux P, et al. Ezetimibe added to statin therapy after acute coronary syndromes. N Engl J Med 2015; **372:** 2387–2397.
- 119. Sabatine MS, Giugliano RP, Keech AC, Honarpour N, Wiviott SD, Murphy SA et al. Evolocumab and clinical outcomes in patients with cardiovascular disease. *N Engl J Med* 2017; **376**: 1713–1722.
- 120. Schwartz GG, Steg PG, Szarek M, Bhatt DL, Bittner VA, Diaz R, et al. Alirocumab and cardiovascular outcomes after acute coronary syndrome. *N Engl J Med* 2018; **379**: 2097–2107.
- 121. Ibanez B, James S, Agewall S, Antunes MJ, Bucciarelli-Ducci C, Bueno H, et al. 2017 ESC guidelines for the management of acute myocardial infarction in patients presenting with ST-segment elevation: The Task Force for the Management of Acute Myocardial Infarction in Patients Presenting with ST-segment Elevation of the European Society of Cardiology (ESC). Eur Heart J 2018; 39: 119–177.
- 122. Taguchi I, Iimuro S, Iwata H, Takashima H, Abe M, Amiya E, et al. High-dose versus low-dose pitavastatin in Japanese patients with stable coronary artery disease (REAL-CAD): A randomized superiority trial. *Circulation* 2018; **137**: 1997–2009.
- 123. Yokoyama M, Origasa H, Matsuzaki M, Matsuzawa Y, Saito Y, Ishikawa Y, et al. Effects of eicosapentaenoic acid on major coronary events in hypercholesterolaemic patients (JELIS): A randomised open-label, blinded endpoint analysis. *Lancet* 2007; 369: 1090–1098.
- 124. Matsuzaki M, Yokoyama M, Saito Y, Origasa H, Ishikawa Y, Oikawa S, et al. Incremental effects of eicosapentaenoic acid on cardiovascular events in statin-treated patients with coronary artery disease. *Circ J* 2009; 73: 1283–1290.
- 125. Dietary supplementation with n-3 polyunsaturated fatty acids and vitamin E after myocardial infarction: Results of the GISSI-Prevenzione trial. Gruppo Italiano per lo Studio della Sopravvivenza nell'Infarto miocardico [published errata appear in *Lancet* 2001; **357**: 642 and *Lancet* 2007; **369**: 106]. *Lancet* 1999; **354**: 447–455.
- 126. Studer M, Briel M, Leimenstoll B, Glass TR, Bucher HC. Effect of different antilipidemic agents and diets on mortality: A

systematic review. Arch Intern Med 2005; 165: 725-730.

- 127. Bhatt DL, Steg PG, Miller M, Brinton EA, Jacobson TA, Ketchum SB, et al. Cardiovascular risk reduction with icosapent ethyl for hypertriglyceridemia. N Engl J Med 2019; 380: 11–22.
- Bezafibrate Infarction Prevention (BIP) study. Secondary prevention by raising HDL cholesterol and reducing triglycerides in patients with coronary artery disease. *Circulation* 2000; 102: 21–27.
- 129. Tenenbaum A, Motro M, Fisman EZ, Tanne D, Boyko V, Behar S. Bezafibrate for the secondary prevention of myocardial infarction in patients with metabolicsyndrome. *Arch Intern Med* 2005; 165: 1154–1160.
- 130. Jun M, Foote C, Lv J, Neal B, Patel A, Nicholls SJ, et al. Effects of fibrates on cardiovascular outcomes: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Lancet* 2010; 375: 1875–1884.
- 131. Hlatky MA, Boothroyd DB, Bravata DM, Boersma E, Booth J, Brooks MM, et al. Coronary artery bypass surgery compared with percutaneous coronary interventions for multivessel disease: A collaborative analysis of individual patient data from ten randomised trials. *Lancet* 2009; **373**: 1190–1197.
- 132. Jeremias A, Kaul S, Rosengart TK, Gruberg L, Brown DL. The impact of revascularization on mortality in patients with nonacute coronary artery disease. *Am J Med* 2009; **122**: 152–161.
- 133. Yusuf S, Zucker D, Peduzzi P, Fisher LD, Takaro T, Kennedy JW, et al. Effect of coronary artery bypass graft surgery on survival: Overview of 10-year results from randomised trials by the Coronary Artery Bypass Graft Surgery Trialists Collaboration. *Lancet* 1994; **344:** 563–570.
- 134. De Bruyne B, Pijls NH, Kalesan B, Barbato E, Tonino PA, Piroth Z, et al. Fractional flow reserve-guided PCI versus medical therapy in stable coronary disease. N Engl J Med 2012; 367: 991–1001.
- Velazquez EJ, Lee KL, Deja MA, Jain A, Sopko G, Marchenko A, et al. Coronary-artery bypass surgery in patients with left ventricular dysfunction. N Engl J Med 2011; 364: 1607–1616.
- 136. Hannan EL, Samadashvili Z, Cozzens K, Walford G, Jacobs AK, Holmes DR, et al. Comparative outcomes for patients who do and do not undergo percutaneous coronary intervention for stable coronary artery disease in New York. *Circulation* 2012; 125: 1870–1879.
- 137. Hannan EL, Wu C, Walford G, Culliford AT, Gold JP, Smith CR, et al. Drug-eluting stents vs. coronary-artery bypass grafting in multivessel coronary disease. N Engl J Med 2008; 358: 331–341.
- 138. Caracciolo EA, Davis KB, Sopko G, Kaiser GC, Corley SD, Schaff H, et al. Comparison of surgical and medical group survival in patients with left main equivalent coronary artery disease: Long-term CASS experience. *Circulation* 1995; **91**: 2335–2344.
- 139. Authors/Task Force members; Windecker S, Kolh P, Alfonso F, Collet JP, Cremer J, Falk V, et al. 2014 ESC/EACTS Guidelines on myocardial revascularization: The Task Force on Myocardial Revascularization of the European Society of Cardiology (ESC) and the European Association for Cardio-Thoracic Surgery (EACTS) Developed with the special contribution of the European Association of Percutaneous Cardiovascular Interventions (EAPCI). Eur Heart J 2014; 35: 2541–2619.
- 140. Califf RM, Phillips HR 3rd, Hindman MC, Mark DB, Lee KL, Behar VS, et al. Prognostic value of a coronary artery jeopardy score. J Am Coll Cardiol 1985; 5: 1055–1063.
- 141. De Silva K, Morton G, Sicard P, Chong E, Indermuehle A, Clapp B, et al. Prognostic utility of BCIS myocardial jeopardy score for classification of coronary disease burden and completeness of revascularization. *Am J Cardiol* 2013; **111**: 172–177.
- 142. Mohr FW, Morice MC, Kappetein AP, Feldman TE, Ståhle E, Colombo A, et al. Coronary artery bypass graft surgery versus percutaneous coronary intervention in patients with three-vessel disease and left main coronary disease: 5-year follow-up of the randomised, clinical SYNTAX trial. *Lancet* 2013; **381**: 629–638.
- 143. Head SJ, Davierwala PM, Serruys PW, Redwood SR, Colombo A, Mack MJ, et al. Coronary artery bypass grafting vs. percutaneous coronary intervention for patients with three-vessel disease: Final five-year follow-up of the SYNTAX trial. *Eur Heart J* 2014; **35**: 2821–2830.
- 144. Mohr FW, Rastan AJ, Serruys PW, Kappetein AP, Holmes DR, Pomar JL, et al. Complex coronary anatomy in coronary artery bypass graft surgery: Impact of complex coronary anatomy in modern bypass surgery? Lessons learned from the SYNTAX trial after two years. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 2011; 141: 130–140.
- 145. Farooq V, van Klaveren D, Steyerberg EW, Meliga E, Vergouwe

Y, Chieffo A, et al. Anatomical and clinical characteristics to guide decision making between coronary artery bypass surgery and percutaneous coronary intervention for individual patients: Development and validation of SYNTAX score II. Lancet 2013; 381: 639-650

- 146. Campos CM, van Klaveren D, Farooq V, Simonton CA, Kappetein AP, Sabik JF, et al. Long-term forecasting and comparison of mortality in the Evaluation of the Xience Everolimus Eluting Stent vs. Coronary Artery Bypass Surgery for Effectiveness of Left Main Revascularization (EXCEL) trial: Prospective validation of the SYNTAX Score II. Eur Heart J 2015; 36: 1231-1241.
- 147. Campos CM, van Klaveren D, Iqbal J, Onuma Y, Zhang YJ, Garcia-Garcia HM, et al. Predictive performance of SYNTAX Score II in patients with left main and multivessel coronary artery disease: Analysis of CREDO-Kyoto registry. Circ J 2014; 78: 1942-1949.
- 148. Sotomi Y, Cavalcante R, van Klaveren D, Ahn JM, Lee CW, de Winter RJ, et al. Individual long-term mortality prediction following either coronary stenting or bypass surgery in patients with multivessel and/or unprotected left main disease: An external validation of the SYNTAX Score II Model in the 1,480 patients of the BEST and PRECOMBAT Randomized Controlled Trials. JACC Cardiovasc Interv 2016; 9: 1564-1572.
- 149. Campos CM, Garcia-Garcia HM, van Klaveren D, Ishibashi Y, Cho YK, Valgimigli M, et al. Validity of SYNTAX score II for risk stratification of percutaneous coronary interventions: A patient-level pooled analysis of 5,433 patients enrolled in contemporary coronary stent trials. Int J Cardiol 2015; 187: 111 - 115
- 150. Parsonnet V, Dean D, Bernstein AD. A method of uniform stratification of risk for evaluating the results of surgery in acquired adult heart disease. Circulation 1989; 79: I3-II2.
- 151. EuroSCORE Study Group. EuroSCORE interactive calculator. http://www.euroscore.org/calc.html (accessed February 24, 2021).
- 152. Nashef SA, Roques F, Michel P, Gauducheau E, Lemeshow S, Salamon R. European system for cardiac operative risk evaluation (EuroSCORE). Eur J Cardiothorac Surg 1999; 16: 9-13.
- 153. Clark RE. It is time for a national cardiothoracic surgical data base. Ann Thorac Surg 1989; 48: 755-756.
- 154. Shroyer AL, Coombs LP, Peterson ED, Eiken MC, DeLong ER, Chen A, et al. The Society of Thoracic Surgeons: 30-day operative mortality and morbidity risk models. Ann Thorac Surg 2003: 75: 1856-1864.
- 155. Shahian DM, O'Brien SM, Filardo G, Ferraris VA, Haan CK, Rich JB, et al. The Society of Thoracic Surgeons 2008 cardiac surgery risk models: Part 1 - coronary artery bypass grafting surgery. Ann Thorac Surg 2009; 88(Suppl): S2-S22
- 156. Shahian DM, O'Brien SM, Filardo G, Ferraris VA, Haan CK, Rich JB, et al. The Society of Thoracic Surgeons 2008 cardiac surgery risk models: Part 3 - valve plus coronary artery bypass grafting surgery. Ann Thorac Surg 2009; 88(Suppl): S43-S62.
- 157. Shahian DM, Jacobs JP, Badhwar V, Kurlansky PA, Furnary AP, Cleveland JC, et al. The Society of Thoracic Surgeons 2018 adult cardiac surgery risk models: Part 1 - background, design considerations, and model development. Ann Thorac Surg 2018; 105: 1411-1418
- 158. Jacobs JP, Shahian DM, D'Agostino RS, Mayer JE, Kozower BD, Badhwar V, et al. The Society of Thoracic Surgeons national database 2018 annual report. Ann Thorac Surg 2018; 106: 1603-1611.
- 159. Nashef SA, Roques F, Sharples LD, Nilsson J, Smith C, Goldstone AR, et al. EuroSCORE II. *Eur J Cardiothorac Surg* 2012; **41**: 734–744.
- 160. Poullis M, Fabri B, Pullan M, Chalmers J. Sampling time error in EuroSCORE II. Interact Cardiovasc Thorac Surg 2012; 14: 640 - 641.
- 161. Motomura N, Takamoto S. Recent developments of Japan Cardiovascular Surgery database. In: Yamaguchi T, editor. Annual review cardiology 2009. Tokyo: Chugai-Igakusha, 2009; 348 - 354.
- 162. Motomura N, Miyata H, Tsukihara H, Okada M, Takamoto S, Japan Cardiovascular Surgery Database Organization. First report on 30-day and operative mortality in risk model of isolated coronary artery bypass grafting in Japan. Jpn Ann Thorac Surg 2008; 86: 1866-1872.
- 163. Miyata H, Motomura N, Tsukihara H, Takamoto S, Japan Cardiovascular Surgery Database. Risk models including high-risk cardiovascular procedures: Clinical predictors of mortality and

morbidity. Eur J Cardiothorac Surg 2011; 39: 667-674.

- 164. Mandel M, Simchen ES, Zitser-Gurevich Y. Does the EuroSCORE perform well on the STS population? Eur J Cardiothorac Surg 2003; 24: 336–337
- 165. Borde D, Gandhe U, Hargave N, Pandey K, Khullar V. The application of European system for cardiac operative risk evaluation II (EuroSCORE II) and Society of Thoracic Surgeons (STS) risk-score for risk stratification in Indian patients undergoing cardiac surgery. Ann Card Anaesth 2013; 16: 163-166.
- 166. Sullivan PG, Wallach JD, Ioannidis JP. Meta-analysis comparing established risk prediction models (EuroSCORE II, STS score, and ACEF score) for perioperative mortality during cardiac surgery. Am J Cardiol 2016; 118: 1574-1582
- 167. Kurazumi H, Mikamo A, Fukamitsu G, Kudou T, Sato M, Suzuki R, et al. Validation of the JapanSCORE versus the logistic EuroSCORE for predicting operative mortality of cardiovascular surgery in Yamaguchi University Hospital. Gen Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 2011; 59: 599-604
- 168. Umehara N, Saitoh S, Tsukui H, Yamazaki K. Relevance of JapanSCORE: Comparison with logistic EuroSCORE. Jpn J Cardiovas Surg 2013; **42**: 94–102. 169. Nabel EG, Braunwald E. A tale of coronary artery disease and
- myocardial infarction. N Engl J Med 2012; 366: 54-63.
- 170. Patel MR, Calhoon JH, Dehmer GJ, Grantham JA, Maddox TM, Maron DJ, et al. ACC/AATS/AHA/ASE/ASNC/SCAI/ SCCT/STS 2017 appropriate use criteria for coronary revascularization in patients with stable ischemic heart disease: A report of the American College of Cardiology Appropriate Use Criteria Task Force, American Association for Thoracic Surgery, American Heart Association, American Society of Echocardiography, American Society of Nuclear Cardiology, Society for Cardiovascular Angiography and Interventions, Society of Cardiovascular Computed Tomography, and Society of Thoracic Surgeons. J Am Coll Cardiol 2017; 69: 2212-2241
- 171. Ohya M, Kadota K, Toyofuku M, Morimoto T, Higami H, Fuku Y, et al. Long-term outcomes after stent implantation for left main coronary artery (from the multicenter assessing optimal percutaneous coronary intervention for left main coronary artery stenting registry). Am J Cardiol 2017; 119: 355-364.
- 172. Farkouh ME, Domanski M, Sleeper LA, Siami FS, Dangas G, Mack M, et al. Strategies for multivessel revascularization in patients with diabetes. N Engl J Med 2012; 367: 2375-2384
- 173. Head SJ, Milojevic M, Daemen J, Ahn JM, Boersma E, Christiansen EH, et al. Mortality after coronary artery bypass grafting versus percutaneous coronary intervention with stenting for coronary artery disease: A pooled analysis of individual patient data. Lancet 2018; 391: 939-948.
- 174. Kohsaka S, Goto M, Nagai T, Lee VV, Elayda M, Furukawa Y, et al. Impact of diabetes among revascularized patients in Japan and the U.S. Diabetes Care 2012; 35: 654-659
- 175. Inohara T, Kohsaka S, Goto M, Furukawa Y, Fukushima M, Sakata R, et al. Hypothesis of long-term outcome after coronary revascularization in Japanese patients compared to multiethnic groups in the US. *PLoS One* 2015; **10:** e0128252.
- 176. Kapoor JR, Gienger AL, Ardehali R, Varghese R, Perez MV, Sundaram V, et al. Isolated disease of the proximal left anterior descending artery comparing the effectiveness of percutaneous coronary interventions and coronary artery bypass surgery. JACC Cardiovasc Interv 2008; 1: 483-491.
- 177. Aziz O, Rao C, Panesar SS, Jones C, Morris S, Darzi A, et al. Meta-analysis of minimally invasive internal thoracic artery bypass versus percutaneous revascularisation for isolated lesions of the left anterior descending artery. BMJ 2007; 334: 617.
- 178. Byrne RA, Serruys PW, Baumbach A, Escaned J, Fajadet J, James S, et al. Report of a European Society of Cardiology-European Association of Percutaneous cardiovascular Interventions task force on the evaluation of coronary stents in Europe: Executive summary. Eur Heart J 2015; 36: 2608-2620.
- 179. Kishi K, Kimura T, Morimoto T, Namura M, Muramatsu T, Nishikawa H, et al. Sirolimus-eluting stent implantation for ostial left anterior descending coronary artery lesions: Three-year outcome from the j-Cypher Registry. Circ Cardiovasc Interv 2011; 4: 362-370.
- 180. Hannan EL, Zhong Y, Walford G, Holmes DR, Venditti FJ, Berger PB, et al. Coronary artery bypass graft surgery versus drug-eluting stents for patients with isolated proximal left anterior descending disease. J Am Coll Cardiol 2014; 64: 2717-2726.
- 181. Fihn SD, Gardin JM, Abrams J, Berra K, Blankenship JC Dallas AP, et al. 2012 ACCF/AHA/ACP/AATS/PCNA/SCAI/

STS guideline for the diagnosis and management of patients with stable ischemic heart disease: A report of the American College of Cardiology Foundation/American Heart Association Task Force on Practice Guidelines, and the American College of Physicians, American Association for Thoracic Surgery, Preventive Cardiovascular Nurses Association, Society for Cardiovascular Angiography and Interventions, and Society of Thoracic Surgeons. J Am Coll Cardiol 2012: **60**: e44–e164.

- Thoracic Surgeons. J Am Coll Cardiol 2012; 60: e44-e164.
 182. Gada H, Kirtane AJ, Kereiakes DJ, Bangalore S, Moses JW, Généreux P, et al. Meta-analysis of trials on mortality after percutaneous coronary intervention compared with medical therapy in patients with stable coronary heart disease and objective evidence of myocardial ischemia. Am J Cardiol 2015; 115: 1194-1199.
- 183. Chaitman BR, Hardison RM, Adler D, Gebhart S, Grogan M, Ocampo S, et al. The Bypass Angioplasty Revascularization Investigation 2 Diabetes randomized trial of different treatment strategies in type 2 diabetes mellitus with stable ischemic heart disease: Impact of treatment strategy on cardiac mortality and myocardial infarction. *Circulation* 2009; **120**: 2529–2540.
- 184. Yamaji K, Shiomi H, Morimoto T, Nakatsuma K, Toyota T, Ono K, et al. Effects of age and sex on clinical outcomes after percutaneous coronary intervention relative to coronary artery bypass grafting in patients with triple-vessel coronary artery disease. *Circulation* 2016; **133**: 1878–1891.
- 185. Bangalore S, Guo Y, Samadashvili Z, Blecker S, Xu J, Hannan EL. Everolimus-eluting stents or bypass surgery for multivessel coronary disease. *N Engl J Med* 2015; **372**: 1213–1222.
- 186. Veterans Administration Coronary Artery Bypass Surgery Cooperative Study Group. Eleven-year survival in the Veterans Administration randomized trial of coronary bypass surgery for stable angina. N Engl J Med 1984; 311: 1333–1339.
- Coronary Artery Surgery Study (CASS): A randomized trial of coronary artery bypass surgery. Survival data. *Circulation* 1983; 68: 939–950.
- 188. European Coronary Surgery Study Group. Long-term results of prospective randomised study of coronary artery bypass surgery in stable angina pectoris. *Lancet* 1982; 2: 1173–1180.
- 189. Park SJ, Kim YH, Park DW, Yun SC, Ahn JM, Song HG, et al. Randomized trial of stents versus bypass surgery for left main coronary artery disease. N Engl J Med 2011; 364: 1718– 1727.
- 190. Taggart DP, Kaul S, Boden WE, Ferguson TB, Guyton RA, Mack MJ, et al. Revascularization for unprotected left main stem coronary artery stenosis stenting or surgery. J Am Coll Cardiol 2008; 51: 885–892.
- 191. Buszman PE, Buszman PP, Kiesz RS, Bochenek A, Trela B, Konkolewska M, et al. Early and long-term results of unprotected left main coronary artery stenting: The LE MANS (Left Main Coronary Artery Stenting) registry. *J Am Coll Cardiol* 2009; 54: 1500–1511.
- 192. Morice MC, Serruys PW, Kappetein AP, Feldman TE, Ståhle E, Colombo A, et al. Five-year outcomes in patients with left main disease treated with either percutaneous coronary intervention or coronary artery bypass grafting in the synergy between percutaneous coronary intervention with taxus and cardiac surgery trial. *Circulation* 2014; **129**: 2388–2394.
- 193. Stone GW, Sabik JF, Serruys PW, Simonton CA, Généreux P, Puskas J, et al. Everolimus-eluting stents or bypass surgery for left main coronary artery disease. *N Engl J Med* 2016; 375: 2223–2235.
- 194. Mäkikallio T, Holm NR, Lindsay M, Spence MS, Erglis A, Menown IB, et al. Percutaneous coronary angioplasty versus coronary artery bypass grafting in treatment of unprotected left main stenosis (NOBLE): A prospective, randomised, open-label, non-inferiority trial. *Lancet* 2016; **388**: 2743–2752.
- 195. Testa L, Latib A, Bollati M, Antonio Montone R, Colombo A, Crea F, et al. Unprotected left main revascularization: Percutaneous coronary intervention versus coronary artery bypass. An updated systematic review and meta-analysis of randomised controlled trials. *PLoS One* 2017; **12**: e0179060.
- 196. De Rosa S, Polimeni A, Sabatino J, Indolfi C. Long-term outcomes of coronary artery bypass grafting versus stent-PCI for unprotected left main disease: A meta-analysis. *BMC Cardiovasc Disord* 2017; 17: 240.
- 197. Khan MR, Kayani WT, Ahmad W, Hira RS, Virani SS, Hamzeh I, et al. Meta-analysis of comparison of 5-year outcomes of percutaneous coronary intervention versus coronary artery bypass grafting in patients with unprotected left main coronary artery in the era of drug-eluting stents. *Am J Cardiol* 2017; **120**:

1514-1520.

- 198. Palmerini T, Serruys P, Kappetein AP, Genereux P, Riva DD, Reggiani LB, et al. Clinical outcomes with percutaneous coronary revascularization vs coronary artery bypass grafting surgery in patients with unprotected left main coronary artery disease: A meta-analysis of 6 randomized trials and 4,686 patients. Am Heart J 2017; 190: 54–63.
- 199. Farooq V, Serruys PW, Garcia-Garcia HM, Zhang Y, Bourantas CV, Holmes DR, et al. The negative impact of incomplete angiographic revascularization on clinical outcomes and its association with total occlusions: The SYNTAX (Synergy between Percutaneous Coronary Intervention with Taxus and Cardiac Surgery) trial. J Am Coll Cardiol 2013; 61: 282–294.
- Cardiac Surgery) trial. J Am Coll Cardiol 2013; 61: 282–294.
 200. Garcia S, Sandoval Y, Roukoz H, Adabag S, Canoniero M, Yannopoulos D, et al. Outcomes after complete versus incomplete revascularization of patients with multivessel coronary artery disease: A meta-analysis of 89,883 patients enrolled in randomized clinical trials and observational studies. J Am Coll Cardiol 2013; 62: 1421–1431.
- 201. Head SJ, Mack MJ, Holmes DR, Mohr FW, Morice MC, Serruys PW, et al. Incidence, predictors and outcomes of incomplete revascularization after percutaneous coronary intervention and coronary artery bypass grafting: A subgroup analysis of 3-year SYNTAX data. *Eur J Cardiothorac Surg* 2012; **41**: 535–541.
- 202. Kim YH, Park DW, Lee JY, Kim WJ, Yun SC, Ahn JM, et al. Impact of angiographic complete revascularization after drug-eluting stent implantation or coronary artery bypass graft surgery for multivessel coronary artery disease. *Circulation* 2011; **123**: 2373–2381.
- 203. Toth G, De Bruyne B, Casselman F, De Vroey F, Pyxaras S, Di Serafino L, et al. Fractional flow reserve-guided versus angiography-guided coronary artery bypass graft surgery. *Circulation* 2013; **128**: 1405–1411.
- 204. Sobolev BG, Fradet G, Kuramoto L, Rogula B. The occurrence of adverse events in relation to time after registration for coronary artery bypass surgery: A population-based observational study. J Cardiothorac Surg 2013; 8: 74.
- 205. Graham MM, Knudtson ML, O'Neill BJ, Ross DB, Canadian Cardiovascular Society Access to Care Working Group. Treating the right patient at the right time: Access to cardiac catheterization, percutaneous coronary intervention and cardiac surgery. *Can J Cardiol* 2006; **22**: 679–683.
- 206. Hannan EL, Samadashvili Z, Walford G, Holmes DR, Jacobs A, Sharma S, et al. Predictors and outcomes of ad hoc versus non-ad hoc percutaneous coronary interventions. *JACC Cardiovasc Interv* 2009; 2: 350–356.
- 207. Toyota T, Morimoto T, Shiomi H, Ando K, Ono K, Shizuta S, et al. Ad hoc vs. non-ad hoc percutaneous coronary intervention strategies in patients with stable coronary artery disease. *Circ J* 2017; 81: 458–467.
- 208. Shah M, Gajanana D, Wheeler DS, Punjabi C, Maludum O, Mezue K, et al. Effects of staged versus ad hoc percutaneous coronary interventions on renal function: Is there a benefit to staging? *Cardiovasc Revasc Med* 2017; **18**: 344–348.
- Dangas GD, George JC, Weintraub W, Popma JJ. Timing of staged percutaneous coronary intervention in multivessel coronary artery disease. *JACC Cardiovasc Interv* 2010; 3: 1096– 1099.
- 210. Blankenship JC, Moussa ID, Chambers CC, Brilakis ES, Haldis TA, Morrison DA, et al. Staging of multivessel percutaneous coronary interventions: An expert consensus statement from the Society for Cardiovascular Angiography and Interventions. *Catheter Cardiovasc Interv* 2012; **79:** 1138–1152.
- Catheter Cardiovasc Interv 2012; 79: 1138–1152.
 211. McMurray JJV, Adamopoulos S, Anker SD, Auricchio A, Bohm M, Dickstein K, et al. ESC guidelines for the diagnosis and treatment of acute and chronic heart failure 2012. Eur Heart J 2012; 33: 1787–1847.
- 212. Velazquez EJ, Lee KL, Jones RH, Al-Khalidi HR, Hill JA, Panza JA, et al. Coronary-artery bypass surgery in patients with ischemic cardiomyopathy. *N Engl J Med* 2016; **374**: 1511– 1520.
- 213. Marui A, Nishiwaki N, Komiya T, Hanyu M, Tanaka S, Kimura T, et al. Comparison of 5-year outcomes after coronary artery bypass grafting in heart failure patients with versus without preserved left ventricular ejection fraction (from the CREDO-Kyoto CABG Registry Cohort-2). *Am J Cardiol* 2015; **116**: 580–586.
- 214. Sardi GL, Gaglia MA, Maluenda G, Torguson R, Laynez-Carnicero A, Ben-Dor I, et al. Outcome of percutaneous coronary

intervention utilizing drug-eluting stents in patients with reduced left ventricular ejection fraction. *Am J Cardiol* 2012; **109:** 344–351.

- 215. Galassi AR, Boukhris M, Toma A, Elhadj Z, Laroussi L, Gaemperli O, et al. Percutaneous coronary intervention of chronic total occlusions in patients with low left ventricular ejection fraction. JACC Cardiovasc Interv 2017; 10: 2158–2170.
- 216. Marui A, Kimura T, Nishiwaki N, Mitsudo K, Komiya T, Hanyu M, et al. Comparison of five-year outcomes of coronary artery bypass grafting versus percutaneous coronary intervention in patients with left ventricular ejection fractions ≤50% versus >50% (from the CREDO-Kyoto PCI/CABG Registry Cohort-2). Am J Cardiol 2014; 114: 988–996.
- 217. Bangalore S, Guo Y, Samadashvili Z, Blecker S, Hannan EL. Revascularization in patients with multivessel coronary artery disease and severe left ventricular systolic dysfunction: Everolimuseluting stents versus coronary artery bypass graft surgery. *Circulation* 2016; 133: 2132–2140.
- Velazquez EJ, Williams JB, Yow E, Shaw LK, Lee KL, Phillips HR, et al. Long-term survival of patients with ischemic cardiomyopathy treated by coronary artery bypass grafting versus medical therapy. *Ann Thorac Surg* 2012; **93**: 523–530.
- 219. Briguori C, Sarais C, Pagnotta P, Airoldi F, Liistro F, Sgura F, et al. Elective versus provisional intra-aortic balloon pumping in high-risk percutaneous transluminal coronary angioplasty. *Am Heart J* 2003; 145: 700–707.
- 220. Mishra S, Chu WW, Torguson R, Wolfram R, Deible R, Suddath WO, et al. Role of prophylactic intra-aortic balloon pump in high-risk patients undergoing percutaneous coronary intervention. *Am J Cardiol* 2006; **98:** 608–612.
- 221. Perera D, Stables R, Thomas M, Booth J, Pitt M, Blackman D, et al. Elective intra-aortic balloon counterpulsation during high-risk percutaneous coronary intervention: A randomized controlled trial. JAMA 2010; 304: 867–874.
- 222. Meraj PM, Doshi R, Schreiber T, Maini B, O'Neill WW. Impella 2.5 initiated prior to unprotected left main PCI in acute myocardial infarction complicated by cardiogenic shock improves early survival. J Interv Cardiol 2017; 30: 256–263.
- 223. Ouweneel DM, Eriksen E, Sjauw KD, van Dongen IM, Hirsch A, Packer EJ, et al. Percutaneous mechanical circulatory support versus intra-aortic balloon pump in cardiogenic shock after acute myocardial infarction. J Am Coll Cardiol 2017; 69: 278–287.
- 224. Attaran S, Shaw M, Bond L, Pullan MD, Fabri BM. Does off-pump coronary artery revascularization improve the long-term survival in patients with ventricular dysfunction?: Interact. *Cardiovasc Thorac Surg* 2010; 11: 442–446.
- 225. Xia L, Ji Q, Song K, Shen J, Shi Y, Ma R, et al. Early clinical outcomes of on-pump beating-heart versus off-pump technique for surgical revascularization in patients with severe left ventricular dysfunction: The experience of a single center. J Cardiothorac Surg 2017; 12: 11.
- 226. Munos E, Calderon J, Pillois X, Lafitte S, Ouattara A, Labrousse L, et al. Beating-heart coronary artery bypass surgery with the help of mini extracorporeal circulation for very high-risk patients. *Perfusion* 2011; 26: 123–131.
- 227. White HD, Norris RM, Brown MA, Brandt PW, Whitlock RM, Wild CJ. Left ventricular end-systolic volume as the major determinant of survival after recovery from myocardial infarction. *Circulation* 1987; **76:** 44–51.
- 228. Di Donato M, Castelvecchio S, Menicanti L. End-systolic volume following surgical ventricular reconstruction impacts survival in patients with ischaemic dilated cardiomyopathy. *Eur J Heart Fail* 2010; **12**: 375–381.
- 229. Witkowski TG, ten Brinke EA, Delgado V, Ng AC, Bertini M, Marsan NA, et al. Surgical ventricular restoration for patients with ischemic heart failure: Determinants of two-year survival. *Ann Thorac Surg* 2011; **91**: 491–498.
- 230. Michler RE, Rouleau JL, Al-Khalidi HR, Bonow RO, Pellikka PA, Pohost GM, et al. Insights from the STICH trial: Change in left ventricular size after coronary artery bypass grafting with and without surgical ventricular reconstruction. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 2013; 146: 1139–1145.e6.
- Latini R, Masson S, Staszewsky L, Barlera S. Neurohormonal modulation in heart failure of ischemic etiology: Correlates with left ventricular remodeling. *Curr Heart Fail Rep* 2006; 3: 157– 163.
- 232. Schenk S, McCarthy PM, Starling RC, Hoercher KJ, Hail MD, Ootaki Y, et al. Neurohormonal response to left ventricular reconstruction surgery in ischemic cardiomyopathy. J Thorac

Cardiovasc Surg 2004; 128: 38-43.

- 233. Di Donato M, Fantini F, Toso A, Castelvecchio S, Menicanti L, Annest L, et al. Impact of surgical ventricular reconstruction on stroke volume in patients with ischemic cardiomyopathy. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 2010; 140: 1325–1331.e1.
- 234. Klein MD, Herman MV, Gorlin R. A hemodynamic study of left ventricular aneurysm. *Circulation* 1967; **35:** 614–630.
- 235. Kitamura S, Kay JH, Krohn BG, Magidson O, Dunne EF. Geometric and functional abnormalities of the left ventricle with a chronic localized noncontractile area. *Am J Cardiol* 1973; 31: 701–707.
- 236. Tulner SA, Steendijk P, Klautz RJ, Bax JJ, Schalij MJ, van der Wall EE, et al. Surgical ventricular restoration in patients with ischemic dilated cardiomyopathy: Evaluation of systolic and diastolic ventricular function, wall stress, dyssynchrony, and mechanical efficiency by pressure-volume loops. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 2006; 132: 610–620.
- 237. Adhyapak SM, Parachuri VR. Architecture of the left ventricle: Insights for optimal surgical ventricular restoration. *Heart Fail Rev* 2010; **15**: 73–83.
- 238. Calafiore AM, Iacò AL, Amata D, Castello C, Varone E, Falconieri F, et al. Left ventricular surgical restoration for anteroseptal scars: Volume versus shape. *J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg* 2010; **139**: 1123–1130.
- 239. Jones RH, Velazquez EJ, Michler RE, et al. Coronary bypass surgery with or without surgical ventricular reconstruction. N Engl J Med 2009; 360: 1705–1717.
- Buckberg GD, Athanasuleas CL. The STICH trial: Misguided conclusions. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 2009; 138: 1060– 1064.e2.
- 241. Wakasa S, Matsui Y, Kobayashi J, Cho Y, Yaku H, Matsumiya G, et al. Estimating postoperative left ventricular volume: Identification of responders to surgical ventricular reconstruction. *J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg* 2018; **156**: 2088–2096.e3.
- 242. Suma H, Anyanwu AC. Current status of surgical ventricular restoration for ischemic cardiomyopathy. *Semin Thorac Cardiovasc Surg* 2012; 24: 294–301.
- 243. Wakasa S, Matsui Y, Isomura T, Takanashi S, Yamaguchi A, Komiya T, et al. Risk scores for predicting mortality after surgical ventricular reconstruction for ischemic cardiomyopathy: Results of a Japanese multicenter study. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 2014; 147: 1868–1874.e1.
- 244. Castelvecchio S, Menicanti L, Ranucci M, Surgical and Clinical Outcome Research (SCORE) Group. Development and validation of a risk score for predicting operative mortality in heart failure patients undergoing surgical ventricular reconstruction. *Eur J Cardiothorac Surg* 2015; 47: e199–e205.
- 245. Athanasuleas CL, Buckberg GD, Stanley AW, Siler W, Dor V, DiDonato M, et al. Surgical ventricular restoration: The RESTORE Group experience. *Heart Fail Rev* 2004; 9: 287–297.
- 246. Di Donato M, Castelvecchio S, Kukulski T, Bussadori C, Giacomazzi F, Frigiola A, et al. Surgical ventricular restoration: Left ventricular shape influence on cardiac function, clinical status, and survival. *Ann Thorac Surg* 2009; 87: 455–461.
- 247. Wakasa S, Matsui Y, Isomura T, Takanashi S, Yamaguchi A, Komiya T, et al. Impact of left ventricular remodelling on outcomes after left ventriculoplasty for ischaemic cardiomyopathy: Japanese Surgical Ventricular Reconstruction Group experience. *Interact Cardiovasc Thorac Surg* 2013; 16: 785–791.
- 248. Senior R, Kaul S, Lahiri A. Myocardial viability on echocardiography predicts long-term survival after revascularization in patients with ischemic congestive heart failure. *J Am Coll Cardiol* 1999; **33**: 1848–1854.
- 249. Holly TA, Bonow RO, Arnold JM, Oh JK, Varadarajan P, Pohost GM, et al. Myocardial viability and impact of surgical ventricular reconstruction on outcomes of patients with severe left ventricular dysfunction undergoing coronary artery bypass surgery: Results of the Surgical Treatment for Ischemic Heart Failure trial. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 2014; 148: 2677– 2684.e1.
- 250. Dor V, Sabatier M, Di Donato M, Montiglio F, Toso A, Maioli M. Efficacy of endoventricular patch plasty in large postinfarction akinetic scar and severe left ventricular dysfunction: Comparison with a series of large dyskinetic scars. *J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg* 1998; **116**: 50–59.
- 251. Isomura T, Horii T, Suma H, Buckberg GD, RESTORE Group RESTORE Group. Septal anterior ventricular exclusion operation (Pacopexy) for ischemic dilated cardiomyopathy: Treat form not disease. *Eur J Cardiothorac Surg* 2006; **29**(Suppl 1): S245– S250.

- 252. Matsui Y, Fukada Y, Suto Y, Yamauchi H, Luo B, Miyama M, et al. Overlapping cardiac volume reduction operation. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 2002; 124: 395–397.
- 253. Yaku H, Ohira S, Yamazaki S, Doi K, Kawajiri H, Morimoto K, et al. Endocardial linear infarct exclusion technique for infarcted lateral wall. *Interact Cardiovasc Thorac Surg* 2017; 24: 460–461.
- 254. Isomura T, Notomi Y, Hoshino J, Fukada Y, Katahira S, Kitamura A, et al. Indication of posterior restoration and surgical results in patients with dilated cardiomyopathy. *Eur J Cardiothorac Surg* 2010; **38**: 171–175.
- 255. Menicanti L, Castelvecchio S, Ranucci M, Frigiola A, Santambrogio C, de Vincentiis C, et al. Surgical therapy for ischemic heart failure: Single-center experience with surgical anterior ventricular restoration. *J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg* 2007; 134: 433–441.
- 256. Ministry of Health, Labour and Welfare. 2016 National health and nutrition survey [in Japanese]. https://www.mhlw.go.jp/ bunya/kenkou/eiyou/h28-houkoku.html (accessed February 25, 2021).
- 257. Beckman JA, Paneni F, Cosentino F, Creager MA. Diabetes and vascular disease: Pathophysiology, clinical consequences, and medical therapy: Part II. *Eur Heart J* 2013; 34: 2444–2452.
- Zellweger MJ, Maraun M, Osterhues HH, Keller U, Müller-Brand J, Jeger R, et al. Progression to overt or silent CAD in asymptomatic patients with diabetes mellitus at high coronary risk: Main findings of the prospective multicenter BARDOT trial with a pilot randomized treatment substudy. *JACC Cardiovasc Imaging* 2014; 7: 1001–1010.
 Aronson D, Rayfield EJ. Diabetes and obesity. *In*: Fuster V,
- Aronson D, Rayfield EJ. Diabetes and obesity. *In*: Fuster V, Ross R, Topol EJ, editors. Atherosclerosis and coronary artery disease. Philadelphia: Lippincott-Raven, 1996; 327–359.
 Haffner SM, Lehto S, Rönnemaa T, Pyörälä K, Laakso M.
- 260. Haffner SM, Lehto S, Rönnemaa T, Pyörälä K, Laakso M. Mortality from coronary heart disease in subjects with type 2 diabetes and in nondiabetic subjects with and without prior myocardial infarction. *N Engl J Med* 1998; **339**: 229–234.
- 261. Ogurtsova K, da Rocha Fernandes JD, Huang Y, Linnenkamp U, Guariguata L, Cho NH, et al. IDF Diabetes Atlas: Global estimates for the prevalence of diabetes for 2015 and 2040. *Diabetes Res Clin Pract* 2017; **128**: 40–50.
- 262. Gregg EW, Williams DE, Geiss L. Changes in diabetes-related complications in the United States. N Engl J Med 2014; 371: 286–287.
- 263. Moussa I, Leon MB, Baim DS, O'Neill WW, Popma JJ, Buchbinder M, et al. Impact of sirolimus-eluting stents on outcome in diabetic patients: A SIRIUS (SIRolImUS-coated Bx Velocity balloon-expandable stent in the treatment of patients with de novo coronary artery lesions) substudy. *Circulation* 2004; 109: 2273–2278.
- 264. Park GM, Lee SW, Park SW, Kim YH, Yun SC, Cho YR, et al. Comparison of zotarolimus-eluting stent versus sirolimus-eluting stent for de novo coronary artery disease in patients with diabetes mellitus from the ESSENCE-DIABETES II trial. Am J Cardiol 2013; 112: 1565–1570.
- 265. Maeng M, Jensen LO, Tilsted HH, Kaltoft A, Kelbaek H, Abildgaard U, et al. Outcome of sirolimus-eluting versus zotarolimus-eluting coronary stent implantation in patients with and without diabetes mellitus (a SORT OUT III substudy). *Am J Cardiol* 2011; **108**: 1232–1237.
- 266. de Waha A, Stefanini GG, King LA, Byrne RA, Serruys PW, Kufner S, et al. Long-term outcomes of biodegradable polymer versus durable polymer drug-eluting stents in patients with diabetes a pooled analysis of individual patient data from 3 randomized trials. *Int J Cardiol* 2013; **168**: 5162–5166.
- 267. Bypass Angioplasty Revascularization Investigation (BARI) Investigators. Comparison of coronary bypass surgery with angioplasty in patients with multivessel disease. N Engl J Med 1996; 335: 217–225.
- BARI Investigators. Seven-year outcome in the Bypass Angioplasty Revascularization Investigation (BARI) by treatment and diabetic status. J Am Coll Cardiol 2000; 35: 1122–1129.
- BARI Investigators. The final 10-year follow-up results from the BARI randomized trial. J Am Coll Cardiol 2007; 49: 1600– 1606.
- 270. Nagendran J, Bozso SJ, Norris CM, McAlister FA, Appoo JJ, Moon MC, et al. Coronary artery bypass surgery improves outcomes in patients with diabetes and left ventricular dysfunction. *J Am Coll Cardiol* 2018; **71**: 819–827.
- 271. Holzmann MJ, Rathsman B, Eliasson B, Kuhl J, Svensson AM, Nyström T, et al. Long-term prognosis in patients with type 1

and 2 diabetes mellitus after coronary artery bypass grafting. J Am Coll Cardiol 2015; 65: 1644–1652.

- 272. Minakata K, Bando K, Takanashi S, Konishi H, Miyamoto Y, Ueshima K, et al. Impact of diabetes mellitus on outcomes in Japanese patients undergoing coronary artery bypass grafting. *J Cardiol* 2012; **59**: 275–284.
- 273. Herlitz J, Wognsen GB, Emanuelsson H, Haglid M, Karlson BW, Karlsson T, et al. Mortality and morbidity in diabetic and nondiabetic patients during a 2-year period after coronary artery bypass grafting. *Diabetes Care* 1996; **19**: 698–703.
- 274. Carson JL, Scholz PM, Chen AY, Peterson ED, Gold J, Schneider SH. Diabetes mellitus increases short-term mortality and morbidity in patients undergoing coronary artery bypass graft surgery. J Am Coll Cardiol 2002; 40: 418–423.
- 275. Luciani N, Nasso G, Gaudino M, Abbate A, Glieca F, Alessandrini F, et al. Coronary artery bypass grafting in type II diabetic patients: A comparison between insulin-dependent and non-insulin-dependent patients at short- and mid-term follow-up. *Ann Thorac Surg* 2003; **76**: 1149–1154.
- 276. Szabó Z, Håkanson E, Svedjeholm R. Early postoperative outcome and medium-term survival in 540 diabetic and 2239 nondiabetic patients undergoing coronary artery bypass grafting. *Ann Thorac Surg* 2002; 74: 712–719.
- 277. Kubal C, Srinivasan AK, Grayson AD, Fabri BM, Chalmers JA. Effect of risk-adjusted diabetes on mortality and morbidity after coronary artery bypass surgery. *Ann Thorac Surg* 2005; **79**: 1570–1576.
- 278. Wit MA, de Mulder M, Jansen EK, Umans VA. Diabetes mellitus and its impact on long-term outcomes after coronary artery bypass graft surgery. *Acta Diabetol* 2013; **50**: 123–128.
- 279. Miyazaki S, Yoshitani K, Miura N, Irie T, Inatomi Y, Ohnishi Y, et al. Risk factors of stroke and delirium after off-pump coronary artery bypass surgery. *Interact Cardiovasc Thorac Surg* 2011; 12: 379–383.
- Deaton C, Thourani V. Patients with type 2 diabetes undergoing coronary artery bypass graft surgery: Predictors of outcomes. *Eur J Cardiovasc Nurs* 2009; 8: 48–56.
- 281. Afilalo J, Rasti M, Ohayon SM, Shimony A, Eisenberg MJ. Off-pump vs. on-pump coronary artery bypass surgery: An updated meta-analysis and meta-regression of randomized trials. *Eur Heart J* 2012; 33: 1257–1267.
- 282. Benedetto U, Caputo M, Vohra H, Davies A, Hillier J, Bryan A, et al. Off-pump versus on-pump coronary artery bypass surgery in patients with actively treated diabetes and multivessel coronary disease. *J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg* 2016; **152**: 1321–1330.e12.
- 283. Cavallaro P, Itagaki S, Seigerman M, Chikwe J. Operative mortality and stroke after on-pump vs off-pump surgery in high-risk patients: An analysis of 83,914 coronary bypass operations. *Eur J Cardiothorac Surg* 2014; 45: 159–164.
- Marui A, Okabayashi H, Komiya T, Tanaka S, Furukawa Y, Kita T, et al. Benefits of off-pump coronary artery bypass grafting in high-risk patients. *Circulation* 2012; **126**(Suppl 1): S151–S157.
- Srinivasan AK, Grayson AD, Fabri BM. On-pump versus off-pump coronary artery bypass grafting in diabetic patients: A propensity score analysis. *Ann Thorac Surg* 2004; 78: 1604– 1609.
- 286. Magee MJ, Dewey TM, Acuff T, Edgerton JR, Hebeler JF, Prince SL, et al. Influence of diabetes on mortality and morbidity: Off-pump coronary artery bypass grafting versus coronary artery bypass grafting with cardiopulmonary bypass. *Ann Thorac Surg* 2001; **72**: 776–780.
- 287. Singh A, Schaff HV, Mori Brooks M, Hlatky MA, Wisniewski SR, Frye RL, et al. On-pump versus off-pump coronary artery bypass graft surgery among patients with type 2 diabetes in the Bypass angioplasty revascularization Investigation 2 Diabetes trial. *Eur J Cardiothorac Surg* 2016; **49:** 406–416.
- 288. Emmert MY, Salzberg SP, Seifert B, Rodriguez H, Plass A, Hoerstrup SP, et al. Is off-pump superior to conventional coronary artery bypass grafting in diabetic patients with multivessel disease? *Eur J Cardiothorac Surg* 2011; **40**: 233–239.
- Renner A, Zittermann A, Aboud A, Pühler T, Hakim-Meibodi K, Quester W, et al. Coronary revascularization in diabetic patients: Off-pump versus on-pump surgery. *Ann Thorac Surg* 2013; 96: 528–534.
- 290. Taggart DP, Benedetto U. Diabetes status and graft patency after coronary bypass surgery: Is there a diabetes paradox? J Am Coll Cardiol 2017; 70: 525–526.
- 291. Raza S, Blackstone EH, Houghtaling PL, Rajeswaran J, Riaz

H, Bakaeen FG, et al. Influence of diabetes on long-term coronary artery bypass graft patency. *J Am Coll Cardiol* 2017; **70**: 515–524.

- 292. Deb S, Singh SK, Moussa F, Tsubota H, Une D, Kiss A, et al. The long-term impact of diabetes on graft patency after coronary artery bypass grafting surgery: A substudy of the multicenter Radial Artery Patency Study. *J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg* 2014; 148: 1246–1253.
- 293. Ayan M, Saurav A, Kabach A, Smer A, Salih M, Abuzaid A, et al. TCT-280: Impact of diabetes mellitus on graft patency following coronary artery bypass graft surgery: A propensity score analysis. J Am Coll Cardiol 2015; 66(Suppl): B110 (Abstract).
- 294. Goldman S, Zadina K, Moritz T, Ovitt T, Sethi G, Copeland JG, et al. Long-term patency of saphenous vein and left internal mammary artery grafts after coronary artery bypass surgery: Results from a Department of Veterans Affairs Cooperative Study. J Am Coll Cardiol 2004; 44: 2149–2156.
- Buxton BF, Komeda M, Fuller JA, Gordon I. Bilateral internal thoracic artery grafting may improve outcome of coronary artery surgery. Risk-adjusted survival. *Circulation* 1998; 98(Suppl): II-1–II-6.
- 296. Lytle BW, Blackstone EH, Loop FD, Houghtaling PL, Arnold JH, Akhrass R, et al. Two internal thoracic artery grafts are better than one. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 1999; 117: 855–872.
- 297. Stevens LM, Carrier M, Perrault LP, Hébert Y, Cartier R, Bouchard D, et al. Influence of diabetes and bilateral internal thoracic artery grafts on long-term outcome for multivessel coronary artery bypass grafting. *Eur J Cardiothorac Surg* 2005; 27: 281–288.
- 298. Puskas JD, Sadiq A, Vassiliades TA, Kilgo PD, Lattouf OM. Bilateral internal thoracic artery grafting is associated with significantly improved long-term survival, even among diabetic patients. *Ann Thorac Surg* 2012; 94: 710–715.
- 299. Raza S, Sabik JF, Masabni K, Ainkaran P, Lytle BW, Blackstone EH. Surgical revascularization techniques that minimize surgical risk and maximize late survival after coronary artery bypass grafting in patients with diabetes mellitus. *J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg* 2014; **148**: 1257–1264.
- 300. Iribarne A, Westbrook BM, Malenka DJ, Schmoker JD, McCullough JN, Leavitt BJ, et al. Should diabetes be a contraindication to bilateral internal mammary artery grafting? *Ann Thorac Surg* 2018; **105**: 709–714.
- 301. Hemo E, Mohr R, Uretzky G, Katz G, Popovits N, Pevni D, et al. Long-term outcomes of patients with diabetes receiving bilateral internal thoracic artery grafts. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 2013; 146: 586–592.
- 302. Yi G, Shine B, Rehman SM, Altman DG, Taggart DP. Effect of bilateral internal mammary artery grafts on long-term survival: A meta-analysis approach. *Circulation* 2014; 130: 539–545.
- 303. Takagi H, Goto SN, Watanabe T, Mizuno Y, Kawai N, Umemoto T. A meta-analysis of adjusted hazard ratios from 20 observational studies of bilateral versus single internal thoracic artery coronary artery bypass grafting. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 2014; 148: 1282–1290.
- 304. Suzuki T, Asai T, Nota H, Kinoshita T, Fujino S, Takashima N. Similar outcome in insulin-dependent and noninsulin-dependent diabetic patients after off-pump coronary artery bypass grafting with multiple skeletonized arterial conduits. *Ann Thorac Surg* 2015; **99:** 1562–1567.
- 305. Suzuki T, Asai T, Kinoshita T. Total arterial off-pump coronary artery bypass grafting was not associated with inferior outcomes for diabetic when compared with non-diabetic patients. *Interact Cardiovasc Thorac Surg* 2015; 21: 705–711.
- 306. Dai C, Lu Z, Zhu H, Xue S, Lian F. Bilateral internal mammary artery grafting and risk of sternal wound infection: Evidence from observational studies. *Ann Thorac Surg* 2013; 95: 1938– 1945.
- 307. Benedetto U, Amrani M, Gaer J, Bahrami T, de Robertis F, Simon AR, et al. The influence of bilateral internal mammary arteries on short- and long-term outcomes: A propensity score matching in accordance with current recommendations. *J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg* 2014; **148**: 2699–2705.
- 308. Deo SV, Shah IK, Dunlay SM, Erwin PJ, Locker C, Altarabsheh SE, et al. Bilateral internal thoracic artery harvest and deep sternal wound infection in diabetic patients. *Ann Thorac Surg* 2013; 95: 862–869.
- 309. Gansera B, Schmidtler F, Gillrath G, Angelis I, Wenke K, Weingartner J, et al. Does bilateral ITA grafting increase perioperative complications? Outcome of 4462 patients with

bilateral versus 4204 patients with single ITA bypass. *Eur J Cardiothorac Surg* 2006; **30:** 318–323.

- 310. Matsa M, Paz Y, Gurevitch J, Shapira I, Kramer A, Pevny D, et al. Bilateral skeletonized internal thoracic artery grafts in patients with diabetes mellitus. *J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg* 2001; 121: 668–674.
- 311. Furnary AP, Zerr KJ, Grunkemeier GL, et al. Hyperglycemia: A predictor of mortality following CABG in diabetics. *Circulation* 1999; **100**(Suppl): I-591 (Abstract).
- 312. Estrada CA, Young JA, Nifong LW, Chitwood WR. Outcomes and perioperative hyperglycemia in patients with or without diabetes mellitus undergoing coronary artery bypass grafting. *Ann Thorac Surg* 2003; 75: 1392–1399.
- 313. Furnary AP, Zerr KJ, Grunkemeier GL, Starr A. Continuous intravenous insulin infusion reduces the incidence of deep sternal wound infection in diabetic patients after cardiac surgical procedures. *Ann Thorac Surg* 1999; 67: 352–360.
- McAlister FA, Man J, Bistritz L, Amad H, Tandon P. Diabetes and coronary artery bypass surgery: An examination of perioperative glycemic control and outcomes. *Diabetes Care* 2003; 26: 1518–1524.
- 315. Zerr KJ, Furnary AP, Grunkemeier GL, Bookin S, Kanhere V, Starr A. Glucose control lowers the risk of wound infection in diabetics after open heart operations. *Ann Thorac Surg* 1997; 63: 356–361.
- 316. Furnary AP, Gao G, Grunkemeier GL, Wu Y, Zerr KJ, Bookin SO, et al. Continuous insulin infusion reduces mortality in patients with diabetes undergoing coronary artery bypass grafting. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 2003; 125: 1007–1021.
- 317. Edwards FH, Ferraris VA, Shahian DM, Peterson E, Furnary AP, Haan CK, et al. Gender-specific practice guidelines for coronary artery bypass surgery: Perioperative management. *Ann Thorac Surg* 2005; **79**: 2189–2194.
- 318. Lazar HL, McDonnell M, Chipkin SR, Furnary AP, Engelman RM, Sadhu AR, et al. The Society of Thoracic Surgeons practice guideline series: Blood glucose management during adult cardiac surgery. *Ann Thorac Surg* 2009; 87: 663–669.
- 319. Bhamidipati CM, LaPar DJ, Stukenborg GJ, Morrison CC, Kern JA, Kron IL, et al. Superiority of moderate control of hyperglycemia to tight control in patients undergoing coronary artery bypass grafting. *J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg* 2011; 141: 543–551.
- 320. Japanese Society of Nephrology. Clinical practice guidebook for diagnosis and treatment of chronic kidney disease 2012. Tokyo: Igakusha, 2012.
- 321. Ninomiya T, Kiyohara Y, Kubo M, Tanizaki Y, Doi Y, Okubo K, et al. Chronic kidney disease and cardiovascular disease in a general Japanese population: The Hisayama Study. *Kidney Int* 2005; 68: 228–236.
- 322. Levey AS, de Jong PE, Coresh J, El Nahas M, Astor BC, Matsushita K, et al. The definition, classification, and prognosis of chronic kidney disease: A KDIGO Controversies Conference report. *Kidney Int* 2011; 80: 17–28.
- 323. Keith DS, Nichols GA, Gullion CM, Brown JB, Smith DH. Longitudinal follow-up and outcomes among a population with chronic kidney disease in a large managed care organization. *Arch Intern Med* 2004; **164**: 659–663.
- National Kidney Foundation. K/DOQI clinical practice guidelines for chronic kidney disease: Evaluation, classification, and stratification. Am J Kidney Dis 2002; 39(Suppl 1): S1–S266.
- 325. Matsuo S, Imai E, Horio M, Yasuda Y, Tomita K, Nitta K, et al. Revised equations for estimated GFR from serum creatinine in Japan. *Am J Kidney Dis* 2009; **53**: 982–992.
- 326. Cooper WA, O'Brien SM, Thourani VH, Guyton RA, Bridges CR, Szczech LA, et al. Impact of renal dysfunction on outcomes of coronary artery bypass surgery: Results from the Society of Thoracic Surgeons National Adult Cardiac Database. *Circulation* 2006; **113**: 1063–1070.
- 327. Best PJ, Berger PB, Davis BR, Grines CL, Sadeghi HM, Williams BA, et al. Impact of mild or moderate chronic kidney disease on the frequency of restenosis: Results from the PRESTO trial. *J Am Coll Cardiol* 2004; 44: 1786–1791.
 328. Charytan DM, Yang SS, McGurk S, Rawn J. Long and
- 328. Charytan DM, Yang SS, McGurk S, Rawn J. Long and short-term outcomes following coronary artery bypass grafting in patients with and without chronic kidney disease. *Nephrol Dial Transplant* 2010; 25: 3654–3663.
- 329. Ashrith G, Lee VV, Elayda MA, Reul RM, Wilson JM. Short- and long-term outcomes of coronary artery bypass grafting or drug-eluting stent implantation for multivessel coronary artery disease in patients with chronic kidney disease. *Am J*

Cardiol 2010; 106: 348-353.

- Charytan DM, Li S, Liu J, Herzog CA. Risks of death and end-stage renal disease after surgical compared with percutaneous coronary revascularization in elderly patients with chronic kidney disease. *Circulation* 2012; **126**(Suppl 1): S164–S169.
 Reddan DN, Szczech LA, Tuttle RH, Shaw LK, Jones RH,
- 331. Reddan DN, Szczech LA, Tuttle RH, Shaw LK, Jones RH, Schwab SJ, et al. Chronic kidney disease, mortality, and treatment strategies among patients with clinically significant coronary artery disease. J Am Soc Nephrol 2003; 14: 2373–2380.
- 332. Komiya T, Ueno G, Kadota K, Mitsudo K, Okabayashi H, Nishiwaki N, et al. An optimal strategy for coronary revascularization in patients with severe renal dysfunction. *Eur J Cardiothorac Surg* 2015; 48: 293–300.
 333. Natsuaki M, Furukawa Y, Morimoto T, Nakagawa Y, Akao M,
- 333. Natsuaki M, Furukawa Y, Morimoto T, Nakagawa Y, Akao M, Ono K, et al. Impact of diabetes on cardiovascular outcomes in hemodialysis patients undergoing coronary revascularization. *Circ J* 2011; **75**: 1616–1625.
- 334. Ix JH, Mercado N, Shlipak MG, Lemos PA, Boersma E, Lindeboom W, et al. Association of chronic kidney disease with clinical outcomes after coronary revascularization: The Arterial Revascularization Therapies Study (ARTS). *Am Heart J* 2005; 149: 512–519.
- Foley RN, Parfrey PS, Sarnak MJ. Epidemiology of cardiovascular disease in chronic renal disease. J Am Soc Nephrol 1998; 9(Suppl): S16–S23.
- 336. Stack AG, Bloembergen WE. Prevalence and clinical correlates of coronary artery disease among new dialysis patients in the United States: A cross-sectional study. J Am Soc Nephrol 2001; 12: 1516–1523.
- 337. Hemmelgarn BR, Southern D, Culleton BF, Mitchell LB, Knudtson ML, Ghali WA, et al. Survival after coronary revascularization among patients with kidney disease. *Circulation* 2004; **110**: 1890–1895.
- 338. Herzog CA, Ma JZ, Collins AJ. Comparative survival of dialysis patients in the United States after coronary angioplasty, coronary artery stenting, and coronary artery bypass surgery and impact of diabetes. *Circulation* 2002; **106**: 2207–2211.
- 339. Marui A, Kimura T, Nishiwaki N, Mitsudo K, Komiya T, Hanyu M, et al. Percutaneous coronary intervention versus coronary artery bypass grafting in patients with end-stage renal disease requiring dialysis (5-year outcomes of the CREDO-Kyoto PCI/CABG Registry Cohort-2). Am J Cardiol 2014; 114: 555– 561.
- 340. Ishii H, Toriyama T, Aoyama T, Takahashi H, Tanaka M, Yoshikawa D, et al. Percutaneous coronary intervention with bare metal stent vs. drug-eluting stent in hemodialysis patients. *Circ J* 2012; **76**: 1609–1615.
- 341. Otsuka Y, Ishiwata S, Inada T, Kanno H, Kyo E, Hayashi Y, et al. Comparison of haemodialysis patients and non-haemodialysis patients with respect to clinical characteristics and 3-year clinical outcomes after sirolimus-eluting stent implantation: Insights from the Japan multi-centre post-marketing surveillance registry. *Eur Heart J* 2011; 32: 829–837.
- 342. Hirose H, Amano A, Takahashi A, Nagano N. Coronary artery bypass grafting for patients with non-dialysis-dependent renal dysfunction (serum creatinine ≥2.0 mg/dl). Eur J Cardiothorac Surg 2001; 20: 565–572.
- 343. Ascione R, Nason G, Al-Ruzzeh S, Ko C, Ciulli F, Angelini GD. Coronary revascularization with or without cardiopulmonary bypass in patients with preoperative nondialysis-dependent renal insufficiency. *Ann Thorac Surg* 2001; 72: 2020–2025.
- 344. Tashiro T, Nakamura K, Morishige N, Iwakuma A, Tachikawa Y, Shibano R, et al. Off-pump coronary artery bypass grafting in patients with end-stage renal disease on hemodialysis. J Card Surg 2002; 17: 377–382.
- 345. Chukwuemeka A, Weisel A, Maganti M, Nette AF, Wijeysundera DN, Beattie WS, et al. Renal dysfunction in high-risk patients after on-pump and off-pump coronary artery bypass surgery: A propensity score analysis. *Ann Thorac Surg* 2005; 80: 2148–2153.
- Sajja LR, Mannam G, Chakravarthi RM, Sompalli S, Naidu SK, Somaraju B, et al. Coronary artery bypass grafting with or without cardiopulmonary bypass in patients with preoperative non-dialysis dependent renal insufficiency: A randomized study. *J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg* 2007; 133: 378–388.e3.
 Yu HY, Li JY, Sun S, Hung KY, Wang JL, Chen YS, et al. Late
- 347. Yu HY, Li JY, Sun S, Hung KY, Wang JL, Chen YS, et al. Late dialysis rate for coronary artery bypass grafting patients with moderate-to-severe renal impairment: Comparison between off-pump and conventional method. *Eur J Cardiothorac Surg* 2008; 33: 364–369.

- Kinoshita T, Asai T, Suzuki T. Off-pump bilateral skeletonized internal thoracic artery grafting in patients with chronic kidney disease. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 2015; 150: 315–321.e3.
- 349. Kai M, Okabayashi H, Hanyu M, Soga Y, Nomoto T, Nakano J, et al. Long-term results of bilateral internal thoracic artery grafting in dialysis patients. *Ann Thorac Surg* 2007; 83: 1666–1671.
- 350. Kinoshita T, Tawa M, Suzuki T, Aimi Y, Asai T, Okamura T. Endothelial dysfunction of internal thoracic artery graft in patients with chronic kidney disease. *J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg* 2017; 153: 317–324.e1.
- 351. Nakayama Y, Sakata R, Ura M. Bilateral internal thoracic artery use for dialysis patients: Does it increase operative risk? *Ann Thorac Surg* 2001; 71: 783–787.
- 352. Japanese Circulation Society. JCS Joint Working Groups for guidelines for diagnosis and treatment of cardiovascular diseases (JCS 2011): Guidelines for surgical and interventional treatment of valvular heart disease (JCS 2012) [in Japanese]. http:// www.j-circ.or.jp/guideline/pdf/JCS2012_ookita_h.pdf (accessed February 25, 2021).
- 353. Rapp AH, Hillis LD, Lange RA, Cigarroa JE. Prevalence of coronary artery disease in patients with aortic stenosis with and without angina pectoris. *Am J Cardiol* 2001; 87: 1216–1217.
- 354. Holmes DR, Nishimura RA, Grover FL, Brindis RG, Carroll JD, Edwards FH, et al. Annual outcomes with transcatheter valve therapy: From the STS/ACC TVT Registry. *Ann Thorac Surg* 2016; 101: 789–800.
- 355. Takimoto S, Saito N, Minakata K, Shirai S, Isotani A, Arai Y, et al. Favorable clinical outcomes of transcatheter aortic valve implantation in Japanese patients: First report from the post-approval K-TAVI Registry. Circ J 2016; 81: 103–109.
- 356. Verheul HA, van den Brink RB, Bouma BJ, Hoedemaker G, Moulijn AC, Dekker E, et al. Analysis of risk factors for excess mortality after aortic valve replacement. J Am Coll Cardiol 1995; 26: 1280–1286.
- 357. Fremes SE, Goldman BS, Ivanov J, Weisel RD, David TE, Salerno T. Valvular surgery in the elderly. *Circulation* 1989; 80: I-77–I-90.
- 358. Gautier M, Pepin M, Himbert D, Ducrocq G, Iung B, Dilly MP, et al. Impact of coronary artery disease on indications for transcatheter aortic valve implantation and on procedural outcomes. *EuroIntervention* 2011; 7: 549–555.
- 359. Masson JB, Lee M, Boone RH, Al Ali A, Al Bugami S, Hamburger J, et al. Impact of coronary artery disease on outcomes after transcatheter aortic valve implantation. *Catheter Cardiovasc Interv* 2010; 76: 165–173.
- 360. Dewey TM, Brown DL, Herbert MA, Culica D, Smith CR, Leon MB, et al. Effect of concomitant coronary artery disease on procedural and late outcomes of transcatheter aortic valve implantation. *Ann Thorac Surg* 2010; 89: 758–767.
- 361. Kotronias RA, Kwok CS, George S, Capodanno D, Ludman PF, Townend JN, et al. Transcatheter aortic valve implantation with or without percutaneous coronary artery revascularization strategy: A systematic review and meta-analysis. J Am Heart Assoc 2017; 6: e005960.
- 362. Paradis JM, White JM, Généreux P, Urena M, Doshi D, Nazif T, et al. Impact of coronary artery disease severity assessed with the SYNTAX score on outcomes following transcatheter aortic valve replacement. J Am Heart Assoc 2017; 6: e005070.
- 363. Chauhan D, Thawabi M, Haik N, Haik BJ, Chen C, Cohen M, et al. Impact of coronary artery disease on postoperative outcomes in patients undergoing transcatheter aortic valve replacement (TAVR): Is preoperative coronary revascularization necessary? J Invas Cardiol 2016; 28: e179–e184.
- 364. Di Gioia G, Pellicano M, Toth GG, Casselman F, Adjedj J, Van Praet F, et al. Fractional flow reserve-guided revascularization in patients with aortic stenosis. *Am J Cardiol* 2016; **117:** 1511– 1515.
- 365. Stanojevic D, Gunasekaran P, Tadros P, Wiley M, Earnest M, Mehta A, et al. Intravenous adenosine infusion is safe and well tolerated during coronary fractional flow reserve assessment in elderly patients with severe aortic stenosis. *J Invas Cardiol* 2016; 28: 357–361.
- 366. Yousefzai R, Bajaj N, Krishnaswamy A, Goel SS, Agarwal S, Aksoy O, et al. Outcomes of patients with ischemic mitral regurgitation undergoing percutaneous coronary intervention. *Am J Cardiol* 2014; **114**: 1011–1017.
- 367. Santana O, Xydas S, Williams RF, Mawad M, Heimowitz TB, Pineda AM, et al. Hybrid approach of percutaneous coronary intervention followed by minimally invasive mitral valve surgery:

A 5-year single-center experience. *J Thorac Dis* 2017; **9**(Suppl 7): S595–S601.

- 368. Mihos CG, Xydas S, Williams RF, Pineda AM, Yucel E, Davila H, et al. Staged percutaneous coronary intervention followed by minimally invasive mitral valve surgery versus combined coronary artery bypass graft and mitral valve surgery for two-vessel coronary artery disease and moderate to severe ischemic mitral regurgitation. *J Thorac Dis* 2017; 9(Suppl 7): S563–S568.
- 369. Perl L, Vaturi M, Assali A, Shapira Y, Bruckheimer E, Vaknin-Assa H, et al. Percutaneous coronary intervention of the left main artery before MitraClip implantation. *Cardiovasc Revasc Med* 2014; 15: 51–53.
- 370. Obeid S, Attinger-Toller A, Taramasso M, Pedrazzini G, Suetsch G, Landolt F, et al. SYNTAX score II in patients with coronary artery disease undergoing percutaneous mitral repair with the MitraClip. *Int J Cardiol* 2017; 236: 375–380.
- 371. Committee for Scientific Affairs, The Japanese Association for Thoracic Surgery, Masuda M, Endo S, Natsugoe S, Shimizu H, Doki Y, et al. Thoracic and cardiovascular surgery in Japan during 2015: Annual report by The Japanese Association for Thoracic Surgery. *Gen Thorac Cardiovasc Surg* 2018; 66: 581– 615.
- 372. Kazui T, Wada H, Fujita H, Japanese Association for Thoracic Surgery Committee of Science. Thoracic and cardiovascular surgery in Japan during 2003: Annual report by the Japanese Association for Thoracic Surgery. Jpn J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 2005; 53: 517–536.
- 373. Hilton TC. Aortic valve replacement for patients with mild to moderate aortic stenosis undergoing coronary artery bypass surgery. *Clin Cardiol* 2000; 23: 141–147.
- 374. Hamm CW, Möllmann H, Holzhey D, Beckman A, Veit C, Figulla HR, et al. The German Aortic Valve Registry (GARY): In-hospital outcome. *Eur Heart J* 2014; 35: 1588–1598.
- 375. Beach JM, Mihaljevic T, Svensson LG, Rajeswaran J, Marwick T, Griffin B, et al. Coronary artery disease and outcomes of aortic valve replacement for severe aortic stenosis. J Am Coll Cardiol 2013; 61: 837–848.
- 376. Collins JJ, Aranki SF. Management of mild aortic stenosis during coronary artery bypass graft surgery. *J Card Surg* 1994; 9(Suppl): 145–147.
- 377. Odell JA, Mullany CJ, Schaff HV, Orszulak TA, Daly RC, Morris JJ. Aortic valve replacement after previous coronary artery bypass grafting. *Ann Thorac Surg* 1996; **62**: 1424–1430.
- 378. Yamashita K, Fujita T, Hata H, Shimahara Y, Kume Y, Matsumoto Y, et al. Long-term outcome of isolated off-pump coronary artery bypass grafting in patients with coronary artery disease and mild to moderate aortic stenosis. J Cardiol 2017; 70: 48–54.
- 379. Gillinov AM, Wierup PN, Blackstone EH, Bishay ES, Cosgrove DM, White J, et al. Is repair preferable to replacement for ischemic mitral regurgitation? *J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg* 2001; 122: 1125–1141.
- Miller DC. Ischemic mitral regurgitation redux: To repair or to replace? J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 2001; 122: 1059–1062.
- 381. Filsoufi F, Aklog L, Byrne JG, Cohn LH, Adams DH. Current results of combined coronary artery bypass grafting and mitral annuloplasty in patients with moderate ischemic mitral regurgitation. J Heart Valve Dis 2004; 13: 747–753.
- Calafiore AM, Di Mauro M, Gallina S, Di Giammarco G, Iacò AL, Teodori G, et al. Mitral valve surgery for chronic ischemic mitral regurgitation. *Ann Thorac Surg* 2004; **77**: 1989–1997.
 Grossi EA, Goldberg JD, LaPietra A, Ye X, Zakow P, Sussman
- 383. Grossi EA, Goldberg JD, LaPietra A, Ye X, Zakow P, Sussman M, et al. Ischemic mitral valve reconstruction and replacement: Comparison of long-term survival and complications. *J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg* 2001; **122**: 1107–1124.
- 384. Diodato MD, Moon MR, Pasque MK, Barner HB, Moazami N, Lawton JS, et al. Repair of ischemic mitral regurgitation does not increase mortality or improve long-term survival in patients undergoing coronary artery revascularization: A propensity analysis. *Ann Thorac Surg* 2004; **78**: 794–799.
- 385. Baumgartner H, Falk V, Bax JJ, De Bonis M, Hamm C, Holm PJ, et al. 2017 ESC/EACTS guidelines for the management of valvular heart disease. *Eur Heart J* 2017; 38: 2739–2791.
- Magne J, Sénéchal MM, Dumesnil JG, Pibarot P. Ischemic mitral regurgitation: A complex multifaceted disease. *Cardiology* 2009; **112**: 244–259.
- 387. Levine RA, Hung J, Otsuji Y, Messas E, Liel-Cohen N, Nathan N, et al. Mechanistic insights into functional mitral regurgitation. *Curr Cardial Rep* 2002; 4: 125–129.
- 388. Schroder JN, Williams ML, Hata JA, Muhlbaier LH,

Swaminathan M, Mathew JP, et al. Impact of mitral valve regurgitation evaluated by intraoperative transesophageal echocardiography on long-term outcomes after coronary artery bypass grafting. *Circulation* 2005; **112**(Suppl): I-293–I-298.

- 389. Goland S, Czer LS, Siegel RJ, DeRobertis MA, Mirocha J, Zivari K, et al. Coronary revascularization alone or with mitral valve repair: Outcomes in patients with moderate ischemic mitral regurgitation. *Tex Heart Inst J* 2009; **36**: 416–424.
- 390. Braun J, Bax JJ, Versteegh MI, Voigt PG, Holman ER, Klautz RJ, et al. Preoperative left ventricular dimensions predict reverse remodeling following restrictive mitral annuloplasty in ischemic mitral regurgitation. *Eur J Cardiothorac Surg* 2005; 27: 847–853.
- 391. Prifti E, Bonacchi M, Frati G, Giunti IG, Leacche M, Proietti P, et al. Should mild-to-moderate and moderate ischemic mitral regurgitation be corrected in patients with impaired left ventricular function undergoing simultaneous coronary revascularization? *J Card Surg* 2001; 16: 473–483.
 392. Wong DR, Agnihotri AK, Hung JW, Vlahakes GJ, Akins CW,
- 392. Wong DR, Agnihotri AK, Hung JW, Vlahakes GJ, Akins CW, Hilgenberg AD, et al. Long-term survival after surgical revascularization for moderate ischemic mitral regurgitation. *Ann Thorac Surg* 2005; 80: 570–577.
- 393. Trichon BH, Glower DD, Shaw LK, Cabell CH, Anstrom KJ, Felker GM, et al. Survival after coronary revascularization, with and without mitral valve surgery, in patients with ischemic mitral regurgitation. *Circulation* 2003; **108**(Suppl 1): II-103– II-110.
- 394. Lam BK, Gillinov AM, Blackstone EH, Rajeswaran J, Yuh B, Bhudia SK, et al. Importance of moderate ischemic mitral regurgitation. *Ann Thorac Surg* 2005; **79:** 462–470.
- 395. Aklog L, Filsoufi F, Flores KQ, Chen RH, Cohn LH, Nathan NS, et al. Does coronary artery bypass grafting alone correct moderate ischemic mitral regurgitation? *Circulation* 2001; 104(Suppl 1): I-68–I-75.
- 396. Mallidi HR, Pelletier MP, Lamb J, Desai N, Sever J, Christakis GT, et al. Late outcomes in patients with uncorrected mild to moderate mitral regurgitation at the time of isolated coronary artery bypass grafting. *J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg* 2004; 127: 636–644.
- 397. Grigioni F, Enriquez-Sarano M, Zehr KJ, Bailey KR, Tajik AJ. Ischemic mitral regurgitation: Long-term outcome and prognostic implications with quantitative Doppler assessment. *Circulation* 2001; **103**: 1759–1764.
- 398. Tolis GA, Korkolis DP, Kopf GS, Elefteriades JA. Revascularization alone (without mitral valve repair) suffices in patients with advanced ischemic cardiomyopathy and mild-to-moderate mitral regurgitation. *Ann Thorac Surg* 2002; 74: 1476–1480.
- 399. Smith PK, Puskas JD, Ascheim DD, Voisine P, Gelijns AC, Moskowitz AJ, et al. Surgical treatment of moderate ischemic mitral regurgitation. N Engl J Med 2014; 371: 2178–2188.
- 400. Michler RE, Smith PK, Parides MK, Ailawadi G, Thourani V, Moskowitz AJ, et al. Two-year outcomes of surgical treatment of moderate ischemic mitral regurgitation. *N Engl J Med* 2016; 374: 1932–1941.
- 401. Didier R, Gaglia MA, Koifman E, Kiramijyan S, Negi SI, Omar AF, et al. Cerebrovascular accidents after percutaneous coronary interventions from 2002 to 2014: Incidence, outcomes, and associated variables. *Am Heart J* 2016; **172**: 80–87.
- 402. Japanese Association for Coronary Artery Surgery. Coronary artery surgery survey 2017 [in Japanese]. http://www.jacas.org/ enquete/2017.html (accessed February 25, 2021).
- 403. Stamou SC, Hill PC, Dangas G, Pfister AJ, Boyce SW, Dullum MK, et al. Stroke after coronary artery bypass: Incidence, predictors, and clinical outcome. *Stroke* 2001; 32: 1508–1513.
 404. Aboyans V, Lacroix P. Indications for carotid screening in
- 404. Aboyans V, Lacroix P. Indications for carotid screening in patients with coronary artery disease. *Presse Med* 2009; 38: 977–986.
- 405. Lombardo A, Biasucci LM, Lanza GA, Coli S, Silvestri P, Cianflone D, et al. Inflammation as a possible link between coronary and carotid plaque instability. *Circulation* 2004; 109: 3158–3163.
- 406. Imasaka K, Yasaka M, Tayama E, Tomita Y. Obstructive carotid and/or intracranial artery disease rarely affects the incidence of haemodynamic ischaemic stroke during cardiac surgery: A study on brain perfusion single-photon emission computed tomography with acetazolamide. *Eur J Cardiothorac Surg* 2015; **48**: 739–746.
- 407. Toyama S, Matsuoka K, Tagaito Y, Shimoyama M. Retrospective evaluation of the effect of carotid artery stenosis on cerebral oxygen saturation during off-pump coronary artery bypasses

grafting in adult patients. BMC Anesthesiol 2015; 15: 180.

- 408. Altaf N, Daniels L, Morgan PS, Auer D, MacSweeney ST, Moody AR, et al. Detection of intraplaque hemorrhage by magnetic resonance imaging in symptomatic patients with mild to moderate carotid stenosis predicts recurrent neurological events. J Vasc Surg 2008; 47: 337–342.
- 409. Brinjikji W, Huston J, Rabinstein AA, Kim GM, Lerman A, Lanzino G. Contemporary carotid imaging: From degree of stenosis to plaque vulnerability. *J Neurosurg* 2016; **124**: 27–42.
- 410. Salem MK, Bown MJ, Sayers RD, West K, Moore D, Nicolaides A, et al. Identification of patients with a histologically unstable carotid plaque using ultrasonic plaque image analysis. *Eur J Vasc Endovasc Surg* 2014; **48**: 118–125.
- 411. Brott TG, Halperin JL, Abbara S, Bacharach JM, Barr JD, Bush RL, et al. 2011 ASA/ACCF/AHA/AANN/AANS/ACR/ ASNR/CNS/SAIP/SCAI/SIR/SNIS/SVM/SVS guideline on the management of patients with extracranial carotid and vertebral artery disease. A report of the American College of Cardiology Foundation/American Heart Association Task Force on Practice Guidelines, and the American Stroke Association, American Association of Neuroscience Nurses, American Association of Neurological Surgeons, American College of Radiology, American Society of Neuroradiology, Congress of Neurological Surgeons, Society of Atherosclerosis Imaging and Prevention, Society for Cardiovascular Angiography and Interventions, Society of Interventional Radiology, Society of NeuroInterventional Surgery, Society for Vascular Medicine, and Society for Vascular Surgery [published erratum appears in Circulation 2011; **124:** e145]. Circulation 2011; **124:** 489–532.
- 412. Aboyans V, Ricco JB, Bartelink M-LEL, Björk M, Brodmann M, Cohnert T, et al. 2017 ESC Guidelines on the Diagnosis and Treatment of peripheral Arterial Diseases, in collaboration with the European Society for Vascular Surgery (ESVS): Document covering atherosclerotic disease of extracranial carotid and vertebral, mesenteric, renal, upper and lower extremity arteries. Endorsed by: The European Stroke Organization (ESO) the Task Force for the Diagnosis and Treatment of Peripheral Arterial Diseases of the European Society of Cardiology (ESC) and of the European Society for Vascular Surgery (ESVS). *Eur Heart J* 2018; **39**: 763–816.
- 413. Chaturvedi S, Bruno A, Feasby T, Holloway R, Benavente O, Cohen SN, et al. Carotid endarterectomy – an evidence-based review: Report of the Therapeutics and Technology Assessment Subcommittee of the American Academy of Neurology. *Neurology* 2005; 65: 794–801.
- 414. Naylor AR, Bown MJ. Stroke after cardiac surgery and its association with asymptomatic carotid disease: An updated systematic review and meta-analysis. *Eur J Vasc Endovasc Surg* 2011; **41**: 607–624.
- 415. Weimar C, Bilbilis K, Rekowski J, Holst T, Beyersdorf F, Breuer M, et al. Safety of simultaneous coronary artery bypass grafting and carotid endarterectomy versus isolated coronary artery bypass grafting: A randomized clinical trial. *Stroke* 2017; 48: 2769–2775.
- 416. European Stroke Organisation, Tendera M, Aboyans V, Bartelink ML, Baumgartner I, Clément D, et al. ESC guidelines on the diagnosis and treatment of peripheral artery diseases: Document covering atherosclerotic disease of extracranial carotid and vertebral, mesenteric, renal, upper and lower extremity arteries: The Task Force on the Diagnosis and Treatment of Peripheral Artery Diseases of the European Society of Cardiology (ESC). Eur Heart J 2011; 32: 2851–2906.
- 417. Ziada KM, Yadav JS, Mukherjee D, Lauer MS, Bhatt DL, Kapadia S, et al. Comparison of results of carotid stenting followed by open heart surgery versus combined carotid endarterectomy and open heart surgery (coronary bypass with or without another procedure). *Am J Cardiol* 2005; 96: 519-523.
 418. The Japan Stroke Society Stroke Guidelines Committee.
- 418. The Japan Stroke Society Stroke Guidelines Committee. 2015 Japanese guidelines for the management of stroke (with Supplement 2017) [in Japanese]. Tokyo: Kyowa Kikaku, 2017.
- 419. Criqui MH, Aboyans V. Epidemiology of peripheral artery disease. *Circ Res* 2015; 116: 1509–1526.
 420. Bonaca MP, Bhatt DL, Storey RF, Steg PG, Cohen M, Kuder
- 420. Bonaca MP, Bhatt DL, Storey RF, Steg PG, Cohen M, Kuder J, et al. Ticagrelor for prevention of ischemic events after myocardial infarction in patients with peripheral artery disease. *J Am Coll Cardiol* 2016; 67: 2719–2728.
- 421. Berger JS, Abramson BL, Lopes RD, Heizer G, Rockhold FW, Baumgartner I, et al. Ticagrelor versus clopidogrel in patients with symptomatic peripheral artery disease and prior coronary artery disease: Insights from the EUCLID trial. Vasc Med 2018;

23: 523-530.

- 422. Gerhard-Herman MD, Gornik HL, Barrett C, Barshes NR, Corriere MA, Drachman DE, et al. 2016 AHA/ACC guideline on the management of patients with lower extremity peripheral artery disease: A report of the American College of Cardiology/ American Heart Association Task Force on Clinical Practice Guidelines. *Circulation* 2017; **135**: e726–e779.
- 423. Franzone A, Piccolo R, Gargiulo G, Ariotti S, Marino M, Santucci A, et al. Prolonged vs short duration of dual antiplatelet therapy after percutaneous coronary intervention in patients with or without peripheral arterial disease: A subgroup analysis of the PRODIGY randomized clinical trial. *JAMA Cardiol* 2016; 1: 795–803.
- 424. Cassese S, Byrne RA, Schulz S, Hoppman P, Kreutzer J, Feuchtenberger A, et al. Prognostic role of restenosis in 10 004 patients undergoing routine control angiography after coronary stenting. *Eur Heart J* 2015; 36: 94–99.
- 425. Shiomi H, Morimoto T, Kitaguchi S, Nakagawa Y, Ishii K, Haruna Y, et al. The ReACT Trial: Randomized evaluation of routine follow-up coronary angiography after Percutaneous Coronary Intervention Trial. JACC Cardiovasc Interv 2017; 10: 109–117.
- 426. Uchida T, Popma J, Stone GW, Ellis SG, Turco MA, Ormiston JA, et al. The clinical impact of routine angiographic follow-up in randomized trials of drug-eluting stents: A critical assessment of "oculostenotic" reintervention in patients with intermediate lesions. *JACC Cardiovasc Interv* 2010; **3**: 403–411.
- 427. Stone GW, Parise H, Witzenbichler B, Kirtane A, Guagliumi G, Peruga JZ, et al. Selection criteria for drug-eluting versus bare-metal stents and the impact of routine angiographic follow-up: 2-year insights from the HORIZONS-AMI (Harmonizing Outcomes with revascularization and Stents in acute myocardial infarction) trial. J Am Coll Cardiol 2010; 56: 1597–1604.
- 428. Kuriyama N, Kobayashi Y, Nakama T, Mine D, Nishihira K, Shimomura M, et al. Late restenosis following sirolimus-eluting stent implantation. JACC Cardiovasc Interv 2011; 4: 123–128.
- 429. Aoki J, Nakazawa G, Tanabe K, Hoye A, Yamamoto H, Nakayama T, et al. Incidence and clinical impact of coronary stent fracture after sirolimus-eluting stent implantation. *Catheter Cardiovasc Interv* 2007; 69: 380–386.
- 430. Ohya M, Kadota K, Kubo S, Tada T, Habara S, Shimada T, et al. Incidence, predictive factors, and clinical impact of stent recoil in stent fracture lesion after drug-eluting stent implantation. *Int J Cardiol* 2016; **214**: 123–129.
- 431. Omar A, Pendyala LK, Ormiston JA, Waksman R. Review: Stent fracture in the drug-eluting stent era. *Cardiovasc Revasc Med* 2016; 17: 404–411.
- 432. Habara S, Mitsudo K, Kadota K, Goto T, Fujii S, Yamamoto H, et al. Effectiveness of paclitaxel-eluting balloon catheter in patients with sirolimus-eluting stent restenosis. *JACC Cardiovasc Interv* 2011; 4: 149–154.
- 433. Habara S, Iwabuchi M, Inoue N, Nakamura S, Asano R, Nanto S, et al. A multicenter randomized comparison of paclitaxel-coated balloon catheter with conventional balloon angioplasty in patients with bare-metal stent restenosis and drug-eluting stent restenosis. *Am Heart J* 2013; **166**: 527–533.
- 434. Habara S, Kadota K, Shimada T, Ohya M, Amano H, Izawa Y, et al. Late restenosis after paclitaxel-coated balloon angioplasty occurs in patients with drug-eluting stent restenosis. J Am Coll Cardiol 2015; 66: 14–22.
- 435. Alfonso F, Pérez-Vizcayno MJ, Cárdenas A, García Del Blanco B, Seidelberger B, Iñiguez A, et al. A randomized comparison of drug-eluting balloon versus everolimus-eluting stent in patients with bare-metal stent-in-stent restenosis: The RIBS V Clinical Trial (restenosis Intra-stent of Bare Metal Stents: Paclitaxel-eluting balloon vs. everolimus-eluting stent). J Am Coll Cardiol 2014; 63: 1378–1386.
- 436. Baan J Jr, Claessen BE, Dijk KB, Vendrik J, van der Schaaf RJ, Meuwissen M, et al. A randomized comparison of paclitaxeleluting balloon versus everolimus-eluting stent for the treatment of any in-stent restenosis: The DARE Trial. JACC Cardiovasc Interv 2018; 11: 275–283.
- 437. Koiwaya H, Watanabe N, Kuriyama N, Nishino S, Ogata K, Kimura T, et al. Predictors of recurrent in-stent restenosis after paclitaxel-coated balloon angioplasty. *Circ J* 2017; 81: 1286– 1292.
- 438. Kufner S, Joner M, Schneider S, Tölg R, Zrenner B, Repp J, et al. Neointimal modification with scoring balloon and efficacy of drug-coated balloon therapy in patients with restenosis in

drug-eluting coronary stents: A randomized controlled trial. *JACC Cardiovasc Interv* 2017; **10**: 1332–1340.

- 439. Tada T, Kadota K, Hosogi S, Miyake K, Ohya M, Amano H, et al. Association between tissue characteristics assessed with optical coherence tomography and mid-term results after percutaneous coronary intervention for in-stent restenosis lesions: A comparison between balloon angioplasty, paclitaxelcoated balloon dilatation, and drug-eluting stent implantation. *Eur Heart J Cardiovasc Imaging* 2015; **16**: 1101–1111.
- 440. Tada T, Byrne RA, Simunovic I, King LA, Cassese S, Joner M, et al. Risk of stent thrombosis among bare-metal stents, firstgeneration drug-eluting stents, and second-generation drug-eluting stents: Results from a registry of 18,334 patients. *JACC Cardiovasc Interv* 2013; 6: 1267–1274.
- 441. Cutlip DE, Windecker S, Mehran R, Boam A, Cohen DJ, van Es GA, et al. Clinical end points in coronary stent trials: A case for standardized definitions. *Circulation* 2007; 115: 2344–2351.
- 442. Joner M, Finn AV, Farb A, Mont EK, Kolodgie FD, Ladich E, et al. Pathology of drug-eluting stents in humans: Delayed healing and late thrombotic risk. J Am Coll Cardiol 2006; 48: 193–202.
- 443. Finn AV, Joner M, Nakazawa G, Kolodgie F, Newell J, John MC, et al. Pathological correlates of late drug-eluting stent thrombosis: Strut coverage as a marker of endothelialization. *Circulation* 2007; 115: 2435–2441.
- 444. Virmani R, Guagliumi G, Farb A, Musumeci G, Grieco N, Motta T, et al. Localized hypersensitivity and late coronary thrombosis secondary to a sirolimus-eluting stent: Should we be cautious? *Circulation* 2004; **109**: 701–705.
- 445. Hong MK, Mintz GS, Lee CW, Park DW, Park KM, Lee BK, et al. Late stent malapposition after drug-eluting stent implantation: An intravascular ultrasound analysis with long-term follow-up. *Circulation* 2006; **113**: 414–419.
- 446. Nakazawa G, Otsuka F, Nakano M, Vorpahl M, Yazdani SK, Ladich E, et al. The pathology of neoatherosclerosis in human coronary implants bare-metal and drug-eluting stents. J Am Coll Cardiol 2011; 57: 1314–1322.
- 447. Nakazawa G, Finn AV, Vorpahl M, Ladich E, Kutys R, Balazs I, et al. Incidence and predictors of drug-eluting stent fracture in human coronary artery a pathologic analysis. J Am Coll Cardiol 2009; 54: 1924–1931.
- 448. Imai M, Kadota K, Goto T, Fujii S, Yamamoto H, Fuku Y, et al. Incidence, risk factors, and clinical sequelae of angiographic peristent contrast staining after sirolimus-eluting stent implantation. *Circulation* 2011; **123**: 2382–2391.
- 449. Tada T, Kadota K, Hosogi S, Kubo S, Ozaki M, Yoshino M, et al. Optical coherence tomography findings in lesions after sirolimus-eluting stent implantation with peri-stent contrast staining. *Circ Cardiovasc Interv* 2012; 5: 649–656.
- 450. Radu MD, Räber L, Kalesan B, Muramatsu T, Kelbæk H, Heo J et al. Coronary evaginations are associated with positive vessel remodelling and are nearly absent following implantation of newer-generation drug-eluting stents: An optical coherence tomography and intravascular ultrasound study. *Eur Heart J* 2014; 35: 795–807.
- 451. Yamaji K, Räber L, Zanchin T, Spitzer E, Zanchin C, Pilgrim T, et al. Ten-year clinical outcomes of first-generation drug-eluting stents: The Sirolimus-Eluting vs. Paclitaxel-Eluting Stents for Coronary Revascularization (SIRTAX) VERYLATE trial. *Eur Heart J* 2016; **37:** 3386–3395.
- 452. Alfonso F, Dutary J, Paulo M, Gonzalo N, Pérez-Vizcayno MJ, Jiménez-Quevedo P, et al. Combined use of optical coherence tomography and intravascular ultrasound imaging in patients undergoing coronary interventions for stent thrombosis. *Heart* 2012; **98**: 1213–1220.
- 453. Miura K, Kadota K, Habara S, Miyawaki H, Shimada T, Ohya M, et al. Ten-year clinical outcomes after sirolimus-eluting stent implantation: Impact of an in-stent restenosis target lesion. Am Heart J 2016; 175: 47–55.
- 454. Mehran R, Baber U, Steg PG, Ariti C, Weisz G, Witzenbichler B, et al. Cessation of dual antiplatelet treatment and cardiac events after percutaneous coronary intervention (Paris): 2 year results from a prospective observational study. *Lancet* 2013; 382: 1714–1722.
- 455. Fuku Y, Kadota K, Amano H, Kubo S, Otsuru S, Habara S, et al. Impact of dual antiplatelet therapy beyond 1 year on clinical outcomes of patients with stent fracture or peri-stent contrast staining after sirolimus-eluting stent implantation. *Circ J* 2017; 82: 211–217.
- 456. Kubo S, Kadota K, Ichinohe T, Miyake K, Hyodo Y, Otsuru

S, et al. Comparison of long-term outcome after percutaneous coronary intervention for stent thrombosis between early, late, and very late stent thrombosis. *Circ J* 2014; **78**: 101–109.

- 457. Armstrong EJ, Feldman DN, Wang TY, Kaltenbach LA, Yeo KK, Wong SC, et al. Clinical presentation, management, and outcomes of angiographically documented early, late, and very late stent thrombosis. *JACC Cardiovasc Interv* 2012; 5: 131–140.
- 458. Committee for Scientific Affairs, The Japanese Association for Thoracic Surgery; Masuda M, Okumura M, Doki Y, Endo S, Hirata Y, Kobayashi J, et al. Thoracic and cardiovascular surgery in Japan during 2014: Annual report by The Japanese Association for Thoracic Surgery. *Gen Thorac Cardiovasc Surg* 2016; 64: 665–697.
- 459. Ghanta RK, Kaneko T, Gammie JS, Sheng S, Aranki SF. Evolving trends of reoperative coronary artery bypass grafting: An analysis of the Society of Thoracic Surgeons Adult Cardiac Surgery Database. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 2013; 145: 364–372.
- 460. Yap CH, Sposato L, Akowuah E, Theodore S, Dinh DT, Shardey GC, et al. Contemporary results show repeat coronary artery bypass grafting remains a risk factor for operative mortality. *Ann Thorac Surg* 2009; 87: 1386–1391.
 461. Dohi M, Miyata H, Doi K, Okawa K, Motomura N, Takamoto
- 461. Dohi M, Miyata H, Doi K, Okawa K, Motomura N, Takamoto S, et al. The off-pump technique in redo coronary artery bypass grafting reduces mortality and major morbidities: Propensity score analysis of data from the Japan Cardiovascular Surgery Database. *Eur J Cardiothorac Surg* 2015; **47**: 299–307.
- 462. Bruno VD, Zakkar M, Rapetto F, Rathore A, Marsico R, Chivasso P, et al. Early health outcome and 10-year survival in patients undergoing redo coronary surgery with or without cardiopulmonary bypass: A propensity score-matched analysis. *Eur J Cardiothorac Surg* 2017; **52**: 945–951.
- 463. Morrison DA, Sethi G, Sacks J, Henderson WG, Grover F, Sedlis S, et al. Percutaneous coronary intervention versus repeat bypass surgery for patients with medically refractory myocardial ischemia: AWESOME randomized trial and registry experience with post-CABG patients. *J Am Coll Cardiol* 2002; **40**: 1951– 1954.
- 464. Subramanian S, Sabik JF, Houghtaling PL, Nowicki ER, Blackstone EH, Lytle BW. Decision-making for patients with patent left internal thoracic artery grafts to left anterior descending. *Ann Thorac Surg* 2009; 87: 1392–1398.
- 465. Sabik JF, Raza S, Blackstone EH, Houghtaling PL, Lytle BW. Value of internal thoracic artery grafting to the left anterior descending coronary artery at coronary reoperation. J Am Coll Cardiol 2013; 61: 302–310.
- 466. Dohi M, Doi K, Okawa K, Yaku H. Upgrading redo coronary artery bypass graft by recycling in situ arterial graft. *Ann Thorac* Surg 2014; 98: 311–314.
- 467. Lip GY, Huber K, Andreotti F, Arnesen H, Airaksinen KJ, Cuisset T, et al. Management of antithrombotic therapy in atrial fibrillation patients presenting with acute coronary syndrome and/or undergoing percutaneous coronary intervention/stenting. *Thromb Haemost* 2010; 103: 13–28.
 468. Gage BF, Waterman AD, Shannon W, Boechler M, Rich MW,
- 468. Gage BF, Waterman AD, Shannon W, Boechler M, Rich MW, Radford MJ. Validation of clinical classification schemes for predicting stroke: Results from the National Registry of Atrial Fibrillation. JAMA 2001; 285: 2864–2870.
- 469. Goto K, Nakai K, Shizuta S, Morimoto T, Shiomi H, Natsuaki M, et al. Anticoagulant and antiplatelet therapy in patients with atrial fibrillation undergoing percutaneous coronary intervention. *Am J Cardiol* 2014; **114**: 70–78.
- 470. Kinjo K, Sato H, Sato H, Ohnishi Y, Hishida E, Nakatani D, et al. Prognostic significance of atrial fibrillation/atrial flutter in patients with acute myocardial infarction treated with percutaneous coronary intervention. *Am J Cardiol* 2003; **92**: 1150–1154.
- 471. Kosmidou I, Chen S, Kappetein AP, Serruys PW, Gersh BJ, Puskas JD, et al. New-onset atrial fibrillation after PCI or CABG for left main disease: The EXCEL Trial. J Am Coll Cardiol 2018; 71: 739–748.
- 472. Reddy VY, Doshi SK, Sievert H, Buchbinder M, Neuzil P, Huber K, et al. Percutaneous left atrial appendage closure for stroke prophylaxis in patients with atrial fibrillation: 2.3-year follow-up of the PROTECT AF (Watchman Left Atrial Appendage System for Embolic Protection in Patients with atrial fibrillation) Trial. *Circulation* 2013; **127**: 720–729.
- 473. Reddy VY, Sievert H, Halperin J, Doshi SK, Buchbinder M, Neuzil P, et al. Percutaneous left atrial appendage closure vs warfarin for atrial fibrillation: A randomized clinical trial. *JAMA* 2014; **312**: 1988–1998.
- 474. Holmes DR, Kar S, Price MJ, Whisenant B, Sievert H, Doshi

SK, et al. Prospective randomized evaluation of the Watchman Left Atrial Appendage Closure device in patients with atrial fibrillation versus long-term warfarin therapy: The PREVAIL trial. *J Am Coll Cardiol* 2014; **64**: 1–12.

- 475. Reddy VY, Doshi SK, Kar S, Gibson DN, Price MJ, Huber K, et al. 5-Year outcomes after left atrial appendage closure: From the PREVAIL and PROTECT AF Trials. J Am Coll Cardiol 2017; 70: 2964–2975.
- 476. Malaisrie SC, McCarthy PM, Kruse J, Matsouaka R, Andrei AC, Grau-Sepulveda MV, et al. Burden of preoperative atrial fibrillation in patients undergoing coronary artery bypass grafting. *J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg* 2018; **155**: 2358–2367.e1.
- 477. Saxena A, Virk SA, Bowman S, Chan L, Jeremy R, Bannon PG. Preoperative atrial fibrillation portends poor outcomes after coronary bypass graft surgery: A systematic review and meta-analysis. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 2018; 155: 1524– 1533.e2.
- 478. Gillinov AM, Gelijns AC, Parides MK, DeRose JJ, Moskowitz AJ, Voisine P, et al. Surgical ablation of atrial fibrillation during mitral-valve surgery. N Engl J Med 2015; 372: 1399–1409.
- 479. Al-Atassi T, Kimmaliardjuk DM, Dagenais C, Bourke M, Lam BK, Rubens FD. Should we ablate atrial fibrillation during coronary artery bypass grafting and aortic valve replacement? *Ann Thorac Surg* 2017; **104:** 515–522.
- 480. Ad N, Henry L, Hunt S, Holmes SD. Do we increase the operative risk by adding the Cox Maze III procedure to aortic valve replacement and coronary artery bypass surgery? J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 2012; 143: 936–944.
- 481. Rankin JS, Lerner DJ, Braid-Forbes MJ, Ferguson MA, Badhwar V. One-year mortality and costs associated with surgical ablation for atrial fibrillation concomitant to coronary artery bypass grafting. *Eur J Cardiothorac Surg* 2017; 52: 471–477.
- 482. Damiano RJ, Gaynor SL, Bailey M, Prasad S, Cox JL, Boineau JP, et al. The long-term outcome of patients with coronary disease and atrial fibrillation undergoing the Cox maze procedure. *J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg* 2003; **126**: 2016–2021.
- 483. Cherniavsky A, Kareva Y, Pak I, Rakhmonov S, Pokushalov E, Romanov A, et al. Assessment of results of surgical treatment for persistent atrial fibrillation during coronary artery bypass grafting using implantable loop recorders. *Interact Cardiovasc Thorac Surg* 2014; 18: 727–731.
- 484. Pokushalov E, Romanov A, Corbucci G, Cherniavsky A, Karaskov A. Benefit of ablation of first diagnosed paroxysmal atrial fibrillation during coronary artery bypass grafting: A pilot study. *Eur J Cardiothorac Surg* 2012; **41**: 556–560.
- 485. Akpinar B, Sanisoglu I, Guden M, Sagbas E, Caynak B, Bayramoglu Z. Combined off-pump coronary artery bypass grafting surgery and ablative therapy for atrial fibrillation: Early and mid-term results. *Ann Thorac Surg* 2006; 81: 1332– 1337.
- 486. Badhwar V, Rankin JS, Damiano RJ, Gillinov AM, Bakaeen FG, Edgerton JR, et al. The Society of Thoracic Surgeons 2017 clinical practice guidelines for the surgical treatment of atrial fibrillation. *Ann Thorac Surg* 2017; **103**: 329–341.
- 487. Tsai YC, Phan K, Munkholm-Larsen S, Tian DH, La Meir M, Yan TD. Surgical left atrial appendage occlusion during cardiac surgery for patients with atrial fibrillation: A meta-analysis. *Eur J Cardiothorac Surg* 2015; **47:** 847–854.
 488. Friedman DJ, Piccini JP, Wang T, Zheng J, Malaisrie SC,
- 488. Friedman DJ, Piccini JP, Wang T, Zheng J, Malaisrie SC, Holmes DR, et al. Association between left atrial appendage occlusion and readmission for thromboembolism among patients with atrial fibrillation undergoing concomitant cardiac surgery. JAMA 2018; **319**: 365–374.
- 489. Yao X, Gersh BJ, Holmes DR, Melduni RM, Johnsrud DO, Sangaralingham LR, et al. Association of surgical left atrial appendage occlusion with subsequent stroke and mortality among patients undergoing cardiac surgery. JAMA 2018; 319: 2116–2126.
- 490. Elbadawi A, Ogunbayo GO, Elgendy IY, Olorunfemi O, Saad M, Ha LD, et al. Impact of left atrial appendage exclusion on cardiovascular outcomes in patients with atrial fibrillation undergoing coronary artery bypass grafting (from the National Inpatient Sample Database). Am J Cardiol 2017; **120:** 953–958.
- 491. Kanderian AS, Gillinov AM, Pettersson GB, Blackstone E, Klein AL. Success of surgical left atrial appendage closure: Assessment by transesophageal echocardiography. J Am Coll Cardiol 2008; 52: 924–929.
- 492. Aryana A, Singh SK, Singh SM, O'Neill PG, Bowers MR, Allen SL, et al. Association between incomplete surgical ligation of left atrial appendage and stroke and systemic embolization.

Heart Rhythm 2015; 12: 1431-1437.

- 493. Caliskan E, Sahin A, Yilmaz M, Seifert B, Hinzpeter R, Alkadhi H, et al. Epicardial left atrial appendage AtriClip occlusion reduces the incidence of stroke in patients with atrial fibrillation undergoing cardiac surgery. *Europace* 2018; 20: e105-e114.
- 494. Cameron A, Davis KB, Green G, Schaff HV. Coronary bypass surgery with internal-thoracic-artery grafts: Effects on survival over a 15-year period. *N Engl J Med* 1996; **334**: 216–219.
- 495. Hueb W, Lopes N, Gersh BJ, Soares PR, Ribeiro EE, Pereira AC, et al. Ten-year follow-up survival of the Medicine, Angioplasty, or Surgery Study (MASS II): A randomized controlled clinical trial of 3 therapeutic strategies for multivessel coronary artery disease. *Circulation* 2010; **122**: 949–957.
- 496. Kimura T, Morimoto T, Furukawa Y, Nakagawa Y, Shizuta S, Ehara N, et al. Long-term outcomes of coronary-artery bypass graft surgery versus percutaneous coronary intervention for multivessel coronary artery disease in the bare-metal stent era. *Circulation* 2008; **118**(Suppl): S199–S209.
- 497. Marui A, Kimura T, Nishiwaki N, Mitsudo K, Komiya T, Hanyu M, et al. Five-year outcomes of percutaneous versus surgical coronary revascularization in patients with diabetes mellitus (from the CREDO-Kyoto PCI/CABG Registry Cohort-2). Am J Cardiol 2015; 115: 1063–1072.
- 498. Ariyarathe TV, Ademi Z, Yap CH, Billah B, Rosenfeldt F, Yan BP, et al. Prolonged effectiveness of coronary artery bypass surgery versus drug-eluting stents in diabetics with multi-vessel disease: An updated systematic review and meta-analysis. *Int J Cardiol* 2014; **176**: 346–353.
- 499. Narayan P, Kshirsagar SN, Mandal CK, Ghorai PA, Rao YM, Das D, et al. Preoperative glycosylated hemoglobin: A risk factor for patients undergoing coronary artery bypass. *Ann Thorac Surg* 2017; **104**: 606–612.
- 500. Nicolini F, Santarpino G, Gatti G, Reichart D, Onorati F, Faggian G, et al. Utility of glycated hemoglobin screening in patients undergoing elective coronary artery surgery: Prospective, cohort study from the E-CABG registry. *Int J Surg* 2018; 53: 354–359.
- 501. Finger B, Brase J, He J, Gibson WJ, Wirtz K, Flynn BC. Elevated hemoglobin A1c is associated with lower socioeconomic position and increased postoperative infections and longer hospital stay after cardiac surgical procedures. *Ann Thorac Surg* 2017; **103**: 145–151.
- 502. Chamberlain JJ, Rhinehart AS, Shaefer CF, Neuman A. Diagnosis and management of diabetes: Synopsis of the 2016 American Diabetes Association Standards of Medical Care in Diabetes. Ann Intern Med 2016; 164: 542–552.
- 503. Bagdade JD, Stewart M, Walters E. Impaired granulocyte adherence: A reversible defect in host defense in patients with poorly controlled diabetes. *Diabetes* 1978; 27: 677–681.
- 504. Kremke M, Tang M, Bak M, Kristensen KL, Hindsholm K, Andreasen JJ, et al. Antiplatelet therapy at the time of coronary artery bypass grafting: A multicentre cohort study. *Eur J Cardiothorac Surg* 2013; 44: e133–e140.
- Chassot PG, Marcucci C, Delabays A, Spahn DR. Perioperative antiplatelet therapy. *Am Fam Phys* 2010; 82: 1484–1489.
 Leiva-Pons JL, Carrillo-Calvillo J, Leiva-Garza JL, Loyo-Olivo
- 506. Leiva-Pons JL, Carrillo-Calvillo J, Leiva-Garza JL, Loyo-Olivo MA, Piãa-Ramírez BM, López-Quijano JM, et al. Importance of the time for stopping the combined use of aspirin and clopidogrel in patients undergoing coronary artery by-pass graft surgery. *Arch Cardiol Mex* 2008; **78**: 178–186 [in Spanish].
- 507. Ferrandis R, Llau JV, Mugarra A. Perioperative management of antiplatelet-drugs in cardiac surgery. *Curr Cardiol Rev* 2009; 5: 125–132.
- Lee J, Ikeda S, Johnston MF. Efficacy of intraoperative blood salvage during coronary artery bypass grafting. *Minerva Cardioangiol* 1997; 45: 395–400.
- Winton TL, Charrette EJ, Salerno TA. The cell saver during cardiac surgery: Does it save? Ann Thorac Surg 1982; 33: 379– 381.
- 510. Hall RI, Schweiger IM, Finlayson DC. The benefit of the Hemonetics cell saver apparatus during cardiac surgery. *Can J Anesth* 1990; **37:** 618–623.
- 511. Amand T, Pincemail J, Blaffart F, Larbuisson R, Limet R, Defraigne JO. Levels of inflammatory markers in the blood processed by autotransfusion devices during cardiac surgery associated with cardiopulmonary bypass circuit. *Perfusion* 2002; 17: 117–123.
- 512. Jewell AE, Akowuah EF, Suvarna SK, Braidley P, Hopkinson D, Cooper G. A prospective randomised comparison of cardiotomy

suction and cell saver for recycling shed blood during cardiac surgery. *Eur J Cardiothorac Surg* 2003; **23**: 633–636.

- 513. Ishida T, Nakano K, Nakatani H, Gomi A, Satoh T, Saegusa N, et al. [Relation between intraoperative salvaged blood transfusion and postoperative infection after cardiac surgery]. *Kyobu Geka* 2002; **55**: 763–767 [in Japanese].
- 514. Pandey R, Grayson AD, Pullan DM, Fabri BM, Dihmis WC. Total arterial revascularisation: Effect of avoiding cardiopulmonary bypass on in-hospital mortality and morbidity in a propensity-matched cohort. *Eur J Cardiothorac Surg* 2005; 27: 94–98.
- 515. Bainbridge D, Martin J, Cheng D. Off pump coronary artery bypass graft surgery versus conventional coronary artery bypass graft surgery: A systematic review of the literature. Semin Cardiothorac Vasc Anesth 2005; 9: 105–111.
- 516. Huybregts RA, Morariu AM, Rakhorst G, Spiegelenberg SR, Romijn HW, de Vroege R, et al. Attenuated renal and intestinal injury after use of a mini-cardiopulmonary bypass system. *Ann Thorac Surg* 2007; 83: 1760–1766.
- 517. Ohata T, Mitsuno M, Yamamura M, Tanaka H, Kobayashi Y, Ryomoto M, et al. Beneficial effects of mini-cardiopulmonary bypass on hemostasis in coronary artery bypass grafting: Analysis of inflammatory response and hemodilution. ASAIO J 2008; 54: 207–209.
- 518. Remadi JP, Rakotoarivelo Z, Marticho P, Benamar A. Prospective randomized study comparing coronary artery bypass grafting with the new mini-extracorporeal circulation Jostra System or with a standard cardiopulmonary bypass. *Am Heart J* 2006; 151: 198.
- Biancari F, Rimpiläinen R. Meta-analysis of randomised trials comparing the effectiveness of miniaturised versus conventional cardiopulmonary bypass in adult cardiac surgery. *Heart* 2009; 95: 964–969.
- 520. Just SS, Müller T, Albes JM. Minimized closed circuit/centrifugal pump extracorporeal circulation: An effective aid in coronary bypass operations in Jehovah's Witnesses. *Interact Cardiovasc Thorac Surg* 2007; 6: 124–125.
- 521. Brest van Kempen AB, Gasiorek JM, Bloemendaal K, Storm van Leeuwen RP, Bulder ER. Low-prime perfusion circuit and autologous priming in CABG surgery on a Jehovah's Witness: A case report. *Perfusion* 2002; 17: 69–72.
- 522. Ilabaca PA, Ochsner JL, Mills NL. Positive end-expiratory pressure in the management of the patient with a postoperative bleeding heart. *Ann Thorac Surg* 1980; **30**: 281–284.
- 523. Hoffman WS, Tomasello DN, MacVaugh H. Control of postcardiotomy bleeding with PEEP. *Ann Thorac Surg* 1982; 34: 71–73.
- 524. Zurick AM, Urzua J, Ghattas M, Cosgrove DM, Estafanous FG, Greenstreet R. Failure of positive end-expiratory pressure to decrease postoperative bleeding after cardiac surgery. *Ann Thorac Surg* 1982; 34: 608–611.
- 525. Collier B, Kolff J, Devineni R, Gonzalez LS. Prophylactic positive end-expiratory pressure and reduction of postoperative blood loss in open-heart surgery. *Ann Thorac Surg* 2002; 74: 1191–1194.
- 526. Murphy DA, Finlayson DC, Craver JM, Jones EL, Kopel M, Tobia V, et al. Effect of positive end-expiratory pressure on excessive mediastinal bleeding after cardiac operations: A controlled study. *J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg* 1983; 85: 864–869.
- 527. Society of Thoracic Surgeons Blood Conservation Guideline Task Force; Ferraris VA, Brown JR, Despotis GJ, Hammon JW, Reece TB, Saha SP, et al. 2011 Update to the Society of Thoracic Surgeons and the Society of Cardiovascular Anesthesiologists blood conservation clinical practice guidelines. *Ann Thorac* Surg 2011; 91: 944–982.
- 528. Alghamdi AA, Albanna MJ, Guru V, Brister SJ. Does the use of erythropoietin reduce the risk of exposure to allogeneic blood transfusion in cardiac surgery?: A systematic review and meta-analysis. J Card Surg 2006; 21: 320–326.
- 529. Haydar AA, Abchee AB, El-Hajj II, Hujairi NM, Tfaili AS, Hatoum T, et al. Bleeding post coronary artery bypass surgery. Clopidogrel: Cure or culprit? J Med Liban 2006; 54: 11–16.
- 530. Vaccarino GN, Thierer J, Albertal M, Vrancic M, Piccinini F, Benzadón M, et al. Impact of preoperative clopidogrel in off pump coronary artery bypass surgery: A propensity score analysis. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 2009; 137: 309–313.
- 531. Siller-Matula JM, Petre A, Delle-Karth G, Huber K, Ay C, Lordkipanidzé M, et al. Impact of preoperative use of P2Y₁₂ receptor inhibitors on clinical outcomes in cardiac and non-cardiac surgery: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Eur Heart J*

Acute Cardiovasc Care 2017; 6: 753-770.

- 532. Mangano DT, Tudor IC, Dietzel C, Multicenter Study of Perioperative Ischemia Research Group, Ischemia Research and Education Foundation. The risk associated with aprotinin in cardiac surgery. *N Engl J Med* 2006; **354:** 353–365.
 533. Mangano DT, Miao Y, Vuylsteke A, Tudor IC, Juneja R,
- 533. Mangano DT, Miao Y, Vuylsteke A, Tudor IC, Juneja R, Filipescu D, et al. Mortality associated with aprotinin during 5 years following coronary artery bypass graft surgery. *JAMA* 2007; 297: 471–479.
- 534. Fergusson DA, Hébert PC, Mazer CD, Fremes S, MacAdams C, Murkin JM, et al. A comparison of aprotinin and lysine analogues in high-risk cardiac surgery. *N Engl J Med* 2008; 358: 2319–2331.
- 535. Henry D, Carless P, Fergusson D, Laupacis A. The safety of aprotinin and lysine-derived antifibrinolytic drugs in cardiac surgery: A meta-analysis. *CMAJ* 2009; 180: 183–193.
- 536. Santos AT, Kalil RA, Bauemann C, Pereira JB, Nesralla IA. A randomized, double-blind, and placebo-controlled study with tranexamic acid of bleeding and fibrinolytic activity after primary coronary artery bypass grafting. *Braz J Med Biol Res* 2006; **39**: 63–69.
- 537. Weisel RD, Charlesworth DC, Mickleborough LL, Fremes SE, Ivanov J, Mickle DA, et al. Limitations of blood conservation. *J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg* 1984; 88: 26–38.
- 538. van Woerkens EC, Trouwborst A, van Lanschot JJ. Profound hemodilution: What is the critical level of hemodilution at which oxygen delivery-dependent oxygen consumption starts in an anesthetized human? *Anesth Analg* 1992; **75**: 818–821.
- 539. Hébert PC, Yetisir E, Martin C, Blajchman MA, Wells G, Marshall J, et al. Is a low transfusion threshold safe in critically ill patients with cardiovascular diseases? *Crit Care Med* 2001; 29: 227–234.
- 540. Mazer CD, Whitlock RP, Fergusson DA, Hall J, Belley-Cote E, Connolly K, et al. Restrictive or liberal red-cell transfusion for cardiac surgery. *N Engl J Med* 2017; **377**: 2133–2144.
- 541. Japan Society of Transfusion Medicine and Cell Therapy. Guideline for the use of red blood cell products based on scientific evidence [in Japanese]. http://yuketsu.jstmct.or.jp/ medical/guidelines/ (accessed February 26, 2021).
- 542. Murphy GJ, Pike K, Rogers CA, Wordsworth S, Stokes EA, Angelini GD, et al. Liberal or restrictive transfusion after cardiac surgery. N Engl J Med 2015; 372: 997–1008.
- 543. Carson JL, Brooks MM, Abbott JD, Chaitman B, Kelsey SF, Triulzi DJ, et al. Liberal versus restrictive transfusion thresholds for patients with symptomatic coronary artery disease. Am Heart J 2013; 165: 964–971.e1.
- 544. Wang Y, Shi X, Wen M, Chen Y, Zhang Q. Restrictive versus liberal blood transfusion in patients with coronary artery disease: A meta-analysis. *Curr Med Res Opin* 2017; 33: 761–768.
- 545. Patel NN, Avlonitis VS, Jones HE, Reeves BC, Sterne JA, Murphy GJ. Indications for red blood cell transfusion in cardiac surgery: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Lancet Haematol* 2015; 2: e543–e553.
- 546. Wu WC, Rathore SS, Wang Y, Radford MJ, Krumholz HM. Blood transfusion in elderly patients with acute myocardial infarction. *N Engl J Med* 2001; **345**: 1230–1236.
- 547. Consten EC, Henny CP, Eijsman L, Dongelmans DA, van Oers MH. The routine use of fresh frozen plasma in operations with cardiopulmonary bypass is not justified. *J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg* 1996; **112**: 162–167.
- Kasper SM, Giesecke T, Limpers P, Sabatowski R, Mehlhorn U, Diefenbach C. Failure of autologous fresh frozen plasma to reduce blood loss and transfusion requirements in coronary artery bypass surgery. *Anesthesiology* 2001; 95: 81–86.
 Stanworth SJ, Brunskill SJ, Hyde CJ, McClelland DB, Murphy
- 549. Stanworth SJ, Brunskill SJ, Hyde CJ, McClelland DB, Murphy MF. Is fresh frozen plasma clinically effective?: A systematic review of randomized controlled trials. *Br J Haematol* 2004; 126: 139–152.
- 550. Casbard AC, Williamson LM, Murphy MF, Rege K, Johnson T. The role of prophylactic fresh frozen plasma in decreasing blood loss and correcting coagulopathy in cardiac surgery: A systematic review. *Anaesthesia* 2004; **59**: 550–558.
- 551. Lytle BW, Loop FD, Cosgrove DM, Ratliff NB, Easley K, Taylor PC. Long-term (5 to 12 years) serial studies of internal mammary artery and saphenous vein coronary bypass grafts. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 1985; 89: 248–258.
- 552. Loop FD, Lytle BW, Cosgrove DM, Stewart RW, Goormastic M, Williams GW, et al. Influence of the internal-mammary-artery graft on 10-year survival and other cardiac events. N Engl J Med 1986; 314: 1–6.

- 553. Boylan MJ, Lytle BW, Loop FD, Taylor PC, Borsh JA, Goormastic M, et al. Surgical treatment of isolated left anterior descending coronary stenosis: Comparison of left internal mammary artery and venous autograft at 18 to 20 years of follow-up. *J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg* 1994; **107**: 657–662.
 554. Kitamura S, Kawachi K, Taniguchi S, Kawata T, Kobayashi S,
- 554. Kitamura S, Kawachi K, Taniguchi S, Kawata T, Kobayashi S, Nishioka H, et al. Long-term benefits of internal thoracic artery-coronary artery bypass in Japanese patients. *Jpn J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg* 1998; **46**: 1–10.
- 555. Cameron AA, Green GE, Brogno DA, Thornton J. Internal thoracic artery grafts: 20-year clinical follow-up. J Am Coll Cardiol 1995; 25: 188–192.
- 556. deleted in proof.
- 557. deleted in proof.
- 558. deleted in proof.
- 559. deleted in proof.
- 560. deleted in proof.
- 561. Shah PJ, Durairaj M, Gordon I, Fuller J, Rosalion A, Seevanayagam S, et al. Factors affecting patency of internal thoracic artery graft: Clinical and angiographic study in 1434 symptomatic patients operated between 1982 and 2002. *Eur J Cardiothorac Surg* 2004; 26: 118–124.
- 562. Shah PJ, Bui K, Blackmore S, Gordon I, Hare DL, Fuller J, et al. Has the in situ right internal thoracic artery been overlooked?: An angiographic study of the radial artery, internal thoracic arteries and saphenous vein graft patencies in symptomatic patients. *Eur J Cardiothorac Surg* 2005; 27: 870–875.
- 563. Kawata T, Taniguchi S, Nishioka H, Kobayashi S, Mizuguchi K, Kameda Y, et al. Benefits accruing to grafting of the right internal thoracic artery to the left anterior descending artery in coronary artery bypass grafting. *Jpn J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg* 1999; **47**: 388–393.
- 564. Mert M, Yildiz CE, Arat-Ozkan A, Bakir I, Bakay C. Mid to long-term results of circumflex coronary artery revascularization with left internal thoracic artery grafts. *Jpn Heart J* 2004; 45: 23–30.
- 565. Higami T, Yamashita T, Nohara H, Iwahashi K, Shida T, Ogawa K. Early results of coronary grafting using ultrasonically skeletonized internal thoracic arteries. *Ann Thorac Surg* 2001; 71: 1224–1228.
- 566. Sá MPB deO, Ferraz PE, Escobar RR, Vasconcelos FP, Ferraz AAB, Braile DM, et al. Skeletonized versus pedicled internal thoracic artery and risk of sternal wound infection after coronarybypass surgery: Meta-analysis and meta-regression of 4817 patients. *Interact Cardiovasc Thorac Surg* 2013; 16: 849– 857.
- 567. Kamiya H, Akhyari P, Martens A, Karck M, Haverich A, Lichtenberg A. Sternal microcirculation after skeletonized versus pedicled harvesting of the internal thoracic artery: A randomized study. *J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg* 2008; **135**: 32–37.
- 568. Sá MPB deO, Soares EF, Santos CA, Figueiredo OJ, Lima ROA, Escobar RR, et al. Skeletonized left internal thoracic artery is associated with lower rates of mediastinitis in diabetic patients. *Rev Bras Cir Cardiovasc* 2011; 26: 183–189.
- 569. Kieser TM, Rose MS, Aluthman U, Montgomery M, Louie T, Belenkie I. Toward zero: Deep sternal wound infection after 1001 consecutive coronary artery bypass procedures using arterial grafts: Implications for diabetic patients. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 2014; 148: 1887–1895.
- 570. Wendler O, Tscholl D, Huang Q, Schäfers HJ. Free flow capacity of skeletonized versus pedicled internal thoracic artery grafts in coronary artery bypass grafts. *Eur J Cardiothorac Surg* 1999; 15: 247–250.
- 571. Higami T, Maruo A, Yamashita T, Shida T, Ogawa K. Histologic and physiologic evaluation of skeletonized internal thoracic artery harvesting with an ultrasonic scalpel. *J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg* 2000; **120**: 1142–1147.
- 572. Kieser TM, Rose MS, Aluthman U, Narine K. Quicker yet safe: Skeletonization of 1640 internal mammary arteries with harmonic technology in 965 patients. *Eur J Cardiothorac Surg* 2014; 45: e142–e150.
- 573. Ohira S, Doi K, Okawa K, Dohi M, Yamamoto T, Kawajiri H, et al. Safety and efficacy of sequential left internal thoracic artery grafting to left circumflex area. *Ann Thorac Surg* 2016; 102: 766–773.
- 574. Ji Q, Xia L, Shi Y, Ma R, Shen J, Lai H, et al. Sequential grafting of in situ skeletonized left internal mammary artery to the left coronary system. *Int Heart J* 2018; **59**: 727–735.
- 575. Schmidt SE, Jones JW, Thornby JI, Miller CC, Beall AC. Improved survival with multiple left-sided bilateral internal

thoracic artery grafts. Ann Thorac Surg 1997; 64: 9-14.

- 576. Ioannidis JP, Galanos O, Katritsis D, Connery CP, Drossos GE, Swistel DG, et al. Early mortality and morbidity of bilateral versus single internal thoracic artery revascularization: Propensity and risk modeling. J Am Coll Cardiol 2001; 37: 521–528.
- 577. Tector AJ, McDonald ML, Kress DC, Downey FX, Schmahl TM. Purely internal thoracic artery grafts: Outcomes. *Ann Thorac Surg* 2001; **72:** 450–455.
- 578. Nishida H, Tomizawa Y, Endo M, Koyanagi H, Kasanuki H. Coronary artery bypass with only in situ bilateral internal thoracic arteries and right gastroepiploic artery. *Circulation* 2001; **104**(Suppl 1): I-76–I-80.
- 579. Endo M, Nishida H, Tomizawa Y, Kasanuki H. Benefit of bilateral over single internal mammary artery grafts for multiple coronary artery bypass grafting. *Circulation* 2001; **104**: 2164– 2170.
- 580. Berreklouw E, Rademakers PP, Koster JM, van Leur L, van der Wielen BJ, Westers P. Better ischemic event-free survival after two internal thoracic artery grafts: 13 years of follow-up. *Ann Thorac Surg* 2001; **72**: 1535–1541.
- 581. Hirotani T, Shirota S, Cho Y, Takeuchi S. Feasibility and suitability of the routine use of bilateral internal thoracic arteries. *Ann Thorac Surg* 2002; **73:** 511–515.
- 582. Ura M, Sakata R, Nakayama Y, Arai Y. Bilateral pedicled internal thoracic artery grafting. *Eur J Cardiothorac Surg* 2002; 21: 1015–1019.
- 583. Sauvage LR, Rosenfeld JG, Roby PV, Gartman DM, Hammond WP, Fisher LD. Internal thoracic artery grafts for the entire heart at a mean of 12 years. *Ann Thorac Surg* 2003; 75: 501–504.
- 584. Calafiore AM, Di Giammarco G, Teodori G, Di Mauro M, Iacò AL, Bivona A, et al. Late results of first myocardial revascularization in multiple vessel disease: Single versus bilateral internal mammary artery with or without saphenous vein grafts. *Eur J Cardiothorac Surg* 2004; 26: 542–548.
- 585. Stevens LM, Carrier M, Perrault LP, Hébert Y, Cartier R, Bouchard D, et al. Single versus bilateral internal thoracic artery grafts with concomitant saphenous vein grafts for multivessel coronary artery bypass grafting: Effects on mortality and event-free survival. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 2004; 127: 1408–1415.
- 586. Kramer A, Mastsa M, Paz Y, Locker C, Pevni D, Gurevitch J, et al. Bilateral skeletonized internal thoracic artery grafting in 303 patients seventy years and older. *J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg* 2000; **120**: 290–297.
- 587. Jones JW, Schmidt SE, Miller CC, Beall AC, Baldwin JC. Bilateral internal thoracic artery operations in the elderly. J Cardiovasc Surg Torino 2000; 41: 165–170.
- 588. Gurevitch J, Matsa M, Paz Y, Kramer A, Pevni D, Shapira I, et al. Effect of age on outcome of bilateral skeletonized internal thoracic artery grafting. *Ann Thorac Surg* 2001; **71**: 549–554.
- 589. Hirotani T, Nakamichi T, Munakata M, Takeuchi S. Extended use of bilateral internal thoracic arteries for coronary artery bypass grafting in the elderly. *Jpn J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg* 2003; **51**: 488–495.
- 590. Lytle BW, Blackstone EH, Sabik JF, Houghtaling P, Loop FD, Cosgrove DM. The effect of bilateral internal thoracic artery grafting on survival during 20 postoperative years. *Ann Thorac Surg* 2004; **78**: 2005–2012.
- 591. Tatoulis J, Buxton BF, Fuller JA. The right internal thoracic artery: The forgotten conduit – 5,766 patients and 991 angiograms. *Ann Thorac Surg* 2011; 92: 9–15.
- 592. Raja SG, Benedetto U, Husain M, Soliman R, De Robertis F, Amrani M, et al. Does grafting of the left anterior descending artery with the in situ right internal thoracic artery have an impact on late outcomes in the context of bilateral internal thoracic artery usage? J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 2014; 148: 1275–1281.
- 593. Lev-Ran O, Pevni D, Matsa M, Paz Y, Kramer A, Mohr R. Arterial myocardial revascularization with in situ crossover right internal thoracic artery to left anterior descending artery. *Ann Thorac Surg* 2001; **72**: 798–803.
- 594. Al-Ruzzeh S, George S, Bustami M, Nakamura K, Ilsley C, Amrani M. Early clinical and angiographic outcome of the pedicled right internal thoracic artery graft to the left anterior descending artery. *Ann Thorac Surg* 2002; 73: 1431–1435.
- 595. Ura M, Sakata Ř, Nakayama Y, Árai Y, Oshima S, Noda K. Analysis by early angiography of right internal thoracic artery grafting via the transverse sinus: Predictors of graft failure. *Circulation* 2000; **101:** 640–646.

- 596. Ura M, Sakata R, Nakayama Y, Arai Y, Oshima S, Noda K, et al. Technical aspects and outcome of in situ right internal thoracic artery grafting to the major branches of the circumflex artery via the transverse sinus. *Ann Thorac Surg* 2001; 71: 1485–1490.
- 597. Bonacchi M, Prifti E, Battaglia F, Frati G, Sani G, Popoff G. In situ retrocaval skeletonized right internal thoracic artery anastomosed to the circumflex system via transverse sinus: Technical aspects and postoperative outcome. *J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg* 2003; **126**: 1302–1313.
- 598. Buxton BF, Ruengsakulrach P, Fuller J, Rosalion A, Reid CM, Tatoulis J. The right internal thoracic artery graft: Benefits of grafting the left coronary system and native vessels with a high grade stenosis. *Eur J Cardiothorac Surg* 2000; 18: 255–261.
- 599. Šabik JF, Lytle BW, Blackstone EH, Houghtaling PL, Cosgrove DM. Comparison of saphenous vein and internal thoracic artery graft patency by coronary system. *Ann Thorac Surg* 2005; **79:** 544–551.
- 600. Wendler O, Hennen B, Demertzis S, Markwirth T, Tscholl D, Lausberg H, et al. Complete arterial revascularization in multivessel coronary artery disease with 2 conduits (skeletonized grafts and T grafts). *Circulation* 2000; **102**(Suppl 3): III-79– III-83.
- 601. Calafiore AM, Contini M, Vitolla G, Di Mauro M, Mazzei V, Teodori G, et al. Bilateral internal thoracic artery grafting: Long-term clinical and angiographic results of in situ versus Y grafts. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 2000; 120: 990–996.
- 602. Fukuda I, Osaka M, Unno H, Kaminishi Y, Kamiya H. Bilateral internal thoracic artery T grafting for coronary artery revascularization: Angiographic assessment and mid-term outcome. Jpn J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 2001; 49: 160–164.
- 603. Pevni D, Kramer A, Paz Y, Lev-Run O, Locker C, Matsa M, et al. Composite arterial grafting with double skeletonized internal thoracic arteries. *Eur J Cardiothorac Surg* 2001; 20: 299–304.
- 604. Hosono M, Shimizu Y, Takanashi S, Minamimura H, Ishikawa T, Murakami T, et al. Early angiographic and clinical results of branch conduits attached proximally to left internal thoracic arteries. *Ann Thorac Cardiovasc Surg* 2002; 8: 145–150.
- 605. Lev-Ran O, Paz Y, Pevni D, Kramer A, Shapira I, Locker C, et al. Bilateral internal thoracic artery grafting: Midterm results of composite versus in situ crossover graft. *Ann Thorac Surg* 2002; 74: 704–710.
- 606. Shin H, Yozu R, Hashizume K, Iino Y, Enoki C, Koizumi K, et al. Free right internal thoracic artery as a second arterial conduit: Modification of proximal anastomosis for improvement of graft patency. *Ann Thorac Cardiovasc Surg* 2001; 7:155–158.
- 607. Magruder JT, Young A, Grimm JC, Conte JV, Shah AS, Mandal K, et al. Bilateral internal thoracic artery grafting: Does graft configuration affect outcome? *J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg* 2016; **152**: 120–127.
- 608. Grossi EA, Esposito R, Harris LJ, Crooke GA, Galloway AC, Colvin SB, et al. Sternal wound infections and use of internal mammary artery grafts. *J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg* 1991; 102: 342–346.
- 609. Loop FD, Lytle BW, Cosgrove DM, Mahfood S, McHenry MC, Goormastic M, et al. J Maxwell Chamberlain memorial paper. Sternal wound complications after isolated coronary artery bypass grafting: Early and late mortality, morbidity, and cost of care. *Ann Thorac Surg* 1990; **49**: 179–186.
- 610. Lev-Ran O, Mohr R, Pevni D, Nesher N, Weissman Y, Loberman D, et al. Bilateral internal thoracic artery grafting in diabetic patients: Short-term and long-term results of a 515-patient series. *J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg* 2004; **127**: 1145– 1150.
- 611. Peterson MD, Borger MA, Rao V, Peniston CM, Feindel CM. Skeletonization of bilateral internal thoracic artery grafts lowers the risk of sternal infection in patients with diabetes. *J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg* 2003; **126**: 1314–1319.
- 612. Lytle BW. Skeletonized internal thoracic artery grafts and wound complications. *J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg* 2001; **121**: 625–627.
- 613. Hirose H, Amano A, Takanashi S, Takahashi A. Skeletonized bilateral internal mammary artery grafting for patients with diabetes. *Interact Cardiovasc Thorac Surg* 2003; 2: 287–292.
- 614. De Paulis R, de Notaris S, Scaffa R, Nardella S, Zeitani J, Del Giudice C, et al. The effect of bilateral internal thoracic artery harvesting on superficial and deep sternal infection: The role of skeletonization. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 2005; 129: 536–543.
- 615. Benedetto U, Altman DG, Gerry S, Gray A, Lees B, Pawlaczyk R, et al. Pedicled and skeletonized single and bilateral internal

thoracic artery grafts and the incidence of sternal wound complications: Insights from the Arterial Revascularization Trial. *J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg* 2016; **152**: 270–276.

- 616. Suma H, Fukumoto H, Takeuchi A. Coronary artery bypass grafting by utilizing in situ right gastroepiploic artery: Basic study and clinical application. *Ann Thorac Surg* 1987; **44**: 394– 397.
- 617. Pym J, Brown PM, Charrette EJ, Parker JO, West RO. Gastroepiploic-coronary anastomosis: A viable alternative bypass graft. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 1987; 94: 256–259.
- 618. Nakao T, Kawaue Y. Effect of coronary revascularization with the right gastroepiploic artery: Comparative examination of angiographic findings in the early postoperative period. *J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg* 1993; **106**: 149–153.
- 619. Suma H, Wanibuchi Y, Terada Y, Fukuda S, Takayama T, Furuta S. The right gastroepiploic artery graft: Clinical and angiographic midterm results in 200 patients. *J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg* 1993; **105**: 615–622.
- 620. Nishida H, Endo M, Koyanagi H, Koyanagi T, Nakamura K. Coronary artery bypass grafting with the right gastroepiploic artery and evaluation of flow with transcutaneous Doppler echocardiography. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 1994; 108: 532– 538.
- 621. Pym J, Brown P, Pearson M, Parker J. Right gastroepiploic-tocoronary artery bypass: The first decade of use. *Circulation* 1995; **92**(Suppl): II-45–II-49.
- 622. Grandjean JG, Voors AA, Boonstra PW, den Heyer P, Ebels T. Exclusive use of arterial grafts in coronary artery bypass operations for three-vessel disease: Use of both thoracic arteries and the gastroepiploic artery in 256 consecutive patients. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 1996; **112**: 935–942.
- 623. Voutilainen S, Verkkala K, Järvinen A, Keto P, et al. Angiographic 5-year follow-up study of right gastroepiploic artery grafts. Ann Thorac Surg 1996; 62: 501–505.
- 624. Uchida N, Kawaue Y. Flow competition of the right gastroepiploic artery graft in coronary revascularization. *Ann Thorac Surg* 1996; 62: 1342–1346.
- 625. Albertini A, Lochegnies A, El Khoury G, Verhelst R, Noirhomme P, Matta A, et al. Use of the right gastroepiploic artery as a coronary artery bypass graft in 307 patients. *Cardiovasc Surg* 1998; 6: 419–423.
- 626. Suma H, Isomura T, Horii T, Sato T. Late angiographic result of using the right gastroepiploic artery as a graft. *J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg* 2000; **120:** 496–498.
- 627. Ochi M, Bessho R, Saji Y, Fujii M, Hatori N, Tanaka S. Sequential grafting of the right gastroepiploic artery in coronary artery bypass surgery. *Ann Thorac Surg* 2001; **71**: 1205–1209.
- 628. Hirose H, Amano A, Takanashi S, Takahashi A. Coronary artery bypass grafting using the gastroepiploic artery in 1,000 patients. *Ann Thorac Surg* 2002; **73**: 1371–1379.
- 629. Ishida T, Kurosawa H, Nishida H, Aomi S, Endo M. Sequential bypass using the right gastroepiploic artery for coronary artery bypass grafting. *Jpn J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg* 2003; **51**: 277– 281.
- 630. Takemura H, Watanabe G, Takahashi M, Tomita S, Higashidani K. Beating heart coronary artery bypass grafting: Results from 402 patients and the usefulness of gastroepiploic artery composite grafting. *Jpn J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg* 2003; 51: 173–177.
- 631. Kamiya H, Watanabe G, Takemura H, Tomita S, Nagamine H, Kanamori T. Skeletonization of gastroepiploic artery graft in off-pump coronary artery bypass grafting: Early clinical and angiographic assessment. *Ann Thorac Surg* 2004; 77: 2046–2050.
- 632. Fukui T, Takanashi S, Hosoda Y, Suehiro S. Total arterial myocardial revascularization using composite and sequential grafting with the off-pump technique. *Ann Thorac Surg* 2005; 80: 579–585.
- 633. Suma H, Tanabe H, Takahashi A, Horii T, Isomura T, Hirose H, et al. Twenty years experience with the gastroepiploic artery graft for CABG. *Circulation* 2007; **116**(Suppl): I-188–I-191.
- 634. Suma H, Tanabe H, Yamada J, Mikuriya A, Horii T, Isomura T. Midterm results for use of the skeletonized gastroepiploic artery graft in coronary artery bypass. *Circ J* 2007; 71: 1503– 1505.
- 635. Suzuki T, Asai T, Nota H, Kuroyanagi S, Kinoshita T, Takashima N, et al. Early and long-term patency of in situ skeletonized gastroepiploic artery after off-pump coronary artery bypass graft surgery. *Ann Thorac Surg* 2013; 96: 90–95.
- 636. Tatoulis J, Buxton BF, Fuller JA. Patencies of 2127 arterial to coronary conduits over 15 years. Ann Thorac Surg 2004; 77:

567

93-101.

- 637. Dietl CA, Benoit CH, Gilbert CL, Woods EL, Pharr WF, Berkheimer MD, et al. Which is the graft of choice for the right coronary and posterior descending arteries?: Comparison of the right internal mammary artery and the right gastroepiploic artery. *Circulation* 1995; 92(Suppl): II-92–II-97.
- 638. Maniar HS, Sundt TM, Barner HB, Prasad SM, Peterson L, Absi T, et al. Effect of target stenosis and location on radial artery graft patency. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 2002; 123: 45–52.
- 639. Maniar HS, Barner HB, Bailey MS, Prasad SM, Moon MR, Pasque MK, et al. Radial artery patency: Are aortocoronary conduits superior to composite grafting? *Ann Thorac Surg* 2003; 76: 1498–1503.
- 640. Deleted in proof.
- 641. Lev-Ran O, Mohr R, Uretzky G, Pevni D, Locker C, Paz Y, et al. Graft of choice to right coronary system in left-sided bilateral internal thoracic artery grafting. *Ann Thorac Surg* 2003; 75: 88–92.
- 642. Shimizu T, Suesada H, Cho M, Ito S, Ikeda K, Ishimaru S. Flow capacity of gastroepiploic artery versus vein grafts for intermediate coronary artery stenosis. *Ann Thorac Surg* 2005; 80: 124–130.
- 643. Shimizu T, Ito S, Kikuchi Y, Misaka M, Hirayama T, Ishimaru S, et al. Arterial conduit shear stress following bypass grafting for intermediate coronary artery stenosis: A comparative study with saphenous vein grafts. *Eur J Cardiothorac Surg* 2004; 25: 578–584.
- 644. Hashimoto H, Isshiki T, Ikari Y, Hara K, Saeki F, Tamura T, et al. Effects of competitive blood flow on arterial graft patency and diameter. Medium-term postoperative follow-up. *J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg* 1996; **111**: 399–407.
- 645. Gagliardotto P, Coste P, Lazreg M, Dor V. Skeletonized right gastroepiploic artery used for coronary artery bypass grafting. *Ann Thorac Surg* 1998; 66: 240–242.
- 646. Amano A, Li R, Hirose H. Off-pump coronary artery bypass using skeletonized gastroepiploic artery, a pilot study. *Heart Surg Forum* 2004; 7: 101–104.
- 647. Asai T, Tabata S. Skeletonization of the right gastroepiploic artery using an ultrasonic scalpel. Ann Thorac Surg 2002; 74: 1715–1717.
- 648. Yokoyama Y, Matsushita S, Iesaki T, Yamamoto T, Inaba H, Okada T, et al. Denervation of gastroepiploic artery graft can reduce vasospasm. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 2014; 147: 951–955.
- 649. Suzuki T, Asai T, Matsubayashi K, Kambara A, Kinoshita T, Takashima N, et al. In off-pump surgery, skeletonized gastroepiploic artery is superior to saphenous vein in patients with bilateral internal thoracic arterial grafts. *Ann Thorac Surg* 2011; **91:** 1159–1164.
- 650. Leyh RG, Fischer S, Harringer W, Haverich A. Intraoperative acute type A dissection caused by an intra-aortic filter (EMBOL-X) in a patient undergoing mitral valve re-replacement for acute endocarditis. *Eur J Cardiothorac Surg* 2002; **21**: 100– 101.
- 651. Ryu SW, Ahn BH, Choo SJ, Na KJ, Ahn YK, Jeong MH, et al. Skeletonized gastroepiploic artery as a composite graft for total arterial revascularization. *Ann Thorac Surg* 2005; 80: 118–123.
- 652. Sato T, Isomura T, Suma H, Horii T, Kikuchi N. Coronary artery bypass grafting with gastroepiploic artery composite graft. Ann Thorac Surg 2000; 69: 65–69.
- 653. Kamiya H, Watanabe G, Takemura H, Tomita S, Nagamine H, Kanamori T. Total arterial revascularization with composite skeletonized gastroepiploic artery graft in off-pump coronary artery bypass grafting. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 2004; 127: 1151–1157.
- 654. Beretta L, Lemma M, Vanelli P, Botta M, Antonacci C, Bevilacqua M, et al. Gastroepiploic artery free graft for coronary bypass. *Eur J Cardiothorac Surg* 1990; 4: 323–327.
 655. Matsuura A, Yasuura K, Yoshida K, Oshima H, Tomari S,
- 655. Matsuura A, Yasuura K, Yoshida K, Oshima H, Tomari S, Ishida H, et al. Transplantation of the en bloc vascular system for coronary revascularization. *J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg* 2001; 121: 520–525.
- 656. Shimahara Y, Fujita T, Kobayashi J, Asaumi Y, Kanzaki S, Nishimura K, et al. Optimal target vessel selection for composite and sequential radial artery grafting with an in situ internal thoracic artery. *J Card Surg* 2017; **32**: 613–620.
 657. Nakajima H, Kobayashi J, Toda K, Fujita T, Shimahara Y,
- 657. Nakajima H, Kobayashi J, Toda K, Fujita T, Shimahara Y, Kasahara Y, et al. Angiographic evaluation of flow distribution in sequential and composite arterial grafts for three vessel disease. *Eur J Cardiothorac Surg* 2012; **41**: 763–769.
- 658. Zhao DF, Edelman JJ, Seco M, Bannon PG, Wilson MK,

Byrom MJ, et al. Coronary artery bypass grafting with and without manipulation of the ascending aorta: A network meta-analysis. *J Am Coll Cardiol* 2017; **69**: 924–936.

- 659. Ronald A, Patel A, Dunning J. Is the Allen's test adequate to safely confirm that a radial artery may be harvested for coronary arterial bypass grafting? *Interact Cardiovasc Thorac Surg* 2005; 4: 332–340.
- 660. Meharwal ZS, Trehan N. Functional status of the hand after radial artery harvesting: Results in 3,977 cases. *Ann Thorac Surg* 2001; 72: 1557–1561.
- 661. Holman WL, Davies JE, Lin JY, Wang Y, Goldman S, Bakaeen FG, et al. Consequences of radial artery harvest: Results of a prospective, randomized, multicenter trial. *JAMA Surg* 2013; 148: 1020–1023.
- 662. Bleiziffer S, Hettich I, Eisenhauer B, Ruzicka D, Wottke M, Hausleiter J, et al. Patency rates of endoscopically harvested radial arteries one year after coronary artery bypass grafting. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 2007; 134: 649–656.
- 663. Patel AN, Henry AC, Hunnicutt C, Cockerham CA, Willey B, Urschel HC. Endoscopic radial artery harvesting is better than the open technique. *Ann Thorac Surg* 2004; **78**: 149–153.
- 664. Connolly MW, Torrillo LD, Stauder MJ, Patel NU, McCabe JC, Loulmet DF, et al. Endoscopic radial artery harvesting: Results of first 300 patients. *Ann Thorac Surg* 2002; 74: 502–505.
- 665. Kim G, Jeong Y, Cho Y, Lee J, Cho J. Endoscopic radial artery harvesting may be the procedure of choice for coronary artery bypass grafting. *Circ J* 2007; **71**: 1511–1515.
- 666. Bleiziffer S, Hettich I, Eisenhauer B, Ruzicka D, Voss B, Bauernschmitt R, et al. Neurologic sequelae of the donor arm after endoscopic versus conventional radial artery harvesting. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 2008; 136: 681–687.
- 667. Dipp MA, Nye PC, Taggart DP. Phenoxybenzamine is more effective and less harmful than papaverine in the prevention of radial artery vasospasm. *Eur J Cardiothorac Surg* 2001; 19: 482–486.
- 668. Mussa S, Guzik TJ, Black E, Dipp MA, Channon KM, Taggart DP. Comparative efficacies and durations of action of phenoxybenzamine, verapamil/nitroglycerin solution, and papaverine as topical antispasmodics for radial artery coronary bypass grafting. *J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg* 2003; **126**: 1798–1805.
 669. Harrison WE, Mellor AJ, Clark J, Singer DR. Vasodilator
- 669. Harrison WE, Mellor AJ, Clark J, Singer DR. Vasodilator pre-treatment of human radial arteries; comparison of effects of phenoxybenzamine vs papaverine on norepinephrine-induced contraction in vitro. *Eur Heart J* 2001; 22: 2209–2216.
- 670. Yoshizaki T, Tabuchi N, Toyama M. Verapamil and nitroglycerin improves the patency rate of radial artery grafts. *Asian Cardiovasc Thorac Ann* 2008; 16: 396–400.
- 671. He GW, Yang CQ. Use of verapamil and nitroglycerin solution in preparation of radial artery for coronary grafting. *Ann Thorac Surg* 1996; **61**: 610–614.
- 672. Myers MG, Fremes SE. Prevention of radial artery graft spasm: A survey of Canadian surgical centres. *Can J Cardiol* 2003; 19: 677–681.
- 673. Desai ND, Cohen EA, Naylor CD, Fremes SE, Radial Artery Patency Study Investigators. A randomized comparison of radial-artery and saphenous-vein coronary bypass grafts. N Engl J Med 2004; 351: 2302–2309.
- 674. Deb S, Cohen EA, Singh SK, Une D, Laupacis A, Fremes SE, et al. Radial artery and saphenous vein patency more than 5 years after coronary artery bypass surgery: Results from RAPS (Radial Artery Patency Study). J Am Coll Cardiol 2012; 60: 28–35.
- 675. Collins P, Webb CM, Chong CF, Moat NE, Radial Artery Versus Saphenous Vein Patency (RSVP) Trial Investigators. Radial artery versus saphenous vein patency randomized trial: Five-year angiographic follow-up. *Circulation* 2008; **117**: 2859– 2864.
- 676. Hayward PA, Gordon IR, Hare DL, Matalanis G, Horrigan ML, Rosalion A, et al. Comparable patencies of the radial artery and right internal thoracic artery or saphenous vein beyond 5 years: Results from the radial artery Patency and Clinical Outcomes trial. *J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg* 2010; 139: 60–65.
- 677. Goldman S, Sethi GK, Holman W, Thai H, McFalls E, Ward HB, et al. Radial artery grafts vs saphenous vein grafts in coronary artery bypass surgery: A randomized trial. *JAMA* 2011; **305**: 167–174.
- 678. Benedetto U, Angeloni E, Refice S, Sinatra R. Radial artery versus saphenous vein graft patency: Meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. *J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg* 2010; 139: 229–231.

- 679. Hu X, Zhao Q. Systematic comparison of the effectiveness of radial artery and saphenous vein or right internal thoracic artery coronary bypass grafts in non-left anterior descending coronary arteries. *J Zhejiang Univ Sci B* 2011; 12: 273–279.
 680. Athanasiou T, Saso S, Rao C, Vecht J, Grapsa J, Dunning J, et
- 680. Athanasiou T, Saso S, Rao C, Vecht J, Grapsa J, Dunning J, et al. Radial artery versus saphenous vein conduits for coronary artery bypass surgery: Forty years of competition – which conduit offers better patency? A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Eur J Cardiothorac Surg* 2011; **40**: 208–220.
- 681. Cao C, Manganas C, Horton M, Bannon P, Munkholm-Larsen S, Ang SC, et al. Angiographic outcomes of radial artery versus saphenous vein in coronary artery bypass graft surgery: A meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. *J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg* 2013; 146: 255–261.
- 682. Gaudino M, Benedetto U, Fremes S, Biondi-Zoccai G, Sedrakyan A, Puskas JD, et al. Radial-artery or saphenous-vein grafts in coronary-artery bypass surgery. N Engl J Med 2018; 378: 2069–2077.
- 683. Goldstone AB, Chiu P, Baiocchi M, Wang H, Lingala B, Boyd JH, et al. Second arterial versus venous conduits for multivessel coronary artery bypass surgery in California. *Circulation* 2018; 137: 1698–1707.
- 684. Fukui T, Tabata M, Manabe S, Shimokawa T, Takanashi S. Graft selection and one-year patency rates in patients undergoing coronary artery bypass grafting. *Ann Thorac Surg* 2010; 89: 1901–1905.
- 685. Tranbaugh RF, Dimitrova KR, Lucido DJ, Hoffman DM, Dincheva GR, Geller CM, et al. The second best arterial graft: A propensity analysis of the radial artery versus the free right internal thoracic artery to bypass the circumflex coronary artery. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 2014; 147: 133–140.
- 686. Cho WC, Yoo DG, Kim JB, Lee SH, Jung SH, Chung CH, et al. Left internal thoracic artery composite grafting with the right internal thoracic versus radial artery in coronary artery bypass grafting. *J Card Surg* 2011; 26: 579–585.
- 687. Taggart DP, Altman DG, Gray AM, Lees B, Gerry S, Benedetto U, et al. Randomized trial of bilateral versus single internal-thoracic-artery grafts. N Engl J Med 2016; 375: 2540– 2549.
- 688. Gaudino M, Puskas JD, Di Franco A, Ohmes LB, Iannaccone M, Barbero U, et al. Three arterial grafts improve late survival: A meta-analysis of propensity-matched studies. *Circulation* 2017; 135: 1036–1044.
- 689. Jung SH, Song H, Choo SJ, Je HG, Chung CH, Kang JW, et al. Comparison of radial artery patency according to proximal anastomosis site: Direct aorta to radial artery anastomosis is superior to radial artery composite grafting. *J Thorac Cardiovasc* Surg 2009; **138**: 76–83.
- 690. Gaudino M, Alessandrini F, Pragliola C, Cellini C, Glieca F, Luciani N, et al. Effect of target artery location and severity of stenosis on mid-term patency of aorta-anastomosed vs. internal thoracic artery-anastomosed radial artery grafts. *Eur J Cardiothorac Surg* 2004; 25: 424–428.
- 691. Iacò AL, Teodori G, Di Giammarco G, Di Mauro M, Storto L, Mazzei V et al. Radial artery for myocardial revascularization: Long-term clinical and angiographic results. *Ann Thorac Surg* 2001; **72**: 464–468.
- 692. Carneiro LJ, Platania F, Dallan LA, Dallan LA, Stolf NA. Coronary artery bypass grafting using the radial artery: Influence of proximal anastomosis site in mid-term and long-term graft patency. *Rev Bras Cir Cardiovasc* 2009; 24: 38–43.
- 693. Onorati F, Rubino AS, Cristodoro L, Scalas C, Nucera S, Santini F, et al. In vivo functional flowmetric behavior of the radial artery graft: Is the composite Y-graft configuration advantageous over conventional aorta-coronary bypass? J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 2010; 140: 292–297.e2.
- 694. Schwann TA, Zacharias A, Riordan CJ, Durham SJ, Shah AS, Habib RH. Sequential radial artery grafts for multivessel coronary artery bypass graft surgery: 10-year survival and angiography results. *Ann Thorac Surg* 2009; 88: 31–39.
 695. Oz BS, Iyem H, Akay HT, Bolcal C, Yokusoglu M, Kuralay E,
- 695. Oz BS, Iyem H, Akay HT, Bolcal C, Yokusoglu M, Kuralay E, et al. Mid-term angiographic comparison of sequential and individual anastomosis techniques for diagonal artery. *J Card Surg* 2006; 21: 471–474.
- 696. Emir M, Kunt AG, Çiçek M, Bozok Ş, Karakişi SO, Uğuz E et al. Sequential radial artery for coronary artery bypass grafting: Five-year follow-up and evaluation with multi-detector row computed tomography. *Cardiovasc Revasc Med* 2012; **13**: 272– 276.
- 697. Lopes RD, Hafley GE, Allen KB, Ferguson TB, Peterson ED,

Harrington RA, et al. Endoscopic versus open vein-graft harvesting in coronary-artery bypass surgery. *N Engl J Med* 2009; **361**: 235–244.

- 698. Deppe AC, Liakopoulos OJ, Choi YH, Slottosch I, Kuhn EW, Scherner M, et al. Endoscopic vein harvesting for coronary artery bypass grafting: A systematic review with meta-analysis of 27,789 patients. J Surg Res 2013; 180: 114–124.
- 699. Lopes RD, Hafley GE, Allen KB, Ferguson TB, Peterson ED, Harrington RA, et al. Endoscopic versus open veingraft harvesting in coronary-artery bypass surgery. N Engl J Med 2009; 361: 235–244.
- 700. Deppe AC, Liakopoulos OJ, Choi YH, Slottosch I, Kuhn EW, Scherner M, et al. Endoscopic vein harvesting for coronary artery bypass grafting: A systematic review with meta-analysis of 27,789 patients. J Surg Res 2013; 180: 114–124.
- 701. Ouzounian M, Hassan A, Buth KJ, MacPherson C, Ali IM, Hirsch GM, et al. Impact of endoscopic versus open saphenous vein harvest techniques on outcomes after coronary artery bypass grafting. *Ann Thorac Surg* 2010; 89: 403–408.
- 702. Zenati MA, Shroyer AL, Collins JF, Hattler B, Ota T, Almassi GH, et al. Impact of endoscopic versus open saphenous vein harvest technique on late coronary artery bypass grafting patient outcomes in the ROOBY (Randomized On/Off Bypass) Trial. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 2011; 141: 338–344.
- 703. Williams JB, Peterson ED, Brennan JM, Sedrakyan A, Tavris D, Alexander JH, et al. Association between endoscopic vs open vein-graft harvesting and mortality, wound complications, and cardiovascular events in patients undergoing CABG surgery. *JAMA* 2012; 308: 475–484.
 704. Desai P, Kiani S, Thiruvanthan N, Henkin S, Kurian D, Ziu P,
- 704. Desai P, Kiani S, Thiruvanthan N, Henkin S, Kurian D, Ziu P, et al. Impact of the learning curve for endoscopic vein harvest on conduit quality and early graft patency. *Ann Thorac Surg* 2011; **91**: 1385–1391.
- Rousou LJ, Taylor KB, Lu XG, Healey N, Crittenden MD, Khuri SF, et al. Saphenous vein conduits harvested by endoscopic technique exhibit structural and functional damage. *Ann Thorac Surg* 2009; 87: 62–70.
 Cheng DC, Martin J, Ferdinand FD, Puskas JD, Diegeler A,
- 706. Cheng DC, Martin J, Ferdinand FD, Puskas JD, Diegeler A, Allen KB. Endoscopic vein-graft harvesting: Balancing the risk and benefits. *Innovations (Phila)* 2010; 5: 70–73.
- 707. Puskas JD, Wright CE, Miller PK, Anderson TE, Gott JP, Brown WM, et al. A randomized trial of endoscopic versus open saphenous vein harvest in coronary bypass surgery. *Ann Thorac Surg* 1999; 68: 1509–1512.
- 708. Kiaii B, Moon BC, Massel D, Langlois Y, Austin TW, Willoughby A, et al. A prospective randomized trial of endoscopic versus conventional harvesting of the saphenous vein in coronary artery bypass surgery. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 2002; 123: 204–212.
- 709. Allen KB, Griffith GL, Heimansohn DA, Robison RJ, Matheny RG, Schier JJ, et al. Endoscopic versus traditional saphenous vein harvesting: A prospective, randomized trial. *Ann Thorac Surg* 1998; 66: 26–31.
- 710. Gulack BC, Kirkwood KA, Shi W, Smith PK, Alexander JH, Burks SG, et al. Secondary surgical-site infection after coronary artery bypass grafting: A multi-institutional prospective cohort study. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 2018; 155: 1555–1562.e1.
- 711. Souza D. A new no-touch preparation technique: Technical notes. Scand J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 1996; 30: 41–44.
- 712. Samano N, Geijer H, Liden M, Fremes S, Bodin L, Souza D. The no-touch saphenous vein for coronary artery bypass grafting maintains a patency, after 16 years, comparable to the left internal thoracic artery: A randomized trial. *J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg* 2015; **150**: 880–888.
- 713. Kim YH, Oh HC, Choi JW, Hwang HY, Kim KB. No-touch saphenous vein harvesting may improve further the patency of saphenous vein composite grafts: Early outcomes and 1-year angiographic results. *Ann Thorac Surg* 2017; **103**: 1489–1497.
- 714. Stigler R, Steger C, Schachner T, Holfeld J, Edlinger M, Grimm M, et al. The impact of distension pressure on acute endothelial cell loss and neointimal proliferation in saphenous vein grafts. *Eur J Cardiothorac Surg* 2012; 42: e74–e79.
 715. Liu Y, Sinha S, McDonald OG, Shang Y, Hoofnagle MH,
- 715. Liu Y, Sinha S, McDonald OG, Shang Y, Hoofnagle MH, Owens GK. Kruppel-like factor 4 abrogates myocardin-induced activation of smooth muscle gene expression. *J Biol Chem* 2005; 280: 9719–9727.
- Miano JM, Long X, Fujiwara K. Serum response factor: Master regulator of the actin cytoskeleton and contractile apparatus. *Am J Physiol Cell Physiol* 2007; **292:** C70–C81.
- 717. Dreifaldt M, Souza D, Bodin L, Shi-Wen X, Dooley A, Muddle

J, et al. The vasa vasorum and associated endothelial nitric oxide synthase is more important for saphenous vein than arterial bypass grafts. *Angiology* 2013; **64**: 293–299.

- Hinokiyama K, Valen G, Tokuno S, Vedin JB, Vaage J. Vein graft harvesting induces inflammation and impairs vessel reactivity. *Ann Thorac Surg* 2006; 82: 1458–1464.
- 719. Gür Ö, Gürkan S, Özkaramanlı Gür D. Comparison of vasospasm and vasodilatation response of saphenous vein grafts harvested by conventional and no-touch techniques. *Turk J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg* 2012; **20**: 510–514.
- Ritman EL, Lerman A. The dynamic vasa vasorum. *Cardiovasc Res* 2007; **75**: 649–658.
- 721. Lescalié F, Germouty I, Chevalier JM, Enon B, Moreau P, Pillet J. Extrinsic arterial supply of the great saphenous vein: An anatomic study. *Ann Vasc Surg* 1986; 1: 273–277.
- 722. Crotty TP. The path of retrograde flow from the lumen of the lateral saphenous vein of the dog to its vasa vasorum. *Microvasc Res* 1989; **37:** 119–122.
- 723. Dreifaldt M, Souza DS, Loesch A, Muddle JR, Karlsson MG, Filbey D, et al. The "no-touch" harvesting technique for vein grafts in coronary artery bypass surgery preserves an intact vasa vasorum. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 2011; 141: 145–150.
- 724. Verma S, Lovren F, Pan Y, Yanagawa B, Deb S, Karkhanis R, et al. Pedicled no-touch saphenous vein graft harvest limits vascular smooth muscle cell activation: The PATENT saphenous vein graft study. *Eur J Cardiothorac Surg* 2014; **45**: 717–725.
- 725. Shah PJ, Gordon I, Fuller J, Seevanayagam S, Rosalion A, Tatoulis J, et al. Factors affecting saphenous vein graft patency: Clinical and angiographic study in 1402 symptomatic patients operated on between 1977 and 1999. *J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg* 2003; **126**: 1972–1977.
- 726. Une D, Kulik A, Voisine P, Le May M, Ruel M. Correlates of saphenous vein graft hyperplasia and occlusion 1 year after coronary artery bypass grafting: Analysis from the CASCADE randomized trial. *Circulation* 2013; **128**(Suppl 1): S213–S218.
- 727. Mawhinney JA, Mounsey CA, Taggart DP. The potential role of external venous supports in coronary artery bypass graft surgery. *Eur J Cardiothorac Surg* 2018; 53: 1127–1134.
- 728. Taggart DP, Amin S, Djordjevic J, Oikonomou EK, Thomas S, Kampoli AM, et al. A prospective study of external stenting of saphenous vein grafts to the right coronary artery: The VEST II study. *Eur J Cardiothorac Surg* 2017; **51**: 952–958.
- 729. Taggart DP, Ben Gal Y, Lees B, Patel N, Webb C, Rehman SM, et al. A randomized trial of external stenting for saphenous vein grafts in coronary artery bypass grafting. *Ann Thorac Surg* 2015; **99:** 2039–2045.
- 730. Meirson T, Orion E, Di Mario C, Webb C, Patel N, Channon KM, et al. Flow patterns in externally stented saphenous vein grafts and development of intimal hyperplasia. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 2015; 150: 871–878.
- 731. Parsonnet V, Lari AA, Shah IH. New stent for support of veins in arterial grafts. *Arch Surg* 1963; **87:** 696–702.
- 732. Murphy GJ, Newby AC, Jeremy JY, Baumbach A, Angelini GD. A randomized trial of an external Dacron sheath for the prevention of vein graft disease: The Extent study. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 2007; 134: 504–505.
- 733. Schoettler J, Jussli-Melchers J, Grothusen C, Stracke L, Schoeneich F, Stohn S, et al. Highly flexible nitinol mesh to encase aortocoronary saphenous vein grafts: First clinical experiences and angiographic results nine months postoperatively. *Interact Cardiovasc Thorac Surg* 2011; 13: 396–400.
- 734. Rescigno G, Aratari C, Matteucci SM, Parisi R, Gironi G, Schicchi N, et al. Saphenous vein graft wrapping by nitinol mesh: A word of caution. *Thorac Cardiovasc Surg* 2015; 63: 292–297.
- 735. Tsagalou E, Chieffo A, Iakovou I, Ge L, Sangiorgi GM, Corvaja N, et al. Multiple overlapping drug-eluting stents to treat diffuse disease of the left anterior descending coronary artery. J Am Coll Cardiol 2005; 45: 1570–1573.
- 736. Sharp AS, Latib A, Ielasi A, Larosa C, Godino C, Saolini M, et al. Long-term follow-up on a large cohort of "full-metal jacket" percutaneous coronary intervention procedures. *Circ Cardiovasc Interv* 2009; 2: 416–422.
- 737. Shirai S, Kimura T, Nobuyoshi M, Morimoto T, Ando K, Soga Y, et al. Impact of multiple and long sirolimus-eluting stent implantation on 3-year clinical outcomes in the j-Cypher Registry. JACC Cardiovasc Interv 2010; 3: 180–188.
- 738. Kleisli T, Cheng W, Jacobs MJ, Mirocha J, Derobertis MA, Kass RM, et al. In the current era, complete revascularization improves survival after coronary artery bypass surgery. J Thorac

Cardiovasc Surg 2005; 129: 1283-1291.

- 739. Barra JA, Bezon E, Mondine P, Resk A, Gilard M, Mansourati J, et al. Surgical angioplasty with exclusion of atheromatous plaques in case of diffuse disease of the left anterior descending artery: 2 years' follow-up. *Eur J Cardiothorac Surg* 2000; 17: 509–514.
- 740. Fukui T, Tabata M, Taguri M, Manabe S, Morita S, Takanashi S. Extensive reconstruction of the left anterior descending coronary artery with an internal thoracic artery graft. *Ann Thorac Surg* 2011; **91**: 445–451.
- 741. Myers PO, Tabata M, Shekar PS, Couper GS, Khalpey ZI, Aranki SF. Extensive endarterectomy and reconstruction of the left anterior descending artery: Early and late outcomes. *J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg* 2012; **143**: 1336–1340.
- 742. Bailey CP, May A, Lemmon WM. Survival after coronary endarterectomy in man. JAMA 1957; 164: 641–646.
- 743. Effler DB, Groves LK, Sones FM Jr, Shirey EK. Endarterectomy in the treatment of coronary artery disease. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 1964; 47: 98–108.
- 744. Wang J, Gu C, Yu W, Gao M, Yu Y. Short- and long-term patient outcomes from combined coronary endarterectomy and coronary artery bypass grafting: A meta-analysis of 63,730 patients (PRISMA). *Medicine (Baltimore)* 2015; 94: e1781.
- 745. Nishi H, Miyamoto S, Takanashi S, Minamimura H, Ishikawa T, Kato Y, et al. Optimal method of coronary endarterectomy for diffusely diseased coronary arteries. *Ann Thorac Surg* 2005; **79:** 846–852.
- 746. Schwann TA, Zacharias A, Riordan CJ, Durham SJ, Shah AS, Habib RH. Survival and graft patency after coronary artery bypass grafting with coronary endarterectomy: Role of arterial versus vein conduits. *Ann Thorac Surg* 2007; 84: 25–31.
- 747. Marinelli G, Chiappini B, Di Eusanio M, Di Bartolomeo R, Caldarera I, Marrozzini C, et al. Bypass grafting with coronary endarterectomy: Immediate and long-term results. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 2002; 124: 553–560.
- 748. Erdil N, Cetin L, Kucuker S, Demirkilic U, Sener E, Tatar H. Closed endarterectomy for diffuse right coronary artery disease: Early results with angiographic controls. *J Card Surg* 2002; 17: 261–266.
- 749. Nishigawa K, Fukui T, Yamazaki M, Takanashi S. Ten-year experience of coronary endarterectomy for the diffusely diseased left anterior descending artery. *Ann Thorac Surg* 2017; 103: 710–716.
- 750. Zingone B, Rauber E, Gatti G, Pappalardo A, Benussi B, Dreas L, et al. The impact of epiaortic ultrasonographic scanning on the risk of perioperative stroke. *Eur J Cardiothorac Surg* 2006; 29: 720–728.
- 751. Ikram A, Mohiuddin H, Zia A, Siddiqui HU, Javadikasgari H, Koprivanac M, et al. Does epiaortic ultrasound screening reduce perioperative stroke in patients undergoing coronary surgery?: A topical review. J Clin Neurosci 2018; 50: 30–34.
- 752. Haľkos ME, Anderson A, Binongo JNG, Stringer A, Lasanajak Y, Thourani VH, et al. Operative strategies to reduce cerebral embolic events during on- and off-pump coronary artery bypass surgery: A stratified, prospective randomized trial. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 2017; 154: 1278–1285.e1.
- 753. Araque JC, Greason KL, Li Z, Heins CN, Stulak JM, Daly RC, et al. On-pump coronary artery bypass graft operation: Is one crossclamp application better than two? J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 2015; 150: 145–149.
- 754. Pawliszak W, Kowalewski M, Raffa GM, Malvindi PG, Kowalkowska ME, Szwed KA, et al. Cerebrovascular events after no-touch off-pump coronary artery bypass grafting, conventional side-clamp off-pump coronary artery bypass, and proximal anastomotic devices: A meta-analysis. J Am Heart Assoc 2016; 5: e002802.
- 755. Akpinar B, Guden M, Sagbas E, Sanisoglu I, Ergenoğlu MU, Turkoglu C. Clinical experience with the Novare Enclose II manual proximal anastomotic device during off-pump coronary artery surgery. *Eur J Cardiothorac Surg* 2005; 27: 1070–1073.
- 756. Thourani VH, Razavi SA, Nguyen TČ, Kilgo PD, Puskas JD, Guyton RA, et al. Incidence of postoperative stroke using the Heartstring device in 1,380 coronary artery bypass graft patients with mild to severe atherosclerosis of the ascending aorta. Ann Thorac Surg 2014; 97: 2066–2072.
- 757. Saito A, Kumamaru H, Ono M, Miyata H, Motomura N. Propensity-matched analysis of a side-clamp versus an anastomosis assist device in cases of isolated coronary artery bypass grafting. *Eur J Cardiothorac Surg* 2018; 54: 889–895.
- 758. Watson RA, Hamza M, Tsakok TM, Tsakok MT. Radial

artery for coronary artery bypass grafting: Does proximal anastomosis to the aorta or left internal mammary artery achieve better patency? *Interact Cardiovasc Thorac Surg* 2013; **17**: 1020–1024.

- Fukui T, Tabata M, Morita S, Takanashi S. Sequential free right internal thoracic artery grafting for multivessel coronary artery bypass grafting. *J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg* 2012; 144: 824–829.
- 760. Hayashi Y, Ito T, Maekawa A, Sawaki S, Tokoro M, Yanagisawa J, et al. Effect of modified proximal anastomosis of the free right internal thoracic artery: Piggyback and foldback techniques. *Interact Cardiovasc Thorac Surg* 2016; 22: 265–272.
- 761. Eda T, Matsuura A, Miyahara K, Takemura H, Sawaki S, Yoshioka T, et al. Transplantation of the free gastroepiploic artery graft for myocardial revascularization: Long-term clinical and angiographic results. *Ann Thorac Surg* 2008; 85: 880–884.
- 762. Cao C, Ang SC, Wolak K, Peeceeyen S, Bannon P, Yan TD. A meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials on mid-term angiographic outcomes for radial artery versus saphenous vein in coronary artery bypass graft surgery. *Ann Cardiothorac Surg* 2013; 2: 401–407.
- 763. Schwann TA, Hashim SW, Badour S, Obeid M, Engoren M, Tranbaugh RF, et al. Equipoise between radial artery and right internal thoracic artery as the second arterial conduit in left internal thoracic artery-based coronary artery bypass graft surgery: A multi-institutional study. *Eur J Cardiothorac Surg* 2016; **49**: 188–195.
- 764. Mohammadi S, Dagenais F, Voisine P, Dumont E, Charbonneau E, Marzouk M, et al. Impact of the radial artery as an additional arterial conduit during in-situ bilateral internal mammary artery grafting: A propensity score-matched study. *Ann Thorac Surg* 2016; 101: 913–918.
- 765. Buxton BF, Hayward PA, Raman J, Moten SC, Rosalion A, Gordon I, et al. Long-term results of the RAPCO trials. *Circulation* 2020; **142**: 1330–1338.
- 766. Benedetto U, Gaudino M, Caputo M, Tranbaugh RF, Lau C, Di Franco A, et al. Right internal thoracic artery versus radial artery as the second best arterial conduit: Insights from a meta-analysis of propensity-matched data on long-term survival. *J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg* 2016; **152**: 1083–1091.e15.
- 767. Tsuneyoshi H, Komiya T, Shimamoto T, Sakai J, Hiraoka T, Kawashima T, et al. The second best arterial graft to the left coronary system in off-pump bypass surgery: A propensity analysis of the radial artery with a proximal anastomosis to the ascending aorta versus the right internal thoracic artery. *Gen Thorac Cardiovasc Surg* 2015; 63: 335–342.
- Pick AW, Orszulak TA, Anderson BJ, Schaff HV. Single versus bilateral internal mammary artery grafts: 10-year outcome analysis. *Ann Thorac Surg* 1997; 64: 599–605.
- 769. Lytle BW, Loop FD. Superiority of bilateral internal thoracic artery grafting: It's been a long time comin'. *Circulation* 2001; 104: 2152–2154.
- 770. Deleted in proof.
- 771. Karangelis D, Mazine A, Roubelakis A, Stavridis G. What is the optimal target for the second arterial graft in patients undergoing coronary bypass surgery? *Interact Cardiovasc Thorac Surg* 2018; **27:** 543–547.
- 772. Pinho-Gomes AC, Azevedo L, Antoniades C, Taggart DP. Comparison of graft patency following coronary artery bypass grafting in the left versus the right coronary artery systems: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Eur J Cardiothorac Surg* 2018; 54: 221–228.
- 773. Petrovic I, Nezic D, Peric M, Milojevic P, Djokic O, Kosevic D, et al. Radial artery vs saphenous vein graft used as the second conduit for surgical myocardial revascularization: Long-term clinical follow-up. J Cardiothorac Surg 2015; 10: 127.
- 774. Zhang H, Wang ZW, Wu HB, Hu XP, Zhou Z, Xu P. Radial artery graft vs. saphenous vein graft for coronary artery bypass surgery: Which conduit offers better efficacy? *Herz* 2014; **39**: 458–465.
- 775. Benedetto U, Angeloni E, Refice S, Sinatra R. Radial artery versus saphenous vein graft patency: Meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. *J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg* 2010; **139**: 229–231.
- 776. Caputo M, Reeves B, Marchetto G, Mahesh B, Lim K, Angelini GD. Radial versus right internal thoracic artery as a second arterial conduit for coronary surgery: Early and midterm outcomes. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 2003; 126: 39–47.
- 777. Ruttmann E, Fischler N, Sakic A, Chevtchik O, Alber H, Schistek R, et al. Second internal thoracic artery versus radial artery in coronary artery bypass grafting: A long-term, propensity

score-matched follow-up study. Circulation 2011; 124: 1321-1329.

- 778. Raja SG, Benedetto U, Jothidasan A, Jujjavarapu RK, Ukwu UF, De Robertis F, et al. Right internal mammary artery versus radial artery as second arterial conduit in coronary artery bypass grafting: A case-control study of 1526 patients. *Int J Surg* 2015; **16(B)**: 183–189.
- 779. Tranbaugh RF, Schwann TA, Swistel DG, Dimitrova KR, Al-Shaar L, Hoffman DM, et al. Coronary artery bypass graft surgery using the radial artery, right internal thoracic artery, or saphenous vein as the second conduit. *Ann Thorac Surg* 2017; 104: 553–559.
- 780. Hwang HY, Cho KR, Kim KB. Equivalency of right internal thoracic artery and right gastroepiploic artery composite grafts: Five-year outcomes. *Ann Thorac Surg* 2013; 96: 2061–2068.
- 781. Benedetto U, Raja SG, Albanese A, Amrani M, Biondi-Zoccai G, Frati G. Searching for the second best graft for coronary artery bypass surgery: A network meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. *Eur J Cardiothorac Surg* 2015; **47**: 59–65.
- 782. Taggart DP, Benedetto U, Gerry S, Altman DG, Gray AM, Lees B, et al. Bilateral versus single internal-thoracic-artery grafts at 10 years. N Engl J Med 2019; 380: 437–446.
- 783. Yu AW, Rippel RA, Smock E, Jarral OA. In patients with post-sternotomy mediastinitis is vacuum-assisted closure superior to conventional therapy? *Interact Cardiovasc Thorac Surg* 2013; 17: 861–865.
- Lonie S, Hallam J, Yii M, Davis P, Newcomb A, Nixon I, et al. Changes in the management of deep sternal wound infections: A 12-year review. *ANZ J Surg* 2015; 85: 878–881.
 Iribarne A, Schmoker JD, Malenka DJ, Leavitt BJ, McCullough
- 785. Iribarne A, Schmoker JD, Malenka DJ, Leavitt BJ, McCullough JN, Weldner PW, et al. Does use of bilateral internal mammary artery grafting reduce long-term risk of repeat coronary revascularization?: A multicenter analysis. *Circulation* 2017; 136: 1676–1685.
- 786. Rubino AS, Gatti G, Reichart D, Tauriainen T, De Feo M, Onorati F, et al. Early outcome of bilateral versus single internal mammary artery grafting in the elderly. *Ann Thorac Surg* 2018; 105: 1717–1723.
- 787. DeSimone JP, Malenka DJ, Weldner PW, Iribarne A, Leavitt BJ, McCullough JN, et al. Coronary revascularization with single versus bilateral mammary arteries: Is it time to change? *Ann Thorac Surg* 2018; 106: 466–472.
- Luthra S, Leiva-Juárez MM, Matuszewski M, Morgan IS, Billing JS. Does a third arterial conduit to the right coronary circulation improve survival? *J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg* 2018; 155: 855–860.e2.
- 789. Hirose H, Amano A, Takahashi A. Triple arterial coronary revascularization using the radial artery and bilateral internal mammary arteries versus the gastroepiploic artery and bilateral internal mammary arteries. *Circ J* 2002; 66: 544–548.
- 790. Di Mauro M, Contini M, Iacò AL, Bivona A, Gagliardi M, Varone E, et al. Bilateral internal thoracic artery on the left side: A propensity score-matched study of impact of the third conduit on the right side. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 2009; 137: 869–874.
- 791. Pevni D, Uretzky G, Yosef P, Yanay BG, Shapira I, Nesher N, et al. Revascularization of the right coronary artery in bilateral internal thoracic artery grafting. *Ann Thorac Surg* 2005; **79**: 564–569.
- 792. Grau JB, Kuschner CE, Johnson CK, Ferrari G, Zapolanski A, Brizzio ME, et al. The effects of using a radial artery in patients already receiving bilateral internal mammary arteries during coronary bypass grafting: 30-day outcomes and 14-year survival in a propensity-matched cohort. *Eur J Cardiothorac Surg* 2016; **49**: 203–210.
- 793. Glineur D, D'Hoore W, Price J, Dorméus S, de Kerchove L, Dion R, et al. Survival benefit of multiple arterial grafting in a 25-year single-institutional experience: The importance of the third arterial graft. *Eur J Cardiothorac Surg* 2012; **42**: 284–290.
- 794. Buxton BF, Shi WY, Tatoulis J, Fuller JA, Rosalion A, Hayward PA. Total arterial revascularization with internal thoracic and radial artery grafts in triple-vessel coronary artery disease is associated with improved survival. *J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg* 2014; 148: 1238–1243.
- 795. Tatoulis J, Wynne R, Skillington PD, Buxton BF. Total arterial revascularization: Achievable and prognostically effective: A multicenter analysis. *Ann Thorac Surg* 2015; 100: 1268–1275.
- 796. Glineur D, Boodhwani M, Hanet C, de Kerchove L, Navarra E, Astarci P, et al. Bilateral internal thoracic artery configuration for coronary artery bypass surgery: A prospective randomized

trial. Circ Cardiovasc Interv 2016; 9: e003518.

- 797. Gatti G, Castaldi G, Morosin M, Tavcar I, Belgrano M, Benussi B, et al. Double versus single source left-sided coronary revascularization using bilateral internal thoracic artery graft alone. *Heart Vessels* 2018; 33: 113–125.
- 798. Habib RH, Dimitrova KR, Badour SA, Yammine MB, El-Hage-Sleiman AK, Hoffman DM, et al. CABG versus PCI: Greater benefit in long-term outcomes with multiple arterial bypass grafting. J Am Coll Cardiol 2015; 66: 1417–1427.
- 799. Habib RH, Schwann TA, Engoren M. Late effects of radial artery versus saphenous vein grafting in patients aged 70 years or older. Ann Thorac Surg 2012; 94: 1478–1484.
- 800. Tedoriya T, Kawasuji M, Sakakibara N, Ueyama K, Watanabe Y. Pressure characteristics in arterial grafts for coronary bypass surgery. *Cardiovasc Surg* 1995; **3**: 381–385.
- 801. Glineur D, Hanet C, Poncelet A, D'Hoore W, Funken JC, Rubay J, et al. Comparison of saphenous vein graft versus right gastroepiploic artery to revascularize the right coronary artery: A prospective randomized clinical, functional, and angiographic midterm evaluation. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 2008; 136: 482– 488.
- 802. Kim KB, Cho KR, Choi JS, Lee HJ. Right gastroepiploic artery for revascularization of the right coronary territory in off-pump total arterial revascularization: Strategies to improve patency. *Ann Thorac Surg* 2006; 81: 2135–2141.
- 803. Nakajima H, Iguchi A, Tabata M, Koike H, Morita K, Takahashi K, et al. Predictors and prevention of flow insufficiency due to limited flow demand. J Cardiothorac Surg 2014; 9: 188.
- 804. Glineur D, D'Hoore W, de Kerchove L, Noirhomme P, Price J, Hanet C, et al. Angiographic predictors of 3-year patency of bypass grafts implanted on the right coronary artery system: A prospective randomized comparison of gastroepiploic artery, saphenous vein, and right internal thoracic artery grafts. *J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg* 2011; **142**: 980–988.
- 805. Royse A, Pawanis Z, Canty D, Ou-Young J, Eccleston D, Ajani A, et al. The effect on survival from the use of a saphenous vein graft during coronary bypass surgery: A large cohort study. *Eur J Cardiothorac Surg* 2018; **54**: 1093–1100.
- 806. Nakajima H, Kobayashi J, Tagusari O, Bando K, Niwaya K, Kitamura S. Competitive flow in arterial composite grafts and effect of graft arrangement in off-pump coronary revascularization. *Ann Thorac Surg* 2004; **78**: 481–486.
- 807. Nakajima H, Kobayashi J, Toda K, Fujita T, Shimahara Y, Kasahara Y, et al. A 10-year angiographic follow-up of competitive flow in sequential and composite arterial grafts. *Eur J Cardiothorac Surg* 2011; **40**: 399–404.
- 808. Dion R, Glineur D, Derouck D, Verhelst R, Noirhomme P, El Khoury G, et al. Long-term clinical and angiographic follow-up of sequential internal thoracic artery grafting. *Eur J Cardiothorac Surg* 2000; 17: 407–414.
- 809. Nakajima H, Kobayashi J, Toda K, Fujita T, Shimahara Y, Kasahara Y, et al. Determinants for successful sequential radial artery grafting to the left circumflex and right coronary arteries. *Interact Cardiovasc Thorac Surg* 2011; **12**: 125–129.
- 810. Nakajima H, Kobayashi J, Tagusari O, Bando K, Niwaya K, Kitamura S. Functional angiographic evaluation of individual, sequential, and composite arterial grafts. *Ann Thorac Surg* 2006; 81: 807–814.
- 811. Shroyer AL, Grover FL, Hattler B, Collins JF, McDonald GO, Kozora E, et al. On-pump versus off-pump coronary-artery bypass surgery. N Engl J Med 2009; 361: 1827–1837.
- 812. Shroyer AL, Hattler B, Wagner TH, Collins JF, Baltz JH, Quin JA, et al. Five-year outcomes after on-pump and off-pump coronary-artery bypass. N Engl J Med 2017; 377: 623–632.
- 813. Lamy A, Devereaux PJ, Prabhakaran D, Taggart DP, Hu S, Paolasso E, et al. Off-pump or on-pump coronary-artery bypass grafting at 30 days. *N Engl J Med* 2012; **366**: 1489–1497.
- Lamy A, Devereaux PJ, Prabhakaran D, Taggart DP, Hu S, Straka Z, et al. Five-year outcomes after off-pump or on-pump coronary-artery bypass grafting. N Engl J Med 2016; 375: 2359-2368.
- 815. Diegeler A, Börgermann J, Kappert U, Hilker M, Doenst T, Böning A, et al. Off-pump versus on-pump coronary-artery bypass grafting in elderly patients. *N Engl J Med* 2013; 368: 1189–1198.
- 816. Puskas JD, Williams WH, Mahoney EM, Huber PR, Block PC, Duke PG, et al. Off-pump vs conventional coronary artery bypass grafting: Early and 1-year graft patency, cost, and quality-of-life outcomes: A randomized trial. *JAMA* 2004; **291**: 1841–1849.

- 817. Puskas JD, Williams WH, O'Donnell R, Patterson RE, Sigman SR, Smith AS, et al. Off-pump and on-pump coronary artery bypass grafting are associated with similar graft patency, myocardial ischemia, and freedom from reintervention: Long-term follow-up of a randomized trial. *Ann Thorac Surg* 2011; **91**: 1836–1842.
- Kobayashi J, Tashiro T, Ochi M, Yaku H, Watanabe G, Satoh T, et al. Early outcome of a randomized comparison of off-pump and on-pump multiple arterial coronary revascularization. *Circulation* 2005; 112(Suppl): I-338–I-343.
- 819. Benedetto U, Lau C, Caputo M, Kim L, Feldman DN, Ohmes LB, et al. Comparison of outcomes for off-pump versus on-pump coronary artery bypass grafting in low-volume and high-volume centers and by low-volume and high-volume surgeons. *Am J Cardiol* 2018; **121**: 552–557.
- 820. Puskas JD, Thourani VH, Kilgo P, Cooper W, Vassiliades T, Vega JD, et al. Off-pump coronary artery bypass disproportionately benefits high-risk patients. *Ann Thorac Surg* 2009; 88: 1142–1147.
- 821. Polomsky M, He X, O'Brien SM, Puskas JD. Outcomes of off-pump versus on-pump coronary artery bypass grafting: Impact of preoperative risk. *J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg* 2013; 145: 1193–1198.
- 822. Kowalewski M, Pawliszak W, Malvindi PG, Bokszanski MP, Perlinski D, Raffa GM, et al. Off-pump coronary artery bypass grafting improves short-term outcomes in high-risk patients compared with on-pump coronary artery bypass grafting: Meta-analysis. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 2016; 151: 60–77.e1.
- 823. Chawla LS, Zhao Y, Lough FC, Schroeder E, Seneff MG, Brennan JM. Off-pump versus on-pump coronary artery bypass grafting outcomes stratified by preoperative renal function. J Am Soc Nephrol 2012; 23: 1389–1397.
- 824. Ueki C, Miyata H, Motomura N, Sakata R, Sakaguchi G, Akimoto T, et al. Off-pump technique reduces surgical mortality after elective coronary artery bypass grafting in patients with preoperative renal failure. *J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg* 2018; 156: 976–983.
- 825. Sedrakyan A, Wu AW, Parashar A, Bass EB, Treasure T. Off-pump surgery is associated with reduced occurrence of stroke and other morbidity as compared with traditional coronary artery bypass grafting: A meta-analysis of systematically reviewed trials. *Stroke* 2006; **37**: 2759–2769.
- 826. Alander JT, Kaartinen I, Laakso A, Pätilä T, Spillmann T, Tuchin VV, et al. A review of indocyanine green fluorescent imaging in surgery. *Int J Biomed Imaging* 2012; 2012: 940585.
- 827. Rubens FD, Ruel M, Fremes SE. A new and simplified method for coronary and graft imaging during CABG. *Heart Surg Forum* 2002; 5: 141–144.
- 828. Taggart DP, Choudhary B, Anastasiadis K, Abu-Omar Y, Balacumaraswami L, Pigott DW. Preliminary experience with a novel intraoperative fluorescence imaging technique to evaluate the patency of bypass grafts in total arterial revascularization. *Ann Thorac Surg* 2003; **75**: 870–873.
- Reuthebuch O, Häussler A, Genoni M, Tavakoli R, Odavic D, Kadner A, et al. Novadaq SPY: Intraoperative quality assessment in off-pump coronary artery bypass grafting. *Chest* 2004; 125: 418–424.
- 830. Takahashi M, Ishikawa T, Higashidani K, Katoh H. SPY: An innovative intra-operative imaging system to evaluate graft patency during off-pump coronary artery bypass grafting. *Interact Cardiovasc Thorac Surg* 2004; 3: 479–483.
- 831. Balacumaraswami L, Abu-Omar Y, Choudhary B, Pigott D, Taggart DP. A comparison of transit-time flowmetry and intraoperative fluorescence imaging for assessing coronary artery bypass graft patency. *J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg* 2005; 130: 315–320.
- 832. Takahashi M, Masuda M, Miyajima K, Ishikawa T, Hatada K, Kobayashi T. Innovative SPY intraoperative imaging and validation technologies for coronary artery bypass graft surgery. *In:* Kusano M, Kokudo N, Toi M, Kaibori M, editors. ICG fluorescence imaging and navigation surgery. Tokyo: Springer, 2016; 65–86.
- 833. Kokaji K, Yozu R. Intraoperative quality assessment by using fluorescence imaging in off-pump coronary artery bypass grafting. Kusano M, editorial supervisor and ed. All of ICG Fluorescence navigation Surgery. *Inter Med* 2008: 176–199.
- 834. Takahashi M. Intraoperative graft assessment: SPY intraoperative imaging system. *In*: Sakata R, editor. Knack and pitfalls of coronary artery surgery. 2nd edn. Tokyo: Bunkodo, 2012; 237–242.
- 835. The Survey Committee of Japanese Association for Coronary

Artery Surgery. Coronary artery surgery results in 2016. http:// www.jacas.org/data/pdf/slide_2016_e.pdf (accessed March 1, 2021).

- 836. Hillis LD, Smith PK, Anderson JL, Bittl JA, Bridges CR, Byrne JG, et al. 2011 ACCF/AHA guideline for coronary artery bypass graft surgery: A report of the American College of Cardiology Foundation/American Heart Association Task Force on Practice Guidelines. *Circulation* 2011; **124**: E652–E735.
- 837. Federal Register. 2009: 24106–24107. https://www.govinfo.gov/ content/pkg/FR-2009-05-22/pdf/E9-10458.pdf
- National Institute for Clinical Excellence (NICE). Intraoperative fluorescence angiography for the evaluation of coronary artery bypass graft patency (IPG98). 2004. https://www.nice.org.uk/ guidance/ipg98 (accessed March 1, 2021).
- 839. Balacumaraswami L, Taggart DP. Intraoperative imaging techniques to assess coronary artery bypass graft patency. Ann Thorac Surg 2007; 83: 2251–2257.
- 840. Waseda K, Ako J, Hasegawa T, Shimada Y, Ikeno F, Ishikawa T, et al. Intraoperative fluorescence imaging system for on-site assessment of off-pump coronary artery bypass graft. *JACC Cardiovasc Imaging* 2009; 2: 604–612.
- 841. Desai ND, Miwa S, Kodama D, Koyama T, Cohen G, Pelletier MP, et al. A randomized comparison of intraoperative indocyanine green angiography and transit-time flow measurement to detect technical errors in coronary bypass grafts. *J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg* 2006; **132**: 585–594.
- 842. Di Giammarco G, Marinelli D, Foschi M, Mobariki T, Micucci D, Faragalli F, et al. The procedure for intraoperative graft verification in coronary surgery: Is high resolution epicardial imaging useful in addition to transit-time flow measurement to reduce postoperative failures? *J Cardiothorac Surg* 2015; 10(Suppl 1): A279 (Abstract).
- 843. Ohmes LB, Di Franco A, Di Giammarco G, Rosati CM, Lau C, Girardi LN, et al. Techniques for intraoperative graft assessment in coronary artery bypass surgery. *J Thorac Dis* 2017; 9(Suppl 4): S327–S332.
- 844. Kim KB, Kang CH, Lim C. Prediction of graft flow impairment by intraoperative transit time flow measurement in off-pump coronary artery bypass using arterial grafts. *Ann Thorac Surg* 2005; 80: 594–598.
- 845. Oshima H, Tokuda Y, Araki Y, Ishii H, Murohara T, Ozaki Y, et al. Predictors of early graft failure after coronary artery bypass grafting for chronic total occlusion. *Interact Cardiovasc Thorac Surg* 2016; 23: 142–149.
- 846. Tokuda Y, Song MH, Ueda Y, Usui A, Akita T. Predicting early coronary artery bypass graft failure by intraoperative transit time flow measurement. *Ann Thorac Surg* 2007; 84: 1928–1933.
- 847. Kassimis G, Krasopoulos G. False positive transit time flowmetry graft failure in multivessel coronary spasm following off-pump coronary artery bypass grafting. *Case Rep Cardiol* 2017; 2017: 3186047.
- 848. Kawachi Y, Nakashima A, Toshima Y, Arinaga K, Kawano H. Risk stratification analysis of operative mortality in heart and thoracic aorta surgery: Comparison between Parsonnet and EuroSCORE additive model. *Eur J Cardiothorac Surg* 2001; 20: 961–966.
- 849. The Survey Committee of Japanese Association for Coronary Artery Surgery. Coronary artery surgery results in 2017. http:// www.jacas.org/data/pdf/slide_2017_e.pdf (accessed March 1, 2021).
- 850. D'Agostino RS, Jacobs JP, Badhwar V, Fernandez FG, Paone G, Wormuth DW, et al. The Society of Thoracic Surgeons Adult Cardiac Surgery Database: 2018 update on outcomes and quality. *Ann Thorac Surg* 2018; **105**: 15–23.
- 851. Saito A, Hirahara N, Motomura N, Miyata H, Takamoto S. Current status of cardiovascular surgery in Japan, 2013 and 2014: A report based on the Japan Cardiovascular Surgery Database 3. Coronary artery bypass surgery. *Gen Thorac Cardiovasc Surg* 2018; 66: 8–12.
- 852. Saito A, Hirahara N, Motomura N, Miyata H, Takamoto S. Correction to: Current status of cardiovascular surgery in Japan, 2013 and 2014: A report based on the Japan Cardiovascular Surgery database 3. Coronary artery bypass surgery. *Gen Thorac Cardiovasc Surg* 2018; **66**: 182–183.
- 853. Grüntzig AR, Senning A, Siegenthaler WE. Nonoperative dilatation of coronary-artery stenosis: Percutaneous transluminal coronary angioplasty. *N Engl J Med* 1979; **301**: 61–68.
- 854. Sigwart U, Puel J, Mirkovitch V, Joffre F, Kappenberger L.

Intravascular stents to prevent occlusion and restenosis after transluminal angioplasty. N Engl J Med 1987; **316**: 701–706.

- 855. Serruys PW, Strauss BH, Beatt KJ, Bertrand ME, Puel J, Rickards AF, et al. Angiographic follow-up after placement of a self-expanding coronary-artery stent. *N Engl J Med* 1991; **324**: 13–17.
- 856. Ozaki Y, Keane D, Ruygrok P, van der Giessen WJ, de Feyter P, Serruys PW. Six-month clinical and angiographic outcome of the new, less shortening Wallstent in native coronary arteries. *Circulation* 1996; 93: 2114–2120.
- 857. Strauss BH, Serruys PW, de Scheerder IK, Tijssen JG, Bertrand ME, Puel J, et al. Relative risk analysis of angiographic predictors of restenosis within the coronary Wallstent. *Circulation* 1991; 84: 1636–1643.
- 858. Serruys PW, de Jaegere P, Kiemeneij F, Macaya C, Rutsch W, Heyndrickx G, et al. A comparison of balloon-expandable-stent implantation with balloon angioplasty in patients with coronary artery disease. Benestent Study Group. N Engl J Med 1994; 331: 489–495.
- 859. Sousa JE, Costa MA, Abizaid AC, Rensing BJ, Abizaid AS, Tanajura LF, et al. Sustained suppression of neointimal proliferation by sirolimus-eluting stents: One-year angiographic and intravascular ultrasound follow-up. *Circulation* 2001; 104: 2007–2011.
- 860. Xaplanteris P, Fournier S, Pijls NHJ, Fearon WF, Barbato E, Tonino PAL, et al. Five-year outcomes with PCI guided by fractional flow reserve. *N Engl J Med* 2018; **379**: 250–259.
- 861. Zhang J, Gao X, Kan J, Ge Z, Han L, Lu S, et al. Intravascular ultrasound versus angiography-guided drug-eluting stent implantation: The ULTIMATE trial. J Am Coll Cardiol 2018; 72: 3126–3137.
- 862. Milojevic M, Head SJ, Parasca CA, Serruys PW, Mohr FW, Morice MC, et al. Causes of death following PCI versus CABG in complex CAD: 5-year follow-up of SYNTAX. J Am Coll Cardiol 2016; 67: 42–55.
- 863. Suzuki Y, Tsuchikane E, Katoh O, Muramatsu T, Muto M, Kishi K, et al. Outcomes of percutaneous coronary interventions for chronic total occlusion performed by highly experienced Japanese specialists: The first report from the Japanese CTO-PCI Expert Registry. JACC Cardiovasc Interv 2017; 10: 2144–2154.
- 864. Jeger RV, Farah A, Ohlow MA, Mangner N, Möbius-Winkler S, Leibundgut G, et al. Drug-coated balloons for small coronary artery disease (BASKET-SMALL 2): An open-label randomised non-inferiority trial. *Lancet* 2018; **392**: 849–856.
- 865. Escaned J, Collet C, Ryan N, De Maria GL, Walsh S, Sabate M, et al. Clinical outcomes of state-of-the-art percutaneous coronary revascularization in patients with de novo three vessel disease: 1-year results of the SYNTAX II study. *Eur Heart J* 2017; **38**: 3124–3134.
- 866. Bertrand OF, Bélisle P, Joyal D, Costerousse O, Rao SV, Jolly SS et al. Comparison of transradial and femoral approaches for percutaneous coronary interventions: A systematic review and hierarchical Bayesian meta-analysis. *Am Heart J* 2012; 163: 632–648.
- 867. Andò G, Cortese B, Russo F, Rothenbühler M, Frigoli E, Gargiulo G, et al. Acute kidney injury after radial or femoral access for invasive acute coronary syndrome management: AKI-Matrix. J Am Coll Cardiol 2017; 69: 2592–2603.
- Iqbal J, Widmer R, Gersh BJ. State of the art: Optimal medical therapy – competing with or complementary to revascularisation in patients with coronary artery disease? *EuroIntervention* 2017; 13: 751–759.
- 869. Kocas C, Abaci O, Oktay V, Coskun U, Bostan C, Yildiz A, et al. Percutaneous coronary intervention vs. optimal medical therapy – the other side of the coin: Medication adherence. J Clin Pharm Ther 2013; 38: 476–479.
- 870. Jolly SS, Yusuf S, Cairns J, Niemelä K, Xavier D, Widimsky P, et al. Radial versus femoral access for coronary angiography and intervention in patients with acute coronary syndromes (RIVAL): A randomised, parallel group, multicentre trial. *Lancet* 2011; **377**: 1409–1420.
- 871. Valgimigli M, Gagnor A, Calabró P, Frigoli E, Leonardi S, Zaro T, et al. Radial versus femoral access in patients with acute coronary syndromes undergoing invasive management: A randomised multicentre trial. *Lancet* 2015; 385: 2465–2476.
- 872. Andò G, Gragnano F, Calabrò P, Valgimigli M. Radial vs femoral access for the prevention of acute kidney injury (AKI) after coronary angiography or intervention: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Catheter Cardiovasc Interv* 2018; 92: E518–E526.

- 873. Roubin GS, Douglas JS, King SB 3rd, Lin SF, Hutchison N, Thomas RG, et al. Influence of balloon size on initial success, acute complications, and restenosis after percutaneous transluminal coronary angioplasty: A prospective randomized study. *Circulation* 1988; **78**: 557–565.
- 874. Ozaki Y, Violaris AG, Serruys PW. New stent technologies. Prog Cardiovasc Dis 1996; 39: 129–140.
- 875. Hawn MT, Graham LA, Richman JS, Itani KM, Henderson WG, Maddox TM. Risk of major adverse cardiac events following noncardiac surgery in patients with coronary stents. *JAMA* 2013; **310**: 1462–1472.
- Bangalore S, Silbaugh TS, Normand SL, Lovett AF, Welt FG, Resnic FS. Drug-eluting stents versus bare metal stents prior to noncardiac surgery. *Catheter Cardiovasc Interv* 2015; 85: 533– 541.
- 877. Varenne O, Cook S, Sideris G, Kedev S, Cuisset T, Carrié D, et al. Drug-eluting stents in elderly patients with coronary artery disease (SENIOR): A randomised single-blind trial. *Lancet* 2018; **391**: 41–50.
- 878. Urban P, Meredith IT, Abizaid A, Pocock SJ, Carrié D, Naber C, et al. Polymer-free drug-coated coronary stents in patients at high bleeding risk. N Engl J Med 2015; 373: 2038–2047.
- 879. Gallo R, Padurean A, Jayaraman T, Marx S, Roque M, Adelman S, et al. Inhibition of intimal thickening after balloon angioplasty in porcine coronary arteries by targeting regulators of the cell cycle. *Circulation* 1999; **99**: 2164–2170.
- 880. Morice MC, Serruys PW, Sousa JE, Fajadet J, Ban Hayashi E, Perin M, et al. A randomized comparison of a sirolimus-eluting stent with a standard stent for coronary revascularization. N Engl J Med 2002; 346: 1773–1780.
- 881. Moses JW, Leon MB, Popma JJ, Fitzgerald PJ, Holmes DR, O'Shaughnessy C, et al. Sirolimus-eluting stents versus standard stents in patients with stenosis in a native coronary artery. N Engl J Med 2003; 349: 1315–1323.
- 882. Wu K, Leighton JA. Paclitaxel and cell division. N Engl J Med 2001; 344: 815.
- 883. Daemen J, Wenaweser P, Tsuchida K, Abrecht L, Vaina S, Morger C, et al. Early and late coronary stent thrombosis of sirolimus-eluting and paclitaxel-eluting stents in routine clinical practice: Data from a large two-institutional cohort study. *Lancet* 2007; 369: 667–678.
- 884. Natsuaki M, Morimoto T, Furukawa Y, Nakagawa Y, Kadota K, Yamaji K, et al. Late adverse events after implantation of sirolimus-eluting stent and bare-metal stent: Long-term (5–7 years) follow-up of the Coronary Revascularization Demonstrating Outcome study-Kyoto registry Cohort-2. *Circ Cardiovasc Interv* 2014; 7: 168–179.
- Cook S, Wenaweser P, Togni M, Billinger M, Morger C, Seiler C, et al. Incomplete stent apposition and very late stent thrombosis after drug-eluting stent implantation. *Circulation* 2007; 115: 2426–2434.
- 886. Otsuka F, Vorpahl M, Nakano M, Foerst J, Newell JB, Sakakura K, et al. Pathology of second-generation everolimus-eluting stents versus first-generation sirolimus- and paclitaxel-eluting stents in humans. *Circulation* 2014; **129**: 211–223.
- 887. Ozaki Y, Okumura M, Ismail TF, Naruse H, Hattori K, Kan S, et al. The fate of incomplete stent apposition with drug-eluting stents: An optical coherence tomography-based natural history study. *Eur Heart J* 2010; **31:** 1470–1476.
- Bønaa KH, Mannsverk J, Wiseth R, Aaberge L, Myreng Y, Nygård O, et al. Drug-eluting or bare-metal stents for coronary artery disease. *N Engl J Med* 2016; **375:** 1242–1252.
- 889. Palmerini T, Benedetto U, Biondi-Zoccai G, Della Riva D, Bacchi-Reggiani L, Smits PC, et al. Long-term safety of drugeluting and bare-metal stents: Evidence from a comprehensive network meta-analysis. J Am Coll Cardiol 2015; 65: 2496–2507.
- 890. Natsuaki M, Kozuma K, Morimoto T, Kadota K, Muramatsu T, Nakagawa Y, et al. Biodegradable polymer biolimus-eluting stent versus durable polymer everolimus-eluting stent: A randomized, controlled, noninferiority trial. J Am Coll Cardiol 2013; 62: 181–190.
- 891. Saito S, Valdes-Chavarri M, Richardt G, Moreno R, Iniguez Romo A, Barbato E, et al. A randomized, prospective, intercontinental evaluation of a bioresorbable polymer sirolimus-eluting coronary stent system: The Century II (Clinical Evaluation of New Terumo Drug-Eluting Coronary Stent System in the Treatment of Patients with coronary artery disease) trial. *Eur Heart J* 2014; 35: 2021–2031.
- 892. Kandzari DÉ, Mauri L, Koolen JJ, Massaro JM, Doros G, Garcia-Garcia HM, et al. Ultrathin, bioresorbable polymer

sirolimus-eluting stents versus thin, durable polymer everolimuseluting stents in patients undergoing coronary revascularisation (BIOFLOW V): A randomised trial. *Lancet* 2017; **390:** 1843– 1852.

- 893. Jensen LO, Thayssen P, Christiansen EH, Tilsted HH, Maeng M, Hansen KN, et al. 2-year patient-related versus stent-related outcomes: The SORT OUT IV (Scandinavian Organization for Randomized Trials with Clinical Outcome IV) Trial. J Am Coll Cardiol 2012; 60: 1140–1147.
- 894. Sabate M, Cequier A, Iñiguez A, Serra A, Hernandez-Antolin R, Mainar V, et al. Everolimus-eluting stent versus bare-metal stent in ST-segment elevation myocardial infarction (EXAMINATION): 1 year results of a randomised controlled trial. *Lancet* 2012; **380**: 1482–1490.
- 895. Pleva L, Kukla P, Kusnierova P, Zapletalova J, Hlinomaz O. Comparison of the efficacy of paclitaxel-eluting balloon catheters and everolimus-eluting stents in the treatment of coronary in-stent restenosis: The Treatment of in-stent restenosis Study. *Circ Cardiovasc Interv* 2016; **9**: e003316.
- 896. Siontis GC, Stefanini GG, Mavridis D, Siontis KC, Alfonso F, Pérez-Vizcayno MJ, et al. Percutaneous coronary interventional strategies for treatment of in-stent restenosis: A network meta-analysis. *Lancet* 2015; **386**: 655–664.
- 897. Giacoppo D, Gargiulo G, Aruta P, Capranzano P, Tamburino C, Capodanno D. Treatment strategies for coronary in-stent restenosis: Systematic review and hierarchical Bayesian network meta-analysis of 24 randomised trials and 4880 patients. *BMJ* 2015; 351: h5392.
- 898. Ozaki Y, Yamaguchi T, Suzuki T, Nakamura M, Kitayama M, Nishikawa H, et al. Impact of cutting balloon angioplasty (CBA) prior to bare metal stenting on restenosis. *Circ J* 2007; 71: 1–8.
- 899. Safian RD, Niazi KA, Strzelecki M, Lichtenberg A, May MA, Juran N, et al. Detailed angiographic analysis of high-speed mechanical rotational atherectomy in human coronary arteries. *Circulation* 1993; 88: 961–968.
- 900. Radke PW, Klues HG, Haager PK, Hoffmann R, Kastrau F, Reffelmann T, et al. Mechanisms of acute lumen gain and recurrent restenosis after rotational atherectomy of diffuse in-stent restenosis: A quantitative angiographic and intravascular ultrasound study. J Am Coll Cardiol 1999; 34: 33–39.
- 901. Kishi K, Hiasa Y, Ogata T, Murata M, Harada T, Yamashita J, et al. Comparison of results of rotational atherectomy for diffuse coronary artery disease in diabetics versus nondiabetics. *Am J Cardiol* 2001; **87**: 894–896.
- 902. vom Dahl J, Dietz U, Haager PK, Silber S, Niccoli L, Buettner HJ, et al. Rotational atherectomy does not reduce recurrent in-stent restenosis: Results of the angioplasty versus rotational atherectomy for treatment of diffuse in-stent restenosis trial (ARTIST). Circulation 2002; 105: 583–588.
- 903. Aoki J, Ikari Y, Sugimoto T, Fukuda S, Hara K. Clinical outcome of percutaneous transluminal coronary rotational atherectomy in patients with end-stage renal disease. *Circ J* 2003; 67: 617–621.
- 904. Sakakura K, Inohara T, Kohsaka S, Amano T, Uemura S, Ishii H, et al. Incidence and determinants of complications in rotational atherectomy: Insights from the national clinical data (J-PCI Registry). *Circ Cardiovasc Interv* 2016; 9: e004278.
- 905. Chambers JW, Feldman RL, Himmelstein SI, Bhatheja R, Villa AE, Strickman NE, et al. Pivotal trial to evaluate the safety and efficacy of the orbital atherectomy system in treating de novo, severely calcified coronary lesions (ORBIT II). JACC Cardiovasc Interv 2014; 7: 510–518.
- 906. Simonton CA, Leon MB, Baim DS, Hinohara T, Kent KM, Bersin RM, et al. "Optimal" directional coronary atherectomy: Final results of the Optimal atherectomy restenosis Study (OARS). *Circulation* 1998; **97**: 332–339.
- 907. Šuzuki T, Hosokawa H, Katoh O, Fujita T, Ueno K, Takase S, et al. Effects of adjunctive balloon angioplasty after intravascular ultrasound-guided optimal directional coronary atherectomy: The result of Adjunctive Balloon Angioplasty after Coronary Atherectomy Study (ABACAS). J Am Coll Cardiol 1999; 34: 1028–1035.
- 908. Tsuchikane E, Aizawa T, Tamai H, Igarashi Y, Kawajiri K, Ozawa N, et al. Pre-drug-eluting stent debulking of bifurcated coronary lesions. J Am Coll Cardiol 2007; 50: 1941–1945.
- 909. Tanaka N, Terashima M, Kinoshita Y, Kimura M, Nasu K, Ehara M, et al. Unprotected left main coronary artery bifurcation stenosis: Impact of plaque debulking prior to single sirolimuseluting stent implantation. *J Invas Cardiol* 2008; **20:** 505–510.

- 910. Niccoli G, Belloni F, Cosentino N, Fracassi F, Falcioni E, Roberto M, et al. Case-control registry of excimer laser coronary angioplasty versus distal protection devices in patients with acute coronary syndromes due to saphenous vein graft disease. *Am J Cardiol* 2013; **112**: 1586–1591.
- 911. Shishikura D, Otsuji S, Takiuchi S, Fukumoto A, Asano K, Ikushima M, et al. Vaporizing thrombus with excimer laser before coronary stenting improves myocardial reperfusion in acute coronary syndrome. *Circ J* 2013; 77: 1445–1452.
- 912. Nishino M, Lee Y, Nakamura D, Yoshimura T, Taniike M, Makino N, et al. Differences in optical coherence tomographic findings and clinical outcomes between excimer laser and cutting balloon angioplasty for focal in-stent restenosis lesions. *J Invas Cardiol* 2012; 24: 478–483.
- 913. Toyota T, Morimoto T, Shiomi H, Yoshikawa Y, Yaku H, Yamashita Y, et al. Very late scaffold thrombosis of bioresorbable vascular scaffold: Systematic review and a meta-analysis. *JACC Cardiovasc Interv* 2017; 10: 27–37.
- 914. Serruys PW, Chevalier B, Dudek D, Cequier A, Carrié D, Iniguez A, et al. A bioresorbable everolimus-eluting scaffold versus a metallic everolimus-eluting stent for ischaemic heart disease caused by de-novo native coronary artery lesions (ABSORB II): An interim 1-year analysis of clinical and procedural secondary outcomes from a randomised controlled trial. *Lancet* 2015; 385: 43–54.
- 915. Collet C, Asano T, Miyazaki Y, Tenekecioglu E, Katagiri Y, Sotomi Y, et al. Late thrombotic events after bioresorbable scaffold implantation: A systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized clinical trials. *Eur Heart J* 2017; 38: 2559–2566.
- 916. Onuma Y, Collet C, van Geuns RJ, de Bruyne B, Christiansen E, Koolen J, et al. Long-term serial non-invasive multislice computed tomography angiography with functional evaluation after coronary implantation of a bioresorbable everolimus-eluting scaffold: The ABSORB Cohort B MSCT substudy. *Eur Heart J Cardiovasc Imaging* 2017; **18**: 870–879.
- 917. Puricel S, Cuculi F, Weissner M, Schmermund A, Jamshidi P, Nyffenegger T, et al. Bioresorbable coronary scaffold thrombosis: Multicenter comprehensive analysis of clinical presentation, mechanisms, and predictors. J Am Coll Cardiol 2016; 67: 921– 931.
- 918. Meincke F, Spangenberg T, Heeger CH, Bergmann MW, Kuck KH, Ghanem A. Very late scaffold thrombosis due to insufficient strut apposition. JACC Cardiovasc Interv 2015; 8: 1768–1769.
- 919. Räber L, Brugaletta S, Yamaji K, O'Sullivan CJ, Otsuki S, Koppara T, et al. Very late scaffold thrombosis: Intracoronary imaging and histopathological and spectroscopic findings. J Am Coll Cardiol 2015; 66: 1901–1914.
- 920. Gargiulo G, Mangiameli A, Granata F, Ohno Y, Chisari A, Capodanno D, et al. New-onset coronary aneurism and lateacquired incomplete scaffold apposition after full polymer jacket of a chronic total occlusion with bioresorbable scaffolds. *JACC Cardiovasc Interv* 2015; 8: e41–e43.
- 921. Ortega-Paz L, Capodanno D, Gori T, Nef H, Latib A, Caramanno G, et al. Predilation, sizing and post-dilation scoring in patients undergoing everolimus-eluting bioresorbable scaffold implantation for prediction of cardiac adverse events: Development and internal validation of the PSP score. *EuroIntervention* 2017; **12**: 2110–2117.
- 922. Onuma Y, Sotomi Y, Shiomi H, Ozaki Y, Namiki A, Yasuda S, et al. Two-year clinical, angiographic, and serial optical coherence tomographic follow-up after implantation of an everolimus-eluting bioresorbable scaffold and an everolimus-eluting metallic stent: Insights from the randomised ABSORB Japan trial. *EuroIntervention* 2016; 12: 1090–1101.
 923. Sotomi Y, Onuma Y, Dijkstra J, Eggermont J, Liu S,
- 923. Sotomi Y, Onuma Y, Dijkstra J, Eggermont J, Liu S, Tenekecioglu E, et al. Impact of implantation technique and plaque morphology on strut embedment and scaffold expansion of polylactide bioresorbable scaffold: Insights from ABSORB Japan Trial. *Circ J* 2016; **80**: 2317–2326.
- 924. Ho HH, Er Ching M, Ong PJ, Ooi YW. Subacute bioresorbable vascular scaffold thrombosis: A report of 2 cases. *Heart Vessels* 2015; 30: 545–548.
- 925. Timmers L, Stella PR, Agostoni P. Very late bioresorbable vascular scaffold thrombosis following discontinuation of antiplatelet therapy. *Eur Heart J* 2015; 36: 393.
- antiplatelet therapy. *Eur Heart J* 2015; 36: 393.
 926. Yahagi K, Virmani R, Kesavamoorthy B. Very late scaffold thrombosis of everolimus-eluting bioresorbable scaffold following implantation in STEMI after discontinuation of dual antiplatelet therapy. *Cardiovasc Interv Ther* 2017; 32: 53–55.
- 927. Karanasos A, Van Mieghem N, van Ditzhuijzen N, Felix C,

Daemen J, Autar A, et al. Angiographic and optical coherence tomography insights into bioresorbable scaffold thrombosis: Single-center experience. *Circ Cardiovasc Interv* 2015; **8**: e002369.

- 928. Mintz GS, Nissen SE, Anderson WD, Bailey SR, Erbel R, Fitzgerald PJ, et al. American College of Cardiology Clinical Expert Consensus Document on Standards for Acquisition, Measurement and Reporting of Intravascular Ultrasound Studies (IVUS). A report of the American College of Cardiology Task Force on Clinical Expert Consensus Documents. J Am Coll Cardiol 2001; 37: 1478–1492.
- 929. Fröhlich GM, Redwood S, Rakhit R, MacCarthy PA, Lim P, Crake T, et al. Long-term survival in patients undergoing percutaneous interventions with or without intracoronary pressure wire guidance or intracoronary ultrasonographic imaging: A large cohort study. JAMA Intern Med 2014; 174: 1360–1366.
- 930. Witzenbichler B, Maehara A, Weisz G, Neumann FJ, Rinaldi MJ, Metzger DC, et al. Relationship between intravascular ultrasound guidance and clinical outcomes after drug-eluting stents: The assessment of dual antiplatelet therapy with drug-eluting stents (ADAPT-DES) study. *Circulation* 2014; **129**: 463–470.
- 931. Buccheri S, Franchina G, Romano S, Puglisi S, Venuti G, D'Arrigo P, et al. Clinical outcomes following intravascular imaging-guided versus coronary angiography-guided percutaneous coronary intervention with stent implantation: A systematic review and Bayesian network meta-analysis of 31 studies and 17,882 patients. JACC Cardiovase Interv 2017; 10: 2488–2498.
- 932. Park SJ, Kim YH, Park DW, Lee SW, Kim WJ, Suh J, et al. Impact of intravascular ultrasound guidance on long-term mortality in stenting for unprotected left main coronary artery stenosis. *Circ Cardiovasc Interv* 2009; 2: 167–177.
- 933. Kim BK, Shin DH, Hong MK, Park HS, Rha SW, Mintz GS, et al. Clinical impact of intravascular ultrasound-guided chronic total occlusion intervention with zotarolimus-eluting versus biolimus-eluting stent implantation: Randomized study. *Circ Cardiovasc Interv* 2015; 8: e002592.
- 934. Hong SJ, Kim BK, Shin DH, Nam CM, Kim JS, Ko YG, et al. Effect of intravascular ultrasound-guided vs angiographyguided everolimus-eluting stent implantation: The IVUS-XPL randomized clinical trial. JAMA 2015; 314: 2155–2163.
- 935. Hibi K, Kozuma K, Sonoda S, Endo T, Tanaka H, Kyono H, et al. A randomized study of distal filter protection versus conventional treatment during percutaneous coronary intervention in patients with attenuated plaque identified by intravascular ultrasound. JACC Cardiovasc Interv 2018; 11: 1545–1555.
- 936. Bavishi C, Sardar P, Chatterjee S, Khan AR, Shah A, Ather S, et al. Intravascular ultrasound-guided vs angiography-guided drug-eluting stent implantation in complex coronary lesions: Meta-analysis of randomized trials. *Am Heart J* 2017; 185: 26–34.
- 937. Wang Y, Mintz GS, Gu Z, Qi Y, Wang Y, Liu M, et al. Meta-analysis and systematic review of intravascular ultrasound versus angiography-guided drug eluting stent implantation in left main coronary disease in 4592 patients. *BMC Cardiovasc Disord* 2018; **18**: 115.
- 938. Patel Y, Depta JP, Patel JS, Masrani SK, Novak E, Zajarias A, et al. Impact of intravascular ultrasound on the long-term clinical outcomes in the treatment of coronary ostial lesions. *Catheter Cardiovasc Interv* 2016; **87:** 232–240.
- 939. Legutko J, Yamawaki M, Costa RA, Costa MA. IVUS in bifurcation stenting: What have we learned? *EuroIntervention* 2015; **11**(Suppl V): V55–V58.
- 940. Gomez-Lara J, Salvatella N, Gonzalo N, Hernández-Hernández F, Fernandez-Nofrerias E, Sánchez-Recalde A, et al. IVUS-guided treatment strategies for definite late and very late stent thrombosis. *EuroIntervention* 2016; 12: e1355–e1365.
- 941. Doi H, Maehara A, Mintz GS, Yu A, Wang H, Mandinov L, et al. Impact of post-intervention minimal stent area on 9-month follow-up patency of paclitaxel-eluting stents: An integrated intravascular ultrasound analysis from the TAXUS IV, V, and VI and TAXUS Atlas Workhorse, Long Lesion, and Direct Stent Trials. JACC Cardiovasc Interv 2009; 2: 1269–1275.
- 942. Tearney GJ, Regar E, Akasaka T, Adriaenssens T, Barlis P, Bezerra HG, et al. Consensus standards for acquisition, measurement, and reporting of intravascular optical coherence tomography studies: A report from the International Working Group for Intravascular Optical Coherence Tomography Standardization and Validation. J Am Coll Cardiol 2012; 59: 1058–1072.

- 943. Prati F, Di Vito L, Biondi-Zoccai G, Occhipinti M, La Manna A, Tamburino C, et al. Angiography alone versus angiography plus optical coherence tomography to guide decision- making during percutaneous coronary intervention: The Centro per la Lotta contro l'Infarto-Optimisation of Percutaneous Coronary Intervention (CLI-OPCI) study. *EuroIntervention* 2012; 8: 823–829.
- 944. Kubo T, Shinke T, Okamura T, Hibi K, Nakazawa G, Morino Y, et al. Optical frequency domain imaging vs. intravascular ultrasound in percutaneous coronary intervention (OPINION trial): One-year angiographic and clinical results. *Eur Heart J* 2017; 38: 3139–3147.
- 945. Otake H, Kubo T, Takahashi H, Shinke T, Okamura T, Hibi K, et al. Optical frequency domain imaging versus intravascular ultrasound in percutaneous coronary intervention (OPINION trial): Results from the OPINION Imaging Study. *JACC Cardiovasc Imaging* 2018; **11**: 111–123.
- 946. Kim IC, Yoon HJ, Shin ES, Kim MS, Park J, Cho YK, et al. Usefulness of frequency domain optical coherence tomography compared with intravascular ultrasound as a guidance for percutaneous coronary intervention. *J Interv Cardiol* 2016; 29: 216–224.
- 947. Ali ZA, Maehara A, Généreux P, Shlofmitz RA, Fabbiocchi F, Nazif TM et al. Optical coherence tomography compared with intravascular ultrasound and with angiography to guide coronary stent implantation (ILUMIEN III: OPTIMIZE PCI): A randomised controlled trial. *Lancet* 2016; **388**: 2618–2628.
- 948. Kuku KO, Ekanem E, Azizi V, Melaku G, Bui A, Meirovich YF, et al. Optical coherence tomography-guided percutaneous coronary intervention compared with other imaging guidance: A meta-analysis. *Int J Cardiovasc Imaging* 2018; 34: 503–513.
- 949. Mizuno K, Arai T, Satomura K, Shibuya T, Arakawa K, Okamoto Y, et al. New percutaneous transluminal coronary angioscope. J Am Coll Cardiol 1989; 13: 363–368.
- 950. Siegel RJ, Ariani M, Fishbein MC, Chae JS, Park JC, Maurer G, et al. Histopathologic validation of angioscopy and intravascular ultrasound. *Circulation* 1991; 84: 109–117.
- 951. Mizote I, Ueda Y, Ohtani T, Shimizu M, Takeda Y, Oka T, et al. Distal protection improved reperfusion and reduced left ventricular dysfunction in patients with acute myocardial infarction who had angioscopically defined ruptured plaque. *Circulation* 2005; **112**: 1001–1007.
- 952. Sotomi Y, Suzuki S, Kobayashi T, Hamanaka Y, Nakatani S, Hirata A, et al. Impact of the one-year angioscopic findings on long-term clinical events in 504 patients treated with firstgeneration or second-generation drug-eluting stents: The DESNOTE-X study. *EuroIntervention* 2019; 15: 631–639.
- 953. Medina A, Suárez de Lezo J, Pan M. [A new classification of coronary bifurcation lesions.] *Rev Esp Cardiol* 2006; **59**: 183 [in Spanish].
- 954. Toyofuku M, Kimura T, Morimoto T, Hayashi Y, Shiode N, Okimoto T, et al. Comparison of target-lesion revascularisation between left main coronary artery bifurcations and left anterior descending coronary artery bifurcations using the one and two stent approach with sirolimus-eluting stents. *EuroIntervention* 2011; 7: 796–804.
- 955. Kawasaki T, Koga H, Serikawa T. New bifurcation guidewire technique: A reversed guidewire technique for extremely angulated bifurcation – a case report. *Catheter Cardiovasc Interv* 2008; 71: 73–76.
- 956. Nomura T, Higuchi Y, Kato T. Successful percutaneous coronary intervention for complex bifurcated lesions with combination of "Reverse wire technique" and "Reverse bent wiring with the crusade catheter" novel wire manipulation technique. *Catheter Cardiovasc Interv* 2016; 87: 920–925.
- 957. Habara M, Tsuchikane E, Nasu K, Kinoshita Y, Yaguchi T, Suzuki Y, et al. The first clinical experience with a novel directional coronary atherectomy catheter: Preliminary Japanese multicenter experience. *Catheter Cardiovasc Interv* 2017; 89: 880–887.
- 958. Hildick-Smith D, Behan MW, Lassen JF, Chieffo A, Lefèvre T, Stankovic G, et al. The EBC TWO Study (European Bifurcation Coronary two): A randomized comparison of provisional T-stenting versus a systematic 2 stent culotte strategy in large caliber true bifurcations. *Circ Cardiovasc Interv* 2016; 9: e003643.
- 959. Nairooz R, Saad M, Elgendy IY, Mahmoud AN, Habash F, Sardar P, et al. Long-term outcomes of provisional stenting compared with a two-stent strategy for bifurcation lesions: A meta-analysis of randomised trials. *Heart* 2017; 103: 1427–1434.
- 960. Ford TJ, McCartney P, Corcoran D, Collison D, Hennigan B,

McEntegart M, et al. Single- versus 2-stent strategies for coronary bifurcation lesions: A systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized trials with long-term follow-up. *J Am Heart Assoc* 2018; **7**: e008730.

- 961. Chen SL, Zhang JJ, Han Y, Kan J, Chen L, Qiu C, et al. Double kissing crush versus provisional stenting for left main distal bifurcation lesions: DKCRUSH-V randomized trial. J Am Coll Cardiol 2017; 70: 2605–2617.
- 962. Koo BK, Kang HJ, Youn TJ, Chae IH, Choi DJ, Kim HS, et al. Physiologic assessment of jailed side branch lesions using fractional flow reserve. J Am Coll Cardiol 2005; 46: 633–637.
- 963. Koo BK, Park KW, Kang HJ, Cho YS, Chung WY, Youn TJ, et al. Physiological evaluation of the provisional side-branch intervention strategy for bifurcation lesions using fractional flow reserve. *Eur Heart J* 2008; **29**: 726–732.
- 964. Darremont O, Leymarie JL, Lefèvre T, Albiero R, Mortier P, Louvard Y. Technical aspects of the provisional side branch stenting strategy. *EuroIntervention* 2015; 11(Suppl V): V86–V90.
- 965. Okamura T, Onuma Y, Yamada J, Iqbal J, Tateishi H, Nao T, et al. 3D optical coherence tomography: New insights into the process of optimal rewiring of side branches during bifurcational stenting. *EuroIntervention* 2014; **10**: 907–915.
- 966. Burzotta F, Trani C, Sianos G. Jailed balloon protection: A new technique to avoid acute side-branch occlusion during provisional stenting of bifurcated lesions. Bench test report and first clinical experience. *EuroIntervention* 2010; **5:** 809–813.
- 967. Saito S, Shishido K, Moriyama N, Ochiai T, Mizuno S, Yamanaka F, et al. Modified jailed balloon technique for bifurcation lesions. *Catheter Cardiovasc Interv* 2018; 92: e218– e226.
- 968. Numasawa Y, Sakakura K, Yamamoto K, Yamamoto S, Taniguchi Y, Fujita H, et al. A novel side branch protection technique in coronary stent implantation: Jailed Corsair technique. *Cardiovasc Revasc Med* 2017; **18**: 295–298.
- 969. Cortese B, Piraino D, Buccheri D, Alfonso F. Treatment of bifurcation lesions with drug-coated balloons: A review of currently available scientific data. *Int J Cardiol* 2016; 220: 589– 594.
- 970. Mintz GS, Lefèvre T, Lassen JF, Testa L, Pan M, Singh J, et al. Intravascular ultrasound in the evaluation and treatment of left main coronary artery disease: A consensus statement from the European Bifurcation Club. *EuroIntervention* 2018; 14: e467– e474.
- 971. Lee JM, Hahn JY, Kang J, Park KW, Chun WJ, Rha SW, et al. Differential prognostic effect between first- and second-generation drug-eluting stents in coronary bifurcation lesions: Patient-level analysis of the Korean Bifurcation Pooled Cohorts. JACC Cardiovasc Interv 2015; 8: 1318–1331.
- 972. Grundeken MJ, Wykrzykowska JJ, Ishibashi Y, Garg S, de Vries T, Garcia-Garcia HM, et al. First generation versus second generation drug-eluting stents for the treatment of bifurcations: 5-year follow-up of the LEADERS all-comers randomized trial. *Catheter Cardiovasc Interv* 2016; 87: e248–e260.
 973. Rubinshtein R, Ben-Dov N, Halon DA, Lavi I, Finkelstein A,
- 973. Rubinshtein R, Ben-Dov N, Halon DA, Lavi I, Finkelstein A, Lewis BS, et al. Geographic miss with aorto-ostial coronary stent implantation: Insights from high-resolution coronary computed tomography angiography. *EuroIntervention* 2015; 11: 301–307.
- 974. Tsunoda T, Nakamura M, Wada M, Ito N, Kitagawa Y, Shiba M, et al. Chronic stent recoil plays an important role in restenosis of the right coronary ostium. *Coron Artery Dis* 2004; 15: 39–44.
- 975. Lam MK, Sen H, Tandjung K, Löwik MM, Basalus MW, Mewes JC, et al. Clinical outcome of patients with implantation of second-generation drug-eluting stents in the right coronary ostium: Insights from 2-year follow-up of the TWENTE trial. *Catheter Cardiovasc Interv* 2015; 85: 524–531.
- 976. Mitomo S, Jabbour RJ, Watanabe Y, Mangieri A, Ancona M, Regazzoli D, et al. Comparison of mid-term clinical outcomes after treatment of ostial right coronary artery lesions with early and new generation drug-eluting stents: Insights from an international multicenter registry. *Int J Cardiol* 2018; 254: 53–58.
- 977. Watanabe Y, Takagi K, Naganuma T, Kawamoto H, Fujino Y, Ishiguro H, et al. Independent predictors of in-stent restenosis after drug-eluting stent implantation for ostial right coronary artery lesions. *Int J Cardiol* 2017; 240: 108–113.
- 978. Morino Y, Kimura T, Hayashi Y, Muramatsu T, Ochiai M, Noguchi Y, et al. In-hospital outcomes of contemporary percutaneous coronary intervention in patients with chronic total occlusion insights from the J-CTO Registry (Multicenter

CTO Registry in Japan). JACC Cardiovasc Interv 2010; 3: 143–151.

- 979. Carlino M, Magri CJ, Uretsky BF, Brilakis ES, Walsh S, Spratt JC, et al. Treatment of the chronic total occlusion: A call to action for the interventional community. *Catheter Cardiovasc Interv* 2015; **85**: 771–778.
- 980. Azzalini L, Jolicoeur EM, Pighi M, Millán X, Picard F, Tadros VX, et al. Epidemiology, management strategies, and outcomes of patients with chronic total coronary occlusion. *Am J Cardiol* 2016; **118**: 1128–1135.
- 981. Fefer P, Knudtson ML, Cheema AN, Galbraith PD, Osherov AB, Yalonetsky S, et al. Current perspectives on coronary chronic total occlusions: The Canadian Multicenter Chronic Total Occlusions Registry. J Am Coll Cardiol 2012; 59: 991–997.
- 982. Galassi AR, Sianos G, Werner GS, Escaned J, Tomasello SD, Boukhris M, et al. Retrograde recanalization of chronic total occlusions in Europe: Procedural, in-hospital, and long-term outcomes from the multicenter ERCTO Registry. J Am Coll Cardiol 2015; 65: 2388–2400.
- 983. Morino Y, Abe M, Morimoto T, Kimura T, Hayashi Y, Muramatsu T, et al. Predicting successful guidewire crossing through chronic total occlusion of native coronary lesions within 30 minutes: The J-CTO (Multicenter CTO Registry in Japan) score as a difficulty grading and time assessment tool. *JACC Cardiovasc Interv* 2011; **4**: 213–221.
- 984. Christopoulos G, Karmpaliotis D, Alaswad K, Yeh RW, Jaffer FA, Wyman RM, et al. Application and outcomes of a hybrid approach to chronic total occlusion percutaneous coronary intervention in a contemporary multicenter US registry. *Int J Cardiol* 2015; **198**: 222–228.
- 985. Sapontis J, Salisbury AC, Yeh RW, Cohen DJ, Hirai T, Lombardi W, et al. Early procedural and health status outcomes after chronic total occlusion angioplasty: A report from the OPEN-CTO Registry (outcomes, patient health status, and efficiency in chronic total occlusion hybrid procedures). JACC Cardiovasc Interv 2017; 10: 1523–1534.
- 986. Tajti P, Karmpaliotis D, Alaswad K, Jaffer FA, Yeh RW, Patel M, et al. The hybrid approach to chronic total occlusion percutaneous coronary intervention: Update from the PROGRESS CTO Registry. JACC Cardiovasc Interv 2018; 11: 1325–1335.
- 987. Khan MF, Brilakis ES, Wendel CS, Thai H. Comparison of procedural complications and in-hospital clinical outcomes between patients with successful and failed percutaneous intervention of coronary chronic total occlusions: A meta-analysis of observational studies. *Catheter Cardiovasc Interv* 2015; 85: 781–794.
- 988. Riley RF, Sapontis J, Kirtane AJ, Karmpaliotis D, Kalra S, Jones PG, et al. Prevalence, predictors, and health status implications of periprocedural complications during coronary chronic total occlusion angioplasty. *EuroIntervention* 2018; 14: e1199–e1206.
- 989. Lo N, Michael TT, Moin D, Patel VG, Alomar M, Papayannis A, et al. Periprocedural myocardial injury in chronic total occlusion percutaneous interventions: A systematic cardiac biomarker evaluation study. *JACC Cardiovasc Interv* 2014; 7: 47–54.
- 990. Gao L, Wang Y, Liu Y, Cao F, Chen Y. Long-term clinical outcomes of successful revascularization with drug-eluting stents for chronic total occlusions: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Catheter Cardiovasc Interv* 2017; 89(S1): 574–581.
- 991. Pancholy SB, Boruah P, Ahmed I, Kwan T, Patel TM, Saito S. Meta-analysis of effect on mortality of percutaneous recanalization of coronary chronic total occlusions using a stent-based strategy. Am J Cardiol 2013; 111: 521–525.
- 992. Khan MF, Wendel CS, Thai HM, Movahed MR. Effects of percutaneous revascularization of chronic total occlusions on clinical outcomes: A meta-analysis comparing successful versus failed percutaneous intervention for chronic total occlusion. *Catheter Cardiovasc Interv* 2013; 82: 95–107.
- 993. Hoebers LP, Claessen BE, Elias J, Dangas GD, Mehran R, Henriques JP. Meta-analysis on the impact of percutaneous coronary intervention of chronic total occlusions on left ventricular function and clinical outcome. *Int J Cardiol* 2015; 187: 90–96.
- 994. Megaly M, Saad M, Tajti P, Burke MN, Chavez I, Gössl M, et al. Meta-analysis of the impact of successful chronic total occlusion percutaneous coronary intervention on left ventricular systolic function and reverse remodeling. *J Interv Cardiol* 2018; 31: 562–571.

- 995. Werner GS, Martin-Yuste V, Hildick-Smith D, Boudou N, Sianos G, Gelev V, et al. A randomized multicentre trial to compare revascularization with optimal medical therapy for the treatment of chronic total coronary occlusions. *Eur Heart J* 2018; **39**: 2484–2493.
- 996. Morcos SK, Thomsen HS, Webb JA. Contrast-media-induced nephrotoxicity: A consensus report. Contrast Media Safety Committee, European Society of Urogenital Radiology (ESUR). *Eur Radiol* 1999; 9: 1602–1613.
- 997. AKI (Acute Kidney Injury) Clinical Practice Guideline Development Committee: Japanese Society of Nephrology, Japanese Society of Intensive Care Medicine, Japanese Society of Dialysis Medicine, Japanese Society of Acute Blood Purification, Japanese Society of Pediatric Nephrology. Clinical practice guideline for acute kidney injury 2016 [in Japanese]. https://cdn.jsn.or.jp/ guideline/pdf/419-533.pdf (accessed March 1, 2021).
- 998. Kidney Disease: Improving Global Outcomes (KDIGO) Acute Kidney Injury Work Group. KDIGO clinical practice guideline for acute kidney injury. *Kidney Int Suppl* 2012; 2: 1–138.
- 999. Silver SA, Shah PM, Chertow GM, Harel S, Wald R, Harel Z. Risk prediction models for contrast induced nephropathy: Systematic review. *BMJ* 2015; **351**: h4395.
- 1000. Japanese Society of Nephrology, Japan Radiological Society, Japanese Circulation Society. Guidelines for iodinated contrast administration in patients with kidney disease 2018. Tokyo: Igakusha, 2018.
- 1001. Mueller C, Buerkle G, Buettner HJ, Petersen J, Perruchoud AP, Eriksson U, et al. Prevention of contrast media-associated nephropathy: Randomized comparison of 2 hydration regimens in 1620 patients undergoing coronary angioplasty. *Arch Intern Med* 2002; **162**: 329–336.
- 1002. Merten GJ, Burgess WP, Gray LV, Holleman JH, Roush TS, Kowalchuk GJ, et al. Prevention of contrast-induced nephropathy with sodium bicarbonate: A randomized controlled trial. *JAMA* 2004; **291**: 2328–2334.
- 1003. Cruz DN, Goh CY, Marenzi G, Corradi V, Ronco C, Perazella MA. Renal replacement therapies for prevention of radiocontrastinduced nephropathy: A systematic review. *Am J Med* 2012; **125:** 66–78.e3.
- 1004. Vogt B, Ferrari P, Schönholzer C, Marti HP, Mohaupt M, Wiederkehr M, et al. Prophylactic hemodialysis after radiocontrast media in patients with renal insufficiency is potentially harmful. *Am J Med* 2001; **111**: 692–698.
- 1005. Ogilby JD, Kopelman HA, Klein LW, Agarwal JB. Adequate heparinization during PTCA: Assessment using activated clotting times. *Cathet Cardiovasc Diagn* 1989; 18: 206–209.
- 1006. Narins CR, Hillegass WB, Nelson CL, Tcheng JE, Harrington RA, Phillips HR, et al. Relation between activated clotting time during angioplasty and abrupt closure. *Circulation* 1996; 93: 667–671.
- 1007. Popma JJ, Satler LF, Pichard AD, Kent KM, Campbell A, Chuang YC, et al. Vascular complications after balloon and new device angioplasty. *Circulation* 1993; 88: 1569–1578.
- 1008. Lewis BE, Wallis DE, Berkowitz SD, Matthai WH, Fareed J, Walenga JM, et al. Argatroban anticoagulant therapy in patients with heparin-induced thrombocytopenia. *Circulation* 2001; **103**: 1838–1843.
- 1009. Suzuki S, Sakamoto S, Koide M, Matsuo M, Fujii K, Matsuo T. Effective anticoagulation by argatroban during coronary stent implantation in a patient with heparin-induced thrombocytopenia. *Thromb Res* 1997; 88: 499–502.
- 1010. Leon MB, Baim DS, Popma JJ, Gordon PC, Cutlip DE, Ho KK, et al. A clinical trial comparing three antithrombotic-drug regimens after coronary-artery stenting: Stent Anticoagulation Restenosis Study Investigators. N Engl J Med 1998; 339: 1665– 1671.
- 1011. Kimura T, Morimoto T, Nakagawa Y, Tamura T, Kadota K, Yasumoto H, et al. Antiplatelet therapy and stent thrombosis after sirolimus-eluting stent implantation. *Circulation* 2009; 119: 987–995.
- 1012. Kimura T, Morimoto T, Nakagawa Y, Kadota K, Nozaki Y, Tada T, et al. Antiplatelet therapy and long-term clinical outcome after sirolimus-eluting stent implantation: 5-year outcome of the j-Cypher registry. *Cardiovasc Interv Ther* 2012; 27: 181–188.
- 1013. Schulz-Schüpke S, Byrne RA, Ten Berg JM, Neumann FJ, Han Y, Adriaenssens T, et al. ISAR-SAFE: A randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial of 6 vs. 12 months of clopidogrel therapy after drug-eluting stenting. *Eur Heart J* 2015; **36**: 1252–1263.

- 1014. Didier R, Morice MC, Barragan P, Noryani AAL, Noor HA, Majwal T, et al. 6- Versus 24-month dual antiplatelet therapy after implantation of drug-eluting stents in patients nonresistant to aspirin: Final results of the ITALIC Trial (Is there a life for DES after discontinuation of clopidogrel). JACC Cardiovasc Interv 2017; 10: 1202–1210.
- 1015. Colombo A, Chieffo A, Frasheri A, Garbo R, Masotti-Centol M, Salvatella N, et al. Second-generation drug-eluting stent implantation followed by 6- versus 12-month dual antiplatelet therapy: The SECURITY randomized clinical trial. J Am Coll Cardiol 2014; 64: 2086–2097.
- 1016. Nakamura M, Iijima R, Ako J, Shinke T, Okada H, Ito Y, et al. Dual antiplatelet therapy for 6 versus 18 months after biodegradable polymer drug-eluting stent implantation. JACC Cardiovasc Interv 2017; 10: 1189–1198.
- 1017. Smits PC, Vlachojannis GJ, McFadden EP, Royaards KJ, Wassing J, Joesoef KS, et al. Final 5-year follow-up of a randomized controlled trial of everolimus- and paclitaxel-eluting stents for coronary revascularization in daily practice: The COMPARE Trial (a trial of everolimus-eluting stents and paclitaxel stents for coronary revascularization in daily practice). *JACC Cardiovasc Interv* 2015; 8: 1157–1165.
- 1018. Levine GN, Bates ER, Bittl JA, Brindis RG, Fihn SD, Fleisher LA, et al. 2016 ACC/AHA guideline focused update on duration of dual antiplatelet therapy in patients with coronary artery disease: A report of the American College of Cardiology/ American Heart Association Task Force on Clinical Practice Guidelines: An update of the 2011 ACCF/AHA/SCAI Guideline for Percutaneous Coronary Intervention, 2011 ACCF/AHA Guideline for Coronary Artery Bypass Graft Surgery, 2012 ACC/AHA/ACP/AATS/PCNA/SCAI/STS Guideline for the Diagnosis and Management of Patients With Stable Ischemic Heart Disease, 2013 ACCF/AHA Guideline for the Management of ST-Elevation Myocardial Infarction, 2014 AHA/ACC Guideline for the Management of Patients With Non-ST-Elevation Acute Coronary Syndromes, and 2014 ACC/AHA Guideline on Perioperative Cardiovascular Evaluation and Management of Patients Undergoing Noncardiac Surgery. Circulation 2016; 134: e123-e155.
- 1019. Valgimigli M, Bueno H, Byrne RA, Collet JP, Costa F, Jeppsson A, et al. 2017 ESC focused update on dual antiplatelet therapy in coronary artery disease developed in collaboration with EACTS: The Task Force for dual antiplatelet therapy in coronary artery disease of the European Society of Cardiology (ESC) and of the European Association for Cardio-Thoracic Surgery (EACTS). Eur Heart J 2018; **39**: 213–260.
- 1020. Natsuaki M, Morimoto T, Yamamoto E, Shiomi H, Furukawa Y, Abe M, et al. One-year outcome of a prospective trial stopping dual antiplatelet therapy at 3 months after everolimus-eluting cobalt-chromium stent implantation: ShortT and OPtimal duration of dual antiplatelet Therapy after everolimus-eluting cobalt-chromium stent (STOPDAPT) trial. *Cardiovasc Interv Ther* 2016; **31**: 196–209.
- 1021. Harjai KJ, Shenoy C, Orshaw P, Boura J. Dual antiplatelet therapy for more than 12 months after percutaneous coronary intervention: Insights from the Guthrie PCI Registry. *Heart* 2009; 95: 1579–1586.
- 1022. Park SJ, Park DW, Kim YH, Kang SJ, Lee SW, Lee CW, et al. Duration of dual antiplatelet therapy after implantation of drug-eluting stents. N Engl J Med 2010; 362: 1374–1382.
- 1023. Tada T, Natsuaki M, Morimoto T, Furukawa Y, Nakagawa Y, Byrne RA, et al. Duration of dual antiplatelet therapy and long-term clinical outcome after coronary drug-eluting stent implantation: Landmark analyses from the CREDO-Kyoto PCI/CABG Registry Cohort-2. *Circ Cardiovasc Interv* 2012; 5: 381–391.
- 1024. Costa F, van Klaveren D, James S, Heg D, R\u00e4ber L, Feres F, et al. Derivation and validation of the predicting bleeding complications in patients undergoing stent implantation and subsequent dual antiplatelet therapy (PRECISE-DAPT) score: A pooled analysis of individual-patient datasets from clinical trials. *Lancet* 2017; **389**: 1025–1034.
- 1025. Yeh RW, Secemsky EA, Kereiakes DJ, Normand SL, Gershlick AH, Cohen DJ, et al; DAPT Study Investigators. Development and validation of a prediction rule for benefit and harm of dual antiplatelet therapy beyond 1 year after percutaneous coronary intervention. JAMA 2016; **315**: 1735–1749.
- 1026. Natsuaki M, Morimoto T, Yamaji K, Watanabe H, Yoshikawa Y, Shiomi H, et al. Prediction of thrombotic and bleeding events after percutaneous coronary intervention: CREDO-Kyoto

thrombotic and bleeding risk scores. *J Am Heart Assoc* 2018; **7:** e008708.

- 1027. Kirchhof P, Benussi S, Kotecha D, Ahlsson A, Atar D, Casadei B, et al. 2016 ESC guidelines for the management of atrial fibrillation developed in collaboration with EACTS. *Eur Heart J* 2016; 37: 2893–2962.
- 1028. Okumura Y, Yokoyama K, Matsumoto N, Tachibana E, Kuronuma K, Oiwa K, et al. Current use of direct oral anticoagulants for atrial fibrillation in Japan: Findings from the SAKURA AF Registry. J Arrhythm 2017; 33: 289–296.
- 1029. Sutton NR, Seth M, Ruwende C, Gurm HS. Outcomes of patients with atrial fibrillation undergoing percutaneous coronary intervention. *J Am Coll Cardiol* 2016; 68: 895–904.
 1030. Dewilde WJ, Oirbans T, Verheugt FW, Kelder JC, De Smet BJ,
- 1030. Dewilde WJ, Oirbans T, Verheugt FW, Kelder JC, De Smet BJ, Herrman JP, et al. Use of clopidogrel with or without aspirin in patients taking oral anticoagulant therapy and undergoing percutaneous coronary intervention: An open-label, randomised, controlled trial. *Lancet* 2013; **381:** 1107–1115.
- 1031. Gibson CM, Mehran R, Bode C, Halperin J, Verheugt FW, Wildgoose P, et al. Prevention of bleeding in patients with atrial fibrillation undergoing PCI. N Engl J Med 2016; 375: 2423– 2434.
- 1032. Cannon CP, Bhatt DL, Oldgren J, Lip GYH, Ellis SG, Kimura T, et al. Dual antithrombotic therapy with dabigatran after PCI in atrial fibrillation. N Engl J Med 2017; 377: 1513–1524.
- 1033. Angiolillo DJ, Goodman SG, Bhatt DL, Eikelboom JW, Price MJ, Moliterno DJ, et al. Antithrombotic therapy in patients with atrial fibrillation treated with oral anticoagulation undergoing percutaneous coronary intervention: A North American perspective 2018 update. *Circulation* 2018; 138: 527–536.
- 1034. Steffel J, Verhamme P, Potpara TS, Albaladejo P, Antz M, Desteghe L, et al. The 2018 European Heart Rhythm Association practical guide on the use of non-vitamin K antagonist oral anticoagulants in patients with atrial fibrillation. *Eur Heart J* 2018; **39**: 1330–1393.
- 1035. Roffi M, Patrono C, Collet JP, Mueller C, Valgimigli M, Andreotti F, et al. 2015 ESC Guidelines for the management of acute coronary syndromes in patients presenting without persistent ST-segment elevation: Task Force for the Management of Acute Coronary Syndromes in Patients Presenting without Persistent ST-Segment Elevation of the European Society of Cardiology (ESC). Eur Heart J 2016; 37: 267–315.
- 1036. Giustino G, Chieffo A, Palmerini T, Valgimigli M, Feres F, Abizaid A, et al. Efficacy and safety of dual antiplatelet therapy after complex PCI. J Am Coll Cardiol 2016; 68: 1851–1864.
- 1037. Pantely GA, Goodnight SH, Rahimtoola SH, Harlan BJ, DeMots H, Calvin L, et al. Failure of antiplatelet and anticoagulant therapy to improve patency of grafts after coronary-artery bypass: A controlled, randomized study. *N Engl J Med* 1979; **301**: 962–966.
- 1038. McEnany MT, Salzman EW, Mundth ED, DeSanctis RW, Harthorne JW, Weintraub RM, et al. The effect of antithrombotic therapy on patency rates of saphenous vein coronary artery bypass grafts. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 1982; 83: 81–89.
- 1039. Gohlke H, Gohlke-Bärwolf C, Stürzenhofecker P, Görnandt L, Ritter B, Reichelt M, et al. Improved graft patency with anticoagulant therapy after aortocoronary bypass surgery: A prospective, randomized study. *Circulation* 1981; 64: II-22–II-27.
- 1040. Fremes SE, Levinton C, Naylor CD, Chen E, Christakis GT, Goldman BS. Optimal antithrombotic therapy following aortocoronary bypass: A meta-analysis. *Eur J Cardiothorac* Surg 1993; 7: 169–180.
- 1041. Post Coronary Artery Bypass Graft Trial Investigators. The effect of aggressive lowering of low-density lipoprotein cholesterol levels and low-dose anticoagulation on obstructive changes in saphenous-vein coronary-artery bypass grafts. N Engl J Med 1997; 336: 153–162.
- 1042. Rothberg MB, Celestin C, Fiore LD, Lawler E, Cook JR. Warfarin plus aspirin after myocardial infarction or the acute coronary syndrome: Meta-analysis with estimates of risk and benefit. Ann Intern Med 2005; 143: 241–250.
- 1043. Anderson E, Dyke C, Levy JH. Anticoagulation strategies for the management of postoperative atrial fibrillation. *Clin Lab Med* 2014; 34: 537–561.
- 1044. Fuster V, Dyken ML, Vokonas PS, Hennekens C. Aspirin as a therapeutic agent in cardiovascular disease. Special Writing Group. *Circulation* 1993; **87:** 659–675.
- 1045. Antithrombotic Trialists' Collaboration. Collaborative meta-analysis of randomised trials of antiplatelet therapy for

prevention of death, myocardial infarction, and stroke in high risk patients. *BMJ* 2002; **324:** 71–86.

- 1046. Kulik A, Chan V, Ruel M. Antiplatelet therapy and coronary artery bypass graft surgery: Perioperative safety and efficacy. *Expert Opin Drug Saf* 2009; 8: 169–182.
 1047. Chesebro JH, Clements IP, Fuster V, Elveback LR, Smith HC,
- 1047. Chesebro JH, Clements IP, Fuster V, Elveback LR, Smith HC, Bardsley WT, et al. A platelet-inhibitor-drug trial in coronaryartery bypass operations: Benefit of perioperative dipyridamole and aspirin therapy on early postoperative vein-graft patency. *N Engl J Med* 1982; **307:** 73–78.
- 1048. Goldman S, Copeland J, Moritz T, Henderson W, Zadina K, Ovitt T, et al. Internal mammary artery and saphenous vein graft patency: Effects of aspirin. *Circulation* 1990; 82(Suppl): IV-237–IV-242.
- 1049. Mangano DT, Multicenter Study of Perioperative Ischemia Research Group. Aspirin and mortality from coronary bypass surgery. N Engl J Med 2002; 347: 1309–1317.
- 1050. Bybee KA, Powell BD, Valeti U, Rosales AG, Kopecky SL, Mullany C, et al. Preoperative aspirin therapy is associated with improved postoperative outcomes in patients undergoing coronary artery bypass grafting. *Circulation* 2005; **112**(Suppl): I-286–I-292.
- 1051. Sharma GV, Khuri SF, Josa M, Folland ED, Parisi AF. The effect of antiplatelet therapy on saphenous vein coronary artery bypass graft patency. *Circulation* 1983; 68: II-218–II-221.
- 1052. Goldman S, Copeland J, Moritz T, Henderson W, Zadina K, Ovitt T, et al. Improvement in early saphenous vein graft patency after coronary artery bypass surgery with antiplatelet therapy: Results of a Veterans Administration Cooperative Study. *Circulation* 1988; 77: 1324–1332.
- 1053. Kulik A, Ruel M, Jneid H, Ferguson TB, Hiratzka LF, Ikonomidis JS, et al. Secondary prevention after coronary artery bypass graft surgery: A scientific statement from the American Heart Association. *Circulation* 2015; **131**: 927–964.
- 1054. Yusuf S, Zhao F, Mehta SR, Chrolavicius S, Tognoni G, Fox KK, et al. Effects of clopidogrel in addition to aspirin in patients with acute coronary syndromes without ST-segment elevation. N Engl J Med 2001; 345: 494–502.
- 1055. Steinhubl SR, Berger PB, Mann JT 3rd, Fry ET, DeLago A, Wilmer C, et al. Early and sustained dual oral antiplatelet therapy following percutaneous coronary intervention: A randomized controlled trial. JAMA 2002; 288: 2411–2420.
- 1056. Sun JC, Teoh KH, Lamy A, Sheth T, Ellins ML, Jung H, et al. Randomized trial of aspirin and clopidogrel versus aspirin alone for the prevention of coronary artery bypass graft occlusion: The Preoperative Aspirin and Postoperative Antiplatelets in Coronary Artery Bypass Grafting Study. *Am Heart J* 2010; **160**: 1178– 1184.
- 1057. Gao G, Zheng Z, Pi Y, Lu B, Lu J, Hu S. Aspirin plus clopidogrel therapy increases early venous graft patency after coronary artery bypass surgery a single-center, randomized, controlled trial. J Am Coll Cardiol 2010; 56: 1639–1643.
- 1058. Kulik A, Le May MR, Voisine P, Tardif JC, Delarochelliere R, Naidoo S, et al. Aspirin plus clopidogrel versus aspirin alone after coronary artery bypass grafting: The Clopidogrel After Surgery for Coronary Artery DiseasE (CASCADE) trial. *Circulation* 2010; **122**: 2680–2687.
- 1059. Deo SV, Dunlay SM, Shah IK, Altarabsheh SE, Erwin PJ, Boilson BA, et al. Dual anti-platelet therapy after coronary artery bypass grafting: Is there any benefit?: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *J Card Surg* 2013; **28**: 109–116.
- 1060. Nocerino AG, Achenbach S, Taylor AJ. Meta-analysis of effect of single versus dual antiplatelet therapy on early patency of bypass conduits after coronary artery bypass grafting. *Am J Cardiol* 2013; **112**: 1576–1579.
- 1061. Une D, Al-Atassi T, Kulik A, Voisine P, Le May M, Ruel M. Impact of clopidogrel plus aspirin versus aspirin alone on the progression of native coronary artery disease after bypass surgery: Analysis from the Clopidogrel After Surgery for Coronary Artery DiseasE (CASCADE) randomized trial. *Circulation* 2014; **130**(Suppl 1): S12–S18.
- 1062. Hage A, Voisine P, Erthal F, Larose É, Glineur D, Chow B, et al. Eight-year follow-up of the Clopidogrel After Surgery for Coronary Artery DiseasE (CASCADE) trial. *J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg* 2018; 155: 212–222.e2.
 1063. Daida H, Yokoi H, Miyano H, Mokuno H, Satoh H, Kottke
- 1063. Daida H, Yokoi H, Miyano H, Mokuno H, Satoh H, Kottke TE, et al. Relation of saphenous vein graft obstruction to serum cholesterol levels. J Am Coll Cardiol 1995; 25: 193–197.
- 1064. Campeau L, Enjalbert M, Lespérance J, Bourassa MG, Kwiterovich P, Wacholder S, et al. The relation of risk factors

to the development of atherosclerosis in saphenous-vein bypass grafts and the progression of disease in the native circulation. A study 10 years after aortocoronary bypass surgery. *N Engl J Med* 1984; **311:** 1329–1332.

- 1065. Kulik A, Voisine P, Mathieu P, Masters RG, Mesana TG, Le May MR, et al. Statin therapy and saphenous vein graft disease after coronary bypass surgery: Analysis from the CASCADE randomized trial. *Ann Thorac Surg* 2011; **92**: 1284–1290.
- 1066. Yang Z, Kozai T, van der Loo B, Viswambharan H, Lachat M, Turina MI, et al. HMG-CoA reductase inhibition improves endothelial cell function and inhibits smooth muscle cell proliferation in human saphenous veins. J Am Coll Cardiol 2000; 36: 1691–1697.
- 1067. Indolfi C, Cioppa A, Stabile E, Di Lorenzo E, Esposito G, Pisani A, et al. Effects of hydroxymethylglutaryl coenzyme A reductase inhibitor simvastatin on smooth muscle cell proliferation in vitro and neointimal formation in vivo after vascular injury. *J Am Coll Cardiol* 2000; **35**: 214–221.
- 1068. Cholesterol Treatment Trialists' (CTT) Collaboration, Baigent C, Blackwell L, Emberson J, Holland LE, Reith C, et al. Efficacy and safety of more intensive lowering of LDL cholesterol: A meta-analysis of data from 170,000 participants in 26 randomised trials. *Lancet* 2010; **376**: 1670–1681.
- 1069. Kulik A, Brookhart MA, Levin R, Ruel M, Solomon DH, Choudhry NK. Impact of statin use on outcomes after coronary artery bypass graft surgery. *Circulation* 2008; **118**: 1785–1792.
 1070. Aihara K, Miyauchi K, Kasai T, Kubota N, Kajimoto K,
- 1070. Aihara K, Miyauchi K, Kasai T, Kubota N, Kajimoto K, Tamura H, et al. Long-term efficacy of pravastatin therapy in diabetic patients undergoing complete coronary revascularization. *J Atheroscler Thromb* 2010; **17:** 350–355.
- 1071. Gan HL, Zhang JQ, Bo P, Wang SX, Lu CS. Statins decrease adverse outcomes in coronary artery bypass for extensive coronary artery disease as well as left main coronary stenosis. *Cardiovasc Ther* 2010; 28: 70–79.
- 1072. Collard CD, Body SC, Shernan SK, Wang S, Mangano DT, Multicenter Study of Perioperative Ischemia (MCSPI) Research Group Inc., et al. Preoperative statin therapy is associated with reduced cardiac mortality after coronary artery bypass graft surgery. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 2006; 132: 392–400.
- 1073. Billings FT, Pretorius M, Siew ED, Yu C, Brown NJ. Early postoperative statin therapy is associated with a lower incidence of acute kidney injury after cardiac surgery. J Cardiothorac Vasc Anesth 2010; 24: 913–920.
- 1074. Le Manach Y, Godet G, Coriat P, Martinon C, Bertrand M, Fléron MH, et al. The impact of postoperative discontinuation or continuation of chronic statin therapy on cardiac outcome after major vascular surgery. *Anesth Analg* 2007; **104**: 1326–1333.
- 1075. Frick MH, Syvänne M, Nieminen MS, Kauma H, Majahalme S, Virtanen V, et al. Prevention of the angiographic progression of coronary and vein-graft atherosclerosis by gemfibrozil after coronary bypass surgery in men with low levels of HDL cholesterol. Lopid Coronary Angiography Trial (LOCAT) Study Group. Circulation 1997; 96: 2137–2143.
- 1076. Jones PH, Davidson MH. Reporting rate of rhabdomyolysis with fenofibrate+statin versus gemfibrozil+any statin. *Am J Cardiol* 2005; **95**: 120–122.
- 1077. Bottorff MB. Statin safety and drug interactions: Clinical implications. *Am J Cardiol* 2006; **97**(Suppl): 27C-31C.
- 1078. Lazar HL. Role of statin therapy in the coronary bypass patient. Ann Thorac Surg 2004; **78**: 730-740.
- 1079. McFarlane SI, Muniyappa R, Francisco R, Sowers JR. Clinical review 145: Pleiotropic effects of statins: Lipid reduction and beyond. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2002; 87: 1451–1458.
- 1080. Werba JP, Tremoli E, Massironi P, Camera M, Cannata A, Alamanni F, et al. Statins in coronary bypass surgery: Rationale and clinical use. *Ann Thorac Surg* 2003; 76: 2132–2140.
- 1081. Cimino M, Gelosa P, Gianella A, Nobili E, Tremoli E, Sironi L. Statins: Multiple mechanisms of action in the ischemic brain. *Neuroscientist* 2007; **13**: 208–213.
- 1082. Merla R, Daher IN, Ye Y, Uretsky BF, Birnbaum Y. Pretreatment with statins may reduce cardiovascular morbidity and mortality after elective surgery and percutaneous coronary intervention: Clinical evidence and possible underlying mechanisms. *Am Heart J* 2007; **154**: 391–402.
- 1083. Catapano AL, Graham I, De Backer G, Wiklund O, Chapman MJ, Drexel H, et al. 2016 ESC/EAS guidelines for the management of dyslipidaemias. *Eur Heart J* 2016; **37:** 2999–3058.
- 1084. Shah SJ, Waters DD, Barter P, Kastelein JJ, Shepherd J, Wenger NK, et al. Intensive lipid-lowering with atorvastatin for secondary prevention in patients after coronary artery bypass

surgery. J Am Coll Cardiol 2008; 51: 1938-1943.

- 1085. Cholesterol Treatment Trialists' (CTT) Collaboration, Fulcher J, O'Connell R, Voysey M, Emberson J, Blackwell L, et al. Efficacy and safety of LDL-lowering therapy among men and women: Meta-analysis of individual data from 174,000 participants in 27 randomised trials. *Lancet* 2015; **385**: 1397–1405.
- 1086. Hata M, Takayama T, Sezai A, Yoshitake I, Hirayama A, Minami K. Efficacy of aggressive lipid controlling therapy for preventing saphenous vein graft disease. *Ann Thorac Surg* 2009; 88: 1440–1444.
- 1087. Ballantyne CM, Houri J, Notarbartolo A, Melani L, Lipka LJ, Suresh R, et al. Effect of ezetimibe coadministered with atorvastatin in 628 patients with primary hypercholesterolemia: A prospective, randomized, double-blind trial. *Circulation* 2003; **107**: 2409–2415.
- 1088. Seo SM, Choo EH, Koh YS, Park MW, Shin DI, Choi YS, et al. High-density lipoprotein cholesterol as a predictor of clinical outcomes in patients achieving low-density lipoprotein cholesterol targets with statins after percutaneous coronary intervention. *Heart* 2011; 97: 1943–1950.
- 1089. Crystal E, Garfinkle MS, Connolly SS, Ginger TT, Sleik K, Yusuf SS. Interventions for preventing post-operative atrial fibrillation in patients undergoing heart surgery. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev* 2004; 4: CD003611.
- 1090. Khan MF, Wendel CS, Movahed MR. Prevention of postcoronary artery bypass grafting (CABG) atrial fibrillation: Efficacy of prophylactic beta-blockers in the modern era: A meta-analysis of latest randomized controlled trials. *Ann Noninvas Electrocardiol* 2013; **18**: 58–68.
- 1091. Connolly SJ, Cybulsky I, Lamy A, Roberts RS, O'Brien B, Carroll S, et al. Double-blind, placebo-controlled, randomized trial of prophylactic metoprolol for reduction of hospital length of stay after heart surgery: The β -Blocker Length Of Stay (BLOS) study. *Am Heart J* 2003; **145**: 226–232.
- 1092. Blessberger H, Kammler J, Domanovits H, Schlager O, Wildner B, Azar D, et al. Perioperative beta-blockers for preventing surgery-related mortality and morbidity. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev* 2014; 9: CD004476.
- 1093. Brinkman W, Herbert MA, O'Brien S, Filardo G, Prince S, Dewey T, et al. Preoperative β-blocker use in coronary artery bypass grafting surgery: National database analysis. JAMA Intern Med 2014; **174**: 1320–1327.
- 1094. Packer M, Coats AJ, Fowler MB, Katus HA, Krum H, Mohacsi P, et al. Effect of carvedilol on survival in severe chronic heart failure. *N Engl J Med* 2001; **344**: 1651–1658.
- 1095. Dargie HJ. Effect of carvedilol on outcome after myocardial infarction in patients with left-ventricular dysfunction: The CAPRICORN randomised trial. *Lancet* 2001; 357: 1385–1390.
- 1096. Pfeffer MA, Braunwald E, Moyé LA, Basta L, Brown EJ Jr, Cuddy TE, et al. Effect of captopril on mortality and morbidity in patients with left ventricular dysfunction after myocardial infarction: Results of the survival and ventricular enlargement trial. *N Engl J Med* 1992; **327**: 669–677.
- 1097. SOLVD Investigators, Yusuf S, Pitt B, Davis CE, Hood WB, Cohn JN. Effect of enalapril on survival in patients with reduced left ventricular ejection fractions and congestive heart failure. N Engl J Med 1991; 325: 293–302.
- 1098. Levine GN, Bates ER, Blankenship JC, Bailey SR, Bittl JA, Cercek B, et al. 2011 ACCF/AHA/SCAI guideline for percutaneous coronary intervention: A report of the American College of Cardiology Foundation/American Heart Association Task Force on Practice Guidelines and the Society for Cardiovascular Angiography and Interventions. J Am Coll Cardiol 2011; 58: e44–e122.
- 1099. Harold JG, Bass TA, Bashore TM, Brindis RG, Brush JE, Burke JA, et al. ACCF/AHA/SCAI 2013 update of the clinical competence statement on coronary artery interventional procedures: A report of the American College of Cardiology Foundation/American Heart Association/American College of Physicians Task Force on Clinical Competence and Training (Writing Committee to Revise the 2007 Clinical Competence Statement on Cardiac Interventional Procedures). J Am Coll Cardiol 2013; 62: 357–396.
- 1100. Post PN, Kuijpers M, Ebels T, Zijlstra F. The relation between volume and outcome of coronary interventions: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Eur Heart J* 2010; **31**: 1985–1992.
- 1101. Badheka AO, Patel NJ, Grover P, Singh V, Patel N, Arora S, et al. Impact of annual operator and institutional volume on percutaneous coronary intervention outcomes: A 5-year United States experience (2005–2009). *Circulation* 2014; **130**: 1392–1406.

- 1102. O'Neill D, Nicholas O, Gale CP, Ludman P, de Belder MA, Timmis A, et al. Total center percutaneous coronary intervention volume and 30-day mortality: A contemporary national cohort study of 427 467 elective, urgent, and emergency cases. *Circ Cardiovasc Qual Outcomes* 2017; **10**: e003186.
- 1103. Inohara T, Kohsaka S, Yamaji K, Amano T, Fujii K, Oda H, et al. Impact of institutional and operator volume on short-term outcomes of percutaneous coronary intervention: A report from the Japanese Nationwide Registry. JACC Cardiovasc Interv 2017; 10: 918–927.
- 1104. Committee for Scientific Affairs, Kazui T, Osada H, Fujita H. An attempt to analyze the relation between hospital surgical volume and clinical outcome. *Gen Thorac Cardiovasc Surg* 2007; 55: 483–492.
- 1105. Sakata R, Kuwano H, Yokomise H. Hospital volume and outcomes of cardiothoracic surgery in Japan: 2005–2009 national survey. *Gen Thorac Cardiovasc Surg* 2012; 60: 625–638.
- 1106. Miyata H, Motomura N, Ueda Y, Matsuda H, Takamoto S. Effect of procedural volume on outcome of coronary artery bypass graft surgery in Japan: Implication toward public reporting and minimal volume standards. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 2008; 135: 1306–1312.
- 1107. Takura T, Tachibana K, Isshiki T, Sumitsuji S, Kuroda T, Mizote I, et al. Preliminary report on a cost-utility analysis of revascularization by percutaneous coronary intervention for ischemic heart disease. *Cardiovasc Interv Ther* 2017; **32**: 127–136.
- 1108. Weintraub WS, Boden WE, Zhang Z, Kolm P, Zhang Z, Spertus JA, et al. Cost-effectiveness of percutaneous coronary intervention in optimally treated stable coronary patients. *Circ Cardiovasc Qual Outcomes* 2008; 1: 12–20.
- 1109. Ferko N, Ferrante G, Hasegawa JT, Schikorr T, Soleas IM, Hernandez JB, et al. Cost-effectiveness of percutaneous coronary intervention with cobalt–chromium everolimus eluting stents versus bare metal stents: Results from a patient level meta-analysis of randomized trials. *Catheter Cardiovasc Interv* 2017; 89: 994–1002.
- 1110. Amin AP, Reynolds MR, Lei Y, Magnuson EA, Vilain K, Durtschi AJ, et al. Cost-effectiveness of everolimus-versus paclitaxel-eluting stents for patients undergoing percutaneous coronary revascularization (from the SPIRIT-IV Trial). Am J Cardiol 2012; 110: 765–770.
- 1111. Stone GW, Rizvi A, Newman W, Mastali K, Wang JC, Caputo R, et al. Everolimus-eluting versus paclitaxel-eluting stents in coronary artery disease. N Engl J Med 2010; 362: 1663–1674.
- 1112. Stone GW, Rizvi A, Sudhir K, Newman W, Applegate RJ, Cannon LA, et al. Randomized comparison of everolimus- and paclitaxel-eluting stents. 2-year follow-up from the SPIRIT (Clinical Evaluation of the XIENCE V Everolimus Eluting Coronary Stent System) IV trial. J Am Coll Cardiol 2011; 58: 19–25.
- 1113. Serruys PW, Morice MC, Kappetein AP, Colombo A, Holmes DR, Mack MJ, et al. Percutaneous coronary intervention versus coronary-artery bypass grafting for severe coronary artery disease. *N Engl J Med* 2009; **360**: 961–972.
- 1114. Cohen DJ, Osnabrugge RL, Magnuson EA, Wang K, Li H, Chinnakondepalli K, et al. Cost-effectiveness of percutaneous coronary intervention with drug-eluting stents versus bypass surgery for patients with 3-vessel or left main coronary artery disease: Final results from the Synergy between Percutaneous Coronary Intervention With TAXUS and Cardiac Surgery (SYNTAX) trial. Circulation 2014; 130: 1146–1157.
- 1115. Osnabrugge RL, Magnuson EA, Serruys PW, Campos CM, Wang K, van Klaveren D, et al. Cost-effectiveness of percutaneous coronary intervention versus bypass surgery from a Dutch perspective. *Heart* 2015; **101**: 1980–1988.
- 1116. Magnuson EA, Farkouh ME, Fuster V, Wang K, Vilain K, Li H, et al. Cost-effectiveness of percutaneous coronary intervention with drug eluting stents versus bypass surgery for patients with diabetes mellitus and multivessel coronary artery disease: Results from the FREEDOM Trial. *Circulation* 2013; **127**: 820–831.
- 1117. Hueb W, Soares PR, Gersh BJ, César LA, Luz PL, Puig LB, et al. The Medicine, Angioplasty, or Surgery Study (MASS-II): A randomized, controlled clinical trial of three therapeutic strategies for multivessel coronary artery disease: One-year results. J Am Coll Cardiol 2004; 43: 1743–1751.
- 1118. Hueb W, Lopes NH, Gersh BJ, Soares P, Machado LA, Jatene FB, et al. Five-year follow-up of the Medicine, Angioplasty, or Surgery Study (MASS II): A randomized controlled clinical trial of 3 therapeutic strategies for multivessel coronary artery

disease. Circulation 2007; 115: 1082-1089.

- 1119. Vieira RD, Hueb W, Hlatky M, Favarato D, Rezende PC, Garzillo CL, et al. Cost-effectiveness analysis for surgical, angioplasty, or medical therapeutics for coronary artery disease: 5-year follow-up of Medicine, Angioplasty, or Surgery Study (MASS) II trial. *Circulation* 2012; **126**(Suppl 1): S145–S150.
- 1120. Zhang Z, Kolm P, Grau-Sepulveda MV, Ponirakis A, O'Brien SM, Klein LW, et al. Cost-effectiveness of revascularization strategies: The ASCERT study. J Am Coll Cardiol 2015; 65: 1–11.
- 1121. Sedlis SP, Hartigan PM, Teo KK, Maron DJ, Spertus JA, Mancini GB, et al. Effect of PCI on long-term survival in patients with stable ischemic heart disease. N Engl J Med 2015; 373: 1937–1946.
- 1122. Patel MR, Dehmer GJ, Hirshfeld JW, Smith PK, Spertus JA, American College of Cardiology Foundation Appropriateness Criteria Task Force, et al. ACCF/SCAI/STS/AATS/AHA/ASNC 2009 appropriateness criteria for coronary revascularization: A report by the American College of Cardiology Foundation Appropriateness Criteria Task Force, Society for Cardiovascular Angiography and Interventions, Society of Thoracic Surgeons, American Association for Thoracic Surgery, American Heart Association, and the American Society of Nuclear Cardiology Endorsed by the American Society of Echocardiography, the Heart Failure Society of America, and the Society of Cardio vascular Computed Tomography. J Am Coll Cardiol 2009; 53: 530–553.
- 1123. Patel MR, Dehmer GJ, Hirshfeld JW, Smith PK, Spertus JA. ACCF/SCAI/STS/AATS/AHA/ASNC/HFSA/SCCT 2012 appropriate use criteria for coronary revascularization focused update: A report of the American College of Cardiology Foundation Appropriate Use Criteria Task Force, Society for Cardiovascular Angiography and Interventions, Society of Thoracic Surgeons, American Association for Thoracic Surgery, American Heart Association, American Society of Nuclear Cardiology, and the Society of Cardiovascular Computed Tomography. J Am Coll Cardiol 2012; **59**: 857–881.
- 1124. Patel MR, Calhoon JH, Dehmer GJ, Grantham JA, Maddox TM, Maron DJ, et al. ACC/AATS/AHA/ASE/ASNC/SCAI/SCCT/ STS 2016 appropriate use criteria for coronary revascularization in patients with acute coronary syndromes: A report of the American College of Cardiology Appropriate Use Criteria Task Force, American Association for Thoracic Surgery, American Heart Association, American Society of Echocardiography, American Society of Nuclear Cardiology, Society for Cardiovascular Angiography and Interventions, Society of Cardiovascular Computed Tomography, and the Society of Thoracic Surgeons. J Am Coll Cardiol 2017; 69: 570–591.
 1125. Chan PS, Patel MR, Klein LW, Krone RJ, Dehmer GJ,
- 1125. Chan PS, Patel MR, Klein LW, Krone RJ, Dehmer GJ, Kennedy K, et al. Appropriateness of percutaneous coronary intervention. JAMA 2011; 306: 53–61.
- 1126. Desai NR, Bradley SM, Parzynski CS, Nallamothu BK, Chan PS, Spertus JA, et al. Appropriate use criteria for coronary revascularization and trends in utilization, patient selection, and appropriateness of percutaneous coronary intervention. JAMA 2015; 314: 2045–2053.
- 1127. Inohara T, Kohsaka S, Miyata H, Ueda I, Ishikawa S, Ohki T, et al. Appropriateness ratings of percutaneous coronary intervention in Japan and its association with the trend of noninvasive testing. JACC Cardiovasc Interv 2014; 7: 1000–1009.
- 1128. Inohara T, Kohsaka S, Ueda I, Yagi T, Numasawa Y, Suzuki M, et al. Application of appropriate use criteria for percutaneous coronary intervention in Japan. *World J Cardiol* 2016; 8: 456–463.
- 1129. Inohara T, Kohsaka S, Miyata H, et al. Appropriateness of coronary interventions in Japan by the US and Japanese standards. *Am Heart J* 2014; **168**: 854–861.e11.
- 1130. Nishigaki K, Yamazaki T, Kitabatake A, Yamaguchi T, Kanmatsuse K, Kodama I, et al. Percutaneous coronary intervention plus medical therapy reduces the incidence of acute coronary syndrome more effectively than initial medical therapy only among patients with low-risk coronary artery disease a randomized, comparative, multicenter study. JACC Cardiovasc Interv 2008; 1: 469–479.
- 1131. JCS Joint Working Group. Guidelines for elective percutaneous coronary intervention in patients with stable coronary artery disease (JCS 2011) published in 2012: Digest version. *Circ J* 2013; **77**: 1590–1607.
- 1132. Wald DS, Morris JK, Wald NJ, Chase AJ, Edwards RJ, Hughes LO, et al. Randomized trial of preventive angioplasty in myocardial infarction. *N Engl J Med* 2013; 369: 1115–1123.

- 1133. Medical Economics Division, Health Insurance Bureau, Ministry of Health, Labour and Welfare. Overview of 2018 medical service fee revision, Medical II [in Japanese]. https://www.mhlw. go.jp/file/06-Seisakujouhou-12400000-Hokenkyoku/0000197984. pdf (accessed March 3, 2021).
- 1134. Nakao K. Evaluation of appropriateness for coronary revascularization. J Jpn Coron Assoc 2018; 24: 84–88.
- 1135. Weisz G, Metzger DC, Caputo RP, Delgado JA, Marshall JJ, Vetrovec GW, et al. Safety and feasibility of robotic percutaneous coronary intervention: PRECISE (Percutaneous Robotically-Enhanced Coronary Intervention) Study. J Am Coll Cardiol 2013; 61: 1596–1600.
- 1136. Mahmud E, Naghi J, Ang L, Harrison J, Behnamfar O, Pourdjabbar A, et al. Demonstration of the safety and feasibility of robotically assisted percutaneous coronary intervention in complex coronary lesions: Results of the CORA-PCI study (Complex Robotically Assisted Percutaneous Coronary Intervention). JACC Cardiovasc Interv 2017; 10: 1320–1327.
- 1137. Kapur V, Smilowitz NR, Weisz G. Complex robotic-enhanced percutaneous coronary intervention. *Catheter Cardiovasc Interv* 2014; 83: 915–921.
- 1138. Bezerra HG, Mehanna E, W Vetrovec G, A Costa M, Weisz G. Longitudinal geographic miss (LGM) in robotic assisted versus manual percutaneous coronary interventions. *J Interv Cardiol* 2015; 28: 449–455.
- 1139. Harskamp RE. Current state and future direction of hybrid coronary revascularization. *Curr Opin Cardiol* 2015; **30**: 643–649.
- 1140. Harskamp RE, Zheng Z, Alexander JH, Williams JB, Xian Y, Halkos ME, et al. Status quo of hybrid coronary revascularization for multi-vessel coronary artery disease. *Ann Thorac Surg* 2013; 96: 2268–2277.
- 1141. Gosev I, Leacche M. Hybrid coronary revascularization: The future of coronary artery bypass surgery or an unfulfilled promise? *Circulation* 2014; **130**: 869–871.
- 1142. Weintraub WS, Grau-Sepulveda MV, Weiss JM, O'Brien SM, Peterson ED, Kolm P, et al. Comparative effectiveness of revascularization strategies. *N Engl J Med* 2012; **366**: 1467–1476.
- 1143. Shahian DM, O'Brien SM, Sheng S, Grover FL, Mayer JE, Jacobs JP, et al. Predictors of long-term survival after coronary artery bypass grafting surgery: Results from the Society of Thoracic Surgeons Adult Cardiac Surgery Database (the ASCERT study). *Circulation* 2012; **125**: 1491–1500.
- 1144. Bonatti J, Lehr E, Vesely MR, Friedrich G, Bonaros N, Zimrin D. Hybrid coronary revascularization: Which patients? When? How? Curr Opin Cardiol 2010; 25: 568–574.
- 1145. Repossini A, Tespili M, Saino A, Di Bacco L, Giroletti L, Rosati F, et al. Hybrid coronary revascularization in 100 patients with multivessel coronary disease. *Ann Thorac Surg* 2014; **98**: 574–580.
- 1146. Avgerinos DV, Charitakis K. Hybrid coronary revascularization: Present and future. *Hellenic J Cardiol* 2015; **56**: 193–196.
- 1147. Harskamp RE, Puskas JD, Tijssen JG, Walker PF, Liberman HA, Lopes RD, et al. Comparison of hybrid coronary revascularization versus coronary artery bypass grafting in patients ≥65 years with multivessel coronary artery disease. Am J Cardiol 2014; 114: 224–229.
- 1148. Harskamp RE, Bagai A, Halkos ME, Rao SV, Bachinsky WB, Patel MR, et al. Clinical outcomes after hybrid coronary revascularization versus coronary artery bypass surgery: A meta-analysis of 1,190 patients. *Am Heart J* 2014; 167: 585–592.
- 1149. Panoulas VF, Colombo A, Margonato A, Maisano F. Hybrid coronary revascularization: Promising, but yet to take off. J Am Coll Cardiol 2015; 65: 85–97.
- 1150. Saha T, Naqvi SY, Goldberg S. Hybrid revascularization: A review. Cardiology 2018; **140**: 35–44.
- 1151. Harskamp RE, Vassiliades TA, Mehta RH, de Winter RJ, Lopes RD, Xian Y, et al. Comparative effectiveness of hybrid coronary revascularization vs coronary artery bypass grafting. *J Am Coll Surg* 2015; **221**: 326–334.e1.
- 1152. Rosenblum JM, Harskamp RE, Hoedemaker N, Walker P, Liberman HA, de Winter RJ, et al. Hybrid coronary revascularization versus coronary artery bypass surgery with bilateral or single internal mammary artery grafts. *J Thorac Cardiovasc* Surg 2016; **151**: 1081–1089.
- 1153. Phan K, Wong S, Wang N, Phan S, Yan TD. Hybrid coronary revascularization versus coronary artery bypass surgery: Systematic review and meta-analysis. *Int J Cardiol* 2015; **179**: 484–488.
- 1154. Gasior M, Zembala MO, Tajstra M, Filipiak K, Gierlotka M, Hrapkowicz T, et al. Hybrid revascularization for multivessel coronary artery disease. JACC Cardiovasc Interv 2014; 7: 1277–

1283.

- 1155. Tajstra M, Hrapkowicz T, Hawranek M, Filipiak K, Gierlotka M, Zembala M, et al. Hybrid coronary revascularization in selected patients with multivessel disease: 5-Year clinical outcomes of the prospective randomized pilot study. *JACC Cardiovasc Interv* 2018; **11**: 847–852.
- 1156. Puskas JD, Halkos ME, DeRose JJ, Bagiella E, Miller MA, Overbey J, et al. Hybrid coronary revascularization for the treatment of multivessel coronary artery disease: A multicenter observational study. J Am Coll Cardiol 2016; 68: 356–365.
- 1157. Ejiofor JI, Leacche M, Byrne JG. Robotic CABG and hybrid approaches: The current landscape. *Prog Cardiovasc Dis* 2015; 58: 356–364.
- 1158. Adams C, Burns DJ, Chu MW, Jones PM, Shridar K, Teefy P, et al. Single-stage hybrid coronary revascularization with longterm follow-up. *Eur J Cardiothorac Surg* 2014; 45: 438–442.
- 1159. Kiaii B, McClure RS, Stewart P, Rayman R, Swinamer SA, Suematsu Y, et al. Simultaneous integrated coronary artery revascularization with long-term angiographic follow-up. *J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg* 2008; **136**: 702–708.
- 1160. Calafiore AM, Giammarco GD, Teodori G, Bosco G, D'Annunzio E, Barsotti A, et al. Left anterior descending coronary artery grafting via left anterior small thoracotomy without cardiopulmonary bypass. *Ann Thorac Surg* 1996; 61: 1658–1663.
- 1161. Güler M, Kirali K, Toker ME, Bozbuğa N, Omeroğlu SN, Akinci E, et al. Different CABG methods in patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *Ann Thorac Surg* 2001; 71: 152–157.
- 1162. McGinn JT, Usman S, Lapierre H, Pothula VR, Mesana TG, Ruel M. Minimally invasive coronary artery bypass grafting: Dual-center experience in 450 consecutive patients. *Circulation* 2009; **120**(Suppl): S78–S84.
- 1163. Chan V, Lapierre H, Sohmer B, Mesana TG, Ruel M. Handsewn proximal anastomoses onto the ascending aorta through a small left thoracotomy during minimally invasive multivessel coronary artery bypass grafting: A stepwise approach to safety and reproducibility. *Semin Thorac Cardiovasc Surg* 2012; 24: 79–83.
- 1164. Lapierre H, Chan V, Sohmer B, Mesana TG, Ruel M. Minimally invasive coronary artery bypass grafting via a small thoracotomy versus off-pump: A case-matched study. *Eur J Cardiothorac Surg* 2011; **40**: 804–810.
- 1165. Ruel M, Shariff MA, Lapierre H, Goyal N, Dennie C, Sadel SM, et al. Results of the minimally invasive coronary artery bypass grafting angiographic patency study. *J Thorac Cardiovasc* Surg 2014; 147: 203–208.
- 1166. Halkos ME, Walker PF, Vassiliades TA, Douglas JS, Devireddy C, Guyton RA, et al. Clinical and angiographic results after hybrid coronary revascularization. *Ann Thorac Surg* 2014; 97: 484–490.
- 1167. Harskamp RE, Walker PF, Alexander JH, Xian Y, Liberman HA, de Winter RJ, et al. Clinical outcomes of hybrid coronary

Appendix 1. Japan's Regulatory Requirements for Facilities Where PCI Is Performed

The current requirements for an institution to perform percutaneous coronary intervention (PCI) are having at least 1 full-time cardiovascular surgeon with at least 5 years of experience in employment and posting of a cardiovascular surgery department. An institution that has a working patient referral program with another institution that meets this requirement is also regarded as a qualified institution. Registration of the institution with the head of the local bureau of health and welfare is no longer required.

The use of the high-speed rotational percutaneous atherectomy catheter (Rotablator[®]) requires registration with the local bureau of health and welfare.

HI/ME Notification No. 0305-3, March 5, 2018

Item 62-3 Percutaneous Transluminal Coronary Angioplasty

1. Institutional Requirements for Percutaneous Transluminal Coronary Angioplasty

The number of percutaneous transluminal coronary angioplasties performed the previous year (from January through December) must be displayed by the following categories:

- (1) For the treatment of acute myocardial infarction
- (2) For the treatment of unstable angina
- (3) For the treatment of other diseases/conditions
- 2. Registration
- Registration with the head of local bureau of health and welfare is

revascularization versus coronary artery bypass surgery in patients with diabetes mellitus. *Am Heart J* 2014; **168**: 471–478.

- 1168. Zhou S, Fang Z, Xiong H, Hu S, Xu B, Chen L, et al. Effect of one-stop hybrid coronary revascularization on postoperative renal function and bleeding: A comparison study with off-pump coronary artery bypass grafting surgery. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 2014; 147: 1511–1516.e1.
- 1169. Boivie P, Edström C, Engström KG. Side differences in cerebrovascular accidents after cardiac surgery: A statistical analysis of neurologic symptoms and possible implications for anatomic mechanisms of aortic particle embolization. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 2005; 129: 591–598.
- 1170. Gao C, Yang M, Wu Y, Wang G, Xiao C, Zhao Y, et al. Early and midterm results of totally endoscopic coronary artery bypass grafting on the beating heart. *J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg* 2011; **142**: 843–849.
- 1171. Bonaros N, Schachner T, Wiedemann D, Weidinger F, Lehr E, Zimrin D, et al. Closed chest hybrid coronary revascularization for multivessel disease: Current concepts and techniques from a two-center experience. *Eur J Cardiothorac Surg* 2011; 40: 783–787.
- 1172. Karagoz HY, Sönmez B, Bakkaloglu B, Kurtoglu M, Erdinç M, Türkeli A, et al. Coronary artery bypass grafting in the conscious patient without endotracheal general anesthesia. *Ann Thorac Surg* 2000; **70:** 91–96.
- 1173. Karagoz HY, Kurtoglu M, Bakkaloglu B, Sonmez B, Cetintas T, Bayazit K. Coronary artery bypass grafting in the awake patient: Three years' experience in 137 patients. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 2003; 125: 1401–1404.
- 1174. Sawa Y, Miyagawa S. Present and future perspectives on cell sheet-based myocardial regeneration therapy. *BioMed Res Int* 2013; 2013: 583912.
- 1175. Yoshikawa Y, Miyagawa S, Toda K, Saito A, Sakata Y, Sawa Y. Myocardial regenerative therapy using a scaffold-free skeletalmuscle-derived cell sheet in patients with dilated cardiomyopathy even under a left ventricular assist device: A safety and feasibility study. *Surg Today* 2018; **48**: 200–210.
 1176. Miyagawa S, Domae K, Yoshikawa Y, Fukushima S, Nakamura
- 1176. Miyagawa S, Domae K, Yoshikawa Y, Fukushima S, Nakamura T, Saito A, et al. Phase I clinical trial of autologous stem cell-sheet transplantation therapy for treating cardiomyopathy. J Am Heart Assoc 2017; 6: e003918.
- 1177. Sawa Y, Yoshikawa Y, Toda K, Fukushima S, Yamazaki K, Ono M, et al. Safety and efficacy of autologous skeletal myoblast sheets (TCD-51073) for the treatment of severe chronic heart failure due to ischemic heart disease. *Circ J* 2015; **79**: 991–999.
- failure due to ischemic heart disease. Circ J 2015; 79: 991–999.
 1178. Miyagawa S, Fukushima S, Imanishi Y, Kawamura T, Mochizuki-Oda N, Masuda S, et al. Building a new treatment for heart failure-transplantation of induced pluripotent stem cell-derived cells into the heart. Curr Gene Ther 2016; 16: 5–13.
- 1179. Medical Professionalism Project. Medical professionalism in the new millennium: A physicians' charter. *Lancet* 2002; **359**: 520– 522.

unnecessary for an institution to perform Percutaneous Transluminal

The number of percutaneous transluminal coronary angioplasties

performed the previous year (from January through December)

Registration with the head of the local bureau of health and welfare

is unnecessary for an institution to perform Percutaneous Coronary

1. Institutional Requirements for Percutaneous Coronary Artery

HI/ME Notification 0305-3, March 5, 2010

Item 63-2 Percutaneous Coronary Artery Stenting

must be displayed under the following categories:

(2) For the treatment of unstable angina

For the treatment of acute myocardial infarction

(3) For the treatment of other diseases/conditions

Coronary Angioplasty.

Stenting

2. Registration

Artery Stenting.

Item 63 Percutaneous Transluminal Coronary Angioplasty (with the Use of High-speed Rotational Percutaneous Atherectomy Catheter)

- Institutional Requirements for Percutaneous Transluminal Coronary Angioplasty (With the Use of High-speed Rotational Percutaneous Atherectomy Catheter)
 - (1) Institution with signs of cardiology and cardiovascular surgery departments posted.

- (2) Cardiotomy or coronary artery (or aortic) bypass performed in at least 30 patients per year and Percutaneous Transluminal Coronary Angioplasty performed in at least 200 patients per vear.
- (3) At least 1 doctor with ≥ 5 years of experience in cardiology and at least 1 full-time doctor with ≥ 5 years of experience in

Appendix 2. Details of Members

Chairs

- Masato Nakamura, Division of Cardiovascular Medicine, Toho University Ohashi Medical Center
- · Hitoshi Yaku, Department of Cardiovascular Surgery, Kyoto Prefectural University of Medicine

Members

- · Junya Ako, Department of Cardiovascular Medicine, Kitasato University Graduate School of Medical Sciences
- · Hirokuni Arai, Department of Cardiovascular Surgery, Graduate School of Medical and Dental Sciences, Tokyo Medical and Dental University
- Tohru Asai, Department of Cardiovascular Surgery, Juntendo University Graduate School of Medicine
- · Taishiro Chikamori, Department of Cardiovascular Medicine, Tokyo Medical University
- · Hiroyuki Daida, Department of Cardiovascular Medicine, Juntendo University Graduate School of Medicine
- · Kiyoshi Doi, General and Cardiothoracic Surgery, Gifu University Graduate School of Medicine
- · Toshihiro Fukui, Department of Cardiovascular Surgery, Graduate School of Medical Sciences, Kumamoto University
- · Toshiaki Ito, Department of Cardiovascular Surgery, Japanese Red Cross Nagoya Daiichi Hospital
- Kazushige Kadota, Department of Cardiology, Kurashiki Central Hospital
- · Junjiro Kobayashi, Department of Cardiovascular Surgery, National Cerebral and Cardiovascular Center
- Tatsuhiko Komiya, Department of Cardiovascular Surgery, Kurashiki Central Hospital
- Ken Kozuma, Department of Internal Medicine, Teikyo University Faculty of Medicine
- · Yoshihisa Nakagawa, Department of Cardiovascular Medicine, Shiga University of Medical Science
- Koichi Nakao, Division of Cardiology, Saiseikai Kumamoto Hospital Cardiovascular Center
- · Hiroshi Niinami, Department of Cardiovascular Surgery, Tokyo Women's Medical University
- Takayuki Ohno, Department of Cardiovascular Surgery, Mitsui Memorial Hospital
- · Yukio Ozaki, Department of Cardiology, Fujita Health University Hospital
- · Masataka Sata, Department of Cardiovascular Medicine, Tokushima University Graduate School of Biomedical Sciences
- · Shuichiro Takanashi, Department of Cardiovascular Surgery, Kawasaki Heart Center
- · Hirofumi Takemura, Department of Cardiovascular Surgery, Graduate School of Medical Sciences, Kanazawa University
- Takafumi Ueno, Devision of Cardiology, Fukuoka Kinen Hospital · Satoshi Yasuda, Department of Cardiovascular Medicine, National Cerebral and Cardiovascular Center
- · Hitoshi Yokoyama, Department of Cardiovascular Surgery, Fukushima Medical University

Collaborators

- · Tomoyuki Fujita, Department of Cardiovascular Surgery, National Cerebral and Cardiovascular Center
- · Tokuo Kasai, Department of Cardiology, Uonuma Institute of Community Medicine, Niigata University Uonuma Kikan Hospital
- Shun Kohsaka, Department of Cardiology, Keio University School of Medicine
- · Takashi Kubo, Department of Cardiovascular Medicine, Wakayama Medical University
- Susumu Manabe, Department of Cardiovascular Surgery, Tsuchiura Kyodo General Hospital
- Naoya Matsumoto, Department of Cardiology, Nihon University Hospital

cardiovascular surgery are employed.

2. Registration An institution that plans to perform Percutaneous Transluminal Coronary Angioplasty (With the Use of High-speed Rotational Percutaneous Atherectomy Catheter) must submit Forms 52 and 59 included in Annex 2 for prior registration.

- · Shigeru Miyagawa, Frontier of Regenerative Medicine, Graduate School of Medicine, Osaka University
- · Tomohiro Mizuno, Department of Cardiovascular Surgery, Graduate School of Medical and Dental Sciences, Tokyo Medical and Dental University
- Noboru Motomura, Department of Cardiovascular Surgery, Graduate School of Medicine, Toho University
- · Satoshi Numata, Department of Cardiovascular Surgery, Kyoto Prefectural University of Medicine
- · Hiroyuki Nakajima, Department of Cardiovascular Surgery, Saitama Medical University International Medical Center
- · Hirotaka Oda, Department of Cardiology, Niigata City General Hospital
- · Hiromasa Otake, Department of Cardiovascular Medicine, Kobe University Graduate School of Medicine
- · Fumiyuki Otsuka, Department of Cardiovascular Medicine, National Cerebral and Cardiovascular Center
- · Ken-ichiro Sasaki, Division of Cardiovascular Medicine, Kurume University School of Medicine
- · Kazunori Šhimada, Department of Cardiovascular Medicine, Juntendo University Graduate School of Medicine
- · Tomoki Shimokawa, Department of Cardiovascular Surgery, Sakakibara Heart Institute; Department of Cardiovascular Surgery, Teikyo University Faculty of Medicine
- · Toshiro Shinke, Division of Cardiology, Department of Medicine, Showa University School of Medicine
- omoaki Suzuki, Department of Cardiovascular Surgery, Shiga University of Medical Science
- · Masao Takahashi, Department of Cardiovascular Surgery, Hiratsuka Kyosai Hospital
- · Nobuhiro Tanaka, Department of Cardiology, Tokyo Medical University Hachioji Medical Center
- · Hiroshi Tsuneyoshi, Department of Cardiovascular Surgery, Shizuoka General Hospital
- · Taiki Tojo, Department of Cardiovascular Medicine, Kitasato University Graduate School of Medical Sciences
- · Dai Une, Department of Cardiovascular Surgery, Okayama Medical Center
- · Satoru Wakasa, Department of Cardiovascular and Thoracic Surgery, Hokkaido University Graduate School of Medicine
- · Koji Yamaguchi, Department of Cardiovascular Medicine, Tokushima University Graduate School of Biomedical Sciences

Independent Assessment Committee

- Takashi Akasaka, Department of Cardiovascular Medicine, Wakayama Medical University
- · Atsushi Hirayama, Department of Cardiology, Osaka Police Hospital
- · Kazuo Kimura, Cardiovascular Center, Yokohama City University Medical Center
- · Takeshi Kimura, Department of Cardiovascular Medicine, Graduate School of Medicine, Kyoto University
- · Yoshiro Matsui, Department of Cardiovascular and Thoracic Surgery, Graduate School of Medicine, Hokkaido University
- · Shunichi Miyazaki, Division of Cardiology, Department of Internal Medicine, Faculty of Medicine, Kindai University
- · Yoshitaka Okamura, Department of Cardiovascular Surgery, Seiyu Memorial Hospital
- · Minoru Ono, Department of Cardiac Surgery, Graduate School of Medicine, The University of Tokyo
- · Hiroki Shiomi, Department of Cardiovascular Medicine, Graduate School of Medicine, Kyoto University
- Kazuo Tanemoto, Department of Cardiovascular Surgery, Kawasaki Medical School

(Listed in alphabetical order; affiliations as of March 2019)

Name					Personal					Spouse, 1st-degree family member, or any other person with whom the person shares income/asset			Principal/employer (when the person is a member of the research team headed by the principal/employer)	
	Consultancy	Equity	Patent royalty	Speaking fee	Manuscript fee	Research grant	Scholarship fund	Endowment course	Other	Consultancy	Stock	Patent	Research grant	Scholarship fund
Chair: Masato Nakamura Chair: Hitoshi Yaku				Sanofi K.K. TERUMO CORPORATION Daiichi Sankyo Company, Limited Medtronic Japan Co., Ltd.	Daiichi Sankyo Company, Limited	Sanofi K.K. Daiichi Sankyo Company, Limited								
				Abbott Medical Japan L.L.C										
Member: Junya Ako				MSD K.K. Astellas Pharma Inc. Amgen Astellas Marma Inc. Astellas Pharma Inc. Astellas Pharma Inc. AstraZeneca K.K. ABBOTT JAPAN CO., LTD. Abbott Vascular Japan Co., Ltd. Eli Lilly Japan K.K. Sanofi K.K. TERUMO CORPORATION Bayer Yakuhin, Ltd. Bristol-Myers Squibb Kowa Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. Don Opharmaceutical Co., Ltd. Daichti Sankyo Company, Limited Mitsubishi Tanabe Pharma Corporation Nippon Bochringer Ineelheim Co., Ltd.			Astellas Pharma Inc. Abbott Vascular Japan Co., Ltd. Nipro Corporation Bayer Yakuhin, Ltd. Prizer Japan Inc. Kowa Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. Mochida Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. Ono Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. Osuka Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. Osukak Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. Osukak Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. Dailchi Sankyo Company, Limited ASAHI INTECC CO., LTD. Mistubishi Tanabe Pharma Corporation Nippon Bochringer Ingelheim Co., Ltd.							
Member: Hirokuni Arai			Sumitomo Bakelite Co., Ltd.	Takeda Pharmaceutical Company Limited										
Member: Taishiro Chikamori				Mitsubishi Tanabe Pharma Corporation		Ono Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. Medtronic Japan Co., Ltd.	MSD K.K. Bayer Yakuhin, Ltd. Sumitomo Dainippon Pharma Co., Ltd. Daichi Sankyo Company, Limited Mitsubishi Tanabe Pharma Corporation FUJIFILM RI Pharma Co., Ltd. Takeda Pharmaceutical Company Limited	St. Jude Medical Japan Co., Ltd.						
Member: Hiroyuki Daida				MSD K.K. Amgen Astellas BioPharma K.K. Astellas Pharma Inc. AstraZeneca K.K. Sanofi K.K. Bayer Yakuhin, Ltd. Kowa Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. Daikcli Sankyo Company, Limited Takeda Pharmaceutical Company Limited		IQVIA Services Japan K. St. Jude Medical Japan Co., Ltd. Kowa Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. Sanwa Kagaku Kenkyusho Co., Ltd. Daiichi Sankyo Company, Limited TOSHIBA MEDICAL SYSTEMS CORPORATION Nihon Medi- Physics Co., Ltd.	MSD K.K. Actelion Pharmaceuticals Japan Ltd. Astellas Pharma Inc. Abbott Vascular Japan Co., Ltd. Sanofi K.K. St. Jude Medical Japan Co., Ltd. Novartis Pharma K.K. Bayer Yakuhin, Ltd. Pfizer Japan Inc. Shionogi & Co., Ltd. Novartis Pharma Co., Ltd. Sumitomo Dainippon Pharma Co., Ltd. Sumitomo Dainippon Pharma Co., Ltd. Sumitomo Dainippon Pharma Co., Ltd. Daichi Sankyo Company, Limited Mitsubishi Tanabe Pharma Corporation Nippon Bochringer Ingelheim Co., Ltd. Takeda Pharmaceutical Company Limited	Philips Respironics GK. Fukuda Denshi Co., Ltd ResMed						
Member: Kiyoshi Doi							COVIDIEN JAPAN INC. Johnson & Johnson K.K. TANAC Co., Ltd. Senko Medical Instrument Mfg. Co., Ltd. Takeda Pharmaceutical Company Limited Eli Lilly Japan K.K. W. L. Gore & Associates G.K.							

Name	Personal											family person shares	Principal/employer (when the person is a member of the research team headed by the principal/employer)	
	Consultancy	Equity	Patent royalty	Speaking fee	Manuscript fee	Research grant	Scholarship fund	Endowment course	Other	Consultancy	Stock	Patent	Research grant	Scholarship fund
Member: Toshiaki Ito									Edwards Lifesciences Corporation Medtronic Japan Co., Ltd.					
Member: Kazushige Kadota				Amgen Astellas BioPharma K.K. Abbott Vascular Japan Co., Ltd. Sanofi K.K. Boston Scientific Japan K.K. Daiichi Sankyo Company, Limited Nippon Bochringer Ingelheim Co., Ltd.										
Member: Tatsuhiko Komiya				ABBOTT JAPAN CO., LTD. Edwards Lifesciences Corporation Johnson & Johnson K.K. St. Jude Medical Japan Co., Ltd. Medtronic Japan Co., Ltd. Japan Lifeline Co.,Ltd.										
Member: Ken Kozuma				Abbott Vascular Japan Co., Ltd. Edwards Lifesciences Corporation Sanofi K.K. TERUMO CORPORATION Bayer Yakuhin, Ltd. Baristol-Myers Squibb Boston Scientific Japan K.K. Daiichi Sankyo Company, Limited Nippon Boehringer Ingelheim Co., Ltd.		Abbott Vascular Japan Co., Ltd. Edwards Lifesciences Corporation Boston Scientific Japan K.K. MEDICO'S HIRATA INC.	Astellas Pharma Inc. Abbott Vascular Japan Co., Ltd. Pfizer Japan Inc. Boston Scientific Japan K.K. Daiichi Sankyo Company, Limited							
Member: Yoshihisa Nakagawa				Abbott Vascular Japan Co., Ltd. Sanofi K.K. Bayer Yakuhin, Ltd. Bristol-Myers Squibb Boston Scientific Japan K.K. Kowa Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. Daiichi Sankyo Company, Limited										
Member: Koichi Nakao				Edwards Lifesciences Corporation Sanofi K.K. Bayer Yakuhin, Ltd. Daiichi Sankyo Company, Limited Nippon Boehringer Ingelheim Co., Ltd.										
Member: Hiroshi Niinami	Edwards Lifesciences Corporation			TERUMO CORPORATION St. Jude Medical Japan Co., Ltd.										
Member: Masataka Sata				Astellas Pharma Inc. Amgen Astellas BioPharma K. K. Bayer Yakuhin, Ltd. Bristol-Myers Squibb Kowa Pharmaceutical Co, Ltd. Mitsubishi Tanabe Pharma Corporation Nipon Bochringer Ingelheim Co., Ltd. Takeda Pharmaceutical Company Limited		Suntory Wellness Ltd. Bayer Yakuhin, Ltd, Daiichi Sankyo Company, Limited Nippon Boehringer Ingelheim Co., Ltd.	Takeda Pharmaceutical Company Limited Mitsubsihi Tanabe Pharma Corporation Astellas Pharma Inc.	Nippon Boehringer Ingelheim Co., Ltd.						
Member: Shuichiro Takanashi	Edwards Lifesciences Corporation Japan Lifeline Co.,Ltd. TER UMO CORPORATION			Medtronic Japan Co., Ltd. ABBOTT JAPAN CO., LTD. Edwards Lifesciences Corporation										
Member: Takafumi Ueno				Astellas Pharma Inc. Sanofi K. K. Bayer Yakuhin, Ltd. Boston Scientific Japan K. K. Mochida Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. Daiichi Sankyo Company, Limited Nippon Boehringer Ingelheim Co., Ltd.		Daiichi Sankyo Company, Limited JIMRO Co., Ltd. Boston Scientific Japan K.K.	Abbott Vascular Japan Co., Ltd.							
Name						Personal						family r person 1 shares	Principal/employer (when the person is a member of the research team headed by the principal/employer)	
-------------------------------------	-------------	--------	-------------------	---	-------------------	--	---	---------------------	-------	-------------	-------	--------------------------------	---	-----------------------
	Consultancy	Equity	Patent royalty	Speaking fee	Manuscript fee	Research grant	Scholarship fund	Endowment course	Other	Consultancy	Stock	Patent	Research grant	Scholarship fund
Member: Satoshi Yasuda				Bayer Yakuhin, Ltd. Bristol-Myers Squibb Takeda Pharmaceutical Company Limited Sanofi K. K. AstraZeneca K.K. Daiichi Sankyo Company, Limited		IQVIA Services Japan K.K. JSR Corporation Actelion Pharmaceuticals Japan Ltd. Abbott Vascular Japan k.k. TERUMO CORPORATION Bayer Yakubin, Ltd. Takeda Pharmaceutical Company Limited	Bayer Yakuhin, Ltd. Takeda Pharmaceutical Company Limited Datichi Sankyo Company, Limited							
Collaborator: Tomoyuki Fujita				ABBOTT JAPAN CO., LTD. Edwards Lifesciences Corporation Medtronic Japan Co., Ltd.		Century Medical, Inc. Edwards Lifesciences Corporation Nipro Corporation TELIN MEDICAL TECHNOLOGIES CO., LTD. Medtronic Japan Co., Ltd.								
Collaborator: Tokuo Kasai							Nihon Medi-Physics Co.,Ltd.							
Collaborator: Shun Kohsaka				AstraZeneca K.K. Bayer Yakuhin, Ltd. Pfizer Japan Inc. Bristol-Myers Squibb		Bayer Yakuhin, Ltd. Daiichi Sankyo Company, Limited								
Collaborator: Takashi Kubo				MSD K.K. Astellas Pharma Inc. Amgen Astellas BioPharma K.K. AstraZeneca K.K. ABBOTT JAPAN CO., LTD. Abbott Vascular Japan Co., Ltd. Goodman Co.,LTD. Sanofi K.K. ZEON MEDICAL INC. St. Jude Medical Japan Co., Ltd. TERUMO CORPORATION Nipro Corporation Novartis Pharma K.K. Bayer Yakuhin, Ltd. Bristol-Myers Squibb Boston Scientific Japan K.K. Kowa Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. Mochida Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. Other Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. Other Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. Distick Pharmaceutical Co., Lt										
Collaborator: Naoya Matsumoto				Nihon Medi-Physics Co.,Ltd. FUJIFILM RI Pharma Co., Ltd.			FUJIFILM RI Pharma Co., Ltd.							
Collaborator: Shigeru Miyagawa				TERUMO CORPORATION									TERUMO CORPORATION	TERUMO CORPORATION
Collaborator: Hiromasa Otake				Abbott Vascular Japan Co., Ltd. Goodman Co.,LTD. Sanofi K.K. TERUMO CORPORATION Nipro Corporation HeartFlow Japan G.K. Micron, Inc.										
Collaborator: Fumiyuki Otsuka				Abbott Vascular Japan Co., Ltd. TERUMO CORPORATION Boston Scientific Japan K.K.										

Name				Spouse, 1st-degree family member, or any other person with whom the person shares income/asset			Principal/employer (when the person is a member of the research team headed by the principal/employer)							
	Consultancy	Equity	Patent royalty	Speaking fee	Manuscript fee	Research grant	Scholarship fund	Endowment course	Other	Consultancy	Stock	Patent	Research grant	Scholarship fund
Collaborator: Kazunori Shimada				Takeda Pharmaceutical Company Limited Daiichi Sankyo Company, Limited			Daiichi Sankyo Company, Limited							
Collaborator: Tomoki Shimokawa							Abbott Vascular Japan Co., Ltd. Edwards Lifesciences Corporation TERUMO CORPORATION Japan Lifeline Co.,Ltd.							Abbott Vascular Japan Co., Ltd. Edwards Lifesciences Corporation TERUMO CORPORATION Japan Lifeline Co.,Ltd.
Collaborator: Toshiro Shinke				Abbott Vascular Japan Co., Ltd. Goodman Co., LTD. Sanofi K.K. Bayer Yakuhin, Ltd. Daiichi Sankyo Company, Limited		Daiichi Sankyo Company, Limited								Philips Respironics GK. Fukuda Denshi Co., Ltd Boston Scientific Japan K.K. Japan Lifeline Co.,Ltd.
Collaborator: Tomoaki Suzuki							Edwards Lifesciences Corporation							
Collaborator: Masao Takahashi				Novadaq Technologies Inc.										
Collaborator: Nobuhiro Tanaka				Abbott Vascular Japan Co., Ltd. St. Jude Medical Japan Co., Ltd. Boston Scientific Japan K.K. VOLCANO JAPAN Co., Ltd. Daiichi Sankyo Company, Limited										
Collaborator: Dai Une				ABBOTT JAPAN CO., LTD. CSL Behring K.K. Otsuka Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd.										
Collaborator: Satoru Wakasa				Edwards Lifesciences Corporation St. Jude Medical Japan Co., Ltd. TERUMO CORPORATION Senko Medical Instrument Mfg. Co., Ltd. Otsuka Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. Daikih Sankyo Company, Limited Medironic Japan Co., Ltd.	TERUMO CORPORATION									
Collaborator: Koji Yamaguchi													Bayer Yakuhin, Ltd. Daiichi Sankyo Company, Limited Nippon Boehringer Ingelheim Co., Ltd. Suntory Wellness Ltd.	Takeda Pharmaceutical Company Limited Mitsubishi Tanabe Pharma Corporation Astellas Pharma Inc.
Independent Assessment Committee: Takashi Akasaka				Amgen Astellas BioPharma K.K. Abbott Vascular Japan Co., Ltd. St. Jude Medical Japan Co., Ltd. Dailchi Sankyo Company, Limited Nippon Bochringer Ingelheim Co., Ltd.		Daiichi Sankyo Company, Limited Infraredx,Inc.	ACIST Medical Systems Astellas Pharma Inc. St. Jude Medical Japan Co., Lid Novartis Pharma K.K. HeartFlow Japan G.K. Bayer Yakuhin, Ltd. Pfizer Japan Inc. Daikichi Sankyo Company, Limited	Abbott Vascular Japan Co., Ltd. TERUMO CORPORATION Goodman Co.,LTD. St. Jude Medical Japan Co., Ltd. Boston Scientific Japan K.K.						

Name				Personal							Spouse, 1st-degree family member, or any other person with whom the person shares income/asset			Principal/employer (when the person is a member of the research team headed by the principal/employer)	
	Consultancy	Equity	Patent royalty	Speaking fee	Manuscript fee	Research	Scholarship fund	Endowment	Other	Consultancy	Stock	Patent	Research	Scholarship fund	
Independent Assessment Committee Atsushi Hirayama				Amgen Astellas BioPharma K.K. Astellas Pharma Inc. AstraZenece K.K. Sanofi K.K. TOA EIYO LTD. Bayer Yakuhin, Ltd. Bristol-Myers Squibb Sumitomo Dainippon Pharma Co., Ltd. Daichi Sankyo Company, Limited Nippon Bochringer Ingelheim Co., Ltd.		6 m.		Active Medical Co.,Ltd. Abbott Medical Japan L.L.C St. Jude Medical Japan Co., Ltd. Fukuda Denshi Co., Ltd Hokushin Medical Co.,Ltd Boston Scientific Japan K.K. URIBARA MEDICAL INSTRUMENTS Otsuka Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. Medtronic Japan Co., Ltd. Japan Lifeline Co.,Ltd.					Bayer Yakuhin, Ltd. Bristol-Myers Squibb Daiichi Sankyo Company, Limited		
Independent Assessment Committee: Kazuo Kimura				AstraZeneca K.K. Sanofi K.K. Britslo-Myers Squibb Nippon Bochringer Ingelheim Co., Ltd. Daüchi Sankyo Company, Limited		Otsuka Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. Bayer Yakuhin, Ltd. Research Institute for Production Development Japan Agency for Medical Development Samofi K. K. Japan Medical	Takeda Pharmaceutical Company Limited Ono Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. MSD K.K. Bayer Yakuhin, Ltd. Pfizer Japan Inc. Daiichi Sankyo Company, Limited								
Independent Assessment Committee: Takeshi Kimura				Abbott Vascular Japan Co., Ltd. Sanofi K.K. Britsto-Myers Squibb Kowa Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. Dailchi Sankyo Company, Limited Nippon Boehringer Ingelheim Co., Ltd.		EP-CRSU Co., Ltd. IQVIA Services Japan K.K. Otsuka Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. EPS Corporation	Astellas Pharma Inc. Boston Scientific Japan K.K. MID,Inc. Otsuka Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. Sumitomo Dainippon Pharma Co., Ltd. Daikihi Sankyo Company, Limited Mitsubishi Tanabe Pharma Corporation Nippon Bochringer Ingelheim Co., Ltd. Takeda Pharmaceutical Company Limited								
Independent Assessment Committee: Yoshiro Matsui							ABBOTT JAPAN CO., LTD. Edwards Lifesciences Corporation Sanofi K.K. St. Jude Medical Japan Co., Ltd. Senko Medical Instrument Mfg. Co., Ltd. Japan Lifeline Co.,Ltd.								
Independent Assessment Committee: Shunichi Miyazaki							MSD K.K. Bayer Yakuhin, Ltd. Daiichi Sankyo Company, Limited Nippon Boehringer Ingelheim Co., Ltd. Takeda Pharmaceutical Company Limited								
Independent Assessment Committee: Minoru Ono				Sun Medical Technology Research Corp. Nipro Corporation		Kono Seisakusho Co., Ltd.	Astellas Pharma Inc. Edwards Lifesciences Corporation Eisai Co., Ltd. Sun Medical Technology Research Corp. St. Jude Medical Japan Co., Ltd. TERUMO CORPORATION						Kono Seisakusho Co., Ltd.		

Name	Personal											family r person 1 shares	Principal/employer (when the person is a member of the research team headed by the principal/employer)	
	Consultancy	Equity	Patent royalty	Speaking fee	Manuscript fee	Research grant	Scholarship fund	Endowment course	Other	Consultancy	Stock	Patent	Research grant	Scholarship fund
Independent Assessment Committee Hiroki Shiomi													EP-CRSU Co., Ltd. IQVIA Services Japan K.K. Otsuka Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd.	Astellas Pharma Inc. MID.Inc. Boston Scientific Japan K.K. Otsuka Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. Sumitomo Dainippon Pharma Co., Ltd. Daiichi Sankyo Company, Limited Mitsubishi Tanabe Pharma Corporation Nippon Boehringer Ingelheim Co., Ltd. Takeda Pharmaceutical Company Limited

*The following persons have no conflict of interest to declare: Member: Toshinkro Fukui Member: Junjiro Kobayashi Member: Junjiro Kobayashi Member: Yukio Ozaki Member: Hiroshi Yokoyama Collaborator: Susumu Manabe Collaborator: Susumu Manabe Collaborator: Tombiro Mizuno Collaborator: Stoshi Numata Collaborator: Stoshi Numata Collaborator: Stoshi Numata Collaborator: Hiroyuki Nakajima Collaborator: Hiroyuki Nakajima Collaborator: Ken-ichiro Sasaki Collaborator: Ken-ichiro Sasaki Collaborator: Taki Tojo Independent Assessment Committee: Yoshitaka Okamura Independent Assessment Committee: Kazuo Tanemoto